
Mark James  LLM, DPA, DCA
Prif Weithredwr,
Chief Executive,
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin.  SA31 1JP
County Hall, Carmarthen.  SA31 1JP

DYDD GWENER, 16 TACHWEDD 2018

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU

YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD 
O’R PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU SYDD I’W GYNNAL YN 
SIAMBR, 3 HEOL SPILMAN, CAERFYRDDIN AM 10.00 AM AR 
DYDD GWENER, 23AIN TACHWEDD, 2018 ER MWYN 
CYFLAWNI’R MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA 
ATODEDIG.

Mark James DYB

PRIF WEITHREDWR

AILGYLCHWCH OS GWELWCH YN DDA

Swyddog Democrataidd: Kevin J Thomas
Ffôn (Llinell Uniongyrchol): 01267 224027
E-bost: KJThomas@sirgargov.uk
Cyf: AD016-001

Pecyn Dogfennau



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU
13 AELOD

GRŴP PLAID CYMRU – 6 AELOD

1. Cynghorydd Ann Davies
2. Cynghorydd Handel Davies
3. Cynghorydd Jeanette Gilasbey
4. Cynghorydd Betsan Jones
5. Cynghorydd Gareth Thomas (Is-Gadeirydd)
6. Cynghorydd Aled Vaughan Owen

GRŴP LLAFUR – 4 AELOD

1. Cynghorydd Deryk Cundy 
2. Cynghorydd Sharen Davies (Cadeirydd)
3. Cynghorydd Shirley Matthews
4. Cynghorydd Louvain Roberts

GRŴP ANNIBYNNOL – 3 AELOD

1. Cynghorydd Anthony Davies
2. Cynghorydd Irfon Jones
3. Cynghorydd Hugh Shepardson

 



AGENDA  
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL GAN GYNNWYS UNRHYW 
CHWIP A NODWYD MEWN PERTHYNAS AG UNRHYW EITEM AR 
YR AGENDA 

3. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 
LAW) 

4. CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GAERFYRDDIN 
2018-2033 FERSIWN DRAFFT O'R STRATEGAETH A FFEFRIR 

5 - 404

5. STRATEGAETH DDIGARTREFEDD RANBARTHOL 405 - 426

6. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB CYFALAF A REFENIW 
2018/19 

427 - 446

7. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU 
2017/18 

447 - 466

8. DIWEDDARIAD GWEITHREDU CRAFFU 467 - 482

9. EITEMAU AR GYFER Y DYFODOL 483 - 484

10. EGLURHAD AM BEIDIO Â CHYFLWYNO ADRODDIAD CRAFFU 485 - 486

11. LLOFNODI YN GOFNODAU CYWIR COFNODION Y PWYLLGOR 
A GYNHALIWYD AR Y DYDDIADAU CANLYNOL 

11 .1 21AIN MEDI 2018 487 - 492
11 .2 4YDD HYDREF 2018 493 - 498



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Pwyllgor Craffu Cymunedau
23 Tachwedd 2018

CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GAERFYRDDIN
2018-2033

FERSIWN DRAFFT O'R STRATEGAETH A FFEFRIR

Ystyried y materion canlynol a chyflwyno sylwadau arnynt:

 I ystyried cynnwys Fersiwn Drafft o’r Strategaeth a Ffefrir (a dogfennau cefnogol) ar gyfer 
Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Diwygiedig Sir Gaerfyrddin.

Rhesymau: 
 Cydymffurfio â rhwymedigaethau cyfreithiol y Cyngor o ran paratoi a datblygu Cynllun

Datblygu Lleol diwygiedig ar gyfer Sir Gaerfyrddin yn unol â'r gweithdrefnau statudol.

 Ymateb i'r amserlen ar gyfer paratoi'r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Diwygiedig fel y nodwyd yn
y Cytundeb Cyflawni a gymeradwywyd a chytuno â'r amserlen honno.

 Sicrhau bod y Cynllun Datblygu Lleol diwygiedig (i gymryd lle'r un presennol) yn cael ei baratoi 
a'i fabwysiadu mewn da bryd cyn i'r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol presennol ddod i ben.

Angen cyfeirio’r mater at y Bwrdd Gweithredol / Cyngor er mwyn gwneud penderfyniad:     OES 

AELOD BWRDD GWEITHREDOL SY’N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- Cyng. Mair Stephens

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth

Amgylchedd

Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth:

Llinos Quelch

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 

Ian R Llewelyn

Swyddi:

Pennaeth Cynllunio

Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio

Rhifau ffôn  01267 228659

Cyfeiriadau e-bost: 

LQuelch@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

IRLlewelyn@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Tudalen 5

Eitem Rhif  4

mailto:LQuelch@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:IRLlewelyn@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Community Scrutiny

23rd November 2018

Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033 
DRAFT PREFERRED STRATEGY

1. BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT.
This Report follows the approval at County Council on the 10th January 2018 to formally commence the 
preparation of a Revised (replacement) Local Development Plan (LDP), along with the Welsh 
Government’s approval of the Delivery Agreement on the 28th June 2018 including its timetable for Plan 
preparation.  

The preparation of the Draft Preferred Strategy (officially titled as the Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy) 
represents an important milestone in the Council delivering on its statutory responsibilities to prepare an 
up-to-date Development Plan for the County (excl. the area within the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority). 

The report sets out the Draft Preferred Strategy for the Revised LDP by identifying the Council’s land 
use Vision, strategic objectives and strategic growth requirements for the County through till 2033.  
Approval is sought for its publication as part of a formal public consultation for a minimum statutory 
period of 6 weeks.  It should be noted that the Delivery Agreement identifies December 2018 for the 
publication of the Draft Preferred Strategy.

2. Background
The preparation of the Draft Preferred Strategy reflects the Council’s statutorily responsibilities to 
produce the revised LDP under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 - setting out policies 
and proposals for future development and use of land for Carmarthenshire over the period to 2033.  The 
Delivery Agreement as approved by the Welsh Government (WG) and identifies the timeline for the 
preparation and Adoption of the Plan by November/December 2021. 

In determining the need to prepare a Revised LDP, members will recall that a Review Report was 
prepared in relation to the current Adopted LDP.  This Review Report identified the following 
considerations: 

 The need to ensure that a Revised LDP would be prepared and adopted before the expiration of the 
current LDP at the end of 2021.   

 Indicated failures in the delivery of the LDP strategy, the settlement framework and the spatial 
distribution of growth - notably in respect of both the level and spatial distribution of growth, and the 
need to ensure that the strategy, particularly in terms of spatial distribution of growth and the 
performance of the tier 2 and 3 settlements is realistic and deliverable.

 Failure to deliver a 5 year housing land supply, as required within PPW and Technical Advice Note 1.

Tudalen 6



 Need to ensure that the strategy and the identified growth requirements are robust, and that the spatial 
framework, distribution of growth and the allocated sites within the Plan are deliverable. 

 To consider the implications of the 2014-based Local Authority Population and Household 
Projections and the variance in population change and household requirements.

 In addition, to consider contextual changes and changes in the form of legislation, national policy 
and a range of Plans and strategies and to the evidence base.

 
The preparation of the Draft Preferred Strategy, in reflecting the above and other outcomes from the 
Annual Monitoring Reports, also seeks to develop an evidence–based process.  This is derived from a 
the need to develop a balanced understanding of the regional and local context, as well as those key 
issues and drivers relevant to, and addressable through planning policies and land use allocations 
planning policies.  

At the heart of this, is the need for a level of population growth which reflect the Council’s objectives and 
aspirations for job creation and delivery of new homes (including affordable), whilst recognising the 
diversity of the County, its economy and communities.   In this respect, the Draft Preferred Strategy will 
at a strategic level (matters of detail and individual sites will be considered at the Deposit LDP stage), 
seek to balance these requirements ensuring that sufficient housing, employment sites, community 
facilities and infrastructure is provided to support this anticipated level of growth in a way that does not 
have an unacceptable adverse impact on the environment or communities.

The development of the preferred strategy and its components including: Issues; Vision, Strategic 
Objectives; Growth Options; Spatial Options and preferred strategic approach have been considered 
and developed in light of engagement through a number of groups and consultations including the Key 
Stakeholder Forum.  The documentation associated with these consultations will be published along with 
the Preferred Strategy.

3. Draft LDP Preferred Strategy

The Draft Preferred Strategy consists of a number of key elements effectively reflecting stages in its 
preparation.  Engagement has, in accordance with the provisions of the Delivery Agreement been an 
important aspect of the strategy’s preparation, with the deliberations of the Key Stakeholder Forum and 
other focused groups being instrumental.  

In following a sequential approach to its preparation, a series of key issues and drivers were identified 
and formed the basis for the formulation of the Vision and Strategic Objectives – these underpin the 
Draft Preferred Strategy.  They reflected not only the feedback and input through evidence gathering, but 
also sought incorporate legislative duties such as the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015, and 
other key Plans and strategies such as the Corporate Strategy and the Swansea Bay City Deal.

A key element of the Draft Preferred Strategy is founded on the need for the Plan to make appropriate 
provision for sustainable and deliverable growth.  In this respect, the Council has sought to challenge the 
Welsh Government’s 2014-based population and household projections.  The 2014-based projections 
indicated a requirement of approximately 3,200 homes during the revised LDP period.  In seeking to 
challenge these projections and deliver a sustainable level of growth for Carmarthenshire regard has 
been had to a range of indicators including strategies and objectives for the County at a regional and 
corporate level as well as current rates of delivery.  

Tudalen 7



As a consequence of the above a specialist demographic consultancy (Edge Analytics) have been 
utilised to develop a range of population and household scenarios for the Plan period through to 2033.  
The potential demographic scenarios are highlighted in the table below.  

It should be noted two employment based scenarios were also prepared. These have not been 
considered in this report reflecting the significant scale of household growth they projected.  Further 
information on the population and household projections is outlined in the appended briefing note.

Change 2018-2033 Average per year
Scenario Population 

Change
 Population 
Change %

Household 
Change

Household 
Change %

Net 
Migration

Dwellings 
(Census 
VR)

Dwellings 
(ALT. VR)

Total 
Dwelling 
Growth 
(Census 
VR)

Total 
Dwelling 
Growth 
(ALT. VR)

PG Pre-
Recession

26,811 14.2% 13,616 16.6% 2,028 969 939 14,529 14,090

PG Long 
Term

17,567 9.4% 9,555 11.7% 1,423 680 659 10,195 9,887

PG 10 year 11,755 6.3% 6,992 8.6% 1,043 497 482 7,461 7,236
PG Short 
Term

10,691 5.7% 6,807 8.4% 997 484 470 7,263 7,044

(WG 2014 
(10yr 
Average 
Migration

10,842 5.8% 6,322 7.7% 921 450 436 6,746 6,542

WG 2014 
based

3,207 1.7% 3,254 4.0% 546 231 224 3,472 3,367

PG – Projected Growth
WG – Welsh Government 

Preferred Growth Scenario - As the above indicates a range of options were considered each taking 
particular trends and migration assumptions into account.  However, in order to establish a level of 
growth which delivers on the Council’s corporate regeneration objectives, and the opportunities 
presented through the City Deal for the creation of 5,295 new jobs by the end of the Plan period, it was 
important to measure population change and the creation of new homes against the delivery of this 
number of jobs.  In this respect, only two of the demographic scenarios above provide for such a level of 
growth.  The following figure in identifying Carmarthenshire’s Projected Average Annual Employment 
Growth identifies that the Projected Growth Long Term and Projected Growth Pre-recession scenarios 
provides for 5,295 and 9,480 jobs respectively for the Plan period. Consequently both scenarios deliver 
sufficient jobs growth to meet the 5,000 jobs target identified above.

Tudalen 8



Consequently, and in order to meet this requirement and deliver the economic growth necessary to 
deliver and support the economic objectives set out within the following it is proposed that a requirement 
for 9,887 new homes be delivered by 2033: 

 The Council’s Strategic Regeneration Plan 2015 – 2030 – Transformations;
 Swansea Bay City Deal;
 The New Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2023;
 Council’s Well-being Objectives; and 
 Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: the next 5-years.

This will see an overall population increase of 17,567 (9.4%).  This reflects the PG Long Term set out in 
the tables above.  It should be noted that whilst this figure is above that set out within the WG 2014-
based projections, it is also notably below the current LDP which makes provision for 15,197 homes.  

Through utilising this strategy for growth through PG Long Term, it will therefore seek to deliver a 
minimum of 5,295 jobs over the Plan period, and this relates and correspond to the jobs growth figures 
within the Council’s Regeneration Plan.  The LDP will promote and develop the economy across 
Carmarthenshire and will set an appropriate land allocation in support of an ambitious Carmarthenshire 
which attracts investment and provides opportunities for those living and working in our communities.  In 
respect to job creation, and how this transfers to the amount of employment land site allocations, it 
should be noted that this will be subject to further evidencing as part of the preparation of the Deposit 
LDP.  

The proposed growth levels would also seek to challenge and address current demographic patterns 
particularly the out-migration as evidenced in the 16-19 age group (see appended briefing paper).   It 
provides opportunities to balance the demographics of the County through the retention of, and in-

Tudalen 9



migration of younger adults (including those returning) to the County, and address some of the issues 
which could be perceived from an aging population.  

In addition, the growth requirement set within the Draft Preferred Strategy will also assist in ensuring 
sufficient opportunity exists to maximise affordable provision, including linking with: 

 the recently established Council Housing Company; 
 Affordable Housing Delivery Plan - with its provision for 1,000 new homes; and
 Local Housing Market Assessment; and 
 to consider and reflect rural needs and issues, whilst reflecting the emphasis and requirements in 

respect of sustainable developments.

Reference is made to the current build rate within Carmarthenshire which indicates a completion rate of 
approx. 500 homes per year over recent years.  

Preferred Spatial Strategy - As a mechanism for the distribution and delivery of growth a series of 
spatial options were identified and considered.  These included: 

Option 1 – Current LDP
Option 2 – Infrastructure and Transport Network
Option 3 – Dispersal
Option 4 - Community Led Option
Option 5 – Swansea Bay City/Region Influence Option
Option 6 – Market Led 

In considering the above the Draft Preferred Strategy identifies a Hybrid which builds on Option 4 and 
reflects considerations around the rural agenda, City Deal/Regeneration and the need for infrastructure 
and market conditions to support delivery.  This Option Balanced Community and Sustainable 
Growth Strategy represents a revision to the approach in the current LDP and one which seeks to 
address the issues highlighted in the Review Report, as well as reflecting the feedback in the formulation 
of the strategy. 

This new spatial strategy will be reflective of the diversity of the County and its communities whilst 
having regard to sustainability and the emphasis on deliverability.  The strategy does not seek to 
apportion development spatially within the hierarchy through proportional distribution or quotas, rather, 
it will seek to distribute the growth in a way which reflects the diversity of the settlement clusters and in 
a sustainable manner.  It will have regard to the role and function of the settlements but also accepts 
that some settlements which may by virtue of the services and facilities available may not necessarily 
be the most appropriate options for all the growth.  This may reflect a number of factors, not least 
environmental constraints, but also historical delivery of growth within such settlements. 
 
The approach will avoid any assumption that that every settlement in every tier must contribute towards 
growth. Rather it will consider the settlements on their merits whilst having regard to their sustainability 
and position within the framework.  The revised spatial hierarchy and the distribution of growth will 
therefore be expressed through the appended framework with settlements grouped under respective 
clusters.
 

Tudalen 10



Strategic Policies - A series of Strategic Policies have been developed to implement the delivery of the 
LDP and its strategic objectives.  These policies have been grouped under the following well-being 
objectives as derived from the PSB Well-being Plan:

 Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, and make healthy choices about their lives and 
environment.

 Early Intervention - To make sure that people have the right help at the right time; as and when 
they need it.

 Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, places and organisations that are able to adapt 
to change.

 Prosperous People and Places - To maximise opportunities for people and places in both urban 
and rural parts of our county.

The Policies themes are as follows:
 Climate Change
 Well Designed Places and Spaces
 Strategic Growth
 Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework
 Providing New Homes
 Affordable Homes
 Gypsy and Traveller Provision
 Strategic Sites
 Employment and the Economy
 Transport and Accessibility
 Infrastructure
 Retail and Town Centres
 The Visitor Economy
 Rural
 Welsh Language and Culture
 Mineral Resources
 Waste Management
 Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment. 
 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment.

The publication of the Draft Preferred Strategy will be accompanied by a suite of evidential and other 
documents.  Key amongst these is the Initial Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which incorporates the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  The SA is required by Section 62 (6a) of the Planning 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, while the SEA is a requirement of the SEA Directive 2001/42/EC1.  An 
SEA is a mandatory requirement for plans/programmes.  A copy of the SA is appended to this report.  
The SA is an integral part of the preparation of the Revised LDP, evaluating and testing its content 
throughout its preparatory process, in particular the Initial SA:  

 Tests the Revised LDP objectives against the Sustainability Framework. 
 Predicts and evaluates the effects of the LDP options in terms of both growth and spatial distribution, 

as well as the strategic policies that will be put in place to implement them.
 Considers ways of mitigating adverse effects and maximising beneficial effects.
 Proposes measures to monitor the significant effects of implementing the LDP.

Tudalen 11



A further key document is the Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening (HRA) Report.  The HRA 
screening report considers the content of the Draft Preferred Strategy and as such has been finalised 
appended accordingly.  

Both of the above will also be available for public consultation.    

It should be noted that the Draft Preferred Strategy does not include:

 Site specific allocations or development limits/settlement boundaries, for example 
housing or employment sites. These will be identified in the Deposit LDP;

 Detailed or specific planning policies – additional and more specific policies to support the 
Strategic Policies.  These will be included in the Deposit LDP; and

 It does not consider the submitted Candidate Sites - A detailed evaluation of these will be 
undertaken ahead of the preparation of the Deposit LDP. The register of Candidate Sites will 
be available to view on the Council’s website towards the end of October.

4. Next Steps
Following the Council’s deliberations, the Draft Preferred Strategy along with the Initial SA and HRA 
screening Report will be published for formal public consultation with copies of the documentation 
available on the Council’s website and at locations across the County.  Supporting evidence and 
background documents will also be published as appropriate.

Representations received along with the Draft Preferred Strategy will be reported back to Council for 
consideration before its content is finalised ahead of the next stages in the LDP’s preparation.

The Draft Deposit LDP with its detailed policies and maps (including allocations) will be published at the 
end of 2019.

Note: It should be noted that whilst the revised LDP is being prepared, the current adopted Plan remains 
extant and will continue to provide the planning policy framework by which planning applications will be 
determined. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED ? YES 

Tudalen 12



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors 
/ Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated 
with this report :

Signed:   L Quelch                                                                Head of Planning                            

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

YES  YES  YES  YES  NONE YES  YES 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
The Draft Preferred Strategy identifies the links and requirements necessary to ensure the Plan, 
and the processes in its preparation are compatible with Carmarthenshire County Council’s well-
being objectives.  It also ensures alignment with the national Well-being Goals set out within the 
Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015.  Through its land use planning policies, the Revised 
LDP will seek to promote the principles of sustainability and sustainable development by 
facilitating the creation of communities and local economies which are more sustainable, 
providing access to local services and facilities and reducing the need to travel.  

The integration of sustainability as part of the preparation of the LDP is reflected in the 
undertaking of a Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment reflecting 
national and international legislative requirements.  The formulation of the Revised LDP will 
closely consider matters of sustainability and will be prepared with the outcomes of the Plan 
measured in light of the Sustainability Appraisal indicators. This iterative approach ensures 
sustainability is at the heart of the Plan and that it is reflective of the requirements emanating from 
the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act 2015 and the emerging Carmarthenshire Well-being 
Plan. 

The LDP will have full regard to the national legislative provisions and will relate and have regard 
to the Carmarthenshire Well-being Plan.  The will be assessed against the National and local 
Well-being Objectives.  The Revised LDP will ensure the requirements emanating from the Act 
are fully and appropriately considered with the Plan, reflective of its duties.

Tudalen 13



 2. Legal  
The preparation of the Revised LDP reflects the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, the requirements of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and secondary legislation 
in the form of the Local Development Plan (Regulations) Wales (As amended) 2015. 

The preparation of the LDP will also have appropriate regard to other sources of primary and 
secondary legislation including the Environment (Wales) Act and the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act 2015.

The preparation of the Draft Preferred Strategy is in accordance with the 2004 Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act. It is also in line with national regulations and guidance in relation to its 
scope and content. 

3. Finance  
Financial costs to date are covered through the financial provisions in place - including growth 
items and reserves.  Should the Planning Division Budget not be in a position to provide further 
funding necessary to meet the statutory requirements to review and prepare a development 
plan then an application will be made for a further growth bid.

The Delivery Agreement, in making reference to such matters, outlines the Council’s 
commitment to prepare and adopt an up-to-date LDP in accordance with the Council’s 
statutory duty.
 

4. ICT 
Requirements in relation to ICT will seek to utilise existing resources.  An additional and revised 
data management requirement will be procured to ensure the plan’s preparatory process is 
conducted in a speedy, efficient and transparent manner in accordance with regulatory 
requirements.  

Tudalen 14



6. Physical Assets  
Reference is made to the potential for the submission of Council owned sites and 
properties.  The preparation of the Revised LDP will impact on Council land and property 
holdings through their inclusion or otherwise for potential development purposes.  This will 
have implications on potential disposal and land valuations and consequently capital 
receipts.

7. Staffing Implications

Provision will be required for a Programme Officer for the Examination into the LDP 
(anticipated 2020/21).  

Tudalen 15



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:    L Quelch                                                              Head of Planning                                   

(Please specify the outcomes of consultations undertaken where they arise against the following headings)

1. Scrutiny Committee
23rd November 2018 – Community Scrutiny 

2.Local Member(s)  
The content of the Draft Preferred Strategy will be subject to full public consultation.  
Members will be engaged throughout the LDP revision process.  

3.Community / Town Council 
The content of the Draft Preferred Strategy will be subject to full public consultation.  
Town/Community Councils(s) are a specific consultee at statutory stages throughout the LDP 
revision.  A specific session on the Revised LDP for Town and Community Councils has been 
undertaken.

4.Relevant Partners  
The content of the Draft Preferred Strategy will be subject to full public consultation.  
Contributions have and continue will be sought throughout the revision process. A range of 
partners are identified as specific and general consultees throughout the review process.  

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
The content of the Draft Preferred Strategy will be subject to full public consultation.   Internal 
contributions have and continue will be sought throughout the revision process. 

 

Tudalen 16



Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW 

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Adopted 
Carmarthenshire Local 
Development Plan

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/resid
ents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-
development-plan/

Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/resid
ents/planning/policies-development-
plans/supplementary-planning-guidance/#.V06h-
JwrKUk

Annual Monitoring 
Report 2015/16

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/368
3/annual-monitoring-report-201516-amr-
document-for-web.pdf

Annual Monitoring 
Report 2016/17

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/121
2553/annual-monitoring-report-2016-17.pdf

LDP Review Report http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/121
3042/ldp-review-report-english-version.pdf

Delivery Agreement https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/12
15059/delivery-agreement-agreed-by-welsh-
government.pdf

Tudalen 17

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-development-plan/
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-development-plan/
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/local-development-plan/
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/supplementary-planning-guidance/#.V06h-JwrKUk
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/supplementary-planning-guidance/#.V06h-JwrKUk
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/supplementary-planning-guidance/#.V06h-JwrKUk
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/residents/planning/policies-development-plans/supplementary-planning-guidance/#.V06h-JwrKUk
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3683/annual-monitoring-report-201516-amr-document-for-web.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3683/annual-monitoring-report-201516-amr-document-for-web.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3683/annual-monitoring-report-201516-amr-document-for-web.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212553/annual-monitoring-report-2016-17.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212553/annual-monitoring-report-2016-17.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213042/ldp-review-report-english-version.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213042/ldp-review-report-english-version.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1215059/delivery-agreement-agreed-by-welsh-government.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1215059/delivery-agreement-agreed-by-welsh-government.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1215059/delivery-agreement-agreed-by-welsh-government.pdf


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix – Settlement Framework
Cluster 1 Cluster 2 Cluster 3 Cluster 4 Cluster 5 Cluster 6

Tier 1 –
Principal 
Centre Carmarthen Llanelli Ammanford/Crosshands    
       
Tier 2  
Service 
Centre

Pontyates/
Meinciau/
Ponthenri Burry Port Brynamman

Newcastle 
Emlyn Llandovery

St Clears / 
Pwll Trap

  Pembrey Glanamman/Garnant Llanybydder Llandeilo Whitland
  Fforest/Hendy Pontyberem/Bancffosfelen Pencader Llangadog Laugharne
  Llangennech     
  Trimsaran/Carway     
                        Kidwelly     
                       Ferryside     
       
Tier 3 –
Sustainable 
Villages Cynwyl Elfed Mynyddygarreg Carmel

Drefach/
Felindre Caio Llanboidy

Llanybri Five Roads/Horeb Cwmgwili Waungilwen Ffarmers Glandy Cross
 Llansteffan Llansaint / Broadway Foelgastell Llangeler Llansawel Efailwen
 Bronwydd Maesybont Pentrecwrt Rhydcymerau Llangynin
 Cwmffrwd Ystradowen Saron/Rhos Talley Meidrim
 Llangyndeyrn Llannon Llanllwni Cwrt Henri Bancyfelin
 Brechfa Llanedi Cwmann Llanfynydd Llangynog
 Llangain Capel Iwan Llanwrda Pendine

Idole and 
Pentrepoeth

Llanfihangel ar 
Arth Cwmdu Llanddowror

 Peniel Trelech Cwmifor Llanmiloe
 Alltwalis

 
 
 
 
 Pontyweli Salem

T
udalen 19



Llanpumsaint Cenarth Abergorlech
Llandyfaelog

 Rhydargaeau
 
 New Inn
 Llanarthne
 Capel Dewi
 Nantgaredig
 Pontargothi
 Llanddarog
 Porthyrhyd

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Crwbin
Cwmduad    

Tier 4 - Rural 
Villages (No 
Development 
Limits) Penboyr Ffaldybrenin

Cwmfelin 
Mynach

Hermon Cynheidre Capel Seion Drefelin Crugybar Cwmbach
Abernant Four Roads Derwydd Cwmpengraig Cwm-du Blaenwaun
Blaenycoed Heol Ddu Cwmhiraeth Ashfield Row Llanglydwen

Bancycapel Maesybont Pentrecagal
Felindre 
(Llangadog)

Cwmfelin 
Boeth

Nantycaws Milo Pontarsais Cynghordy Cross Inn
Croesyceiliog Pantllyn Gwyddgrug Golden Grove Llansadurnen
Felingwm Uchaf Pentregwenlais Dolgran Broad Oak Broadway
Felingwm Isaf Temple Bar Bancyfford Trapp Red Roses
Llanegwad Cefnbrynbrain Bryn Iwan Manordeilo Llanfallteg
Pontantwn Rhosamman Pencarreg Penybanc

T
udalen 20



Nebo Drefach (Llandyfan)
Felindre, 
(Dryslwyn)

Talog Stag and Pheasant Dryslwyn
Cross Inn Mynyddcerrig Rhydcymerau

Penybont
Waunystrad 
Meurig

Whitemill Bethlehem
Pont-Newydd Capel Isaac

Llangathen
Llansadwrn
Rhandirmwyn
Porthyrhyd
Pumsaint
Siloh
Cilycwm

T
udalen 21



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 1

Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 
2018 – 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Report to Community Scrutiny

Tudalen 23



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 2

Foreword
(Insert)

Contents:

Policy Index    Page

1. Introduction
2. What is the Preferred Strategy?
3. What is in the Preferred Strategy?
4. Influences on the Plan
5. Carmarthenshire – Strategic Context
6. Issues Identification
7. A Vision for ‘One Carmarthenshire’
8. Strategic Objectives
9. Strategic growth and Spatial Options
10. A New Strategy
11. Strategic Policies

Glossary

Appendices
Appendix 1: Policy Assessment
Appendix 2: Strategic Sites - Maps

Tudalen 24



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 3

Policy Index

Strategic Policy – SP 1: Strategic Growth 

Strategic Policy – SP 2: Retail and Town Centres

Strategic Policy – SP 3: Providing New Homes

Strategic Policy – SP 4: Affordable Homes

Strategic Policy – SP 5: Strategic Sites

Strategic Policy – SP 6: Employment and the Economy

Strategic Policy – SP 7: Welsh Language and Culture

Strategic Policy – SP 8: Infrastructure

Strategic Policy – SP 9: Gypsy and Traveller Provision

Strategic Policy – SP 10: The Visitor Economy

Strategic Policy – SP 11: Placemaking, Sustainability and High Quality Design

Strategic Policy – SP 12: Rural Development 

Strategic Policy – SP 13: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment

Strategic Policy – SP 14: Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic 

Environment

Strategic Policy – SP 15: Climate Change

Strategic Policy – SP 16: Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework

Strategic Policy – SP 17: Transport and Accessibility

Strategic Policy – SP 18: Mineral Resources

Strategic Policy – SP 19: Waste Management

Tudalen 25



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 4

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Council is responsible for preparing and keeping up-to-date the Local 

Development Plan (LDP)1.  The LDP sets out planning policies and allocates sites for 

different types of development.  The Council is also responsible for development 

management which involves the processing and determination of planning applications with 

the LDP guiding and managing development by providing the foundation for consistent and 

clear decision making.  In meeting the above responsibilities we are in the process of 

preparing a Revised LDP.  Once adopted we will use this LDP for assessing planning 

applications through until 2033 but will continue to monitor and review its content to ensure it 

remains relevant and is working as intended. 

1.2 The LDP has a direct and meaningful effect on the people and communities of 

Carmarthenshire and visitors alike.  It will shape the future development in the County and 

its environmental qualities, influencing it economically and socially. The LDP will respond to 

the needs of a growing and regionally important economy making provision for new jobs, 

homes, infrastructure and community facilities. It also ensures the well-being of its 

communities is maintained, and the impacts of the development and use of land are 

managed sustainably.  It will guide funding and investment programmes, other plans and 

strategies, communities and landowners whilst providing for the enhancement and protection 

of our environment and environmental qualities.  In doing so, it provides a measure of 

certainty and confidence about what kind of development will, and will not, be permitted and 

at what locations during the Plan period. 

1.3 The part of Carmarthenshire which is within the Brecon Beacons National Park has 

its own separate development plan.

1.4 In ensuring that the current adopted LDP remains up to date, a review was 

undertaken into its content with the outcomes published in the Review Report2.  This review, 

whilst finding that many aspects of the adopted LDP are functioning effectively, also 

identified that there were issues in relation to parts of the Plan and its strategy.  The Review 

Report showed that parts of this strategy were not being delivered as intended with both the 

level and spatial distribution of growth requiring further consideration.  It concluded that we 

start the preparation of a revised LDP to replace the existing adopted Plan.  The Revised 

1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Local Development Plan (LDP) Regulations 2005 
sets the framework and legal context for the preparation of Local Development Plans in Wales.
2 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213042/ldp-review-report-english-version.pdf

Tudalen 26

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213042/ldp-review-report-english-version.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 5

LDP 2018 – 2033 will replace the current adopted Plan on adoption which is scheduled for 

December 2021.

Tudalen 27



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 6

2. What is the Preferred Strategy?

2.1 This Preferred Strategy is part of a set of documents which we are required to 

prepare in the process of producing the Revised LDP for Carmarthenshire.  It represents an 

early but important early stage in preparing the Plan and follows the publication of the 

Delivery Agreement as approved by the Welsh Government on the 28th June 20183.  

2.2 The purpose of this Preferred Strategy is to set the long term vision for 

Carmarthenshire (excluding that area within the Brecon Beacons National Park) and the 

strategic objectives and the strategic land use polices to deliver that vision.   

2.3 It will provide the strategic direction for the development and use of land until 2033. It 

also tells us how much development is needed and broadly where this is likely to be.  

However, this Preferred Strategy is not the full LDP, rather it sets out broad strategic 

principles for development in our area.  The full Plan is called the Deposit LDP and will 

contain detailed and specific policies as well as settlement maps, development limits, site-

specific allocations (housing sites) etc.  

   

3 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-
2033/delivery-agreement/#.W3bSe-aouUk

Tudalen 28

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/delivery-agreement/#.W3bSe-aouUk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/delivery-agreement/#.W3bSe-aouUk


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 7

2.4 Further information on the stages in preparing the LDP is available within the 

Delivery Agreement or on the Council’s web-pages.

2.5 This Preferred Strategy should be read and considered as a whole having regard to 

the provisions of Planning Policy Wales and the relevant Technical Advice Notes.

Tudalen 29



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 8

3. What is in the Preferred Strategy?

3.1 The format and structure of the Preferred Strategy has sought to reflect the core 

elements of sustainability, along with the four well-being objectives within the 

Carmarthenshire Well-being Plan4.  The Strategic Policies will follow this structure with 

cross-referencing to the relevant Plan objectives, as well as the relevant Well-being goals.

3.2 This Draft Preferred Strategy will be made available for public consultation, aimed 

at engaging with communities, the public, partners, developers and interest groups.  

What is NOT included within this Preferred Strategy include:

 Site specific allocations or development limits/settlement boundaries, for 

example housing or employment sites. These will be identified in the Deposit LDP;

 Detailed or specific planning policies – additional and more specific policies to 

support the Strategic Policies.  These will be included in the Deposit LDP; and

 A detailed evaluation of the Candidate Sites submitted – the register of candidate 

sites is available to view as is the Site Assessment Methodology which we will use to 

look at the suitability of each site.

3.3 The Sustainability Appraisal of the Draft Preferred Strategy has been published as 

a separate document along with the Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report.  

Both these documents are available for consultation with comments welcomed on their 

content.

4 http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/ 

Tudalen 30

http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 9

4. Influences on the Plan

4.1 Whilst the LDP plays a key role in shaping decision making and the location and 

nature of developments within the County, it is prepared and operated within the national 

framework set through legislation and by Planning Policy Wales5  and accompanying 

Technical Advice Notes6. 

4.2 The process itself for the preparation of the LDP is set within statutory regulations, 

with further procedural guidance contained within the LDP Manual as prepared by the Welsh 

Government.  The preparation and content of the LDP will be assessed against three tests of 

soundness7 namely:

1. Does the plan fit?

2. Is the plan appropriate?

3. Will the plan deliver?

4.3 The preparation of the Plan will culminate with the Planning Inspector (as appointed 

by the Welsh Government).  The Inspector will examine the LDP against these three tests to 

assess its soundness. The findings of the Examination will be published in the Inspector’s 

Report, and its content and recommendations are binding on the Authority.

4.4 As the Council plans for the future, we must also work closely with, and respond to, 

various partners, other agencies, funding bodies and decision makers to inform, guide and 

implement programmes and proposals. The LDP, whilst central in informing future policies, 

programmes and investment strategies across a range of agencies and bodies will have also 

been influenced by, and reflect those which support the delivery of its policies and proposals.

4.5 A number of important documents and strategies relate to Carmarthenshire. We have 

and will, where applicable, prepare the plan to reflect such documents and plans of other 

organisations, including our neighbouring planning authorities, and national and regional 

5 https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en

6 https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en

7 To be adopted, a Local Development Plan must be determined ‘sound’ by the examination Inspector (section 64 of the 2004
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act). Tests of soundness and checks are identified in Planning Policy Wales Edition 9 and 
the Approved Revised LDP Delivery Agreement.

Tudalen 31

https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/ppw/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/tans/?lang=en


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 10

policies and strategies.  We will work with our neighbours and others in the preparation of 

the LDP as appropriate. 

4.6 There have been a number of significant contextual changes in Welsh legislation 

since the adoption of the current LDP. These include the publication of the Planning (Wales) 

Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  Perhaps most significant however, is the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  This represents a big change, with the 

Plan required to contribute to its aims of improving the economic, social, environmental and 

cultural well-being of Wales as part of carrying out sustainable development.  The Plan will 

look to the national well-being goals and objectives as well as the Council’s own well-being 

objectives8 in its policies and proposals.

4.7 The Council, in preparing its New Corporate Strategy, consolidated the following 

plans into the one document and will underpin many aspects of the LDP in moving forward:

1.   It supersedes the 2015-20 Corporate Strategy;

2.   It incorporates our Improvement Objectives as required by the Local Government 

Measure 2009;

3.  It includes our Well-being Objectives as required by the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015. For the first time in Wales, there is a shared vision 

and set of goals for all public bodies to work towards, our Well-being Objectives are 

set to maximise our contribution to these, 

4. It includes Carmarthenshire County Council’s Executive Board key projects and 

programmes for the next 5 years as set out in ‘Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: 

the next 5 years’.

8 The 15 Well-being Objectives are defined within – Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: The Council’s New 
Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2033 (https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214849/corporate-
strategy-18-23.pdf)

Tudalen 32

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214849/corporate-strategy-18-23.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1214849/corporate-strategy-18-23.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 11

4.8 This Draft Preferred Strategy also reflects the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Scoping 

Report9 giving full and careful consideration of all the relevant factors it identified.  As we 

continue the process of preparing the Plan, the SA and the requirements for producing the 

Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) will help us in developing the LDP in a way which 

ensures it takes on board those sustainability and environmental values.

4.9 Such contextual changes, the findings of the Review Report and changes in 

evidence will be important in informing how the Plan is prepared, and its direction both 

strategically through this Draft Preferred Strategy, but also at a detailed policy level.

4.10 Extensive work and liaison has, and is, being undertaken to build and raise 

awareness and communication with a wide range of organisations and individuals. The 

information, issues and evidence emerging from such communications has been invaluable 

in the work undertaken to date and will continue in ensuring the preparation of the LDP is as 

informed and consensual as possible. 

9 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-
2033/sustainability-appraisal-strategic-environmental-assessment/#.W4klWuaouUk

Tudalen 33

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/sustainability-appraisal-strategic-environmental-assessment/#.W4klWuaouUk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/local-development-plan-2018-2033/sustainability-appraisal-strategic-environmental-assessment/#.W4klWuaouUk


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 12

5. Carmarthenshire - Strategic Context

Overview
5.1 Carmarthenshire is positioned at the heart of south west Wales.  It enjoys strong 

links to wider economies both to the east and across into England, but also west to 

Pembrokeshire and Ireland as well mid and north Wales. Carmarthenshire boasts a 

dynamic economic base, reflecting its strong employment centres as well as a having an 

important rural economy.  The County has been successful in attracting investment, and 

places regeneration as its number one corporate priority. 

5.2 The County is characterised by its diverse towns and villages, large employment 

parks, regional retail centres, prominent rural economy, and attractive upland, estuarine 

and coastal landscapes. The Welsh language and culture are also important aspects of 

Carmarthenshire’s identity and character with the County prominent as a heartland for 

Welsh speakers. 

5.3 Within the County there are key economic drivers including the investments at 

Cross Hands in relation to the food park and the Cross Hands East employment site.  The 

signing of the £1.3billion city deal in 2017 and the progress in delivering the associated 

projects - Yr Egin Creative Cluster in Carmarthen and the Llanelli Well-being and Life 

Sciences project - reinforces Carmarthenshire’s strategic and regional importance. 

Carmarthenshire is a County with a diverse character with the agricultural economy and 

landscape of the rural areas juxtaposed with the urban and post-industrial south-eastern 

area. 

5.4 As a primarily rural County, the population density is low at 75.7 persons per sq. 

kilometre, compared with 140 persons per sq. kilometre for Wales as a whole. This sparsity 

of population is reflective of the largely rural communities as opposed to the south and east 

of the County where 65% of the population reside on 35% of the land. 

5.5 The main urban centres of the County include Llanelli, Carmarthen and Ammanford / 

Cross Hands.  Carmarthen due to its central geographic location typically serves the needs 

of the County’s rural hinterland as well as the wider region in aspects such as retailing. Both 

Llanelli and Ammanford / Cross Hands have a rich industrial heritage but remain important 

contributors to their wider communities acting a focal points for employment and homes. 

5.6 The County has a large number of settlements reflecting the size and diversity of the 

County.  These vary in size and role with many often making notable contributions to the 

Tudalen 34



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 13

needs and requirements of their community and the surrounding area.  A number of 

settlements and villages are self-sufficient in terms of facilities and services, often fulfilling a 

wider service role. However, other smaller settlements lack services and facilities. The 

needs of residents in these latter areas are typically met by main centres and in some 

instances the other serviced smaller settlements. 

5.7 The richness of Carmarthenshire’s natural and cultural environment is an important 

spatial consideration in planning for the future of the County, particularly in terms of the 

potential for growth and the siting of development. The plan area includes sites designated 

at the international level to protect and enhance important nature conservation value, as well 

as striking landscapes and distinctive historic towns and villages. The importance of the 

County’s built heritage is borne out by the 27 conservation areas, 366 Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments (ranging from Prehistoric to post- Medieval/Modern features of cultural historic 

interest) and the large number of listed buildings. There are also a number of designated 

sites for nature conservation and biodiversity importance, including 8 Special Areas of 

Conservation, 3 Special Protection Areas, 1 Ramsar site, 90 Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest, 5 National Nature Reserves, 5 Local Nature Reserves and 7 registered landscapes.

Agriculture in Carmarthenshire dominates the rural landscape with the agricultural industry 

and in particular dairy and sheep farming establishing the County as one of the most 

important agricultural areas in Wales. Some 203,700 ha of land within Carmarthenshire is 

classified as agricultural land with the majority classified as grade 3a and 4 with a small 

tranche of grade 2 land in the south-east of the County.

Population 
5.8 Carmarthenshire is home to around 6% of Wales’ total population with 186,452 

people. Since 2001, the County has seen its population grow by 12,800 people, a 7.4% 

increase in 16 years. The highest level of population growth was recorded before 2008, with 

the years since showing a lower level of growth. 

5.9 The main factor influencing population change in Carmarthenshire since 2001/2002 

has been through inward migration, where more people have come into the County than 

have left. The population growth is also considered against the County’s natural change 

which has seen the number of deaths exceeding births each year since 2001/2002.  

5.10 Migration patterns out of Carmarthenshire has seen a large number of the 15-19 age 

group leave the County.  This largely reflects students leaving the County for higher 

education opportunities. There is an increase of people moving into the County within the 

Tudalen 35



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 14

30-44 young family age group and the 0-14 year age group. There is also an increase in the 

over 65 age group which has contributed to Carmarthenshire’s ageing population profile.

5.11 Since the inception of the Local Development Plan process in Wales, the Welsh 

Government has published four population and household projections.  The 2006 and 2008 

WG based projections have been influenced by high net migration statistics (internal and 

international) which identified significant growth for Carmarthenshire (as reflected in the 

Adopted LDP). However the WG 2011 and 2014-based projections reflected a post-

recession phase which indicated a lower in-migration trend which has translated into a much 

lower anticipated household growth requirement for Carmarthenshire.

5.12 Looking ahead to the Revised LDP 2018-2033, the latest Welsh Government 2014-

based household projections estimates that average household sizes are not decreasing as 

quickly as previous projections suggested. This higher estimate of household sizes coupled 

with the changes in population growth within the County has resulted in a much lower 

anticipated household requirement from that identified in the existing adopted LDP. 

Connections
5.13 Carmarthenshire is well located on the strategic highway network with connections to 

the west provide links to the Irish ferry ports, which with the M4 forms part of the Trans-

European Network. This east-west link is further emphasised by the West Wales railway line 

which extends from Swansea (and the wider rail network) through to Pembrokeshire via 

Carmarthen and Llanelli. The West Wales line also forms part of the Trans-European 

Network linking to and from the Irish Ferry Ports in Pembrokeshire. The Heart of Wales 

railway line extending from Swansea through eastern parts of the County through to 

Shrewsbury offers additional transport benefits albeit based on a limited service.

5.14 The County is also served by a number of A-roads as well as numerous B-classified 

roads each representing important components of the highway network. Our principal 

highway network includes the A48 trunk road leading to and from the M4 motorway with its 

connections through South East Wales and beyond. Whilst the A40 and A483 trunk roads 

connect to Mid and North Wales as well as to the Midlands and the North of England. 

Access into Central and onwards into North Wales is provided via the A484 and the A485. 

5.15 The following illustrates the nature of the road network including the level of provision 

which is met through B and lower classification roads.  This in part reflects of the rural extent 

Tudalen 36



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 15

of the County and emphasises the challenges to delivering a sustainable integrated strategy 

for the area.

Carmarthenshire Road Network – Road Length (Km)
Motorway (M4) 5

Class A (Trunk) 147

Class A (County) 247

Class B and C 1,579

Minor Surfaced 1,496

5.16 The area is generally well served by public transport through the bus network, albeit 

with the level and frequency of service subject to variation dependent upon location and 

destination. In addition, a number of services operate on a ‘Hail-&-Ride’ basis in rural areas 

and ‘Bwcabus’ in the Teifi Valley, such services offer additional accessibility benefits to 

such areas.

Tudalen 37



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 16

6. Issues Identification

6.1 The Revised LDP needs to be strategic, concise and distinctive to our County. 

Focusing on the key issues facing our County has helped us achieve this.10 In preparing the 

revised LDP we have sought to review and update our understanding of the relevant issues. 

6.2 The key issues are grouped under the national well-being goals. This means that the 

issues are framed within the context of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

201511. This ensures that social, economic and environmental interests are embedded into 

the Plan making process.  

6.3 The SA Scoping report, as well as the work undertaken by the Public Service Board 

as part of the “Carmarthenshire We Want”12 process, has informed the issues. The 

Carmarthenshire Wellbeing Plan 2018 – 2033 13 has also been a key aspect of this work. 

6.4 We have engaged and researched extensively as part of the conversation around 

issues generation. This includes elected Members, Town and Community Councils, Key 

Stakeholder Forum, policy review, LDP review report, corporate objectives/strategies, online 

surveys and the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) process14.

6.5 We understand where we are now as a County and where we all want to get to. This 

has allowed for the development of a consensus on those issues that a spatial / land use 

plan can seek to address up to 2033. 

6.6 The 33 summary issues are as follows. Further detail is set out within the Issues 

Vision and Objectives Topic Paper15:

10 Welsh Government Local Development Plan Manual – Edition 2 August 2015, Section 6.1.1
11 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
12 http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/

13   http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/media/8331/carmarthenshire-well-being-plan-final-may-
2018.pdf

14 Detailed information, including the engagement undertaken is set out within the Issues Vision and 
Objectives Topic Paper.
15 Detailed information is set out within the Issues Vision and Objectives Topic Paper.

Tudalen 38

http://www.thecarmarthenshirewewant.wales/


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 17

A Prosperous Carmarthenshire 
1 The £1.3 billion Swansea Bay City Deal, with projects identified in Llanelli and Carmarthen. 
2 Varying vibrancy and vitality within our retailing town centres 
3 Appropriate growth is needed in rural areas (including employment opportunities)

4 A buoyant Visitor economy with potential to grow. 

A Resilient Carmarthenshire 
5 Risks from flooding and the challenges presented by climate change 

6 Biodiversity designations ranging from the international to local level.

7 An ecological footprint that is currently exceeding sustainable levels. 

8 Rich landscape or townscape qualities. 

A Healthier Carmarthenshire 
9 An ageing population. 

10 60% of adults reported as being overweight or obese.

11 Community life, education and public services indicate wellbeing in rural areas.

12 Beauty, peace and quiet, open green spaces and fresh air are also contributors to 
happiness in rural areas.

13 Air Quality Management Areas in Carmarthen, Llanelli and Llandeilo.

14 “Our big NHS change” and any implications.

A More Equal Carmarthenshire 
15 Rural and urban deprivation.

16 Over 1 in 3 households are living in poverty.

17 Council’s target to provide 1,000 affordable homes. 

A Carmarthenshire of Cohesive Communities

18 Lack of new homes being built in some Service Centres and Local Service Centres.

19 Lack of a five year supply of housing land and the need for a housing mix.

20 Changes in population and household forecasts indicate that significantly less homes are 
needed through to 2033.

21 Housing sites not being brought forward and built 

22 A predominantly rural county where 60% of the population live in rural areas. 

23 Ensuring infrastructure capacity can support development, including highways.

24 The need to promote and access alternative forms of transport.

25 Lack of employment opportunities, broadband and public services in rural areas.

Tudalen 39



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 18

26 Need to appreciate the sense of place – a county of contrasts. 

A Carmarthenshire of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language 

27 Disused buildings across the County.

28 Need to measure the impact of development upon the Welsh language

29 Need for affordable housing within our communities to retain young families

30 Important archaeological sites and historic features 

31 Highest number of Welsh speakers in Wales

A Globally Responsible Carmarthenshire 

32 Emerging national and regional considerations including Brexit, National Development 
Framework, Strategic Development Plans and the review of Planning Policy Wales 
(Edition 10).

33 Need to promote energy efficiency in proposed and existing developments.

Tudalen 40



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 19

7. A Vision for ‘One Carmarthenshire’

7.1 The Revised LDP needs to be underpinned by a concise, long-term vision and 

strategy. In order to achieve this, a clear Vision has been developed that is built on 

consensus. This Draft Preferred Strategy’s Vision outlines how the County is planned to 

develop, change or be conserved up to 2033.16

7.2 The Revised LDP vision directly incorporates the vision set out in the Council’s 

Corporate Strategy “Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire - the next 5 years – 2018-2023”17. 

Whilst there is no vision to directly draw upon from the Carmarthenshire Wellbeing Plan, the 

Revised LDP vision reflects its four well-being objectives which are (1) Healthy Habits (2) 

Early Intervention (3) Strong Connections and (4) Prosperous People and Places. 

7.3 The supporting text of well-being objective 4 has been incorporated into the Revised 

LDP vision due to this objective’s emphasis on “maximising opportunities for people and 

places in both urban and rural parts of our county”. This responds to the strong emphasis on 

recognising rural areas within the conversations undertaken around issues identification. The 

Revised LDP vision acknowledges and celebrates that our county is one of contrast and 

engenders a sense of place. 

7.4 A “One Carmarthenshire” approach recognises the need to balance conflicting 

demands and interests and provides a platform for consensus and shared ownership of the 

Revised LDP. The Revised LDP vision also recognises the Swansea Bay City Deal and this 

sets the tone for this Draft Preferred Strategy to be positive and sufficiently aspirational. 

One Carmarthenshire 
Carmarthenshire 2033 will be a place to start, live and age well within a healthy, safe 
and prosperous environment, where its rich cultural and environmental qualities are 
valued and respected.

It will have prosperous, cohesive and sustainable communities providing increased 
opportunities, interventions and connections for people, places and organisations in 
both rural and urban parts of our County.

It will have a strong economy that reflects its position as a confident and ambitious 
driver for the Swansea Bay City Region.

16 Planning Policy Wales, Edition 9 (Section 2.2.1) and Welsh Government Local Development Plan Manual – 
Edition 2 – August 2015, Section 6.1.1
17 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/strategies-and-plans/moving-forward-
in-carmarthenshire-the-next-5-years/

Tudalen 41



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 20

8. Strategic Objectives

8.1 The current Adopted LDP’s strategic objectives were utilised as a starting point for 

the identification of strategic objectives for the Revised LDP. 

8.2 The emergence of a range of contextual and policy drivers since 2014, most notably 

the Well Being of Future Generations Act 2015 and the signing of the Swansea Bay City 

Deal in 2017, mean that the Adopted LDP Strategic Objectives needed review.  There was 

also a need to ensure to ensure that the Revised LDP strategic objectives were interwoven 

with the Revised LDP key issues and vision. 

8.3 The Carmarthenshire Well Being Plan’s wellbeing objectives have been utilised to 

group the Revised LDP’s Strategic Objectives. This ensures that a local interpretation of 

wellbeing is interwoven into the strategic objectives and the Plan’s strategy from the outset. 

Whilst not directly identified as Revised LDP strategic objectives in themselves, the Council’s 

wellbeing objectives, as outlined within the Corporate Strategy “Moving Forward in 

Carmarthenshire - the next 5 years – 2018-2023  have played an informing role. The Issues 

Vision and Objectives Topic Paper contains compatibility assessments between the Revised 

LDP strategic objectives, the Revised LDP strategic objectives and the Council’s wellbeing 

objectives and the Revised LDP strategic objectives against the Sustainability Appraisal 

framework. 

8.4 The Revised LDP strategic objectives are sufficiently aspirational and ambitious but 

are also deliverable within a spatial planning context. They respond and deliver upon the 

Plan’s key issues and provide a platform for delivering its vision. They provide a platform for 

a Sound Plan, notably in terms of their fit, appropriateness and deliverability 18

The strategic objectives are cross referenced to the relevant Revised LDP issue and are 

also subject to an analysis in terms of whether they are SMART (Specific Measurable 

Attainable Relevant and Time Bound).

18 Paragraph 8.2.1.2 of the Welsh Government Local Development Plan Manual – Edition 2

Tudalen 42



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 21

8.5 The Revised LDP strategic objectives are below.

Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, and make healthy 
choices about their lives and environment.

SO1 To ensure that the natural environment, including habitats and species, are 
safeguarded and enhanced.

LDP Issues addressed 6, 7, 12, 13, 26, 32 
Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 
Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO2 To assist with widening and promoting wellbeing opportunities through 
access to community, leisure and recreational facilities as well as the 
countryside.

LDP Issues addressed 10, 11, 12, 15, 22, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO5 To safeguarded and enhance the built and historic environment and 
promote the appropriate reuse of redundant buildings.

LDP Issues addressed 8, 26, 27, 30, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

Early Intervention - To make sure that people have the right help at the 
right time; as and when they need it

SO3 To assist in widening and promoting education and skills training 
opportunities for all.

LDP Issues addressed 11, 15, 16, 22, 25, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

Tudalen 43



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 22

SO4 To ensure that the principles of equal opportunities and social inclusion are 
upheld by promoting access to a high quality and diverse mix of public services, 
healthcare, shops, leisure facilities and work opportunities, as well as vibrant 
town centres.

LDP Issues addressed 2, 3, 9, 11, 14,16,18, 22, 25, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, places and 
organisations that are able to adapt to change

SO6 To ensure that the principles of spatial sustainability are upheld by directing 
development to sustainable locations with access to services and facilities and 
wherever possible encouraging the reuse of previously developed land.

LDP Issues addressed 5, 7,13, 22, 23, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO7 To make a significant contribution towards tackling the cause and adapting 
to the effect of climate change, including promoting the efficient use and 
safeguarding of resources. 

LDP Issues addressed 5, 7,13, 24, 26, 32, 33

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO8 To contribute to the delivery of an accessible integrated and sustainable 
transport system, including links to alternative transport methods.

LDP Issues addressed 22 ,23 , 24, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

Tudalen 44



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 23

Prosperous People and Places - To maximise opportunities for people and 
places in both urban and rural parts of our county.

SO9 To protect and enhance the diverse character, distinctiveness, safety and 
vibrancy of the County’s communities by promoting a place making approach 
and a sense of place.  

LDP Issues addressed 8, 26, 28, 31, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO10 To make provision for an appropriate mix of quality homes across the 
County based around the principles of sustainable socio-economic development 
and equality of opportunities.

LDP Issues addressed 3, 17, 18,19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 26,28, 29, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO11 To assist in protecting, enhancing and promoting the Welsh Language and 
the County’s unique cultural identity, assets and social fabric.

LDP Issues addressed 3, 17, 18, 20, 26, 28, 29, 31, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO12 To encourage investment & innovation in rural and urban areas by making 
adequate provision to meet employment need and to contribute at a regional 
level to the delivery of the Swansea Bay City Deal. 

LDP Issues addressed 1, 2, 3, 4, 15, 16, 23, 25, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

Tudalen 45



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 24

SO13 To make provision for sustainable & high quality all year round tourism 
related initiatives.

LDP Issues addressed 4, 25, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

SO14 To reflect the requirements associated with the delivery of new 
development, both in terms of hard and soft infrastructure (including broadband). 

LDP Issues addressed 23, 24, 25, 26, 32

Specific Measurable Achievable Relevant and 

Time Bound



Aspirational and Ambitious 

(Insert LDP Vision and Process Chart)

Tudalen 46



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 25

9. Strategic Growth and Spatial Options

Strategic Growth Options
9.1 To inform the future direction of population and household growth within 

Carmarthenshire, the Council has undertaken a Population and Household Forecast Paper 

which highlights various population-led and employment-led growth options scenarios for the 

revised LDP period of 2018-2033. Each scenario is considered against the 2011 Census 

vacancy rate, in addition to a variant vacancy rate calculated from Carmarthenshire’s council 

tax records, which is calculated as 3.4%.

9.2 The Population and Household Forecast Paper also identifies the links between 

population growth and estimated employment growth. This is correlated by identifying how 

population growth and variances in the labour force and demographics supports job 

opportunities and economic growth.

WG 2014-based projection
9.3 The starting point for the analysis of future growth outcomes for Carmarthenshire is 

through the Welsh Government’s (WG) 2014-based population and household projections. 

The 2014-based projections are the latest available. They incorporate the ONS 2014 mid-

year population estimate, plus fertility, mortality and migration assumptions based on an 

historical five-year period prior to 2014. 

9.4 The 2014-based projections are notably lower than that estimated under each of the 

previous WG projections. This is because they are based on a 5 year period of lower net in-

migration, particularly given the impact of the recession, whilst household sizes have not 

decreased as quickly as previously considered. It would see a high percentage increase of 

65+ year old persons which would provide a real challenge for the delivery of health and 

social care services within the County.

9.5 Housing build rates within Carmarthenshire since 2007 have been (on average) 493 

houses per year. Adopting the 2014-based projection as the Preferred Strategy would result 

in a far lower level of growth with on average 231 dwellings per annum using the Census 

vacancy rate, or 224 dwellings per annum on the alternative vacancy rate being required for 

the revised LDP period of 2018-2033. 

9.6 It is recognised that there is a link between providing for new houses and new jobs. 

The 2014-based projection would stifle any future development opportunity for the county 

Tudalen 47



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 26

and would mean that the Corporate drive for new employment growth would not be met, and 

be in conflict with other elements of the LDP strategy. 

9.7 This scenario would have a significant impact on the labour force within 

Carmarthenshire resulting in a net outflow of workers and residents from the County. This 

scenario would estimate a negative job creation value of -55 per year. 

Conclusion
9.8 Using this growth trend as the Preferred Strategy for Carmarthenshire would adversely 

impact upon the Council’s strategic ambitions from both an economic and social perspective. 

Furthermore given the potential negative impacts highlighted above, it is not considered 

prudent to utilise the WG 2014-based projection in the revised LDP Preferred Strategy.

9.9 Using this scenario would not deliver the Plan’s Vision and Strategic Objectives.

Other Projection Options
9.10 The forecast paper highlights 5 other demographic scenario options of population and 

household growth for Carmarthenshire – each considering various statistics to inform a 

potential growth trend within the county.

Change 2018-2033 Average per year
Scenario Population 

Change
 Population 
Change %

Household 
Change

Household 
Change %

Net 
Migration

Dwellings 
(Census 
VR)

Dwellings 
(ALT. VR)

Total 
Dwelling 
Growth 
(Census 
VR)

Total 
Dwelling 
Growth 
(ALT. VR)

PG Pre-
Recession

26,811 14.2% 13,616 16.6% 2,028 969 939 14,529 14,090

PG Long 
Term

17,567 9.4% 9,555 11.7% 1,423 680 659 10,195 9,887

PG 10yr 11,755 6.3% 6,992 8.6% 1,043 497 482 7,461 7,236
PG Short 
Term

10,691 5.7% 6,807 8.4% 997 484 470 7,263 7,044

(WG 2014 
(10yr 
Average 
Migration

10,842 5.8% 6,322 7.7% 921 450 436 6,746 6,542

WG 2014 
based

3,207 1.7% 3,254 4.0% 546 231 224 3,472 3,367

WG 2014-based (10 year average migration) projection
9.11 This projection utilises the WG 2014-based natural change assumptions but also 

considers the 10 year migration period between 2003/2004 and 2012/13. This trend uses a 

migration period prior to, and post-recession, which would see a population and household 

change of 5.8% and 7.7% respectively during the plan period of 2018-2033. The housing 

requirement within this scenario (2011 Census vacancy rate) would equate to 450 dwellings 

Tudalen 48



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 27

per year, which would be less than that currently being built within Carmarthenshire on an 

average yearly basis. This equates to 6,746 dwellings over the LDP period 2018-2033.

In considering this projection against the variant vacancy rate of 3.4%, the dwelling 

requirement within this scenario reduces to 436 dwellings per year. This equates to 6,542 

dwellings over the LDP period 2018-2033.

9.12 This scenario would estimate the creation of 198 additional jobs per year, far less 

than that considered within the Carmarthenshire’s Strategic Regeneration Plan.

Conclusion
9.13 Given the potential negative impacts highlighted above, it is not considered prudent to 

utilise both variant scenarios of the WG 2014-based (10 year average migration) projection as 

the growth option for the revised LDP Preferred Strategy. It would not deliver the Plan’s Vision 

and Strategic Objectives.

9.14 Both variant scenarios would limit Carmarthenshire’s economic ambitions in terms of 

job creation and keeping younger adults within the County to live and work. 

Population Growth Short Term
9.15 The Population Growth (PG) Short Term scenario utilises part of the WG 2014-based 

projection migration data, however it also uses the three years of data up to 2016/2017. This 

scenario increases the population and household change percentage from that in the 2014-

based projection, but the outflow of those within the 15-19 age cohort increases. The PG 

short term trend increases the net migration inflow of all ages from 30+ years, but it would 

still see a negative population percentage change within the under 65 age cohorts. 

9.16 Utilising the 2011 Census vacancy rate, this scenario would, on average deliver 484 

dwellings per year within the Revised LDP period, or 470 dwellings per year under the 

variant vacancy rate. This equates to 7,263 dwellings and 7,044 dwellings over the revised 

LDP period respectively. This is notably less than that currently being built within 

Carmarthenshire on an annual basis. Whilst there is a net inflow in the 30 + age cohorts, the 

rate of growth would be slower and limit the economic potential of the authority. This 

reinforces some of the issues highlighted in terms of economic ambition and having 

balanced age cohorts within the county.

Tudalen 49



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 28

9.17 In terms of the link between population change and job creation, this scenario would 

support the creation of 126 additional jobs per year, but would fall short of the targets 

outlined in Carmarthenshire’s Strategic Regeneration Plan.

Conclusion
9.18 Given the potential negative impacts highlighted above, it is not considered prudent 

to utilise the PG Short Term projection as the growth option for the Preferred Strategy. It 

would not deliver the Plan’s Vision and Strategic Objectives. 

Population Growth 10 year 
9.19 The PG 10 year projection utilises the migration trend of the previous 10 years, which 

takes into account the first two years of the pre-recession period, but with the majority of the 

migration data being since 2008. This trend offers a slightly more optimistic outlook than that 

considered in the 10 year migration data from the WG 2014-based projection, and similar to 

the PG Short term Scenario. This scenario does identify the net out-migration of those in the 

15-19 and 25-29 age cohorts, with comparable net in-migration in the 30+ year old cohorts.

9.20 Utilising the 2011 Census vacancy, this scenario would, on average provide 497 

dwellings per annum within the revised LDP period 2018-2033, with the variant vacancy rate 

highlighting a provision of 482 dwellings per year. This equates to 7,461 dwellings and 7,236 

dwellings over the revised LDP period respectively.

9.21 In terms of the link between population change and job creation, this scenario would 

support the creation of 178 jobs per year, but would fall short of the targets outlined in the 

Carmarthenshire’s Strategic Regeneration Plan, and only marginally cover the job 

requirements set out within the Swansea Bay City Deal.

Conclusion
9.22 Whilst the delivery of 497 or 482 dwellings per year is similar to that delivered since 

2007, it does not offer the flexibility to pick up on those years where housing delivery and the 

housing market has been more buoyant. Since 2015, housing delivery has been on average 

545 dwellings per year and restricting the housing requirement through this scenario as the 

Preferred Strategy would limit Carmarthenshire’s economic ambitions in terms of job 

creation and provide opportunities for younger adults within the County to live and work.

This scenario would not deliver the Plan’s Vision and Strategic Objectives.

Tudalen 50



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 29

Population Growth Long Term
9.23 Under the PG Long Term scenario, higher net migration flows are estimated 

(averaging +1,423 people per year), resulting in population change (9.4%) and subsequent 

dwelling growth of 680 dwellings per year (2011 Census vacancy rate) or 659 dwellings per 

year (variant vacancy rate). This equates to 10,195 dwellings and 9,887 dwellings over the 

revised LDP period respectively.

9.24 This is higher than estimated under the PG Short Term and WG 2014-based 
scenarios. Whilst the PG Long Term scenario captures the significantly higher net migration 

flows over the 2001/02–2007/08 period in its assumptions, the notably lower net migration 

recorded to 2016/17 has a dampening effect on its migration assumptions. 

9.25 The age cohort of net migration and population change within this scenario shows 

much more of a positive outlook. There is a net positive migration in all age cohorts bar the 

15-19 years, however there is a decrease in the population change between 25-34 age cohort 

and 50-59 age cohort. The PG Long Term scenario would provide a more optimistic outlook 

in seeking to achieve the targets outlined in Carmarthenshire’s Strategic Regeneration Plan 

with a larger population increase supporting the creation of approximately 353 additional jobs 

per year.  

Conclusion
9.26 On balance, utilising this scenario as the Preferred Strategy would provide a positive 

outlook and provide an appropriate provision for housing delivery within the county. It would 

allow the flexibility to drive sustainable housing growth and support the economic ambitions 

of the county. 

9.27 Whilst utilising a scenario with higher population growth will see a continuation of 

people aged 15-19 leaving the county, more return in the 20-24 age cohort which results in a 

balanced demographic outlook for the county in the future. 

9.28 Using this scenario would assist in delivering the Plan’s Vision and Strategic 

Objectives.

Population Growth Pre-Recession Scenario
9.29 The PG Pre-Recession scenario is based on internal migration rates and 

international migration flow assumptions for the period pre-2008 recession (2001/02–

Tudalen 51



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 30

2007/08), in which higher in-migration flows to Carmarthenshire were recorded.  

Consequently, future estimation of net migration is highest under the PG Pre-Recession 
scenario.  Utilising the 2011 Census vacancy, this scenario would, on average provide 969 

dwellings per annum within the revised LDP period 2018-2033, with the variant vacancy rate 

highlighting a provision of 939 dwellings per year. This equates to 14,529 dwellings and 

14,090 dwellings over the revised LDP period respectively.

 

9.30 Whilst utilising a scenario with higher population growth will see a continuation of 

people aged 15-19 leaving the county, more return in the 20-24 age cohort which results in a 

balanced demographic outlook for the county. There would also be a significant population 

change that would see a 40% increase in the 65+ age cohort, whilst an 82% increase in the 

80+ age cohort.

9.31 The PG Pre-Recession scenario would provide a positive outlook in seeking to 

achieve the targets outlined in Carmarthenshire’s Strategic Regeneration Plan and the 

Swansea Bay City Deal, with a larger population increase supporting the creation of 

approximately 632 jobs per year.  

Conclusion
9.32 Utilising this projection scenario as the revised LDP Preferred Strategy would be 

commensurate to the growth strategy within the adopted LDP. Whilst this scenario would be 

ambitious in driving economic aspirations, setting such a high growth requirement through 

the PG Pre-Recession scenario would result in an undeliverable and unsustainable growth 

strategy. 

9.33 This scenario would not deliver the Plan’s Vision and Strategic Objectives.

Employment-Led Scenarios 
Commuting Ratio Fixed (CR Fixed) and Commuting Ratio Reducing (CR 
Reducing)
9.34 The Population and Household Forecast Paper identifies two employment-led 

scenarios as a basis for considering housing growth within the County. The benchmark job 

requirements comes from the Carmarthenshire Employment Sectoral Study which identifies 

that to maximise the economic ability of the county, 1,245 jobs per year would need to be 

created in nine priority sectors19. 

19 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212564/employment-sectoral-study-final-english-1.pdf

Tudalen 52



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 31

9.35 In meeting the target of 1,245 jobs per year highlighted in the Employment Sectoral 

Study, population growth within the county would need to be sizable. The population growth 

within the scenarios CR Fixed and CR Reducing would need to equate to 42,050 and 36,481 

persons respectively. In translating this to the number of dwellings required during the 

revised LDP period, this would equate 1,354 and 1,196 dwellings per year using the 2011 

Census vacancy. This would equate to 20,303 and 17,938 dwellings over the revised LDP. 

9.36 Using the 3.4% vacancy rate, this would equate to CR Fixed scenario highlighting 

1,313 dwellings per year, or 19,690 dwellings over the revised LDP period, whilst CR 

Reducing scenario identifies 1,160 dwellings per year or 17,396 dwellings over the revised 

LDP period.  

Conclusion
9.37 Utilising the employment-led scenarios as the Preferred Strategy for the revised LDP 

and the high growth requirement set out within it would result in an undeliverable and 

unsustainable growth strategy for the county. The housing growth requirement set out in the 

adopted LDP is 1,013 dwellings per year, and one of the reasons to undertake a LDP review 

was to reconsider this housing requirement as the housing growth targets were not being 

achieved.

9.38 Whilst these scenarios would be ambitious in driving economic aspirations, setting 

such a high growth requirement would result in an undeliverable and unsustainable growth 

strategy 

9.39 This scenario would not deliver the Plan’s Vision and Strategic Objectives

Identifying the Preferred Strategic Growth Option
9.40 The identification of the preferred strategic growth option has emerged from the 

consideration of the above population and household projections, as a consequence of 

pre-deposit engagement and the need to reach a balanced outcome including other 

strategies and plans such as, but not limited to:

 Welsh Government - Planning Policy Wales;

 The Council’s Strategic Regeneration Plan 2015 – 2030 – Transformations;

 Swansea Bay City Deal;

 The Council’s New Corporate Strategy 2018 – 2023;

Tudalen 53



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 32

 The Carmarthenshire Well-being Plan: the Carmarthenshire we want 2018-2033;

 The Council’s Well-being Objectives; 

 The Council’s Affordable Housing Delivery Plan; and

 Local Housing Market Assessment20, and 

 The Council’s Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: the next 5 years.

9.41 It is proposed to use the PG Long Term scenario and utilise the alternative vacancy 

rate of 3.4% to underpin the future growth requirements for this revised LDP. This scenario 

projects an overall population increase of 17,567 (9.4%), with the requirement for 9,887 new 

homes over the revised LDP period 2018-2033. This equates to 659 new homes per year. 

This scenario will assist in the delivery of the Swansea Bay City Region Deal and the 

Council’s Corporate Strategy, regeneration and job creation objectives. 

9.42 Utilising this preferred option would positively progress the Council’s ambitions in 

delivering affordable homes across the County. 

9.43 The Preferred Strategy through this growth option will seek to support the delivery of 

a minimum of 5,295 additional jobs over the Plan period.  

Spatial Options
9.44 The following outlines a number of possible Spatial Options which have been 

identified to inform the selection of our future spatial framework and how future growth may 

then be distributed across the County for the Plan period.  

9.45 The consideration of strategic options is an important part in the preparation of the 

LDP is a requirement of the SA/SEA process.  

9.46 Each spatial option has been subject to engagement to assess and evaluate their 

appropriateness with a view to establishing or developing a preferred option.  Their content 

reflects the need to have regard to legislation, national planning policy, local and regional 

strategies whilst  recognising the specific characteristics, assets and issues which are 

prevalent in Carmarthenshire and form a strategic approach which delivers on the vision and 

which promotes and guides development for the County.  

20 Regional Local Housing Market Assessment is being undertaken which will inform the revised LDP as it 
progresses through the preparatory process.

Tudalen 54



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 33

9.47 In developing the options regard has also been had to the Well-Being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the wellbeing objectives developed by Carmarthenshire 

County Council and the Public Service Board. 

9.48 It should be noted that option generation is an important requirement of the SEA 

directive.  The strategic options have been assessed against the SA/SEA within the Initial 

Sustainability Appraisal – Strategic Environmental Assessment Report.  This forms an 

important component in the process of selecting the most suitable strategic option for 

Carmarthenshire. 

9.49 The options identified assume that housing development without employment 

opportunities in the same broad location, and vice versa, is less sustainable and is to be 

avoided. Similarly, infrastructure improvements need to be aligned with new development, 

including improvements to transport networks, utilities, green infrastructure, health, 

education and social facilities. Consequently, the term ‘development’ is used in the Spatial 

Options for Growth to refer to the balance of housing, employment opportunities and the 

accompanying infrastructure.

9.50 No single option is necessarily considered preferable in their preparation and 

discussion and there is scope and flexibility for the options to be adapted to take account of 

additional factors.  It is acknowledged that the preferred option could combine elements from 

more than one option.

9.51 The tables below provide an explanation of each of the spatial options as considered. 

This is followed by an identified Preferred Spatial Option for consideration as part of this 

Preferred Strategy.

Tudalen 55



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 34

Option 1 – Current LDP Option

Description

Utilising the settlement hierarchy to allow for a proportional distribution of development 
based on sustainability principles

Spatial Expression / Settlements Affected

This Option is based on the 4 tier settlement hierarchy.

Summary Assessment
This option focusses growth proportionally across a hierarchy underpinned by the 
principles of sustainability.  In doing so, this option:

 Encourages the dispersal of employment, housing and other types of development    
to identified settlements and village groups or clusters in a manner reflective of 
their existing scale, population and of the availability of facilities and services.

 Reflects the diversity of the County and growth is apportioned appropriately to  
urban and rural areas.

 Focusses the majority of employment growth in the larger towns and villages. 

Positives
 Reduces the number of journeys and journey distances. 
 Reflects current service provision and the availability of facilities.
 Benefits social inclusion through access to transport, services and facilities. 
 Proportionate distribution of growth reflecting the current population distribution.
 Largely consistent with current and emerging national planning policies.

Negatives
 Does not sufficiently take into account market demand.
 New housing allocations previously apportioned to the second and third tiers of the 

settlement hierarchy have not delivered in accordance with the Plan’s strategy. 
 Does not fully reflect the role of settlements in their wider context.
 Places pressure on communities in those areas that have historically taken most 

development. 
 Does not deliver flexibility and opportunities for small-scale rural development. 

Conclusions
This option represents a continuation of the existing LDP strategy and as such 
reference is had to the results of annual monitoring and the review report.  Whilst 
both indicate successes in the application of the strategy they also identify 
weaknesses in the delivery of growth in aspects of the settlement hierarchy.

It is recognised that elements of the strategy have been successful however, it is 
also clear that a review and revised approach may be needed to address not only 
its shortcomings but contextual changes.

Tudalen 56



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 35

Option 2 – Infrastructure and Transport Network Option

Description

Basing the majority of growth in the areas in the locality of the main highway and rail 
network and where there is infrastructure available to support the proposed 
development.

Spatial Expression / Settlements Affected

This Option identifies key settlements and corridors along the main transport routes and 
areas where there is infrastructure in place or planned to be in place to accommodate 
the levels of growth required.  

Summary Assessment
This option looks at the existing provision of utility infrastructure and the highway network 
across the County and aims to focus the majority of growth in areas with the capacity for 
growth.  This option seeks to encourage growth in the areas which it can most feasibly be 
accommodated by: 

 Encouraging growth along the key transport routes and junctions of the M4, A40, 
A48, A484, A474 and A485 as well as in locations accessible to other modes of 
transport including the rail network, cycle network and pedestrian linkages.

 Encouraging growth in areas where there is either current or planned capacity for 
the supply and treatment of water and waste water.  

 Encouraging growth in areas where there are sufficient services and facilities to 
support the communities.

Positives
 Availability of highway infrastructure
 The highway network is closely aligned with the main urban areas in the County. 
 Convenient linkages to cross border settlements.
 Focusses resources and funding to specified hubs and corridors thus enabling 

development in these areas. 
 Focusses growth in areas well-serviced by transport infrastructure thus delivering a 

sustainable pattern of growth.
 Focusses growth in the County’s towns, market towns and larger villages as well as the 

previously identified growth areas. 
 The availability of infrastructure provides developers with a level of certainty regarding 

the costs and timescales for delivering allocated sites. 
 This strategy could be responsive to the changing location of healthcare provision in 

the County by encouraging growth in the locality of new healthcare provision. 
 The availability of infrastructure will require less mitigation in terms of the impacts of 

development and growth. 

Negatives
 May not meet the housing and employment needs of some communities as the main 

informant for the strategy would be infrastructure provision and capacity.  
 Highway capacity issues could restrict the delivery of the strategy at the specified 

locations.
 May be driven and restricted by infrastructure investment rather than informing and 

driving the priorities for investment in infrastructure. 

Tudalen 57



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 36

 May lack flexibility to deal with unforeseen highway and infrastructure capacity issues.
 Could place pressure on the natural environment, particularly in areas that have 

historically taken most development.
 The provision and availability of infrastructure may not align with the needs of the local 

communities and what the market demands. 
 It may not reflect the principles of sustainability.
 It does not take account of where housing and employment opportunities are needed.
 Focus on corridors has little regard for the existing settlement pattern. 
 Does not provide for growth opportunities in rural settlements. 

Conclusions

This option links growth and the settlement strategy directly to the availability of 
infrastructure.  Whilst this would restrict the potential for growth in rural areas, it 
is recognised that the relationship between development and appropriate 
infrastructure provision is a component necessary as part of any selected option.

Tudalen 58



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 37

Option 3 – Dispersal Option

Description

No rationale or structure for the distribution of growth; development would be dispersed 
across the County.

Spatial Expression / Settlements Affected

All settlements could be affected equally under this Option as there is no strategy to 
identify the distribution of growth.  However, this would be likely to result in levels of 
growth at a fairly equal level across the County’s settlements. 

Summary Assessment
This option distributes housing, employment and other forms of development on a broad 
basis between settlements within the County, both urban and rural.  It allows settlements 
to grow incrementally without necessarily taking account of the availability of services or 
facilities nor the impact which growth could have upon the existing communities and their 
capacity to accommodate and absorb growth.  

Compared to the strategy of the current adopted LDP, this option would see a higher 
proportion of the County’s growth being directed to the rural areas and a lower proportion 
to the existing urban areas.  

Positives
 Relieves development pressures on urban areas by encouraging new development 

towards villages and rural centres.
 Growing rural settlements are better able to retain services and facilities.
 Larger scale residential developments could provide additional opportunities for 

affordable housing in rural areas.
 Dispersed growth allows flexibility to respond to area specific constraints by dispersing 

development across a larger number of locations.  
 Responds to the development needs of both urban and rural communities. 

Negatives
 Does not take into account the needs of areas.
 Requires the release of greenfield land.
 Growth of settlements in sensitive areas could be damaging.
 Lack of accessibility to public transport would result in an increase in number and length 

of car journeys.
 Requires high levels of investment in infrastructure, services and facilities.
 May contribute to social exclusion due to increased energy and travel costs.
 Does not take into account market demand
 Is unlikely to accord with the principles of sustainability and national planning policy.  
 Could potentially impact upon the character and culture of rural areas. 
 May impact upon service delivery through an unsustainable pattern of development.

Conclusions

This represents a largely unsustainable option and undeliverable option - and one 
which as a consequence would be unlikely to pass the necessary measures as 
part of the SA/SEA assessment process.  This option does however through its 
broad brush approach to distribution of growth focus additional growth in rural 
areas.  

It is recognised that the chosen preferred option will be required to have 
appropriate regard to rural considerations. 

Tudalen 59



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 38

Option 4 – Community Led Option

Description

Development would be dispersed within community areas in a manner which reflects the 
role which settlements play within those areas and the wider geographical area.

Spatial Expression / Settlements Affected

The majority of the growth would be focussed in the following three areas: Carmarthen 
and surrounding area; Llanelli Coastal Belt; and, Ammanford / Cross Hands area.

Summary Assessment
This option focusses on the role of settlements within their wider locality and community 
which acknowledges the relationships and interdependency between settlements and 
considers how the local communities work and live. 

This option will encourage growth in those areas which play a significant role in the wider 
community; this is most likely to be through the provision of facilities and services rather 
than the existing scale of the settlement or the existing population numbers.  This option 
would also seek to reflect the needs of the communities, including their demand for 
housing.  This acknowledges the individual characteristics of each settlement and seeks 
to identify the role which settlements play within their locality and on a county-wide basis.  

This option should reflect an understanding of the needs of local communities and focus 
growth in areas where it is needed to support communities and their aspirations for future 
growth and ongoing sustainability of facilities and services.  This is likely to result in the 
allocation of smaller sites and a higher proportion of growth being directed to smaller 
settlements.  

Positives
 Provides a balance between the contrasting urban and rural areas of the county which 

reflects the principles of sustainability. 
 Apportioned growth would reflect the role which settlements play within their 

communities.
 Supports the ongoing use of community facilities and services in both rural and urban 

areas. 
 Provides the potential to support the retention of younger people within the settlement. 
 Could result in greater investment opportunities in the rural areas. 
 Could allow for a flexible approach to small-scale growth in rural communities. 
 Provides the potential to apportion growth in a manner which acknowledges and 

respects the characteristics of settlements.
 May contribute to social inclusion in rural areas through encouraging growth and 

investment in services and facilities, whilst reflecting, and where appropriate, enforcing 
the role of existing urban centres. 

Negatives
 Could result in development in environmentally unsustainable locations. 
 Could result in disproportionate growth in rural areas. 
 Development in rural areas could generate significant car journeys which would be 

contrary to the principles of sustainability.

Tudalen 60



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 39

 It is unclear whether growth allocated to some settlements within rural areas, 
particularly the market towns, would materialise given that limited growth has 
successfully occurred within these areas in the past; this could compromise the delivery 
of the Plan. 

Conclusions

This option seeks to be more responsive to individual aspects of the County and 
their communities.  Whilst the perceived focus of growth would be in established 
centres it affords opportunity to reflect a wider distribution.  

Feedback indicates that the option would need to be appropriately balanced to 
ensure growth is distributed in an appropriate and deliverable manner.

Tudalen 61



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 40

Option 5 – Swansea Bay City Region Influence Option

Description

Focusses growth to align with the areas identified for Swansea Bay City Deal projects.

Spatial Expression / Settlements Affected

The majority of the growth would be focussed in the Llanelli and Carmarthen areas with 
those adjoining and adjacent areas also receiving a proportion of the growth.

Summary Assessment
This option is focussed on the projects and investment planned as part of the Swansea 
Bay City Deal and channels growth to align with these geographical areas.  The projects 
proposed for Carmarthenshire are:

 The Life Science and Well-being Village, Llanelli.  This facility is a village providing 
facilities and services which promote and improve well-being.  It is proposed to be 
a multi-faceted facility integrating business development, education, healthcare, 
leisure, tourism, wellness support and research in life-sciences in one location; 
and,

 Yr Egin, Carmarthen.  This facility would be a new creative, digital and media hub 
to be based at the University of Wales Trinity St David

This Option is likely to see the majority of growth being focussed in Carmarthen and 
Llanelli and the surrounding areas, however, the settlements further away from 
Carmarthen and Llanelli may potentially see very little growth.  It may provide 
opportunities for spin-off investments and entrepreneurship based activities by building on 
the City Deal priorities. 

Positives
 Likely to result in significant job creation.
 The commitment already given to significant investment in these projects would 

improve the Option’s deliverability.
 Development would build on, and benefit from, significant investment and resources 

focussed to facilitate the delivery of the Swansea Bay City Deal.
 Future employment opportunities and residential development would be well aligned 

which should contribute to a more sustainable pattern of development. 
 Would allow for continued regard for the existing settlement pattern.

Negatives
 Potentially limited growth focussed to the north of the county.
 Constrains development outside urban centres.
 Increases the potential for the over development of urban areas resulting in 

concentration and ‘town cramming’.
 Development needs may result in pressures on urban green spaces. 
 Places additional pressures on urban public services.
 Would restrict proposals within rural areas with potential impacts on local service 

provision and population level. 
 The areas furthest away from the project areas will be likely to depend upon 

broadband provision and speed in order to benefit from the investment in these areas. 

Conclusions

Tudalen 62



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 41

This option embraces, and is driven by the opportunities presented through the 
City Deal.  It focuses on the locations of the 2 main projects within 
Carmarthenshire and as such would be less inclusive of the remainder of the 
County.

It should however be recognised that reflecting the potential of the City Deal to 
effect real change is essential in any preferred option.

Tudalen 63



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 42

Option 6 – Market Led Option

Description

Focusses growth in the areas which have proven most popular with the housing market 
over recent years. 

Spatial Expression / Settlements Affected

Growth would be focussed in the top tier of the adopted LDP’s settlement hierarchy 
comprising Carmarthen, Llanelli and Ammanford / Cross Hands areas.

Summary Assessment
This option will aim to meet the aspirations and requirements of the development industry 
by identifying sites and areas which are the most economically attractive to develop. This 
option looks at the market success of settlements within the County since 2008 and 
apportions growth in accordance with past delivery rates.    

The past delivery rates indicate that the majority of growth took place in the Llanelli area 
with a significant amount of development also being directed to the Carmarthen growth 
area and parts of the Ammanford/Cross Hands growth area.  

This approach could be construed as ‘planning based on numbers’.  It would seek to direct 
growth in accordance with the highest delivery rates of the past and apply this trend to 
identify the location for future development.  Future employment provision would reflect 
current take-up of employment land and would relate closely to the distribution of housing. 

Positives
 A focus on delivery by market forces with minimal public sector involvement.
 New developments would be well related to the existing transport infrastructure and 

existing services and facilities.
 Likely to allow for financial viability and profitability. 
 Provides homes in the areas which are popular with the majority and therefore would 

perform well in regards to the supply and demand of housing. 

Negatives
 Given the proximity and accessibility of the Llanelli area to the County’s boundary with 

Swansea County, this option could increase the supply of housing to meet demands 
from outside the plan area.

 Subject to market trends and influenced by economic boom and recession.
 This Option focusses growth in existing urban settlements and would be less likely to 

recognise the role of rural areas.
 Could contribute to congestion along the highway network in the areas identified for a 

higher proportion of growth, particularly in the Llanelli area.
 May not be sufficiently flexible to respond to changes in market demand, particularly in 

response to changes in the preferred locations. 
 The spatial option would be informed by past build rates however this may not be a true 

reflection of what the market demands given that there could be a desire to build and 
live in other locations but other constraints and financial viability may impede the 
delivery of sites at these locations. 

 Places pressure on communities in those areas that have historically taken most 
development.

Tudalen 64



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 43

 Places pressures on greenspaces in the areas identified to accommodate the majority 
of growth. 

Conclusions

This option through its focus on the market would, whilst deliverable in a 
simplistic interpretation, be vulnerable to other considerations and constraints 
and would remove substantively any local influence.  It is not considered a 
deliverable option in practicable terms but points clearly to the role of the market 
and development industry in contributing to a sound and deliverable plan.

The role of the market will inevitably be a contributing to the development of the 
preferred option.  

Identifying the Preferred Spatial Option
9.52 The development of the preferred option has emerged from the consideration of the 

spatial options and other considerations, including but not limited to:

 the well-being objectives; 

 the content of the Annual Monitoring Reports and Review Report; and,

  the engagement processes notably through the Key Stakeholder Forum.

9.53 In developing the preferred option, there was always an acceptance that there 

would be potential variations on the strategic options identified, including an option which 

would consider a mix of the positive outcomes from a number of those options. In 

considering the above, and having reference to the Issues, Objectives and Vision 

discussed earlier in the Preferred Strategy, a hybrid option emerged as the most 

appropriate approach in delivering a balanced and sustainable spatial strategy for all the 

communities across the County.

The following hybrid option has consequently emerged which reflects a number of 

characteristics from the identified options above. This emergence is in part, built from 

comments received as part of the engagement process. 

Tudalen 65



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 44

Preferred Option - Balanced Community and Sustainable Growth Strategy.
9.54 This hybrid option builds on the approach highlighted through Strategic Option 4 - 

Community Led, but removes the prescriptive approach in assigning character areas within 

the County.  The strategy will however retain an approach which reflects the role and 

function of settlements and will seek to be responsive in how it assigns growth, to urban 

and rural areas of the County. 

 The option will recognise and reflect investment and economic benefits to the 

County and its communities through the City Deal, and other economic 

opportunities. 

 It will seek to provide opportunities for rural areas ensuring the diversity of the 

County and communities is recognised; 

 It will acknowledge that in delivering sustainable growth that it needs to be 

supported by the availability of a range of appropriate infrastructure;

 It will recognise that growth should be deliverable and orientated to a community’s 

needs and market demand.

Tudalen 66



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 45

10. A New Strategy 

10.1 The Strategy sets out to deliver the vision and strategic objectives and addressing 

the key issues identified within this Preferred Strategy.  The Revised LDP will, as it 

progresses through to adoption, set out how the changes within Carmarthenshire over the 

Plan period will be managed and planned for. Through its policies and proposals, the 

Revised LDP will seek to provide for these changes and the respective levels of growth, and 

identify where such growth will be acceptable. This is achieved through identifying sites for 

specific land uses whilst protecting and enhancing the County’s rich environmental, 

landscape and built historic interests.  These detailed elements will be contained within the 

Deposit LDP.  

10.2 The preparation of this Preferred Strategy has been informed by national and 

regional guidance with plans and strategies at all levels contributing, where appropriate to 

the development of an emerging evidence and knowledge base. Engagement has also 

played a central role in preparing this Preferred Strategy (including issues generation and 

the strategic options).

A New Spatial Approach
10.3 The Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033 recognises the 

diversity that exists within the County and the need to reflect this in its strategic approach.  

The Spatial Strategy identifies a settlement hierarchy but sets it within a settlement 

framework grouped under six clusters.  These, and the distribution of growth, will focus on 

sustainable principles but will also recognise the respective role, function and contribution of 

settlements within particular clusters, whilst recognising and protecting and enhancing those 

valued aspects and environments.

10.4 Each cluster will reflect the diversity that exists between them and their respective 

settlements. Growth will be distributed accordingly to identified centres whilst recognising the 

integral role of local growth and diversification to delivering for Carmarthenshire.

10.5 The strategic growth areas reflect the current urban form in the shape of Llanelli, 

Ammanford/Cross Hands and Carmarthen with their respective sustainability credentials and 

strong economic drivers from a market demand and delivery perspective.  These three form 

part of the six clusters and whilst they will receive an appropriate proportion of the 

anticipated growth, there will be a balanced approach to distribution.

Tudalen 67



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 46

10.6 Other areas will include a focus on Local Growth and Diversification.  These areas 

are those where growth will reflect the community, whilst understanding those wider delivery 

expectations associated with Plan making (e.g. national policy and guidance).  Often 

incorporating areas which are more rural in character such areas play an integral role not 

only for the everyday life of their communities but are essential to a vibrant and thriving 

Carmarthenshire.  

10.7 Regeneration and job creation are important components across the County. 

Allocated sites and the use of policies will provide a framework for the provision of 

employment and job creation opportunities.  This will seek to provide a positive approach to 

help these areas meet their full potential and build on the opportunities within all of 

Carmarthenshire’s communities. The Strategy is therefore firmly rooted within the “One 

Carmarthenshire” ethos as set out within the Vision.

10.8 The Plan will use allocations and development limits where appropriate, as well as 

using policies and criteria to ensure that the right development is in the right place, in 

addition to preventing unacceptable developments within Carmarthenshire’s communities.

10.9 Across the Plan area there will be commonality of policies, however there may be 

specific variations to allow for a responsive policy approach.  

Deliverable Growth
10.10 The new strategy seeks to provide balanced growth centred on the delivery of our 

communities’ needs and the delivery of the region and the Council’s strategic and 

regeneration objectives.  

10.11 This LDP will provide the opportunity to deliver 9,887 homes over the Plan period. 

This is the equivalent of 659 homes per year from 2018 to 2033.  This would allow for new 

homes to be provided in a sustainable manner which supports the aspirations of our 

communities and provides appropriate flexibility to respond to the Council’s affordable 

housing objectives.  This ambitious agenda for Carmarthenshire will allow the Plan to build 

upon the approximately 500 homes being provided per year under the current adopted LDP.  

10.12 The new strategy ensures that sufficient opportunity exists to maximise affordable 

provision to support both rural and urban housing needs, whilst providing a strong basis for 

the provision of a deliverable market housing provision.  

Tudalen 68



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 47

10.13 The new strategy provides an opportunity to balance the demographics of the County 

through the retention of, and migration of younger adults into the County, and address some 

of the issues which could be perceived from an aging population. 

10.14 Such an approach will be supported through a strong economic environment with the 

delivery of a minimum of 5,295 jobs over the Plan period an important component.  This 

reflects the growth and job creation objectives within the Council’s Regeneration Strategy, 

and through the Swansea Bay City Region Deal. 

10.15 Furthermore, supporting a positive approach to growth within Carmarthenshire will 

provide the younger demographic a further opportunity to live and work within the County.  

10.16 In delivering the number of homes set above, this Preferred Strategy includes an 

additional flexibility as part of its supply (uplift) to ensure the delivery of sustainable growth 

and to overcome any potential unforeseen deliverability issues.  A 6% flexibility through a 

further 593 homes, is included.  This equates to a housing supply of 10,480 dwellings to 

deliver the 9,887 homes.

Sustainable Development, Well-being and Climate Change
10.17 In planning for a sustainable future for Carmarthenshire, this Preferred Strategy 

seeks to reflect and promote the principles of Sustainable Development (SD) and to embed 

the duties set through the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015.  The planning system 

has a long standing track record in the promotion of SD and in this respect this Preferred 

Strategy and the LDP as it progresses through to adoption will seek to enhance the 

economic, social and environmental well-being of communities. It will also as part of this 

agenda play its part in tackling the causes and effects of climate change reflecting the 

contribution of the planning system as a whole.

10.18 The LDP seek to put a policy framework in place which tackles the causes and 

effects of climate change within our communities through the adoption of sustainable 

principles and development. 

10.19 The LDP will promote the principles of sustainability by:

 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity, townscapes and landscapes;

 Minimising energy demand and consumption by facilitating the delivery of carbon 

neutral buildings and homes, including the promotion of the efficient use of 

Tudalen 69



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 48

resources including directing development to previously developed land 

wherever possible;

 Distributing and locating development in accordance with the settlement 

framework with a view to reducing unwarranted reliance of the private motor car.  

It will promote sustainable and ‘green’ travel alternatives building on advances in 

technology and promotes accessibility to alternative means of travel;

 The promotion of sustainable waste management;

 The promotion of sustainable water management (including ensuring a 

sustainable supply of water resources and water quality, promoting sustainable 

drainage modes and addressing flooding issues). This includes reducing the 

vulnerability of communities by ensuring that development is not located in flood 

risk areas;

 Promote the enhancement of wellbeing and social inclusion by supporting 

healthy, accessible and cohesive communities;

 Supporting the development of a resilient economy and facilitating appropriate 
future growth; and,

 The promoting and safeguarding the Welsh language and culture. 

A New Strategy - Key Components
10.20 The key components of the strategy are as follows:

 Provide for 10,480 new homes to deliver a household requirement of 9,887 homes;

 Provide opportunities to deliver a minimum of 5,295 new jobs in the County in 

supporting the Regeneration and strategic economic and employment ambitions 

within the County and region; 

 Provide sufficient employment land to support economic growth and job creation; 

 Promotes a settlement framework which supports cohesion between settlements 

and communities;

 Distribute development in accordance with the settlement hierarchy, reflecting the 

sustainability and functional attributes of settlements, their services and facilities as 

well as their ability to accommodate growth;

 To respect and enhance the rich and diverse environmental qualities of the County;

 To reflect the needs of rural areas and the rural economy;

 Recognise the cultural and linguistic character of the County;

 Contribute to the delivery of physical and social regeneration opportunities and 

provides for a diverse and cohesive range of settlements and communities; 

 Reflect the diversity across the County, and within its settlements and communities; 

Tudalen 70



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 49

 Provide for employment both through allocated sites and through policy provisions 

across the County recognising the need to sustain and enhance rural economies;

 Focus retail change in established centres whilst providing opportunities for 

provision throughout the hierarchy in a way which will assist in improving 

accessibility to services and facilities and help in achieving viable, self-supporting 

settlements and sustainable communities; 

 Recognise the contribution of ‘previously developed land’ and utilises it as 

appropriate whilst recognising the County’s largely rural context;

 To provide opportunities to cater for the County’s visitor economy;

 Protect and enhances the natural, historic and built conservation qualities of 

Carmarthenshire and its high value landscapes; and,

 Contribute to an integrated transport network both within the County and region. 

Seeks to make efficient use of the existing road and rail network by reflecting that the 

public transport network can afford the opportunity for consolidation and 

improvement of service thus maintaining and improving accessibility. Promote 

opportunities to use and access alternative means of transport including walking and 

cycling.

(Insert key Diagram)

Tudalen 71



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 50

11. Strategic Policies

11.1 The following sections set out the Strategic Policies which form the framework for 

implementing and delivering the LDP.  The format and structure reflects the core elements 

of sustainability and sustainable development, and the four well-being objectives or themes 

as identified within the Carmarthenshire Well-being Plan.  This allows the Strategic Policies 

to cross reference to the strategic objectives set out in this document as well as the 

relevant Well-being goals. The strategic policies will therefore be set within the following 

themes:

 Early Intervention - To make sure that people have the right help at the right time; 
as and when they need it

 Prosperous People and Places - To maximise opportunities for people and places 
in both urban and rural parts of our county.

 Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, and make healthy choices about 
their lives and environment.

 Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, places and organisations that are 
able to adapt to change

11.2 It is recognised that there will be some overlap between the respective themes and 

the policies and as such they should be read in conjunction with one another.  Each 

strategic policy is accompanied by an explanatory text.

11.3 The implications for the well-being of individuals, their families and communities is 

recognised within this Preferred Strategy through a focus on creating sustainable and 

inclusive places. This as part of a connected approach across all the themes allows long 

term solutions to ensure opportunities are available to maintain and enhance well-being.

11.4 It recognises that sustainable places are created from a balance of environmentally 

friendly, economically vibrant, and socially inclusive characteristics, that aim to benefit not 

only current inhabitants but also future generations.  

Early Intervention - To make sure that people have the right help at 
the right time; as and when they need it

Tudalen 72



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 51

11.5 Whilst it is recognised that there is an overlap between the themes and the 

assignment of policies the following having been identified under this theme:

 Strategic Policy – SP 1: Strategic Growth 

 Strategic Policy – SP 2: Retail and Town Centres

11.6 It should be noted that specific policies will be developed as part of the Deposit LDP 

and will as appropriate be identified within the context of the relevant theme.

11.7 The following policies seek to support the delivery of the Plan’s strategic objectives, 

but also provide high level links and broad conformity with the Well-Being Goals.

11.8 This Preferred Strategy puts at its heart the creation of a balanced and cohesive 

County. It recognises that to deliver this the County’s role as a strong and economic driver 

for growth both locally and regionally, and that this places Carmarthenshire at the centre of 

a prosperous and sustainable Wales. 

11.9 The strategy builds on the corporate emphasis on regeneration and the 

opportunities presented through the City Deal, whilst also recognising the opportunities 

presented through the rural economy and diverse needs of communities across the 

County. The strategy therefore, whilst not entirely employment led, has a strong recognition 

of the role employment plays in creating a prosperous County - with appropriate growth of 

housing with jobs and employment opportunities.

11.10 The Council, as part of its corporate policy, placed regeneration as its number one 

objective. This is reflected through:

 The Swansea Bay City Deal;

Strategic Policy – SP 1: Strategic Growth 
The LDP will provide for the future growth of the economy and housing 
requirement through the provision of following: 

a) 10,480 new homes to meet the identified housing requirement of 
9,887.

b) A minimum of 5,295 new jobs

The focus on regeneration and growth reflects the Councils core strategic 
ambitions with development distributed in a sustainable manner 
consistent with the spatial strategy and settlement hierarchy.

Tudalen 73



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 52

 Transformations – Carmarthenshire Regeneration Plan; and

 Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: The Council’s New Corporate Strategy 2018 – 

2033. 

11.11 This focus on job creation and investment is based on Carmarthenshire’s strategic 

location and its regional economic role.  This draft preferred strategy therefore seeks to 

recognise and reflect this, and the corporate objectives, in supporting and creating an 

attractive place to workers and investors.

11.12 The level of job growth and its relationship to the housing requirement in the Plan is 

recognised in developing this Draft Preferred Strategy.  Ensuring that our housing growth 

requirements are reflective of, and in support of, our economic ambitions allows for a co-

ordinated and integrated approach ensuring that the shared role that economic growth is 

not in isolation of housing and vice a versa.  

11.13 This approach requires the development of a balanced set of population and 

household projections that challenge the Welsh Government 2014-based projections. This 

is to ensure there is a sufficient supply of homes to support the delivery of our economic 

ambitions and the needs of our communities.

11.14 The population and household trends, set through the Welsh Government’s 2014-

based projections, have been derived from demographic patterns during a recessionary 

period.  We feel that they do not reflect the positive ambitions of the County and the region 

over the plan period (or the rates of housing completions over the preceding years). This 

draft strategy and its growth levels are intended to be ambitious but deliverable, and reflect 

wider objectives than this LDP alone. 

11.15 This draft Preferred Strategy will seek to distribute growth through a sustainable 

settlement hierarchy derived from the preferred spatial option.  This recognises the role 

Carmarthenshire’s rural areas as well as urban and their contribution in delivering this 

strategy and its vision for ‘One Carmarthenshire’.

11.16 We will work closely with partners, infrastructure providers, developers and 

investors, and communities in delivering the LDP, its strategy, policies and proposals.

Tudalen 74



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 53

11.17 Retail provision within the County as identified through the retail hierarchy below 

reflects the role such centres play in providing essential goods and services which are 

readily accessible to residents, preferably by a choice of means of transport, whilst also 

providing the opportunity to access a wide range of other, non-essential goods and 

services within reasonable distances.

11.18 This recognises the general pattern of provision in a traditional hierarchy of centres 

ranging from the small localised provision through to the larger centres and providing a 

greater choice over a wider product range. The larger centres also act as locations for 

related activities in the leisure and entertainment sphere including cinemas and restaurants 

etc. and for commercial office uses including solicitors, accountants and estate agents etc.

11.19 In general, local provision represents goods and services required on a day-to-day 

basis (convenience items) and for which residents may make short journeys frequently, 

whilst the larger centres not only provide such facilities but also more specialised items 

(comparison goods) sought less frequently and for which shoppers are prepared to travel 

further. Traditionally, shopping provision has evolved in a hierarchy of centres with 

overlapping catchments reflecting their size and importance.

11.20 It is this pattern of retail provision which characterises Carmarthenshire with the 

larger centres of Carmarthen, Llanelli and Ammanford serving extensive catchment areas 

with a broad and specialised range of goods and items. The smaller towns or market towns 

of, for example, Newcastle Emlyn, Llandeilo and St Clears with their smaller more localised 

catchments typically meet local needs with some specialised provision.  This is 

supplemented by often larger villages which may provide essential items required to meet 

day to day needs. 

Strategic Policy – SP 2: Retail and Town Centres
Proposals for retail development will be considered in accordance with the 
following retail hierarchy.

Proposals will be permitted where they maintain and enhance the vibrancy, 
viability and attractiveness of our retail centres.  They should protect and 
promote the viability and vitality of the defined retail centres, supporting the 
appropriate delivery of retail provision (comparison and convenience), 
leisure, entertainment, office and cultural facilities. 

Proposals for small local convenience shopping facilities in rural and urban 
areas where they accord with the settlement framework will be supported. 

Tudalen 75



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 54

11.21 As in many areas out-of-centre shopping with large retail warehouses (including 

bulky goods) has participated in changing retail trends and have in certain instances 

challenged the vibrancy and role of existing and established town centres.  Whilst these 

challenges are recognised it is also noted that they can present opportunities in broadening 

the retail offer.

11.22 The retail strategy of the LDP reflects the social, economic and environmental 

principles of sustainable development which underpins the Plan. It also seeks to reflect the 

changing nature of retailing and the need for traditional town centres to adapt to such 

changes.  The Strategy seeks to:

a. Protect and enhance the roles of the principal centres of Carmarthen, Llanelli and 

Ammanford in serving wide catchment areas for comparison shopping (clothing, 

footwear, electrical etc.) and specialised items to ensure their continued 

attractiveness as town centre and shopping destinations.  The challenge will be to 

maintain their competitiveness and market share whilst understanding the needs of 

each centre and their respective role and contribution in retail terms;

b. In other, smaller centres, ensure that local communities have reasonable access to a 

satisfactory range of high street facilities and services particularly convenience goods 

(food and other essential day-to-day requirements); and,

c. In the larger villages, maintain the viability of the village shop and other local facilities.

11.23 The Updated Retail Study (2015) for Carmarthenshire examined retail issues across 

the County and assessed the capacity for growth across the retail sectors and was prepared 

to provide evidence in respect of policy formulation and in guiding decision making

11.24 PPW requires us to identify a retail hierarchy for the Plan area. Consequently, the 

“town centres first” principle in tandem with a sequential approach to the selection of sites 

will be used to promote town centres as the principal locations for new retail, office, leisure 

and health facilities. In doing so the aim will be to create more reasons why people should 

visit such centres with a resultant increase in social and economic activity thereby retaining 

its viability. The Retail Hierarchy is set out in the table below and comprises three tiers. 

The upper tier comprises the traditional Town Centres where there is a recognisable town 

centre and a wide range of uses such as retail, leisure, office, cultural and transport 

facilities. The middle tier comprises of a number of those settlements classified as Service 

Centres.  Such centres include smaller retail centres and distinct groupings of retail and 

other uses.  The Deposit LDP will identify town centres in both these tiers with further 

Tudalen 76



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 55

specific policies in respect of retail activity within the Principal Centres. The lowest tier is 

that of Local Centres which range from small shopping parades in often largely residential 

areas to loose clusters of retail and other uses in settlement or village centres.

Principal Centres:

Carmarthen Llanelli Ammanford

Service Centres:

Burry Port Llandeilo Llandovery

Newcastle Emlyn St Clears Whitland

Local Provision (Service Centres):

Llanybydder Kidwelly Glanamman/Garnant

Trimsaran Pontyberem Pontyates

Brynamman Laugharne Llangadog

Ferryside Hendy  

11.25 The Plan recognises that certain types of retail and leisure facilities cannot be suitably 

accommodated within town centre locations and that Regional Centres (Retail Parks) can play 

a role in accommodating this need. However, the sequential approach should be adopted 

which means that first preference should be for existing town centre locations as listed in the 

retail hierarchy, and then for sites immediately adjoining town centres. If there are no suitable 

available sites in these locations, only then may development in the following existing regional 

centres (retail parks) be considered.  This approach reflects the guidance set out within TAN4 

Retail and Commercial Development which also states that ‘Out of centre retail parks whose 

development has been based solely on retailing should not normally be included in the local 

hierarchy’:

11.26 Regional Centres: (Retail Parks)

 Stephens Way, Carmarthen; 

 Parc Pensarn, Carmarthen;

 Parc Trostre; 

 Parc Pemberton, Llanelli;

 Cross Hands Retail Park.

11.27 We recognise that the role of town centres and traditional retail patterns is 

changing, as such both town centre and primary and secondary retail boundaries as 

identified previously will be reviewed and where appropriate revised.  This recognition of 

Prosperous People and Places - To maximise opportunities for 
people and places in both urban and rural parts of our county.

Tudalen 77



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 56

the changing retail pattern and the potential for flexibility in maintaining occupancy and 

footfall, as part of the creation of vibrant and living environments.

11.28 The recognition of the issues (including poverty and deprivation) facing both rural and 

urban parts of our County within this Preferred Strategy is implicit as part of its “One 

Carmarthenshire” ethos. To this end, this Preferred Strategy seeks to tackle these issues by 

maximising opportunities for everyone to maintain and/or increase their sense of wellbeing. 

11.29 These opportunities include the provision for new homes (including affordable homes) 

and jobs, as well as steering new investment and infrastructural priorities – whilst also 

respecting the County’s social fabric (including the Welsh language) and its sense of place.

11.30 Whilst it is recognised that there is an overlap between the themes and the 

assignment of policies the following having been identified under this theme:

 Strategic Policy – SP 3: Providing New Homes

 Strategic Policy – SP 4: Affordable Homes

 Strategic Policy – SP 5: Strategic Sites

 Strategic Policy – SP 6: Employment and the Economy

 Strategic Policy – SP 7: Welsh Language and Culture

 Strategic Policy – SP 8: Infrastructure

 Strategic Policy – SP 9: Gypsy and Traveller Provision

 Strategic Policy – SP 10: The Visitor Economy

 Strategic Policy – SP 11: Placemaking, Sustainability and High Quality Design

11.31 It should be noted that specific policies will be developed as part of the Deposit LDP 

and will as appropriate be identified within the context of the relevant theme.

11.32 The following policies seek to support the delivery of the Plan’s strategic objectives, 

but also provide high level links and broad conformity with the Well-Being Goals.

Tudalen 78



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 57

11.33 It is a fundamental aim of the Plan to facilitate the delivery of the required number 

and range of quality new homes, which will meet the identified housing needs of our future 

generations.

11.34 The housing requirement figure for the County is based on the Population Growth 

(PG) - Long Term projections scenario. This scenario projects a housing requirement 

which would support the economic ambitions of the County through supporting job 

creation, and re-address the imbalance of an ageing population within Carmarthenshire. 

The rationale for using this preferred growth option also considers the past build rates 

within the County over the previous 10 years and allows an ambitious, yet sound basis, on 

which to deliver the Council’s overall strategic aims. 

11.35 This Draft Preferred Strategy factors in a number of various contributors to meet 

this housing need, together with a flexibility (uplift) to ensure that the overall aim of the 

strategic policy to provide new homes is met. The housing supply is made up of the 

following elements: 21

Housing Allocations (over 5 homes) xxxxxx

Windfall and Regeneration Allowance xxxxxx

Small Site Component (less than 5 homes) xxxxxx

Windfall Component (5+ Homes) xxxxxx

Flexibility (6%) xxxxxx

Housing Allocations
11.36 A key source in meeting the identified housing land requirement is through sites 

allocated for residential development within the LDP. These housing allocations will be 

identified within the specific housing policies, or included as part of mixed use allocations.

21 The table will be populated as part of the preparation of the Deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy – SP 3: Providing New Homes 
In order to ensure the overall housing requirement of 9,887 homes for the 
plan period 2018-2033 is met, provision is made for 10,480 new homes in 
accordance with the settlement framework. 

Tudalen 79



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 58

11.37 The specific policies will consider the developments which have been commenced / 

committed since the base date of the revised LDP, and they will be monitored through the 

work undertaken as part of the Joint Housing Land Availability (JHLA) Study. 

Windfall 
11.38 The windfall allowance is made up of the below two factors: 

 The first relates to the potential contributions of sites of less than five dwellings 

(small sites) within the defined settlements.

 Secondly, there will be a windfall allowance through sites of five or more dwellings 

which have traditionally made an important contribution to housing delivery within 

Carmarthenshire. Existing windfall sites which make a contribution in the adopted 

LDP may be considered as housing allocations within the revised LDP, provided 

that the homes are completed after the base date of the revised LDP, and that 

evidence is provided to show its potential deliverability.

11.39 Affordable housing represents a key issue to be considered in the preparation of 

the Revised LDP particularly in contributing to the development of sustainable and 

balanced communities. 

11.40 This policy seeks to reflect the requirements set out in TAN 2 – Planning and 

Affordable Housing which seeks to put mechanisms in place to ensure that affordable 

housing is accessible to those who cannot afford market housing, both on first occupation 

and for subsequent occupiers.

11.41 In assessing the need for affordable dwellings appropriate regard will be had to the 

most up to date Carmarthenshire Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA).  However, 

whilst the LHMA identifies the level of housing need, it is not expected that the planning 

system alone will, or should provide for this shortfall.

11.42 The Plan will also take into account the Council’s Affordable Housing Delivery Plan 

2016-2020 which sets out a five year vision for delivering affordable housing, with the initial 

Strategic Policy – SP 4: Affordable Homes
The Plan will maximise the delivery of affordable homes up to 2033 
through the provision of XXXX affordable homes.22 

Tudalen 80



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 59

programme set to deliver over 1,000 additional affordable homes over its five year period. 

The revised LDP and the planning system will make a significant contribution to this target 

through various affordable housing mechanisms, in addition to mechanisms through other 

policies and strategies. The LDP can support the aims of achieving this target through:

 On-site provision of affordable housing as a percentage of the overall 

development, or on sites acquired by social housing providers;

 Commuted sum contributions to support the delivery of affordable housing; and

 Local Need housing.

 

11.43 The location of affordable homes should be related to identified need and be in 

accordance with the Plan’s Spatial Strategy. Proposals should address locational 

considerations including safe and convenient accessibility to open space, education, 

employment and other services.

Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village

11.44   The Life Science and Well-being Village will create a physical village providing 
facilities and services which promote and improve well-being, integrate business 
development, education, healthcare, leisure, tourism, wellness support and research in 
life-sciences in one location and deliver transformational social and economic benefits.

11.45   The village will include an institute of life science providing space for research 
and development into new medical devices and healthcare technologies. The institute 
will also offer large office, laboratory and clinical space for growing and new regional 
companies as well as opportunities for business start-ups. 

11.46   There will be a wellness hub which will include a leisure centre, outdoor sports 
facilities, recreation opportunities and well-being promotion activities. There will be 
assisted living, a care home and dedicated housing for people with cognitive impairment 
or in medical rehabilitation.

11.47   There will be a life science and well-being centre where a range of wellness 
services from health, public, private and third sectors will be available in one location. 

Strategic Policy – SP 5: Strategic Sites
In reflecting their contribution to the future growth requirements for 
Carmarthenshire and as key components of the Swansea Bay City deal, 
two Strategic Sites have been identified as making an important 
contribution to the overall provision for growth during the Plan period: 

 The Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village; and 
 Yr Egin – Creative Digital Cluster 

Tudalen 81



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 60

The centre will also include training opportunities which will be developed to meet skills 
shortages. There will be relaxation opportunities to improve wellness22

11.48   This ‘world class’ village will be situated along the Llanelli coastline. It will be the 
largest ever regeneration project in South West Wales, and aims to improve the health 
and wellbeing of people across the region, creating up to 2000 high quality, well paid 
jobs and boosting the economy by a staggering £467 million over 15 years. It will be 
interlinked and integrated within the natural landscape, set around a freshwater lake and 
located within walking distance of the Millennium Coastal Park.23

11.49   The outstanding coastal setting in post-industrial South Llanelli is testimony to a 
long standing track record regeneration initiatives by the Council and its partners, 
including Welsh Government. 

11.50   In noting the strategic context, this project remains firmly rooted in the promotion 
of wellness at a local level. The opportunity to increase in wellbeing within those current 
and future generations residing in the nearby communities, as well enable the delivery of 
a renowned physical development, are fully in keeping with the Strategy of the Revised 
LDP. 

Yr Egin – Creative Digital Cluster

11.51   The Egin project will create a new digital and creative cluster in Carmarthen, 
provide start up and development space for creative and digital companies and promote 
the Welsh Language.

11.52   The project will build a new creative, digital and media hub on the University of 
Wales Trinity Saint David’s (UWTSD) Campus in Carmarthen. It will be the base for the 
Welsh language broadcaster S4C and will provide start up and development space for 
creative and digital companies. 

11.53   The facility will create a cluster of businesses in the creative and digital industry, 
encouraging collaboration, providing common facilities and generating opportunities for 
shared learning. 

11.54   By taking advantage of the new infrastructure proposals of the Internet Coast, Yr 
Egin will create major and positive change in the creative and digital economy of Wales.24

11.55   The opportunities afforded by this project are many and varied. In spatial terms, it 
is envisaged that it will re affirm the role of Carmarthen as a key hub on the gateway to 
West Wales and a focal point for those rural communities to the north. 

22 http://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/life-science-and-well-being/life-science-and-well-being-village/
23 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/development-investment/delta-
lakes/#.W5kToOmQy70
24 http://www.swanseabaycitydeal.wales/economic-acceleration/yr-egin-creative-digital-cluster/

Tudalen 82



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 61

11.56 The future development of employment sites, and indeed the future economic 

development of the County, should be viewed in the wider context. The Swansea Bay City 

Deal was signed in 2017, securing £1.3 billion for Swansea, Carmarthenshire, Neath Port 

Talbot and Pembrokeshire councils.  It is anticipated that the Deal will transform the 

economic landscape of the area, boost the local economy by £1.8billion, and generate 

almost 10,000 new jobs over the next 15 years.  

11.57 The Deal will see three specific projects for Carmarthenshire – a Wellness and Life 

Science Village at Delta Lakes, Llanelli; a creative industry project at Yr Egin in Carmarthen; 

and a skills and talent initiative which will support skills development.  

11.58 The Council commissioned an Employment Sectoral Study (ESS) in 2016, the focus 

of which, in respect of the LDP, was on providing an understanding of future employment 

need in respect of the nine priority sectors identified by the Welsh Government.  In so doing 

the study sought to review employment land provision and job figures and to subsequently 

provide a figure for the amount of employment land that would be required for the Revised 

LDP period.

11.59 The ESS calculated that up to 127ha of employment land would be required to be 

delivered in Carmarthenshire by 2032 in order to accommodate the forecasted employment 

need of 18,681 new jobs.  The database (and forecasting model) for the ESS was developed 

with the functionality to test a number of different scenarios.  Subsequent work on population 

growth models undertaken as part of the spatial strategy for the Revised LDP estimates that 

a smaller number of new jobs would be required over the Plan period and that consequently 

less land needed for employment purposes.  

11.60 So whilst the 127ha figure is therefore aspirational, it nevertheless recognises that 

the distribution of employment opportunities throughout the County is crucial in supporting 

the aims and objectives of the economic aspirations of the County as set out within 

Transformations – a Strategic Regeneration Plan for Carmarthenshire 2015-2030.  

Strategic Policy – SP 6: Employment and the Economy
Sufficient and appropriate land will be allocated for the provision of 
employment opportunities for the Plan period (figure to be quantified) in 
accordance with the Plan’s Spatial Strategy / Settlement Framework.

Tudalen 83



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 62

11.61 Whilst the Study emphasises the new strategic focus associated with the new 

Swansea Bay City Deal, new sites located outside of the highest tiers of the hierarchy can 

make a significant contribution to the settlements and communities they serve, especially in 

rural areas where opportunities for new businesses to establish or existing businesses to 

expand would be severely constrained in the absence of appropriate sites and premises.

11.62 With respect to sectoral employment, the sectors identified are the nine ‘priority 

sectors’ identified by the Welsh Government.  However, as well as the headline numbers of 

jobs in each sector, it is also important to acknowledge that certain sectors will be generating 

significant number of ‘valued added’ jobs in the priority sectors. This is particularly the case 

for the estimated 2,500 Life Science jobs as these are likely to generate significant amounts 

of additional economic wealth locally compared to jobs in more traditional sectors such as 

construction.

11.63 In order to meet this potential, a range and choice of sites would be required, with a 

larger proportion of land being allocated in the larger centres, but also extending into rural 

areas in order to sustain these areas through helping to create self-supporting and viable 

communities and settlements.

11.64 Consequently, the LDP will provide a range of sites for potential inward investment 

and relocations through the employment land allocations.  These will provide an appropriate 

range and choice to meet the needs of a variety of potential employers.  This includes 

potential sites for larger employers as well as sites to accommodate smaller scale uses with 

the policy framework also providing scope for new and start-up businesses.  

11.65 It should be noted that allocated employment sites, and thus the total land provision, 

includes non-operational land with scope for landscaping, buffer zones and other such uses. 

11.66 The Welsh language and culture play an important role in the social, cultural and 

economic life of Carmarthenshire’s residents and visitors.  The proportion of Welsh speakers 

in Carmarthenshire is significantly higher than the Welsh national average and as such is a 

Strategic Policy – SP 7: Welsh Language and Culture
The Plan supports development proposals which safeguard and promote 
the interests of the Welsh language and culture in the County.  Development 
proposals which have a detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of the 
Welsh language and culture will not be permitted unless the impact can be 
mitigated. 

Tudalen 84



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 63

significant part of the social fabric of the County’s communities, providing a strong sense of 

place and identity.  

11.67 The Plan seeks to ‘promote the Welsh language and culture’25 and is committed to 

contributing to the Welsh Government’s long-term aim of achieving 1 million Welsh speakers 

by 205026.  To deliver on this aim, the Council will support and promote the Welsh language 

by ensuring that there are sufficient and proportionate employment and housing 

opportunities to sustain both the rural and urban communities in the County.  In doing so, the 

Plan seeks to ensure that the local population remain in Carmarthenshire rather than leave 

in search of work opportunities and housing.   

11.68 The need to safeguard and promote the Welsh language applies to developments 

proposed across the County and is not restricted to specific areas within the County.  

Development proposals will be required to acknowledge the official status of the Welsh 

language and commit to treating the Welsh and English languages equally.

11.69 Specific policies will provide further guidance to ensure that development of an 

appropriate scale, type and character is delivered to meet the needs of the communities.  

Furthermore, it will aim to ensure that development occurs at a rate which can be absorbed 

and assimilated without damaging the character of the community.  

11.70 The Plan also seeks to safeguard and promote the Welsh language in 

Carmarthenshire through other relevant policy objectives, namely through the provision of 

housing and affordable housing, promoting a vibrant economy and employment 

opportunities and the provision and retention of community facilities.

25 Carmarthenshire’s Wellbeing Objectives 2018-18
26 Cymraeg 2050 A Million Welsh Speakers, Welsh Government (2017)

Strategic Policy – SP 8: Infrastructure 
Development will need to be directed to locations where the infrastructure, 
services and facilities considered necessary to deliver and support the 
development proposal are available.  
Development proposals will need to demonstrate that there is sufficient 
capacity in the existing infrastructure to deliver and support the proposed 
development.  Where this cannot be achieved, proposals will need to 
demonstrate that suitable arrangements are in place to provide the 
infrastructure capacity considered necessary to deliver and support the 
development.

Tudalen 85



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 64

11.71 The provision of appropriate infrastructure, services and facilities is vital to ensure 

the delivery of the Plan’s policies and proposals.  Appropriate infrastructure is key to 

facilitate development but is also a necessity to support the ongoing needs and demands 

of a development and Carmarthenshire’s communities.

11.72 The infrastructural requirements of developments will vary greatly according to their 

location, existing infrastructure provision, scale and type.  In considering the needs of 

development proposals the following infrastructure, services and facilities may be required:

 Roads and other transport facilities including sustainable transport;
 Schools and other educational facilities;
 Affordable Housing;
 Health;
 Public open spaces and green infrastructure;
 Flood defences;
 Leisure, sporting and recreation;
 Utility services;
 Biodiversity and environmental protection;
 Community facilities;
 Other facilities and services considered necessary 

11.73 The requirements of planning obligations will take into consideration the financial 

viability of a proposed development.  In instances where there is dispute regarding the 

impact which the requirements have upon the financial viability of the scheme, the applicant 

will be required to meet the costs of securing an independent viability appraisal, completed 

by a suitably qualified and approved third party. 

11.74 The Plan seeks to ensure that the infrastructure, services and facilities needed to 

support development is delivered in a timely manner prior to, or upon commencement, of the 

development, or where appropriate phased through the development process.  The Plan 

encourages the delivery of infrastructure is undertaken in a coordinated manner with minimal 

disruption caused to existing communities.  

Planning obligations may be sought to ensure that the infrastructure, 
services and facilities needed to deliver and support the development are 
delivered. 

Tudalen 86



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 65

11.75 Contributions to infrastructure will be secured through Planning Obligations in 

accordance with the legislative and policy framework provided.27 

11.76 To consider the future Gypsy and Traveller provision within Carmarthenshire, the 

County Council has undertaken and published a Gypsy Traveller Accommodation Needs 

Assessment (GTAA) which identifies the current unmet need for Gypsy and Traveller 

pitches within the County. The Assessment considered the methodology set out by Welsh 

Government Guidance and outlines two types of the assessment of need; the first 

considers the first 5 years of the GTAA period; and the second considers the full 15 year 

GTAA period.

11.77 Based on this assessment, Carmarthenshire’s estimated provision for the first 5 

years is for 29 additional pitches. A large proportion of this need has arisen from 

households living in bricks and mortar, and new household growth from within these 

households. The make-up of this need is located within Llanelli, where a large number of 

these households had previously lived on the public site at Penybryn.

11.78 An estimate has also been made for newly arising Gypsy and Traveller households 

in years 6-15 of the GTAA. This would include, for example, young adults living on existing 

sites who, in time, will form their own household and therefore would require their own 

pitch. The GTAA estimates a need for a 10 further pitches in years 6-15, totalling a 

requirement of 39 pitches through to 2031. 

11.79 Further evidence will be provided which will consider the pitch requirement for the 

last 2 years of the Plan period. 

11.80 In accordance with the Housing (Wales) Act 2014, the Council must undertake a 

new GTAA every five years. The requirement and take-up of pitches will be closely 

monitored through the Annual Monitoring Report and the requirement for additional pitches 

will be reviewed in the latter part of the Plan period through the monitoring framework.

27 Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended); Planning Policy Wales; Welsh Office Circular 
13/97 Planning Obligations

Strategic Policy – SP 9: Gypsy and Traveller Provision
Land will be allocated within the Llanelli area to meet the identified need for 
Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation and to allow for the potential future 
expansion of Gypsy and Traveller Households.

Tudalen 87



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 66

11.81 Specific criteria based policies to support the development of Gypsy and Traveller 

Accommodation will be considered within the Deposit LDP.

11.82 Tourism is a key component of Carmarthenshire’s economy. It is a major source of 

employment and revenue supporting over 6,000 full time equivalent jobs either directly or 

indirectly. It generates over £434m revenue to the County’s economy annually (STEAM 

Trend Report 2017).28 

11.83 The County is home to a wide range of attractions, including Ffos Las Racecourse, 

the National Botanic Gardens and Pembrey Country Park. Carmarthenshire is the “cycling 

hub of Wales”, with the Cycling Strategy capturing the Council’s aspirations to be a national 

lead in the provision of cycling infrastructure events and development.29 

11.84 Tourism is a dynamic industry with a wide demographic / customer base. 

Carmarthenshire is well poised to capitalise on the sector’s potential given that it is a 

beautiful county located within a four hour drive of London and within easy reach of Ireland 

via sea. The ever changing demands and trends within the sector do however provide 

challenges in terms of drafting 15 year land use planning policies.  

11.85 This strategic policy sets the framework for a policy approach within the Revised LDP 

that is sufficiently responsive and flexible to market demand up to 2033, whilst also seeking 

to protect the very communities, landscape and townscape that makes Carmarthenshire a 

fantastic place to visit and enjoy. Whilst the strategic policy provides the overarching context, 

it will be for the specific policies to provide the detail. This would include clarifying any role 

that the settlement limits of defined settlements play in informing the determination of 

proposals.

28 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/tourism/statistics-and-trends/#.W59p--
mQy70
29 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/tourism/tourism-
priorities/cycling/#.W59p3umQy70

Strategic Policy – SP 10: The Visitor Economy
Proposals for tourism related developments will be supported where they:

(a) add value to our visitor economy; and,
(b) preserve our  social, economic and environmental fabric for future 

generations; and, 
(c) are sustainably located.

Tudalen 88

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/tourism/statistics-and-trends/#.W59p--mQy70
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/tourism/statistics-and-trends/#.W59p--mQy70
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/tourism/tourism-priorities/cycling/#.W59p3umQy70
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/tourism/tourism-priorities/cycling/#.W59p3umQy70


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 67

11.86 In interpreting this policy, it should be noted that tourism related developments 

includes new, as well as extensions to existing facilities. Extensions to existing facilities 

should be subordinate in scale and function to the existing facility and proposals that 

constitute substantive extensions should be construed as new development.

Adding Value
11.87 Proposals can add value to the County’s visitor economy by contributing to the 

creation of a diverse, high quality, all year round destination and accommodation offer. 

Economic benefits could range from an increase in visitor numbers and visitor days to job 

creation, contributing to a wider mix of accommodation and attraction types – as well as 

extending the tourism season beyond the summer months. There are opportunities for 

proponents to seek to align to and support those emerging corporate priorities, including the 

Council’s cycling aspirations. It is accepted that added value will be commensurate with the 

scale and nature of the proposal.   

Respecting the County’s social, economic and environmental fabric
11.88 A “One Carmarthenshire” approach underpins this policy. All parts of the County 

possess qualities that contribute to the overall sense of place. These include landscape, 

nature conservation, social fabric and built environment. These are assets which must be 

protected for our future generations and cannot be unduly compromised by tourism related 

development. 

11.89 There should also be an emphasis on high quality in all aspects of proposals, 

particularly design. In considering the acceptability of proposals, consideration will be given 

to location, siting, design and scale, access to the primary and core highway network and 

the impact of any resultant in traffic generation. Furthermore, the extent to which the site is 

serviceable by public transport, walking and cycling are important considerations. The scale, 

size and type of any proposals will be appraised along with siting and impact. Proposals 

should reflect the character and appearance of the area with appropriate landscaping and 

screening utilised as required.

Sustainably located
11.90 Tourism related development should be directed to sustainable locations. Regard 

should be had to the LDP spatial strategy in determining the appropriateness of any location.  

In this respect the scale and nature of the proposal will be important considerations, as will 

Tudalen 89



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 68

its siting, appropriateness and its spatial context. The specific policies will provide further 

more specific guidance on the implementation of this spatially driven approach.

11.91 Tourism related proposals should reflect the character of the area and the impacts on 

the vicinity of the site as part of a place making approach. A recognition of the sense of 

place within the vicinity of the proposal should be implicit within the context of the cluster 

based approach which groups the settlement framework. 

11.92 In spatial terms, this would indicate that those larger scale high trip generating 

tourism proposals lend themselves to being situated in the south of the County where the 

infrastructure is in place to support them. 

11.93 In noting the established primarily coastal offer that characterises the south west of 

the County, due regard will need to be given to any landscape impact arising from any 

potential for an over intensification of uses.  

11.94 The County’s rural areas are well placed to accommodate proposals for high quality 

and sustainable proposals that are of an appropriate scale. Proposals should respect the 

County’s assets whilst supporting vibrant rural communities. 

11.95 Some tourism related developments, by their very nature, must be located in the 

countryside. It is important that these developments do not have any significant negative 

impact on the landscape, natural environment or amenity. 

Strategic Policy – SP 11: Placemaking, Sustainability and High 
Quality Design
In order to facilitate sustainable development, new development should 
acknowledge local distinctiveness and sense of place, and be designed to 
high standards that are adaptable to climate change.

In order to achieve this, all development should:

a) Contribute towards the creation of attractive, safe places and public 
spaces, which enhance the well-being of communities, including 
safeguarding amenity, landscaping, the public realm and the 
provision of open space and recreation;

b) Retain and where appropriate incorporate new green infrastructure 
which encourages opportunities to enhance biodiversity and 
ecological connectivity;

Tudalen 90



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 69

11.96 Planning Policy Wales sets out the land use planning policies of the Welsh 

Government (WG).  Its central objective is to promote and provide a framework for 

sustainable development within Wales.  One of the key factors in achieving this is the 

promotion of sustainability through good design.

11.97 The WG is committed to promoting more sustainable forms of development, and their 

sustainable development scheme, One Wales: One Planet, (2009) sets out their approach to 

sustainable development.  Through the planning system in Wales, good design can be used 

to play a major role in delivering sustainable forms of development and PPW and TAN 12: 

Design provide guidance on how the planning system in Wales can achieve this.

11.98 Achieving good design and creating an effective sense of place requires an 

understanding of the relationship between all elements of the natural and built environment. 

Design is a fundamental component in creating sustainable development, which is itself at 

the forefront of the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015.  

11.99 The Act means that public bodies such as local authorities must work to ensure that 

developments should acknowledge and seek to improve the economic, social, environmental 

and cultural well-being of an area. 

11.100 There are environmental, social, as well as economic benefits to creating a well-

designed development.  Designing a high quality environment is an essential ingredient to 

achieving economic prosperity as it will be more attractive to potential investors as well as 

being more appealing to customers, key workers and tourists.  Similarly, better designed 

buildings and places for work will result in more productive employees.  At the same time, 

well-designed neighbourhoods will create happier and healthier communities that will be 

more committed to the maintenance of their surroundings.  The environmental benefits might 

include less pollution through the reduction in traffic, the protection or enhancement of 

c) Be adaptable to climate change and utilise materials and resources 
appropriate to the area within which it is located;

d) Exhibit and demonstrate a clear understanding of the existing natural 
and built heritage, local character and sense of place;

e) Be accessible and integrated allowing permeability and ease of 
movement;

f) Have regard to the generation, treatment and disposal of waste;
g) Manage water sustainably, including incorporating sustainable urban 

drainage systems (SuDS) into development proposals where feasible.

Tudalen 91



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 70

biodiversity, and the conservation of the built heritage.  All these benefits are central to 

achieving sustainable development and to the long term economic prosperity of an area.

11.101 This policy is intended to ensure that development proposals can achieve positive 

economic, social, environmental and cultural outcomes, and can minimise adverse ones. It 

will, along with the more detailed policies to be developed in the Deposit LDP, form the basis 

of all planning decisions, and indicators will be developed as part of the Plan’s monitoring 

framework to show the effectiveness of the policies.

Tudalen 92



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 71

11.102 The well-being implications arising from health conditions and varying life 

expectancy are recognised within this Preferred Strategy through its emphasis on 

protecting and enhancing the County’s built & historic as well as natural environment. 

11.103 The Preferred Strategy embraces the wellbeing potential afforded by our natural 

environment and access to our green spaces, particularly if this is done in a connected way. 

It is also noted that such spaces provide an opportunity to soften the impact of our changing 

climate.  

11.104 Whilst it is recognised that there is an overlap between the themes and the 

assignment of policies the following having been identified under this theme:

 Strategic Policy – SP 12: Rural Development 

 Strategic Policy – SP 13: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment

 Strategic Policy – SP 14: Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic 

Environment

11.105 It should be noted that specific policies will be developed as part of the Deposit LDP 

and will as appropriate be identified within the context of the relevant theme.

11.106 The following policies seek to support the delivery of the Plan’s strategic objectives, 

but also provide high level links and broad conformity with the Well-Being Goals.

11.107 The rural settlements of the County have an important role to play in improving the 

sustainability of the wider geographical area in which they are located as well as the 

County’s overall sustainability.  The Plan’s strategy and settlement hierarchy reflects the 

significant role which the rural communities play through supporting growth of a 

proportionate scale which can make a positive contribution towards the long-term 

sustainability of the rural economy and rural communities.  

Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, and make healthy 
choices about their lives and environment.

Strategic Policy – SP 12: Rural Development 
The Plan supports development proposals which will contribute towards the 
sustainability of the County’s rural communities.  Development proposals in 
rural areas should demonstrate that they support the role of the rural 
settlements in the settlement hierarchy to meet the housing, employment 
and social needs of Carmarthenshire’s rural communities.

Tudalen 93



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 72

11.108 Proportionate and sensitive development can provide the level of growth required to 

retain and enhance the services and facilities provided in the County’s rural settlements.  It 

can also serve to safeguard and promote the Welsh language in rural areas and enhance 

rural employment opportunities.  However, the Plan seeks to ensure that development and 

growth does not have negative impacts upon a community’s sustainability.  Key to this is 

ensuring that development is not permitted at a scale or rate which would affect the 

community’s ability to absorb and adapt to growth and change.  This is imperative when 

considering the impacts which development can have upon the local infrastructure, the 

vitality of the Welsh language and the sustainability of the countryside and natural 

environment.  

11.109 The Council is committed to addressing and safeguarding the needs of rural 

communities and to this end have established a Rural Affairs Task Group with the aim of 

assessing the needs of rural communities and taking positive steps to address these.  The 

Plan supports the aims of the Task Group through its strategy and policies, principally 

through policies relating to the provision of housing and affordable housing, the economy 

and employment, the Welsh language and the natural environment; development proposals 

will need to demonstrate that they accord with these policies as well as the provisions of 

national planning policy.30

11.110 Carmarthenshire has a rich and diverse natural environment with a number of 

designated sites and protected species. This policy seeks to recognise the quality and value 

of the natural environment and landscapes across the Plan area, and their fundamental role 

in defining the County’s identity, character and distinctiveness. 

11.111 The protection and enhancement of these elements form an important component of 

the Strategy, which looks to reflect not only those international and national designations, but 

30 Planning Policy Wales; Technical Advice Note 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (July 
2010)

Strategic Policy – SP 13: Protection and Enhancement of the 
Natural Environment
Proposals for development will be expected to protect and enhance the 
County’s natural environment.  

Proposals must reflect the role an ecologically connected environment has 
in protecting and enhancing biodiversity, defining the landscape, creating 
a sense of place and contribute to a sense of Well-being. 

Tudalen 94



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 73

also the contribution of sites and landscapes at the local level. The LDP will also seek to 

conserve and enhance natural resources such as geodiversity, water, soil and air quality.

This policy also recognises the often interconnected components of the natural environment 

and their contribution towards maintaining and enhancing biodiversity, as well as the 

creation of attractive and cohesive spaces for communities and the well-being of 

Carmarthenshire’s population. 

11.112 Protection and enhancement of connectivity, and the contribution it makes the quality 

of Carmarthenshire’s landscape, natural environment and biodiversity is an important 

consideration. As a result, the potential impact of the Plan and its policies and proposals 

upon nature conservation interests, amenity value, water/soil/air quality, hydrology, geology 

and geomorphological regimes will continue to inform the plan-making process. 

11.113 A Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) has been undertaken to assess the 

impacts of the Plan on European protected sites, including those in the candidate stage of 

designation. 

11.114 Whilst the Plan recognises the need for new development for both social and 

economic purposes, the Council will, where appropriate, seek to safeguard 

Carmarthenshire’s environmental qualities. We will seek to ensure the protection and 

enhancement of the natural environment through detailed policy. 

11.115 In addition, and reflecting the duties placed upon Local  Authorities , we will have 

regard to the National Park designation and the purpose for which it is designated, where it 

may affect the consideration of planning proposals.

11.116 Carmarthenshire has a rich and diverse historical and cultural built heritage, with a 

range of Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings, and Scheduled Ancient Monuments etc.  The 

Strategic Policy – SP 14: Protection and Enhancement of the 
Built and Historic Environment. 
Development proposals should preserve or enhance the built and historic 
environment of the County, its cultural, townscape and landscape assets, 
and, where appropriate, their setting.

Proposals will be expected to promote high quality design that reinforces 
local character and respects and enhances the cultural and historic 
qualities of the plan area.

Tudalen 95



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 74

recognition of the Plan area’s built heritage and its conservation is essential providing a 

sense of history, character and to as a sense of place. 

11.117 The Plan area also contains archaeological sites and features including many of 

which have not yet been discovered. The Policy and the Plan aims, in conjunction with 

primary legislation on the built environment and historic buildings, to safeguard the cultural 

integrity of the historic settlements, features and buildings within the Plan area, and where 

applicable contribute to the enhancement of the historic and built environment.  This 

recognises that our historic assets are irreplaceable resources and their conservation 

provides social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits. 

11.118 Such historic assets include:

 listed buildings; 

 conservation areas; 

 historic parks, gardens and landscapes; and 

 undesignated assets which provide character to the area. 

11.119 The County’s historic buildings, townscape and landscape should be regarded as 

assets and positively conserved and enhanced for the benefit of residents and visitors alike. 

The special and often diverse character of the County, with its unspoilt countryside, industrial 

heritage and wealth of historic towns and villages, reflects the changes experienced through 

the ages, linking the past to the present and maintaining the area's distinct cultural identity.

Such features and structures not only affected by change and neglect, but also by changes 

to their setting.  As such this is an important consideration in making decisions on proposals 

which may have an effect. 

11.120 The need for new appropriate development across the County must be recognised, 

and as such the LDP will seek to direct and manage potential growth in a way which 

respects the importance of the built and historic environment.

Tudalen 96



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 75

11.121 This Preferred Strategy recognises the importance of community and sense of 

place by seeking to distribute new development in manner that recognises and respects 

the role and function of our settlements. 

11.122 By distributing growth in a sustainable manner and in a way that acknowledges our 

key connectivity routes, this Preferred Strategy can assist in the creation of connected 

communities that are resilient, vibrant and can foster a well-being amongst residents. 

11.123 Whilst it is recognised that there is an overlap between the themes and the 

assignment of policies the following having been identified under this theme:

 Strategic Policy – SP 15: Climate Change

 Strategic Policy – SP 16: Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework

 Strategic Policy – SP 17: Transport and Accessibility

 Strategic Policy – SP 18: Mineral Resources

 Strategic Policy – SP 19: Waste Management

11.124 It should be noted that specific policies will be developed as part of the Deposit LDP 

and will as appropriate be identified within the context of the relevant theme.

11.125 The following policies seek to support the delivery of the Plan’s strategic objectives, 

but also provide high level links and broad conformity with the Well-Being Goals.

Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, places and 
organisations that are able to adapt to change

Strategic Policy – SP 15: Climate Change 
Where development proposals respond to, are resilient to, adapt to and 
minimise the causes and impacts of climate change they will be supported. 
In particular proposals will be supported where they:

a) Reflect sustainable transport principles and minimise the need to 
travel, particularly by private motor car;

b) Avoid, or where appropriate, minimise the risk of flooding including 
the incorporation of measures such as SuDS and flood resilient 
design;

c) Promote the energy hierarchy by reducing energy demand, promoting 
energy efficiency and increasing the supply of renewable energy;

Tudalen 97



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 76

11.126 The need to tackle climate change represents a fundamental challenge if 

sustainable development and the obligations under the Well-being of Future Generations 

Act 2105 are to be delivered.  The economic, social and environmental implications arising 

from Climate change will be profound and a failure to address it will result any effort to plan 

for sustainability unsuccessful.

11.127 The changing climate and the impacts for Wales predicted by the UK Climate 

Impacts Programme (UKCIP) present the planning system with serious challenges. In 

addressing them, Planning Policy Wales (PPW) outlines a series of objectives which should 

be taken into account during the preparation of a development plan.

11.128 The LDP categorises settlements into a hierarchy which reflects their relative 

sustainability. The Plan’s aspiration of minimising the need to travel, particularly by private 

motor car, and its contributory role towards the facilitation of an integrated transport strategy 

seeks to direct development to appropriate locations which serve to achieve this.

11.129 The potential impact of flood risk forms an important consideration in the assessment 

of the appropriateness of sites for inclusion within the LDP. In this regard, a precautionary 

approach will be adopted in the identification of sites for inclusion in the Plan.  The 

consideration of any proposals in respect of flooding have regard to the provisions of PPW 

and TAN15: Development and Flood Risk which provides guidance on assessing 

developments at risk from flooding.  

11.130 Proposals affected by flood risk will be required to submit a Flood Consequences 

Assessment as part of any planning application and the Council will consult with Natural 

Resources Wales (NRW). Where a site is in part impacted upon by flood risk, the developer 

will need to consider the impact of the risk on the developability of the remainder of the site.  

Where appropriate they should undertake the necessary evidential work (including a flood 

consequences assessment and/or topographical survey) to the satisfaction of NRW. 

d) Incorporate appropriate climate responsive design solutions including 
orientation, layout, density and low carbon solutions (including 
design and construction methods) and utilise sustainable 
construction methods where feasible. 

Proposals for development which are located within areas at risk from 
flooding will be resisted unless they accord with the provisions of Planning 
Policy Wales TAN 15. 

Tudalen 98



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 77

11.131 Developments will be expected to exhibit good design principles to promote the 

efficient use of resources, including minimising waste and pollution generation, and 

maximising energy efficiency and the efficient use of other resources.  Reference should be 

had to policy SP X in relation to the waste and the waste hierarchy and minimisation of 

waste.

11.132 Development proposals will be expected to make full and appropriate use of land. 

The potential impacts of climate change should be central to the design process, including 

the contribution that location, density, layout and built form can make towards climate 

responsive developments.

11.133 The Welsh Government is committed to using the planning system to optimise 

renewable energy and low carbon energy generation.  PPW states that Local Planning 

Authorities can make a positive provision by considering the contribution that their area can 

make towards developing and facilitating renewable and low carbon energy, and enable this 

contribution to be delivered.  Renewable energy targets have been set by the Welsh 

Government, one target is for Wales to be generating 70% of its electricity consumption from 

renewable energy by 2030. 

11.134 Proposals/land uses and land management practices will be encouraged where they 

help to secure and protect carbon sinks (including peat).  Such an approach will enhance 

resilience to the impacts of climate change and to reducing the causes of climate change 

through the protection of carbon sinks and as a sustainable energy source31. 

11.135 PPW sets out clear guidance in terms of requirements for climate responsive 

developments and sustainable buildings. Reference should be made to the Practice 

Guidance – Planning for Sustainable Buildings (WG, 2014). 

31 Planning Policy Wales: Edition 9 Para 4.6.4. 
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161117planning-policy-wales-edition-9-en.pdf

Tudalen 99

https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161117planning-policy-wales-edition-9-en.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 78

Cluster 1 Cluster 2 Cluster 3 Cluster 4 Cluster 5 Cluster 6

Tier 1 – Principle Centre  Carmarthen  Llanelli  Ammanford/
Crosshands

 Pontyates/
Meinciau/
Ponthenri

 Burry Port
 Pembrey
 Fforest/Hendy
 Llangennech
 Trimsaran/

Carway
Tier 2 – Service Centre

 Kidwelly
 Ferryside

 Brynamman
 Glanamman/

Garnant
 Pontyberem/

Bancffosfelen

 Newcastle 
Emlyn

 Llanybydder
 Pencader

 Llandovery
 Llandeilo
 Llangadog

 St Clears/
 Pwll Trap
 Whitland
 Laugharne

 Mynyddygarreg
 Five Roads/

Horeb
 Llansaint / 

Broadway

 Carmel
 Cwmgwili
 Foelgastell
 Maesybont
 Ystradowen

Tier 3 – Sustainable 
Villages

 Cynwyl Elfed
 Llanybri
 Llansteffan 
 Bronwydd
 Cwmffrwd
 Llangyndeyrn
 Brechfa
 Llangain
 Idole/

Pentrepoeth
 Peniel
 Alltwalis
 Llanpumpsite
 Llandyfaoelog
 Rhydargaeau
 New Inn
 Llanarthne
 Capel Dewi
 Nantgaredig
 Pontargothi
 Llanddarog
 Porthyrhyd
 Crwbin
 Cwmduad

 Llanon
 Llanedi

 Drefach/
Felindre

 Waengilwen
 Llangeler
 Pentrecwrt
 Saron/Rhos
 Llanllwni
 Cwmann
 Capen Iwan
 Llanfihangel 

ar arth
 Trelech
 Pontyweli
 Cenarth

 Caio
 Ffarmers
 Llansawel
 Rhydcymerau
 Talley
 Cwrt Henri
 Llanfynydd
 Llanwrda
 Cwmdu
 Cwmifor
 Salem
 Abergorlech

 Llanboidy
 Glandy Cross
 Efailwen
 Llangynin
 Meidrim
 Bancyfelin
 Llangynog
 Pendine
 Llanddowror
 Llanmiloe

Strategic Policy – SP 16: Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework
The provision of growth and development will be directed to sustainable locations in accordance with the following 
spatial framework.  

T
udalen 100



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy 79

Tier 4 – Rural Villages
(No development limits)

 Hermon
 Abernant
 Blaenycoed
 Bancycapel
 Nantycaws
 Croesyceiliog
 Felingwm 

Uchaf
 Felincwm Isaf
 Llanegwad
 Pontantwn
 Nebo
 Talog
 Cross Inn
 Penybont
 Whitemill
 Pont-Newydd

 Cynheidre
 Four Roads

 Capel Seion
 Derwydd
 Heol Ddu
 Maesybont
 Milo
 Pantllyn
 Pentregwenlais
 Temple Bar
 Cefnbrynbrain
 Rhosamman
 Drefach 

(Llandyfan)
 Stag and 

Pheasant
 Mynyddcerrig

 Penboyr
 Drefelin
 Cwmpengraig
 Cwmhiraeth
 Pentrecagal
 Pontarsais
 Gwyddgrug
 Dolgran
 Bancyfford
 Bryn Iwan
 Pencarreg

 Ffaldybrenin
 Crugybar
 Cwm-du
 Ashfield Row
 Felindre 

(Llangadog)
 Cynghordy
 Golden Grove
 Broad Oak
 Trapp
 Manordeilo
 Penybanc
 Felindre, 

(Dryslwyn)
 Dryslwyn
 Rhydcymerau
 Waunystrad 

Meurig
 Bethlehem
 Capel Isaac
 Llangathen
 Llansadwrn
 Rhandirmwyn
 Porthyrhyd
 Pumsaint
 Siloh
 Cilycwm

 Cwmfelin 
Mynach

 Cwmbach
 Blaenwaun
 Llanglydwen
 Cwmfelin 

Boeth
 Cross Inn
 Llansadurnen
 Broadway
 Red Roses
 Llanfallteg

T
udalen 101



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

11.146 The Plan seeks to distribute growth and development spatially across the County 

having regard to the spatial strategy and spatial framework and national policy32.  This 

emphasises the need for a settlement strategy to provide the basis for a spatial pattern of 

housing development, balancing social, economic and environmental needs. Whilst the 

majority of development will be directed to the top tiers of the settlement hierarchy, the 

diversity of the County is recognised and regard will be had to housing in rural areas and 

the value such areas play within the County, its communities and to the economy. 

11.147 The Plan seeks to distribute the growth in a way which reflects the diversity of the 

settlement clusters and in a sustainable manner.  It will have regard to the role and function 

of the settlements but also accepts that some settlements which may by virtue of services 

and facilities available may not necessarily be the most appropriate options for all the 

growth.  This may reflect a number of factors not least environmental constraints but also 

historical delivery of growth within such settlements. Additionally, cross-border influences 

and proximity to adjacent settlements are influencing factors to varying extents. These 

include: Pontarddulais, Lampeter, Adpar, Narberth and Llandysul.

11.148 The approach will avoid any assumption that that every settlement in every tier 

must contribute towards growth, rather it will consider the settlements on their merits 

having whilst having regard to their sustainability and position within the framework. 

Therefore, it does not seek to apportion development spatially within the hierarchy purely 

by the use of proportional distribution or quotas.

11.149 The strategy accepts that the principal centres will be the main focus of growth, with 

its precise spread across the County being responsive and not constrained by a rigid 

proportional distribution.  Regard will be made to the scale and character as well as the role 

of the settlement. 

11.150 The following sets out an indicative apportionment of residential growth by tier; this 

will be further developed as the Plan progresses through its preparatory stages: 

 Principal Centre 50 - 55%; 

 Service Centre 15 - 20%; 

 Sustainable Villages 15 - 20%; 

 Rural Villages 15- 20% , and

32 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9)

Tudalen 102



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

 Non-Defined Rural Settlements < 1%.

11.151 The rural villages will have provision for small scale housing opportunities focused 

on infill and logical extensions as well as small scale rural exceptions for affordable 

housing. This provides scope for limited market housing provision.  

11.152 Within the undefined rural settlements, new housing development will be limited to 

small scale opportunities where local needs affordable housing is provided. Such proposals 

will be focused around infill and opportunities for logical extensions.  Both these tiers will 

not have development limits with proposals considered through criteria based policies.

11.153 Whilst the above refers specifically to residential growth, the settlement framework 

will, in conjunction with specific policies, also guide the consideration of appropriate 

locations and scale of other developments (including employment). 

11.154 The following sets out an indicative outline on the nature of development likely by 

tier including their scale and type.  Further details will be developed as part of the Deposit 

Plan, as will the specific criteria policies necessary to support to consideration of proposals 

such as rural exceptions and defined rural villages:

Principal Centres

Strategic Sites
Large and small scale Employment Areas 
Housing Allocations 
Small housing sites (under 5 homes);
Affordable Housing Provision on sites of 5 or more units
Windfall housing opportunities 

Service Centres:

Small Scale Employment Areas
Housing Allocations
Affordable Housing Provision on sites of 5 or more units
Small housing sites (under 5 homes);
Windfall housing opportunities 

Sustainable Villages:

Housing Allocations
Affordable housing on sites of 5 or more units
Small housing sites (under 5 homes);
Windfall housing opportunities 
Small Scale Rural Exceptions Schemes for Affordable Housing adjoining settlement 
boundaries

Tudalen 103



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Rural Villages (No Development Limits):

Small sites – housing through infill or logical extensions/rounding off.
Small Scale Rural Exceptions Schemes for Affordable Housing

Non Defined Rural Settlements: 

Local needs affordable housing and Small Scale Rural Exceptions Schemes for Affordable 
Housing

11.155 The strategy reflects and promotes the principles of sustainability and accessibility to 

essential services and facilities with the aim of achieving viable, self-supporting settlements 

and sustainable communities thus increasing social inclusion and cohesion. The settlement 

framework reflects the sustainability of settlements where services, jobs, shopping and 

leisure facilities are located whilst recognising the diversity of the County and its communities 

including the rural areas.

11.156 In achieving the above the strategy has regard to the highway and rail network along with 

accessibility to public transport and the potential for growth of settlements reflecting levels of 

accessibility (to be considered as part of the Deposit LDP). 

Strategic Policy – SP 17: Transport and Accessibility
Sustainable and deliverable development requires an integrated, accessible, 
reliable, efficient, safe and sustainable transport network to underpin 
delivery.  The Plan therefore contributes to the delivery of a sustainable 
transport system and associated infrastructure through:

a. Reducing the need to travel, particularly by private motor car; 
b. Addressing social inclusion through increased accessibility to 

employment, services and facilities;
c. Supporting and where applicable enhancing alternatives to the motor car, 

such as public transport (including park and ride facilities and encourage 
the adoption of travel plans) and active transport through cycling and 
walking; 

d. Re-enforcing the function and role of settlements in accordance with the 
settlement framework;

e. Promoting the efficient use of the transport network;
f. Enhancing accessibility to employment, homes, services and facilities at 

locations accessible to appropriate transport infrastructure – including 
significant trip generating proposals; 

g. The incorporation of design and access solutions within developments 
to promote accessibility. Provide walking and cycling routes, linking in 
with active travel networks and green infrastructure networks; and

h. Adopt a sustainable approach to the design, function and layout of new 
development, including providing appropriate levels of parking.

Tudalen 104



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

11.157 Due to the diversity of the County, accessibility and the aim of reducing the need to 

travel (and reducing CO2 emissions) remains a challenge for a large part of 

Carmarthenshire. This challenge is particularly evident when addressing the need to sustain 

rural areas and ensure that their communities do not suffer social exclusion. This must also 

relate to a realistic acceptance that the motor car remains an important means of travel in 

such areas. 

11.158 Minimising travel may also be possible through an integrated transport strategy and 

the development of self-sustaining communities (including the availability of services and 

facilities) and the availability of alternatives through appropriate initiatives such as ‘Bwcabus’.  

It is however also recognised that as technology progresses the potential impact or 

otherwise of the motorcar will change.  

11.159 The LDP will seek to positively promote solutions which encourage access to 

technological changes, including electric charging points, in promoting a reduction in harmful 

emissions and enhancing social inclusion and accessibility. 

11.160 Road schemes that are identified within the relevant Transport Plan will, where there 

is sufficient certainty, be identified within the Deposit LDP and where appropriate safeguarded. 

Where a scheme is identified as requiring further feasibility, design and preparation it may 

not be identified in the Deposit LDP as this reflects the potential for an absence of clear 

indications of delivery.

11.161 The role of the County as a centre for cycling in Wales is recognised and the 

publication of the Cycling Strategy will be considered and where appropriate reflected as 

the LDP progresses.  In this respect the role of the cycling network as an economic driver 

and leisure and tourism asset is recognised.  Similarly, its contribution to the promotion of 

accessibility and benefits to our communities is also recognised - as is that afforded 

through the public footpath network and bridleways.

Tudalen 105



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

11.162 The LDP should ensure that the County provides mineral resources to meet society’s 

needs and that such resources, are safeguarded from sterilisation.  In doing so, the LDP 

seeks to ensure that a proper balance is struck between this fundamental requirement, the 

need to ensure a prudent use of these finite resources, and the protection of existing amenity 

and the environment.

11.163 Carmarthenshire has a wide variety of mineral resources as a result of its complex 

geology.  The main feature in the south of the County is the broad sweep of the Coal 

Measures outcrop, fringed to the north by Carboniferous Limestone.  Limestone quarrying is 

the largest of the extractive industries in the County.  The northern parts of the County are 

underlain by older rocks of Ordovician and Silurian age, mainly sandstones, shales and 

slates.  The economic significance of these is variable. 

11.164 The South Wales Regional Technical Statement (RTS) 2014 sets out the contribution 

that each constituent local authority should make towards meeting the regional demand for 

aggregates (both hard rock and sand and gravel).  The LDP’s second Annual Monitoring 

Report (AMR, 2016/17) establishes that the County’s landbank figures, for both hard rock 

and sand and gravel, is notably in excess of the minimum requirements set out in Minerals 

Technical Advice Note (MTAN) 1: Aggregates, and consequently there is no requirement to 

allocate new sites for mineral development.

Strategic Policy – SP 18: Mineral Resources

The County’s identified mineral resources will be sustainably managed by:

a) Ensuring supply by maintaining an adequate landbank of permitted 
aggregate reserves (hard rock and sand and gravel) throughout the 
Plan period;

b) Encouraging the efficient and appropriate use of high quality minerals 
and maximising the potential for the re-use and recycling of suitable 
minerals as an alternative to primary won aggregates;

c) Safeguarding areas underlain by minerals of economic importance 
where they could be worked in the future to ensure that such 
resources are not unnecessarily sterilised by other forms of 
development;

d) The use of buffer zones to reduce the conflict between mineral 
development and sensitive development;

e) Securing appropriate restoration which can deliver specific 
environmental and community benefits.

Tudalen 106



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

11.165 The system of waste management and waste planning is undergoing a rapid 

transition.  Targets for waste minimisation and recycling and will require new methods of 

managing waste, together with a potential significant increase in the number of facilities to 

enable these methods to be implemented and the targets to be met.

11.166 In accordance with the Overarching Waste Strategy Document for Wales Towards 

Zero Waste (TZW), and Planning Policy Wales, local authorities are required to develop a 

sustainable approach to the management of waste, including the support of proposals for 

waste operations which move the management of waste up the waste hierarchy, and the 

identification of land appropriate to facilitate an integrated and sustainable network of waste 

facilities.

11.167 New technological advances and changes in legislation, policies and practices, mean 

that modern in-building waste management facilities now have the external appearance of 

any other industrial unit, and contain methods of industrial de-manufacturing or energy 

generation no different to modern industrial processes.  The in-principle suitability of B2 

industrial sites therefore has become accepted and allows a greater scope of possible sites.  

11.168 Technical Advice Note (TAN) 21 sets out that collaboration between local planning 

authorities will be necessary to monitor progress towards establishing an integrated and 

adequate network for the disposal of waste and recovery of mixed municipal waste.  

Consequently, the Country has been split into 3 regions which each have the task of 

producing an annual Waste Planning Monitoring Report (WPMR).  

Strategic Policy – SP 19: Waste Management
Provision will be made to facilitate the sustainable management of waste 
through: 

a) The allocation of adequate appropriate land to provide for an 
integrated network of waste management facilities;

b) Supporting proposals for waste management which involve the 
management of waste in accordance with the ranking set out within in 
the waste hierarchy; 

c) Supporting proposals for new in-building waste management facilities 
at existing and allocated industrial sites which are suitable for waste 
management facilities;

d) Acknowledging that certain types of waste facility may need to be 
located outside the development limits of settlements;

e) Ensuring that provision is made for the sustainable management of 
waste in all new development, including securing opportunities to 
minimise the production of waste.

f)

Tudalen 107



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

11.169 One of the principal roles of the WPMR is to present data to enable the effective 

monitoring of how the region’s residual waste arising’s are managed, particularly the 

progress being made towards alternatives to landfill, in order to assess the region’s 

performance against the targets set out in TZW.  The information and analysis presented in 

the reports should provide a basis for local authorities (and other organisations) to take 

action on the waste arising’s within their area.  The Reports should also provide an 

information base to assist the waste management industry make key investment decisions.

11.170 In formulating development proposals, consideration should be given to the 

implications for waste.  The location and scale of developments should have regard to the 

availability and capacity of waste management facilities in the area.  In this respect, 

proposals should not result in unnecessary trip generation.  

Tudalen 108



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Glossary

Adopted Plan This is the Final stage of Local Development Plan 
preparatory process - where the Local Development Plan 
becomes the statutory Development Plan, for the purposes 
of the Act.

Adopted The final confirmation of the development plan as its land 
use planning policy by the Local Planning Authority (LPA).

Affordable Housing Housing provided to those whose needs are not met by the 
open market. Affordable housing should:

 meet the needs of eligible households, including 
availability at low enough cost for them to afford, 
determined with regard to local incomes and local house 
prices; and

 include provision for the home to remain affordable for
future eligible households, or if a home ceases to be 
affordable or staircasing to full ownership takes place, 
any subsidy should generally be recycled to provide 
replacement affordable housing.

This breaks down into two sub-categories:

 social rented housing - provided by local authorities 
and registered social landlords where rent levels have 
regard to the Assembly Government’s guideline rents 
and benchmark rents; and

 Intermediate housing - where prices or rents are above 
those of social rented housing but below market housing 
prices or rents. This can include equity sharing schemes 
(for example Homebuy). Intermediate housing differs from 
low cost market housing, which the Assembly 
Government does not consider to be affordable housing
for the purpose of the land use planning system. (TAN 2: 
Glossary).

Amenity A positive element or elements that contribute to the 
overall character or enjoyment of an area.  For example, 
open land, trees, historic buildings and the inter 
relationship between them, or less tangible factors such 
as tranquillity.

Ancillary Where the use of land or buildings differ from the 
primary use and is of a lesser importance and are 
permitted because of their association with the primary 
use.

Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR)

This will assess the extent to which policies in the local 
development plan are being successfully implemented 
(Regulation 37 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005.

Tudalen 109



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Baseline/Pre Change 
Baseline

A description of the present state of an area against which to 
measure change.

Biodiversity The variability among living organisms from all 
sources including animals, plants, birds, insects and 
fish, and the habitats of which they are part.

Character A term relating to Conservation Areas or Listed 
Buildings, but also to the appearance of any urban or 
rural location in terms of its landscape, townscape or 
the layout of streets and open spaces, often giving 
places their own distinct identity.

Candidate Site Candidate Sites are those nominated by anyone for 
consideration by the LPA as allocations in an 
emerging LDP.

Candidate Sites Register Register of candidate sites prepared following a call 
for candidate sites by the LPA.

Coalescence The merging or joining up of two separate settlements or of 
separate elements of settlement.  

Commitments Undeveloped land with current planning permission or land 
which is currently being developed.

Community People living in a defined geographical area, or who share 
other interests and therefore form communities of interest.

Completions Planning consents for development which have been 
constructed or brought into operational use.

Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL)

The Community Infrastructure Levy is a planning 
charge, introduced by the Planning Act 2008 as a tool 
for local planning authorities to help deliver 
infrastructure to support the development of their area. It 
came into force on 6 April 2010 through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.

Community Involvement 
Scheme (CIS)

Sets out the project plan and policies of the LPA for involving 
local communities, including businesses, in the preparation 
of local development plans. The CIS is submitted to the 
Welsh Government as part of the Delivery Agreement for 
agreement.

Consensus building A process of early dialogue with targeted interest groups to 
understand relevant viewpoints and agree a course of action.

Conservation Areas An area designated by the LPA under legislation 
which is of a special architectural or historic interest 
the character or appearance of which is desirable to 
preserve or enhance.

Consultation A formal process in which comments are invited on a 
particular topic or set of topics, or a draft document.

Contextual Indicator An indicator used to monitor changes in the context 
within which the plan is being implemented or prepared.

Delivery Agreement (DA) Document comprising the LPA’s timetable for the preparation 
of the LDP together with its Community Involvement 
Scheme, submitted to the Welsh Government for agreement.

Density In the case of residential development, a measurement of 
either the number of habitable rooms per hectare (or acre) or 
number of dwellings per hectare (or acre).

Draft Delivery Agreement – February 2018 22

Tudalen 110



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Deposit Documents These include the deposit LDP, the Sustainability 
Appraisal report, the initial consultation report, the 
candidate sites register, the Review Report (if appropriate), 
any relevant supporting documents.

Development Limits A line drawn in order to define the area of a settlement within 
which development is acceptable in principle subject to 
detailed consideration of environmental, amenity, access, 
public service provision and other considerations. Areas 
outside the limits are regarded as the open countryside.

Employment Land Land used for the purposes of employment by one or more 
of the following: offices, manufacturing, research and 
development, storage and distribution (see also Use 
Classes).

Engagement A process which encourages substantive deliberation in a 
community. Proactive attempt to involve any given group 
of people/section of the community.

Evidence Base Interpretation of Baseline or other information/data to 
provide the basis for plan policy.

Habitat An area of nature conservation interest.

Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA)

The screening and appropriate assessment of options 
required under Part 6 Chapter 8 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
(the Habitats Regulations) - a recognised iterative 
process which helps determine the likely significant 
effect on a plan or programme and (where appropriate) 
assess adverse impacts on the integrity of a European 
site. The assessment is required to be undertaken by a 
competent authority in respect of plans or projects which 
are likely to have a significant effect (alone and in 
combination with other plans and projects) on a 
“European site” (see paragraph 5.1.2 of TAN 5), or as a 
matter of policy a proposed “European site” or Ramsar 
site, under the provisions of Article 6(3) of the EC 
Directive 92/43/ECC (the Habitats Directive), regulations 
61 and 102 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations (as amended) 2010, and, regulation 25 of 
the Offshore Marine Conservation (Natural Habitats &c) 
Regulations 2007.

Infill Development The development of a small gap between existing 
buildings. To qualify as infill, the proposed development 
must be related to the size and character of the particular 
settlement.

Infrastructure Includes services such as roads, transport facilities, water 
supplies, sewerage and associated waste water 
treatment facilities, waste management facilities, energy 
supplies (electricity and gas) and distribution networks 
and telecommunications infrastructure. Soft infrastructure 
includes ICT and telecommunications.

Tudalen 111



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Integrated Community 
Strategy (ICS)

Required by the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2009 (Part 2: Sections 37-46) with the aim of improving 
the social, environmental and economic well-being of 
their areas. Also referred to as a “Single Integrated Plan”.

Local Planning Authority 
(LPA)

A planning authority responsible for the preparation of 
an LDP.

Local Development Plan 
(LDP)

The required statutory development plan for each local 
planning authority area in Wales under Part 6 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. A land use plan that is 
subject to independent examination, which will form the 
statutory development plan for a local planning authority area 
for the purposes of the Act. It should include a vision, 
strategy, area-wide policies for development types, land 
allocations, and where necessary policies and proposals for 
key areas of change and protection. Policies and allocations 
must be shown geographically on the Proposals Map forming 
part of the Plan.

Local Well-being Plan Under The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 Public Service Boards will be established for each 
local authority area; it is intended that each will prepare a 
Well-being Plan to replace the SIP by April 2018 (s.39).

Marine Plan The Welsh National Marine Plan prepared under 
the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009.

Market Housing Private housing for rent or sale where the price is 
set in the open market. (TAN2: Glossary).

Mitigation Measures to avoid, reduce or offset significant 
adverse effects.

Mixed Use Developments or proposals comprising of more than 
one use type on a single site.

National Development 
Framework (NDF)

Provision is made under Planning (Wales Act) 2015 for the 
preparation of an NDF. Prepared by the Welsh Government 
the NDF will set out a 20 year land use framework for Wales 
and will replace the current Wales Spatial Plan.

National Nature Reserve 
(NNR)

An area designated for its national importance in nature 
conservation terms and managed through joint nature 
reserve agreements with landowners etc,

Objective/Strategic 
Objective

A statement of what is intended, specifying the 
desired direction of change in trends.

Open Space All space of public value, including public landscaped 
areas, playing fields, parks and play areas, and also 
including not just land, but also areas of water such as 
rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs, which can offer 
opportunities for sport and recreation or can also act 
as a visual amenity and a haven for wildlife.

Partners Other local/National Park authority departments and 
statutory bodies where the LDP will help to deliver some 
of the objectives of their strategies. Partners may be 
expected to contribute to formulating relevant parts of the 
LDP.

Planning Obligation A legal agreement between an applicant and the local 
planning authority to ensure a development is carried out in a 
certain way. Also referred to as a Section 106 Agreement.

Draft Delivery Agreement – February 2018 24

Tudalen 112



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Planning Policy Wales 
(PPW)

Planning Policy Wales sets out the land use planning policies 
of the Welsh Assembly Government. It is supplemented by a 
series of Technical Advice Notes. Procedural advice is 
provided through circulars and policy clarification letters.

Playing Fields Land set out with a pitch or pitches for games.

Pre-deposit documents 
(LDP)

These include the vision, strategic options, preferred 
strategy, key policies, the Sustainability Appraisal report, 
the candidate sites register, Review Report (if appropriate).

Pre-deposit stage The participation and consultation stages prior to deposit; 
the Manual refers to the Strategic Options and Preferred 
Strategy stage which relate to the full plan procedure; 
reduced requirements relate to the short form plan revision 
procedure.

Previously Developed 
Land

Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure 
(excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and 
associated fixed surface infrastructure. See also Definition 
of Previously Developed Land contained in PPW: Edition 
9.

Ramsar A wetland site of international importance for nature 
conservation. Designation is enabled by the Ramsar 
Convention 1971 whereby participating European 
Governments undertake to protect such areas.

Review Report The required statutory report under S69 of the 2004 Act 
and/or Reg41; to conclude on the LDP revision procedure 
to be followed based on a clear assessment of what has 
been considered and what needs to change and why, 
based on evidence.

Ribbon Development The linear extension of settlements, including frontage 
development along approach roads, resulting in the 
unnecessary intrusion of development into the countryside.

Section 106 Agreement See Planning Obligations.

Single Integrated Plan 
(SIP)

Discharges statutory duties identified by Welsh 
Government (“Shared Purpose – Shared Delivery”, WG 
2012), including Community Strategies; prepared by a 
Local Service Board. See “Local Well-being Plans” 
which are to replace SIPs”.

Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI)

Sites of Special Scientific Interest are notified by Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) under legislation to afford 
protection to flora, fauna and geological or physiological 
feature of special interest.

Site specific allocations Allocations of sites (proposals) for specific or mixed uses 
or development. Policies will identify any specific 
requirements for individual proposals with the allocations 
shown on the LDP’s proposals map.

Soundness In order to be adopted, an LDP must be determined ‘sound’ 
by the examination Inspector (S64 of the 2004 Act). Tests of 
soundness tests and checks are identified in PPW.

Tudalen 113



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC)

Sites of international conservation importance designated 
by the Welsh Ministers under the European Directive on the 
Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Flora and Fauna. 
In addition there are candidate SAC’s which should, as a 
matter of Government policy, be viewed as full SAC’s when 
examining land use impacts.

Special Protection Area 
(SPA)

Special Protection Areas For Wild Birds under The E.C. 
Council Directive On the Conservation of Wild Birds 
(79/4C9/EEC) provides for the protection, management 
and control of all species of naturally occurring wild 
birds.

Specific Policies A suite of criteria-based policies which will ensure 
that all development within the area meets the aims 
and objectives set out in the Strategy.

Stakeholders Interests directly affected by the LDP (and/or SEA) - 
involvement generally through representative bodies.

Statement of Common 
Ground (SocG)

The purpose of a SOCG is to establish the main areas of 
agreement between two or more parties on a particular 
issue.

Strategic Development 
Plan (SDP)

Provision is made under the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 for 
the preparation of SDP’s at a regional level. SDP will have 
regard to the NDF and responding at a regional level to 
strategic issues.

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA)

Term used internationally to describe environmental 
assessment as applied to plans and programmes. SEA 
process is derived from European legislation and defined at 
European level – Directive 2001/42/EC. The Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 
2004 (SEA Regulations) require a formal “environmental 
assessment of certain plans and programmes, including 
those in the field of planning and land use”.

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG)

Forms a supplementary document/information in respect of 
the policies in an LDP. SPG does not form part of the 
development plan and is not subject to independent 
examination but must be consistent with the Plan and with 
national planning policy. Can be developed to consider 
individual or thematic aspects of the Plan and site 
allocations including masterplans.

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA)

Tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect sustainable 
development objectives (i.e. social, environmental and 
economic factors). Each LPA is required by S62(6) of the 
2004 Act to undertake SA of the LDP. This form of SA fully 
incorporates the requirements of the SEA Regulations.

Sustainability Appraisal 
Report (SA Report)

Document required to be produced as part of the SA 
process to describe and appraise the likely significant effects 
on sustainability of implementing the LDP, which also meets 
the requirement for the Environmental Report under the SEA 
Regulations. S62(6) of the 2004 Act requires each LPA to 
prepare a report of the findings of the SA of the LDP. The 
SA Report is first produced at the Preferred Strategy stage 
(the Interim SA Report), expanded at the Deposit LDP stage 
and finalised alongside the Adoption Statement.

Tudalen 114



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Technical Advice Notes 
(TAN)

A topic-based document published by the Welsh Assembly 
Government to supplement Planning Policy Wales.

Wales Spatial 
Plan (WSP)

A plan prepared and approved by the National Assembly for 
Wales under S60 of the 2004 Act, which sets out a strategic 
framework to guide future development and policy 
interventions, whether or not these relate to formal land use 
planning control. Under S62(5)(b) of the 2004 Act a local 
planning authority must have regard to the WSP in 
preparing an LDP.

Tudalen 115



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Appendix 1: Policy Assessment

Strategic Policy: SP1 Strategic Growth

Strategic Objectives SO3 - To assist in widening and promoting education 
and skills training opportunities for all.

Local Well-being Goals Early Intervention - To make sure that people have 
the right help at the right time; as and when they need 
it.

Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP2 Retail and Town Centres

Strategic Objectives SO4 - To ensure that the principles of equal 
opportunities and social inclusion are upheld by 
promoting access to a high quality and diverse mix 
of public services, healthcare, shops, leisure facilities 
and work opportunities, as well as vibrant town 
centres.

Local Well-being Goals Early Intervention - To make sure that people have 
the right help at the right time; as and when they need 
it. 

Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 116



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Strategic Policy: SP3 Providing New Homes

Strategic Objectives SO10 - To make provision for an appropriate mix of 
quality homes across the County based around the 
principles of sustainable socio-economic 
development and equality of opportunities.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP4 Affordable Homes

Strategic Objectives SO10 - To make provision for an appropriate mix of 
quality homes across the County based around the 
principles of sustainable socio-economic 
development and equality of opportunities.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP5 Strategic Sites

Strategic Objectives SO12 - To encourage investment & innovation in 
rural and urban areas by making adequate provision 
to meet employment need and to contribute at a 
regional level to the delivery of the Swansea Bay City 
Deal.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 117



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Strategic Policy: SP6 Employment and the Economy

Strategic Objectives SO12 - To encourage investment & innovation in 
rural and urban areas by making adequate provision 
to meet employment need and to contribute at a 
regional level to the delivery of the Swansea Bay City 
Deal.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP7 Welsh Language and Culture

Strategic Objectives SO11 - To assist in protecting, enhancing and 
promoting the Welsh Language and the County’s 
unique cultural identity, assets and social fabric.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP8 Infrastructure

Strategic Objectives SO14 - To reflect the requirements associated with 
the delivery of new development, both in terms of 
hard and soft infrastructure (including broadband).

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 118



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Strategic Policy: SP9 Gypsy and Traveller Provision

Strategic Objectives SO10 - To make provision for an appropriate mix of 
quality homes across the County based around the 
principles of sustainable socio-economic 
development and equality of opportunities.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP10 The Visitor Economy

Strategic Objectives SO13 - To make provision for sustainable & high 
quality all year round tourism related initiatives.

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP11 Placemaking, Sustainability and High Quality 
Design

Strategic Objectives SO9 - To protect and enhance the diverse character, 
distinctiveness, safety and vibrancy of the County’s 
communities by promoting a place making approach 
and a sense of place.  

Local Well-being Goals Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 119



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Strategic Policy: SP12 Rural Development

Strategic Objectives SO2 - To assist with widening and promoting 
wellbeing opportunities through access to 
community, leisure and recreational facilities as well 
as the countryside.

Local Well-being Goals Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, 
and make healthy choices about their lives and 
environment.
 
Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP13 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural 
Environment

Strategic Objectives SO1 - To ensure that the natural environment, 
including habitats and species, are safeguarded and 
enhanced.

Local Well-being Goals Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, 
and make healthy choices about their lives and 
environment.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 120



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Strategic Policy: SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Built and 
Historic Environment

Strategic Objectives SO5 - To safeguarded and enhance the built and 
historic environment and promote the appropriate 
reuse of redundant buildings.

Local Well-being Goals Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life, 
and make healthy choices about their lives and 
environment.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP15 Climate Change

Strategic Objectives SO7 - To make a significant contribution towards 
tackling the cause and adapting to the effect of 
climate change, including promoting the efficient use 
and safeguarding of resources.

Local Well-being Goals Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, 
places and organisations that are able to adapt to 
change.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP16 Sustainable Distribution – Settlement 
Framework

Strategic Objectives SO6 - To ensure that the principles of spatial 
sustainability are upheld by directing development to 
sustainable locations with access to services and 
facilities and wherever possible encouraging the 
reuse of previously developed land.

Local Well-being Goals Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, 
places and organisations that are able to adapt to 
change.

Tudalen 121



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Prosperous People and Places - To maximise 
opportunities for people and places in both urban and 
rural parts of our county.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP17 Transport and Accessibility

Strategic Objectives SO8 - To contribute to the delivery of an accessible 
integrated and sustainable transport system, 
including links to alternative transport methods.

Local Well-being Goals Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, 
places and organisations that are able to adapt to 
change.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Strategic Policy: SP18 Mineral Resources

Strategic Objectives SO7 - To make a significant contribution towards 
tackling the cause and adapting to the effect of 
climate change, including promoting the efficient use 
and safeguarding of resources.

Local Well-being Goals Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, 
places and organisations that are able to adapt to 
change.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 122



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Strategic Policy: SP19 Waste Management

Strategic Objectives SO7 - To make a significant contribution towards 
tackling the cause and adapting to the effect of 
climate change, including promoting the efficient use 
and safeguarding of resources.

Local Well-being Goals Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, 
places and organisations that are able to adapt to 
change.

Monitoring The following indicators will monitor the effectiveness 
of the policy:

To be developed as part of the deposit LDP.

Tudalen 123



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy

Appendix 2 - Strategic Sites - Maps

To be inserted

Tudalen 124



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development 
Plan 2018 – 2033

Draft Initial Sustainability Appraisal

Report to Community Scrutiny

Tudalen 125



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

1
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Contents

1. Introduction........................................................................................................................................2

SA/SEA and the LDP process...............................................................................................................2

Progress and Compliance with Regulations........................................................................................3

2. Appraisal Methodology ......................................................................................................................5

Approach ............................................................................................................................................5

The Sustainability Framework ............................................................................................................5

Determining effect significance..........................................................................................................6

Timescales ..........................................................................................................................................6

Baseline Scenario................................................................................................................................7

Impact Matrices..................................................................................................................................8

4. Appraisal of the Strategic Objectives................................................................................................10

The Draft Revised LDP vision ............................................................................................................10

Sustainability Appraisal of the Strategic Objectives .........................................................................11

5. Appraisal of Strategic Options and Alternatives...............................................................................17

Assessment of Strategic Growth Options .........................................................................................17

SA of Growth Options - Summary.....................................................................................................38

Sustainability Appraisal of Spatial Options .......................................................................................39

Summary of Sustainability Appraisal of Spatial Options...................................................................65

Hybrid Option – Balanced Community and Sustainable Growth......................................................67

6. Appraisal of Strategic Policies...........................................................................................................72

7. Overall Effects and Mitigation ........................................................................................................101

8. Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring Framework ............................................................................105

9. Conclusions and Next Steps............................................................................................................110

Conclusions.....................................................................................................................................110

Next Stages of the SA Process ........................................................................................................110

Appendices .........................................................................................................................................111

Appendix 1Sustainability Appraisal Framework .............................................................................111

Appendix 2 Sustainability Monitoring Framework – Data Sources ................................................115

Appendix 3. Review of Relevant Plans, Programmes and Policies .................................................124

Appendix 4. Strategic Policy 16:Settlement Hierarchy ...................................................................142

Tudalen 126



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

2
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

1. Introduction

This Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Report forms part of the Council’s pre-deposit proposal 
documents for the Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan (LDP). The purpose of 
the SA is to identify any likely significant economic, environmental and social effects of the 
LDP, and to suggest measures to minimise the positive ones. This process promotes more 
sustainable development and foster a more inclusive and transparent process of producing a 
LDP, and helps to ensure that the LDP is integrated with other policies.

Sustainability Appraisal is a statutory requirement for Local Development Plans under 
Section 62(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The purpose of 
Sustainability Appraisal is to assess the social and economic effects of the component 
policies, proposals and strategy elements of the Local Development Plan to ensure that 
decisions accord with the principles of sustainable development.

The Welsh Government define sustainable development in Wales through the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 as:

“the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the well-being goals”.

Welsh Government Guidance on the Preparation of Local Development Plans identifies that 
a Sustainability Appraisal must integrate the requirements of the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Regulations. The requirements of EU Directive 2001/42/EC (also known as the 
SEA Directive) have been transposed into Welsh Law through The Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 2004. Strategic Environmental 
Assessment requires the formal assessment of certain plans and programmes that are likely 
to have significant effects on the environment; this includes LDPs.

The SA process also integrates the Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Process, the Welsh 
Language Impact Assessment, and the Equalities Impact Assessment. It is undertaken in 
parallel to the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).

SA/SEA and the LDP process

The LDP Manual outlines five main stages in undertaking an SA (see Table 1). SA is an 
iterative process, resulting in comment and feedback at each stage of the LDP and thus 
allowing the potential sustainability implications of proposed options/policies to be 
considered and the process to be transparent. If necessary, the LDP can be refined 
throughout its preparation to ensure it is a sustainable document.

Tudalen 127



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

3
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Table 1 Stages in the SA Process and their relationship to LDP. Adapted from the LDP 
Manual (2nd Edition). 

SA/SEA Stage LDP Stage
Stage A: Setting the context and objectives, establishing the 
baseline and deciding on the scope
A1 Identifying other relevant policies, plans and programmes; 
and sustainability objectives
A2 Collecting baseline information
A3 Identifying sustainability issues and problems
A4 Developing the Sustainability Appraisal framework
A5 Consulting on the scope of the Sustainability Appraisal

Evidence Gathering and objectives

Stage B: Developing and refining options and assessing effects
B1 Testing the LDP objectives against the Sustainability 
Framework
B2 Developing the LDP options
B3 Predicting the effects of the LDP options
B4 Evaluate the effects of the LDP options
B5 Considering ways of mitigating adverse effects and 
maximising beneficial effects 
B6 Proposing measures to monitor the significant effects of 
implementing the LDP
Stage C: Preparing the Environmental Report
C1 Preparing the Environmental Report
Stage D: Consultation on the Draft LDP and the Environmental 
Report
D1 Consulting on the LDP Preferred Strategy and the Initial SA 
report
D2(i) Appraise any significant changes form consultation

Strategic Options and Preferred 
Strategy

Update the SA Report LDP preparation and Deposit
Examination
D2(ii) Appraising significant changes resulting from 
representations
D3 Making decisions and providing information
Adoption statement and final SA report

Submission, Examination and Adoption

Stage E: Monitoring the significant effects on implementing the 
LDP
E1 Finalising aims and methods for monitoring  
E2 Responding to adverse effects

Monitoring and Review

Progress and Compliance with Regulations

Stage A

The Council completed Stage A in July 2018 with the publication of the draft Scoping Report 
for consultation. The draft Scoping Report contained: 

 A1 Plan/Policy/Programme Review and Sustainability Objectives
A number of Plans, Policies and Programmes that could have an impact upon the 
LDP were examined, including those at international, national, regional and local 
levels, as well as adjacent authorities Local Development Plans. An updated version 
of the list is presented in Appendix 3.

 A2 Baseline Information

Tudalen 128



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

4
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The draft scoping report an up to date collation of the state of the environment, 
economy and society in Carmarthenshire. This also forms the baseline for monitoring 
the outcomes of the LDP post adoption.  

 A3 Identifying issues and problems
The report highlights sustainability issues, problems but also opportunities which can 
be addressed via the revised LDP.

 A4 Developing the Sustainability Framework 
The SA Framework provides a way in which sustainability effects can be described, 
analysed and compared and was developed in considerations of the issues and 
opportunities raised. This framework provides a basis by which the sustainability of 
the LDP can be tested. 

 A5 Consulting on the Scope of the Sustainability Appraisal
The Scoping Report was published for consultation on 18th July 2018 for a six week 
period. It was available to view on the Carmarthenshire County Council website and 
notifications emails and letters were sent out to inform consultation bodies and 
persons who had registered for updates on the LDP process. 
Comments were received from a number of stakeholders, all of which are collated in 
Appendix XX. Amendments to the SA have been made as a result of these 
comments, where appropriate, and any comments considered to relate more to the 
LDP were noted and passed on to the LDP team for their consideration.

Stage B

This initial SA report has been prepared to comply with Stage B of the SA process. 

 B1 Testing the LDP objectives against the Sustainability Framework
This report will test the objectives of the LDP preferred strategy against the 
Sustainability Framework. This is documented in Chapter 3 of this report.

 B2 Developing the LDP options
B3 Predicting the effects of the LDP options
B4 Evaluate the effects of the LDP options
This report will develop, predict and evaluate the LDP strategic options, for both 
growth and spatial distribution, as well as the strategic policies that will be put in 
place to implement them.
This process is documented in Chapter 5 and 6 of this report.

 B5 Considering ways of mitigating adverse effects and maximising beneficial 
effects.

This is discussed in Chapter 7 of this report
 B6 Proposing measures to monitor the significant effects of implementing the LDP

This is discussed in Chapter 8 of this report.

Tudalen 129



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

5
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

2. Appraisal Methodology

Approach

The SA methodology has referenced guidance provided in a number of documents. These 
include:

 Welsh Government LDP Manual, Edition 2 (2015)1, 
 ODPM Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial Strategies and Local Development 

Documents (2005)2

 ODPM A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (2005)3

 RTPI Improving the Effectiveness and Efficiency of SEA/SA for Land Use Plans (2018)4

The Sustainability Framework

The SA Framework provides a consistent basis for describing, analyzing and comparing the 
sustainability effects of the objectives, options and specific proposals of the LDP. The SA 
Framework is objective-led and is therefore each of the revised LDP’s strategic objectives 
and options are assessed on its contribution to achieving the SA objectives.

The framework sets out sustainability objectives that are based on sound evidence and 
reflect the challenges faced within the plan area. The objectives were developed in 
consideration of the following inputs, all of which are detailed in the SA Scoping Report:

 The Review of Plans, Programmes and Policies
 Baseline information
 Identified sustainability issues and opportunities

The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) Framework was presented within the SA Scoping Report5. 
The objectives were selected in order to assess how the revised LDP will meet the criteria of 
the SEA Directive and contribute to sustainable development. The full SA framework is 
provided in Appendix 1. In summary, the objectives reflect the themes identified within 
Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations as well as additional objectives relating to climate 
change and socio-economic factors.

The 15 SA Objectives that make up the framework are:

 SA1 Sustainable Development
 SA2 Biodiversity
 SA3 Air Quality
 SA4 Climactic Factors
 SA5 Water

1 Welsh Government Local Development Plan Manual, Edition 2 August 2015. 
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/policy-and-guidance-on-development-plans/ldpmanual/?lang=en 
2 Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial Strategies and Local Development Documents, Office of the 
Deputy Prime Minister 2005.
3 A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive, Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, 
Welsh Assembly Government, Scottish Executive and Department of Environment Northern Ireland 2005.
4 Improving the Effectiveness and Efficiency of SEA/SA for Land Use Plans, Royal Town Planning Institute 2018
5 Revised Local Development Plan Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report July 2018 
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1215166/sa-scoping-report-final.pdf 

Tudalen 130

https://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/policy-and-guidance-on-development-plans/ldpmanual/?lang=en
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1215166/sa-scoping-report-final.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

6
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 SA6 Material Assets
 SA7 Soil 
 SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environments 
 SA9 Landscape
 SA10 Population
 SA11 The Welsh Language
 SA12 Health and Well-being
 SA13 Education and Skills 
 SA14 Economy
 SA15 Social Fabric

To aid in the assessment process each objective is supported by a number of sub-
objectives and accompanying ‘decision making criteria’, which will facilitate the assessment 
process and assist in the interpretation of the main objective.

Determining effect significance

The Environmental Report must document any Annex II of the SEA Directive sets criteria for 
the determining of likely significant effects. Prediction of effects involves identifying changes 
to the environmental baseline which are predicted to arise from the implementation of the 
plan, including alternatives. Prediction of effects should also include consideration of the 
following:

 The magnitude of the plan’s effects, including the degree to which the plan sets a 
framework for projects, the degree to which it influences other plans, and environmental 
problems relevant to the plan. 

 The sensitivity of the receiving environment, including the value and vulnerability of 
the area, exceeded environmental quality standards, and effects on designated areas 
or landscapes. 

 Effect characteristics, including probability, duration, frequency, reversibility, 
cumulative effects, transboundary effects, risks to human health or the environment, 
and the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects.

Given the broad nature of plan proposals and the difficulty of separating other causes of the 
effects, a qualitative approach is considered to be the most meaningful approach. However, 
qualitative does not mean ‘guessed’ and predictions need to be supported by evidence. 
Once the evidence has been considered, a judgement must be formed on whether or not the 
predicted effect is considered significant. Figure 1 provides a framework by which 
judgements of significance can be made consistently and ensuring prediction, evaluation 
and mitigation are all incorporated into the appraisal.

Timescales

The SEA Directive also requires the analysis of effects to include “short, medium and long-
term, permanent and temporary … effects” (Annex I(f)). Effects may vary over different 
timescales, e.g. adverse short term effects from disturbance of habitats but beneficial ones 
in the long term from reductions in air pollution or greenhouse gases. With this in mind, the 
SA will consider effects over three timescales.

Tudalen 131



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

7
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 Short Term (S): 0 – 5 years 
 Medium Term (M): 6 – 10 years
 Long Term (L): 11 – 20 years

Figure 1 The Sustainability Appraisal Process

Tudalen 132



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

8
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Baseline Scenario

To meet SEA requirements (SEA Regulations – Regulation 12 and Schedule 2(2)) it is 
necessary to identify the likely evolution of the plan area without implementation of the plan. 
Establishing what the situation might be without the plan, i.e. the business-as-usual 
scenario, involves asking how current policies, practices and trends might change in the 
future in the absence of any active intervention through the LDP. The business as usual 
situation should be used as a benchmark against which to compare the implications and 
performance of other options. As this is a revision of the current LDP the baseline against 
which all options and policies are considered is how the area would change under the 
current development plan in the absence of new policies being introduced.

This appraisal has been carried out with consideration of existing plans, programmes and 
policies in place as part of the baseline scenario. It is important to be aware that some of 
these plans, programmes and policies may already mitigate some of the negative effects 
that have the potential to occur as the result of the LDP and this has been considered as 
part of the assessment. A full list of relevant plans, programmes and policies is included in 
Appendix 3. Particular regard is had to existing national planning policy including associated 
Technical Advice Notes (TANs).

Impact Matrices

In order to test the compatibility of the strategic options and policies with the SA Framework, 
matrices have been used to summarise the appraisal using the criteria outlined in Table 2. 
The manner in which the objectives, options and sites contribute to achieving the SA 
Framework objectives is indicated by the following symbols:

Table 2 Sustainability Appraisal Criteria
Symbol Predicted Effect Suggested action/response

++
Very positive effect – the subject of the appraisal 

would significantly help in achieving the 
Sustainability objective.

Consider whether very positive effect can be 
further enhanced

+
Positive effect - the subject of the appraisal would 

help in achieving the Sustainability objective.
Consider whether positive effect can be further 

enhanced

+/-
Positive and negative effects – the subject of the 

appraisal would help some elements of the 
Sustainability objective whilst hindering others.

Consider mitigation for negative effects and 
whether positive effects can be enhanced

- Negative effect - the subject of the appraisal would 
be in conflict with the Sustainability objective.

Consider mitigation such as 
delete/reconsider/amend the policy or site 

allocation; reconsider the policy or proposed use.

--
Very negative effect - the subject of the appraisal 

would be in significant conflict with the Sustainability 
objective.

Significant mitigation measures to reduce 
severity or effect; reconsider the policy or 

proposed use

l
Effect on the Sustainability objective depends on 
how the policy and allocation are implemented Suggestions for implementation

? Uncertain effect – need more information
Consider where this will come from – who has it? 
What will be done about collecting it? When will 

it be collected?

Tudalen 133



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

9
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

One Carmarthenshire

Carmarthenshire 2033 will be a place to start, live and age well within a healthy, safe and 
prosperous environment, where its rich cultural and environmental qualities are valued and 
respected.

It will have prosperous, cohesive and sustainable communities providing increased opportunities, 
interventions and connections for people, places and organisations in both rural and urban parts 
of our County.

It will have a strong economy that reflects its position as a confident and ambitious driver for the 
Swansea Bay City Region.

4. Appraisal of the Strategic Objectives

The LDP Vision and Objectives must accord with sustainability principles and have been 
assessed against each of the SA objectives, in order to identify if there will be any significant 
effect on the environment, or unsustainable outcomes. This process has helped to refine the 
Vision and Objectives to ensure that they embody and reflect the principles of sustainability.

The Draft Revised LDP vision

The role of the Vision is to establish the core purpose of the revised LDP and to provide a 
framework for developing policies and measuring the extent to which the implementation of 
the plan is successful. The LDP vision provides a spatial perspective which gives the plan 
purpose and direction and to ensure delivery through the land use planning system. The 
revised LDP vision draws on strategic planning priorities identified in national policy and local 
strategies, as well as the identified Key Issues for the County (Figure 2). 

The vision was assessed against the SA framework and is shown in Table 3. This 
assessment concluded that the Draft Vision performed well against most aspects of 
sustainable development, in particular against Biodiversity, Material Assets, Population, 
Health and Well Being, Education and Skills, Economy and Social Fabric. 

It is difficult to establish what effect the vision will have on more specific environmental 
sustainability objectives, such as Air Quality, Climatic Factors, Water, Soil, Cultural Heritage 
and Landscape as there is no direct reference made to these factors in the Vision. There is 
however reference to Carmarthenshire’s ‘environmental qualities [being] valued and 
respected’ which does establish a basis for a positive effect on these sustainability 
objectives.

There is also no direct reference made to the Welsh Language so at this time there is no link 
between the LDP Vision and the Welsh Language SA objective. 

Figure 2 The Draft Revised LDP vision

Tudalen 134



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

10
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Sustainability Appraisal of the Strategic Objectives

The LDP Objectives should provide clear statements of intent and focus on how the LDP 
Vision is to be delivered. They provide a framework by which the strategic policies are 
formed, and will later inform the formulation of detailed policies for the Deposit Plan. The 
Strategic Objectives also set the context for the development of the Strategic Growth and 
Spatial Options. 

The draft Strategic Objectives are set out in full in Table 3 below, and a summary of their 
performance against the SA framework is summarised in Figure 3. A detailed commentary is 
provided in Table 4. 

Table 3 Draft Revised LDP Objectives

Healthy Habits – People have a good quality of life and make healthy choices about their 
lives and environment
 SO1 To ensure that the natural environment, including habitats and species, are safeguarded 

and enhanced
 SO2 To assist with widening and promoting wellbeing opportunities through access to 

community, leisure and recreational facilities as well as the countryside
 SO5 To safeguarded and enhance the built and historic environment and promote the 

appropriate reuse of redundant buildings.

Early Intervention – To make sure that people have the right help at the right time; as and 
when they need it
 SO3 To assist in widening and promoting education and skills training opportunities for all.
 SO4 To ensure that the principles of equal opportunities and social inclusion are upheld by 

promoting access to a high quality and diverse mix of public services, healthcare, shops, leisure 
facilities and work opportunities, as well as vibrant town centres.

Strong Connections – Strongly connected people, places and organisations that are able to 
adapt to change
 SO6 To ensure that the principles of spatial sustainability are upheld by directing development 

to sustainable locations with access to services and facilities and wherever possible 
encouraging the reuse of previously developed land.

 SO7 To make a significant contribution towards tackling the cause and adapting to the effect of 
climate change, including promoting the efficient use and safeguarding of resources.

 SO8 To contribute to the delivery of an accessible integrated and sustainable transport system, 
including links to alternative transport methods

Prosperous People and Places – To maximise opportunities for people and places in both 
urban and rural parts of our county
 SO9 To protect and enhance the diverse character, distinctiveness, safety and vibrancy of the 

County’s communities by promoting a place making approach and a sense of place.
 SO10 To make provision for an appropriate mix of quality homes across the County based 

around the principles of sustainable socio-economic development and equality of opportunities.
 SO11 To assist in protecting, enhancing and promoting the Welsh Language and the County’s 

unique cultural identity, assets and social fabric.
 SO12 To encourage investment & innovation in rural and urban areas by making adequate 

provision to meet employment need and to contribute at a regional level to the delivery of the 
Swansea Bay City Deal.

 SO13 To make provision for sustainable & high quality all year round tourism related initiatives.
 SO14 To reflect the requirements associated with the delivery of new development, both in 

terms of hard and soft infrastructure (including broadband).

Tudalen 135



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

11
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Overall, the 14 Strategic Objectives show positive alignment with the principles of 
Sustainable Development and perform well against the Sustainability Framework, with very 
few potential conflicts highlighted. This demonstrates that aspects of sustainability have 
been fully considered throughout the development of the Strategic Objectives.

For many of the Sustainability Objectives the impact of the LDP Objectives are unknown as 
the outcome depends on the type of development, activity or location. The appraisal also 
highlights some potential conflicts, in particular with regards to Biodiversity, Air Quality, 
Water and Cultural Heritage. These uncertain and potentially negative impacts should, 
where possible, be resolved through the detailed LDP policies and appropriate mitigation.

Table 4 Commentary of Sustainability Appraisal of Strategic Objectives

SO1
 Directly supports the protection of biodiversity, habitats and species (SA2). 

 Aligns positively with improving air quality (SA3) and resilience to climatic 
factors (SA4) by safeguarding green spaces, trees and other natural 
vegetation that contribute to air purification and reduction of greenhouse 
gases. 

 Ensuring the safeguarding and enhancement of species and habitats, of 
which there are many riverine, estuarine, coastal and marine examples in 
Carmarthenshire. Their protection should require that water quality be 
improved which aligns positively with SA5.

 Encouraging sustainability and sustainable modes of transport (SA6) aligns 
positively with reducing transport and congestion related impacts on species 
and habitats.

 Protection of the natural environment increases access to green spaces for 
the purposes of wellbeing (SA12), however this could encourage 
unsustainable recreational pressures to habitats and species that are highly 
sensitive to external pressures. 

SO2
 Biodiversity and its protection and enhancement in rural and urban areas 

(SA2) increases access to the natural environment for recreational and 
wellbeing purposes. However, this may lead to unsustainable recreational 
pressures to habitats and species that are highly sensitive to external 
pressures.

 Maintaining a high level of water quality (SA5) ensures water based 
community, leisure and recreational facilities are accessible at a high 
standard. However, increased recreational use of water resources could place 
increase pollution pressures on sensitive water bodies. 

 Promotion and integration of different modes of transport (in particular cycling 
and walking) (SA6) is positively aligned with SO2.

 SO2 contributes positively to promoting social inclusion of disadvantaged and 
minority groups in society thorough promotion of access to wellbeing 
opportunities and facilities (SA10/SA15).

 This objective directly aligns with SA12.

SO3
 Aligns positively with the inclusion of disadvantaged and minority groups, as 

well as promoting the retention of young people in the community 

Tudalen 136



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

12
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

(SA10/SA12/SA15) by promoting access to education and skills training 
opportunities for all.

 Carmarthenshire supports both Welsh and English medium learning facilities, 
and their promotion will aligned positively with the promoting of the Welsh 
Language throughout the County (SA11). 

 The objective directly aligns with SA13.

 Supporting a more educated and skilled population positively supports a 
sustainable economy with good employment opportunities (SA14).

SO4
 Ensuring services and facilities are accessible as well as promoting vibrant 

town centres encourages needs to be met locally, reducing the distances 
people will be required to travel and increasing access to public transport 
(SA3/SA4/SA6) 

 Equal opportunities and social inclusion align positively with SA10 and SA15. 

 Establishing vibrant town centres with a diverse mix of facilities supports the 
enhancement of townscapes (SA9).

 Access to services and facilities provides encouragement for the retention of 
young people (SA10) and Welsh speakers (SA11) within the County, and 
supports sustainable economic growth throughout Carmarthenshire (SA14).

SO5
 This objective directly aligns with SA8.

 Both SO4 and SA9 promote the reuse of derelict land and redundant 
buildings and the enhancement of local townscapes.

 This objective also aligns with SA7 as it offers potential to ensure brownfield 
sites are redeveloped, and minimises development of greenfield sites and 
river corridors where soils of high agricultural value are located

 Safeguarding and enhancement of the built and historic environment ensures 
that Welsh cultural assets are protected (SA11) and are accessible to people 
in Carmarthenshire for wellbeing purposes (SA12).

SO6
 Limits the potential for extensive rural development and resulting habitat 

fragmentation (SA2) as development is concentrated in sustainable locations.

 Needs provided locally reduces the distances people are required to travel 
and increases access to public transport (SA4, SA6), contributing to reducing 
the reliance on the private car which leads to positive impacts on air quality 
(SA3).

 It also ensures that development is focussed in areas with existing 
infrastructure to support development e.g water resources (SA5), access to 
health, education and training facilities (SA12,SA13, SA15).

 Encouraging the reuse of previously developed land aligns positively with 
SA9 and SA7.

SO7
 The objective directly aligns with SA4.

 Tackling the causes of climate change aligns positively with promoting access 
to alternative transportation and public transport infrastructure (SA6) and as a 
result can have positive effects on other elements such as air quality (SA3).

Tudalen 137



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

13
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 Adapting to the effects of climate change includes making space for water 
and minimising flood risks (SA5).

 Promotion of efficient use and safeguarding of resources also aligns positively 
with SA6.

SO8
 Establishing an accessible and sustainable transport system, including 

alternative transport methods aligns positively with improving air quality (SA3) 
and reducing greenhouse gas emissions (SA4)

 The objective aligns directly with SA6

 Access to public transport promotes the inclusion of disadvantaged groups in 
society (SA10, SA15), allowing them to access facilities and services 
regardless of social situation. 

 Encouragement of alternative methods of transportation such as walking and 
cycling aligns positively with SA12.

SO9
 Carmarthenshire’s biodiversity, natural environment (SA2), cultural heritage 

(SA8) and unique landscape (SA9) all contribute to a sense of place and 
should be protected.

 Creating a strong sense of place and vibrant communities within 
Carmarthenshire are important the retention of young people in the county 
(SA10).

 The County has a strong Welsh identity that must be protected and enhanced 
(SA11) to maintain Carmarthenshire’s distinctiveness and character.

 Placemaking should improve social fabric by removing barriers and creating 
opportunities for positive interactions, especially for disadvantaged and 
minority groups in society (SA10, SA15).

SO10
 Provision for a mix of high quality homes across the county aligns positively 

with both SA8 and SA9. 

 Equality of opportunities will ensure that disadvantaged and minority groups 
as well as young people are given the opportunity to access suitable housing 
across the county (SA10, SA15), which may also lead to the retention of 
Welsh speaking residents in the County (SA11).

SO11
 This objective directly aligns with SA11 and SA15.

 Aligns positively with SA10, as Carmarthenshire’s population has a strong 
Welsh identity, with a high proportion of the population born in Wales.

 Promotion of the Welsh language will positively impact on levels of Welsh 
literacy (SA13).

SO12
 Proposed plans for the support the regional delivery of the Swansea Bay City 

deal focusses new developments in Llanelli and Carmarthen, both of which 
have a number of sensitive biodiversity (SA2) and air quality (SA3) and water 
quality (SA5) areas which could be negatively impacted.

 Creation of employment opportunities in both rural and urban areas 
throughout the county may lead to a positive reduction in the requirement for 
private car use for outward commuting (SA4/SA6). However, initial plans for 

Tudalen 138



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

14
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

developments situated in Carmarthen and Llanelli do not currently support 
this.

 It is difficult to determine what effect this objective will have on SA11 as 
economic development and the resulting job creation has the potential to 
retain skilled Welsh speaking residents in the County. However, this may also 
encourage an inward migration of non-Welsh speakers to the county, which 
could dilute the Welsh speaking culture in Carmarthenshire.

 This objective will have a positive effect on job creation, which in turn will 
promote economic growth and sustainable business in Wales (SA14). 

 This will also contribute towards the education, upskilling and retention of 
young people and professionals within Carmarthenshire (SA10/SA13) as 
good quality employment opportunities are made available for all sections of 
the population (SA15).

 The plans for a life science and wellbeing village as part of the Swansea Bay 
City deal will be a strong positive driver of Health and wellbeing throughout 
Carmarthenshire.

SO13
 Increasing levels of tourism in the county has the potential to increase 

recreational pressure on some of Carmarthenshire’s biodiversity and cultural 
heritage designated sites, in particular coastal and marine sites with high 
recreational value (SA2/SA5/SA8).  

 The increasing traffic pressures associated with tourism is likely to have a 
negative impact on areas with existing air quality issues as well as 
habitats/species that are sensitive to such pressures (SA2/SA3).

 Provision for year round tourism related initiatives is likely to result in an 
increase in employment and associated education, skills and training 
opportunities (SA13), which in turn will have a positive effect on the local 
economy (SA14) and the retention of young people in the county (SA10)

SO14
 Ensuring new development is supported by sufficient hard and soft 

infrastructure ensures that water resources are used sustainably and that 
systems have sufficient capacity to deal with sewerage and diffuse 
pollution.(SA5) 

 It is also likely that SO14 will positively align with SA3, SA4 and SA6 in 
encouraging needs to be met locally and reducing the need to travel to 
access facilities and services.

 This objective is likely to have a positive alignment with increased access to 
services, in particular for those disadvantaged or minority groups in society 
(SA10/SA15).

 It is also likely to support access to wellbeing facilities and services (SA12) as 
well as education, skills and training facilities and quality employment 
opportunities (SA14). 

Tudalen 139



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

15
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Figure 3 Testing of Revised LDP Strategic Objectives against the Sustainability Objectives framework

+ Positive alignment between Revised LDP Strategic Objective and Sustainability Objective
? Unknown alignment between Revised LDP Strategic Objective and Sustainability Objective

No direct link between Revised LDP Strategic Objectives and Sustainability Objective
- Potential conflict between Revised LDP Strategic Objectives and Sustainability Objective

Vision and 
objectives

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15

Vision + + ? ? ? + ? ? ? + + + + +

SO1 + + + + + ?

SO2 + ? ? + + + +

SO3 + + + +

SO4 + + + + + + + + +

SO5 + + + + + +

SO6 + + + + + + + + + + +

SO7 + + + + +

SO8 + + + + + +

SO9 + + + + + + +

SO10 + + + + + +

SO11 + + + + +

SO12 + - - ? - ? + ? + + + +

SO13 + - - - - + ? + + +

SO14 + + + + + + + + + +

T
udalen 140



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

16
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

5. Appraisal of Strategic Options and Alternatives

The LDP must identify land use strategy and policy options to achieve its Vision. In 
formulating the Preferred Strategy variations in the overall levels of growth and the spatial 
distribution of new development were assessed 

The SEA Directive requires an environmental report to describe and evaluate the 
environmental impacts of the plan 'and reasonable alternatives taking into account the 
objectives and the geographical scope of the plan' (Article 5.1), and to include 'an outline of 
the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with' (Annex Ih). The Welsh Assembly 
Government's LDP Manual explains that: 

"The purpose of this task is to predict the social, environmental and economic effects of the 
options being considered in the LDP preparation process. The main technique is to predict 
both positive and negative effects of each option on the environmental baseline and 
objectives set out in the SA framework. The performance of each option can then be 
compared, taking account where necessary of the “business as usual” scenario, i.e. how 
sustainability would change under the current development plan" (Sec. 6.4.1).

The results of the SA of the Strategic Growth Options and the Spatial Options are discussed 
below.

Assessment of Strategic Growth Options

The revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan will need to consider population, 
housing and economic growth within the County over the fifteen year plan period. In order to 
inform the number of dwellings that will need to be provided for by the LDP, Edge Analytics 
were commissioned to provide a range of different demographic projection scenarios termed 
‘Strategic Growth Options’. The growth options and the trends on which they are based are 
summarised in Table 4 below.

The report considered the latest demographic evidence published by Welsh Government, 
the Office of National Statistics and the Office for Budget Responsibility, as well as drawing 
on existing economic strategies including the Swansea Bay City Deal6, Carmarthenshire’s 
Strategic Regeneration Plan 7and Employment Sectoral Study8, linking economic growth, 
population change and housing. 

The demographic scenarios considered by Edge Analytics include:
 WG 2014 based principal projection
 Long Term (16 years of migration data)
 Medium Term (10 years of migration data)
 Short Term (Last 6 years of migration data)
 Pre-Recession (pre 2008) migration data

6 https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/7514/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-
Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf 
7 https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212060/strategic-regeneration-plan-for-carmarthenshire-
2015-2030-pdf.pdf 
8 http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212564/employment-sectoral-study-final-english-1.pdf 

Tudalen 141

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/7514/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/media/7514/Swansea-Bay-City-Region-Economic-Regeneration-Strategy/pdf/Swansea_Bay_City_Region_Economic_Regeneration_Strategy.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212060/strategic-regeneration-plan-for-carmarthenshire-2015-2030-pdf.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212060/strategic-regeneration-plan-for-carmarthenshire-2015-2030-pdf.pdf
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212564/employment-sectoral-study-final-english-1.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

17
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

They also considered two employment-led scenarios:
 Fixed Commuter Rate
 Reducing Commuter Rate

The demographic scenarios take into consideration trends in population, migration, 
household membership, births and deaths and the vacancy rate of current housing in 
Carmarthenshire in order to project population change and how many dwellings will be 
needed over the revised LDP plan period. It is the timescales over which these trends are 
considered that result in the different scenarios listed above. 

Household and dwelling growth under the demographic scenarios has been estimated using 
assumptions from the WG 2014-based household projection model in conjunction with a 
percentage vacancy rate, which takes into account the number of vacant properties or 
second homes in Carmarthenshire. The 2011 Census records a vacancy rate of 6.3%1 for 
Carmarthenshire, however more recent statistics from Welsh Government and council tax 
data indicate a lower dwelling vacancy rate for Carmarthenshire of 3.4%, which is the rate 
used in this analysis.
The employment-led scenarios include these factors but attempt to link changes in 
population to employment growth. To do this, they also consider rates of economic activity, 
employment and the balance between the size of the resident workforce and local 
employment (commuting ratio). 

The summary of the resulting projections is provided in Table 5.

The growth options should be compared against a ‘business as usual’ scenario which is 
considered as the baseline. For a revised LDP, business as usual will mean a continuation 
of an existing plan or programme, as an alternative to preparing a new one. The current LDP 
makes provision for 1,013 dwellings to be delivered per year, based on Welsh Government 
2008 projection levels. 

The social, environmental and economic effects and overall sustainability of each option was 
tested against the SA framework. A summary of the assessment is shown in Figure 4. A 
commentary on the main impacts of each option are discussed in Table 6.

 

Tudalen 142



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

18
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Table 5 Carmarthenshire Demographic Scenario Projections 2018-2033

Growth Option 1: Welsh Government 2014 based
This option is based on migration assumptions on a five year period between 2009/10 and 
2013/14, which recorded notably lower net in migration to Carmarthenshire.
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
1.7% 4.0% 224 3,367

Growth Option 2: Welsh Government (based on 10 year average migration data)
This option replicates the WG 2014-based 10yr average migration variant population 
projection. Migration assumptions are based on the ten year period prior to 2014 (i.e. 
2004/05–2013/14). 
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
5.8% 7.7% 436 6,542

Growth Option 3: Short Term (based on 6 years of migration data)
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow based on 
a six year historical period (2011/12 – 2016/17). This is a similar time period to that 
covered in Option 1, however includes the most recent three years of data. This option 
results in the lowest population change over the plan period, as a result of the lower net 
migration flows evident in 2011/12-2013/14.
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
5.7 % 8.4 % 470 7,044

Option 4: Medium Term (based on 10 years of migration data)
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow based on 
a ten year historical period between 2007/08 and 2016/17. 
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
6.3% 8.6% 482 7,236

Option 5 Long Term (based on 16 years of migration data)
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow based on 
a sixteen year historical period (2001/02 – 2016/17). This provides some ‘smoothing’ of 
annual peaks and troughs. Under this scenario, higher net migration flows are estimated, 
resulting in a higher population change and subsequent dwelling growth.
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
9.4 % 11.7 % 659 9,887

Option 6: Pre-Recession (based on pre-2008 data)
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow 
assumptions are based on the period pre-2008 recession (2001/02 – 2007/08), in which 
higher in-migration flows to Carmarthenshire were recorded. As a result, estimations of 
future net migration is highest under this option.

Tudalen 143



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

19
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
14.2% 16.6 % 939 14,090

Option 7: Commuter Rate (CR) Reducing
This option assumes a reduction in the commuting ratio from 1.09 to 1.06 by the end of 
the plan period
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
19.3% 20.5% 1,160 17,396

Option 8: Commuter Rate (CR) Fixed
This option applies the 2011 Census commuting ratio of 1.09, fixed throughout the plan 
period.
Change over plan period (2018 – 2033) Dwellings Required
Population (%) Households (%) Annually Total over plan 

period
22.2% 23.2% 1,313 19,690

Tudalen 144



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

20
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Figure 4 Testing of Strategic Growth Options against the Sustainability Objectives framework

Growth Option

SA
1 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

SA
2 

Bi
od

iv
er

si
ty

SA
3 

Ai
r Q

ua
lit

y

SA
4 

Cl
im

at
ic

 F
ac

to
rs

SA
5 

W
at

er

SA
6 

M
at

er
ia

l A
ss

et
s

SA
7 

So
il

SA
8 

Cu
ltu

ra
l H

er
ita

ge
 a

nd
 

Hi
st

or
ic

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
t

SA
9 

La
nd

sc
ap

e

SA
10

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

SA
11

 W
el

sh
 L

an
gu

ag
e

SA
12

 H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
l-

be
in

g

SA
13

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
an

d 
Sk

ill
s

SA
14

 E
co

no
m

y

SA
15

 S
oc

ia
l F

ab
ric

Option 1
224 dwellings a year - +/- +/- +/- + + l l -- - -- ? -- --

Option 2
436 dwellings a year - +/- +/- +/- + +/- l l - - - ? - -

Option 3
470 dwellings a year - +/- +/- +/- + +/- l l - - - ? - -

Option 4
482 dwellings a year - +/- +/- +/- + +/- l l - - - ? - -

Option 5
659 dwellings a year + +/- +/-- +/- + +/- l l + + ? ? + +

Option 6
939 dwellings a year + +/- +/- +/- - +/- l l + + ? ? + +

Option 7
1,160 dwellings a year - - - - - - l l + +/- + ? ++ +

Option 8
1,313 dwellings a year - - - - -- - l l + +/- + ? ++ +

T
udalen 145



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

21
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Table 6 Sustainability Commentary for the Strategic Growth Options

Option 1 – Welsh Government 2014 based
This option is based on migration assumptions on a five year period between 2009/10 and 
2013/14, which recorded notably lower net in migration to Carmarthenshire.

Population Change
 This option sees a net outflow of -282 persons in the 15-19 age group per year from 

the County, over the plan period. This is linked to out-migration for higher education 
opportunities. 

 This option will see a decrease in 0-15 and 16-64 age groups by -4% and -7% 
respectively over the plan period. 

 This option would see an increase of 28% in 65+ age group and 66% increase in 80+ 
age group over the plan period. 

 This option sees a move to a more elderly population on balance, with the number of 
people aged 65+ equivalent to 56% of the labour workforce (ages 16-64) by 2033. 
This is an increase from 40% in 2018. 

Employment Growth 
 This option would support an employment growth of -55 jobs per year. This is 

significantly less than the projected annual employment growth of +1,182, estimated 
in Carmarthenshire’s Employment Sectoral Study. This reflects a decline in the 
labour force projected over the plan period, driven by an aging population and lower 
in-migration. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development -

This option is unlikely to contribute towards a 
sustainable economy or supporting a 
healthy, balanced society.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+/-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. However, this 
option sees a decrease in the number of 
dwellings required from the current LDP 
number of 1,013, to 231 per year which 
would significantly reduce the need for 
development on greenfield land and resulting 
pressure on biodiversity assets in the county.

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
LDP requirement and so may alleviate some 
pressure on areas of poor air quality. 

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
requirement and so may result in less 
greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water
+

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 4.0%, which is within the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 

Tudalen 146



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

22
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan. 

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil

+

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is significantly lower 
than the current LDP requirement and so 
loss of high quality soils and greenfield land 
to non-permeable surfaces will be reduced.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA10 – Population

--

This option sees a significant decline in the 
number of young people in the County, with 
a decrease of 1,373 in the 0-15 year age 
groups and 7,735 in the 16-64 year age 
group over the plan period.

SA11 – Welsh Language

-

This option will see a drastic decline in young 
people in the County over the plan period, 
which is likely to result in a decline of Welsh 
speakers, most of which are taught Welsh 
through the education system.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

--

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County.  

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a decline in the population 
of school going age which has the potential 
to ease pressure on the education system in 
areas that are near capacity. However, lower 
demand for school places may result in 
some education facilities closing due to 
declining pupil numbers.

SA14 – Economy

--

This option sees a decline in employment 
growth, as a result of the projected decline of 
the labour workforce under this option. A low 
level of growth will have a significant impact 
on local building trade.

SA15 – Social Fabric

-

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County. This could affect 
accessibility to services, particularly for 
disadvantages sections of society. Low 
growth will also reduce contribution of the 
LDP to affordable housing.

Tudalen 147



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

23
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 2 –Welsh Government (based on 10 year average migration data)
This option is based on migration assumptions on a ten year period prior to 2014 (2011/12 
– 2016/17)

Population Change
 This option sees a net outflow of -358 persons in the 15-19 age group per year from 

the County, over the plan period. This is linked to out-migration for higher education 
opportunities. 

 This option will see an increase in 0-15 age cohort of 1% by a decrease of -2% of 16-
64 age groups. 

 This option would see an increase of 29% in 65+ age group and 67% increase in 80+ 
age group over the plan period. 

 This option sees a move to a more elderly population on balance, with the number of 
people aged 65+ equivalent to 53% of the labour workforce (ages 16-64) by 2033. 
This is an increase from 40% in 2018. 

Employment Growth 
 This option would support an employment growth of +198 jobs per year. This is 

significantly lower than the projected annual employment growth of +1,182 in 
Carmarthenshire’s Employment Sectoral Study. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development -

This option is unlikely to contribute towards 
a sustainable economy or supporting a 
healthy, balanced society.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+/-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. However, this 
option sees a decrease in the number of 
dwellings required from the current LDP 
number of 1,013, to 436 per year which 
would significantly reduce the need for 
development on greenfield land and 
resulting pressure on biodiversity assets in 
the county.

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is lower than the current LDP 
requirement and so may alleviate some 
pressure on areas of poor air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
requirement and so may result in less 
greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water

+

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 7.7%, which is within the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

Tudalen 148



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

24
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil

+/-

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is significantly 
lower than the current LDP requirement 
and so loss of high quality soils and 
greenfield land to non-permeable surfaces 
will be reduced.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and 
manner in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and 
manner in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population

-

This option sees a decrease of young 
people across the plan period, which, 
matched by significant increases in the 65+ 
age cohort does not result in a balanced 
population demographic.

SA11 – Welsh Language

-

This option will see a decline in young 
people in the County over the plan period, 
which is likely to result in a decline of young 
Welsh speakers that currently make up the 
highest proportion of Welsh speakers in the 
County.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

-

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County.

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a decline in the population 
of school going age which has the potential 
to ease pressure on the education system 
in areas that are near capacity. However, 
lower demand for school places may result 
in some education facilities closing due to 
declining pupil numbers.

SA14 – Economy

-

This option sees an increase in 
employment growth, however there is still a 
projected decline of the labour workforce 
under this option.

SA15 – Social Fabric

-

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County. This could affect 
accessibility to services, particularly for 
disadvantages sections of society. Low 
growth will also reduce contribution of the 
LDP to affordable housing.

Tudalen 149



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

25
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 3 – Population Growth (PG) Short Term
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow based on 
a six year historical period (2011/12 – 2016/17). This is a similar time period to that 
covered in Option 1, however includes the most recent three years of data. This option 
results in the lowest population change over the plan period, as a result of the lower net 
migration flows evident in 2011/12-2013/14.

Population Change
 This option sees a net outflow of -358 persons in the 15-19 age group per year from 

the County, over the plan period. This is linked to out-migration for higher education 
opportunities. 

 This option will see a decrease in 0-15 and 16-64 age groups by -2% and -4% 
respectively over the plan period. 

 This option would see an increase of 35% in 65+ age group and 71% increase in 80+ 
age group over the plan period. 

 This option sees a move to a more elderly population on balance, with the number of 
people aged 65+ equivalent to 56% of the labour workforce (ages 16-64) by 2033. 
This is an increase from 40% in 2018. 

Employment Growth 
 This option would support an employment growth of +126 jobs per year. This is 

significantly lower than the projected annual employment growth of +1,182 in 
Carmarthenshire’s Employment Sectoral Study. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development -

This option is unlikely to contribute towards a 
sustainable economy or supporting a 
healthy, balanced society.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+/-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. However, this 
option sees a decrease in the number of 
dwellings required from the current LDP 
number of 1,013, to 484 per year which 
would significantly reduce the need for 
development on greenfield land and resulting 
pressure on biodiversity assets in the county.

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
LDP requirement and so may alleviate some 
pressure on areas of poor air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
requirement and so may result in less 
greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water
+

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 8.4%, which is within the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 

Tudalen 150



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

26
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil

+/-

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is significantly lower 
than the current LDP requirement and so 
loss of high quality soils and greenfield land 
to non-permeable surfaces will be reduced.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population

-

This option sees a decline in the number of 
young people in the County, with a decrease 
of 533 in the 0-15 year age groups and 4,126 
in the 16-64 year age group over then plan 
period.

SA11 – Welsh Language

-

This option will see a decline in young 
people in the County over the plan period, 
which is likely to result in a decline of young 
Welsh speakers that currently make up the 
highest proportion of Welsh speakers in the 
County.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

-

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County.

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a decline in the population 
of school going age which has the potential 
to ease pressure on the education system in 
areas that are near capacity. However, lower 
demand for school places may result in 
some education facilities closing due to 
declining pupil numbers.

SA14 – Economy

-

This option sees an increase in employment 
growth, however there is still a projected 
decline of the labour workforce under this 
option.

SA15 – Social Fabric

-

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County. This could affect 
accessibility to services, particularly for 
disadvantages sections of society. Low 
growth will also reduce contribution of the 
LDP to affordable housing.

Tudalen 151



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

27
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 4 – Population Growth (PG) Medium Term
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow based on 
a ten year historical period between 2007/08 and 2016/17.

Population Change
 This option sees a net outflow of -330 persons in the 15-19 age group per year from 

the County, over the plan period. This is linked to out-migration for higher education 
opportunities. 

 This option will see a 1% increase in 0-15 age groups but a decrease of -3% of 16-64 
age groups over the plan period. 

 This option would see an increase of 33% in 65+ age group and 72% increase in 80+ 
age group over the plan period. 

 This option sees a move to a more elderly population on balance, with the number of 
people aged 65+ equivalent to 55% of the labour workforce (ages 16-64) by 2033. 
This is an increase from 40% in 2018.

Employment Growth 
 This option would support an employment growth of +178 jobs per year. This is 

significantly lower than the projected annual employment growth of +1,182 in 
Carmarthenshire’s Employment Sectoral Study. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development -

This option is unlikely to contribute towards a 
sustainable economy or supporting a 
healthy, balanced society.

SA2 – Biodiversity +/-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. However, this 
option sees a decrease in the number of 
dwellings required from the current LDP 
number of 1,013, to 497 per year which 
would significantly reduce the need for 
development on greenfield land and resulting 
pressure on biodiversity assets in the county.

SA3 – Air Quality +/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is lower than the current LDP 
requirement and so may alleviate some 
pressure on areas of poor air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors +/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
requirement and so may result in less 
greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water +

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 8.6%, which is within the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link

Tudalen 152



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

28
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 - Soil +/-

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is significantly lower 
than the current LDP requirement and so 
loss of high quality soils and greenfield land 
to non-permeable surfaces will be reduced.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape l
The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population -

This option sees a decrease of young people 
across the plan period, which, matched by 
significant increases in the 65+ age cohort 
does not result in a balanced population 
demographic.

SA11 – Welsh Language -

This option will see a decline in young 
people in the County over the plan period, 
which is likely to result in a decline of young 
Welsh speakers that currently make up the 
highest proportion of Welsh speakers in the 
County.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being -

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County.

SA13 – Education and Skills ?

This option sees a decline in the population 
of school going age which has the potential 
to ease pressure on the education system in 
areas that are near capacity. However, lower 
demand for school places may result in 
some education facilities closing due to 
declining pupil numbers.

SA14 – Economy -

This option sees an increase in employment 
growth, however there is still a projected 
decline of the labour workforce under this 
option.

SA15 – Social Fabric -

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with a decline in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County. This could affect 
accessibility to services, particularly for 
disadvantages sections of society. Low 
growth will also reduce contribution of the 
LDP to affordable housing.

Tudalen 153



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

29
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 5– Population Growth (PG) Long Term
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow based on 
a sixteen year historical period (2001/02 – 2016/17). This provides some ‘smoothing’ of 
annual peaks and troughs. Under this scenario, higher net migration flows are estimated, 
resulting in a higher population change and subsequent dwelling growth.

Population Change
 This option will see an increase in 0-15 and 16-64 age groups by +3% and +1% 

respectively over the plan period. 
 This option would see an increase of 36% in 65+ age group and 75% increase in 80+ 

age group over the plan period. 
 This option sees a move to a more elderly population on balance, with the number of 

people aged 65+ equivalent to 54% of the labour workforce (ages 16-64) by 2033. 
This is an increase from 40% in 2018. 

Employment Growth 
 This option would support an employment growth of +353 jobs per year. This is lower 

than the projected annual employment growth of +1,182 in Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral Study. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development +

This option is likely to contribute positively to 
supporting a sustainable economy and a 
healthy, balanced society.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+/-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. This option 
sees a decrease in the number of dwellings 
required from the current LDP number of 
1,013, to 680 per year which may alleviate 
pressure somewhat on biodiversity assets.

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is lower than the current LDP 
requirement and so may alleviate some 
pressure on areas of poor air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
requirement and so may result in less 
greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water

+

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 11.7%, which is within the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil

+/-
Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 

Tudalen 154



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

30
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

under this growth option is significantly lower 
than the current LDP requirement and so 
loss of high quality soils and greenfield land 
to non-permeable surfaces will be reduced.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population

+

This option goes some way to addressing 
the balance of the population, with an 
increase projected in the 0-15 and 16-64 age 
groups. 

SA11 – Welsh Language

+

Increasing numbers of young people is likely 
to have a positive effect on the Welsh 
language as more young people are 
education through the medium of Welsh in 
the County.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

?

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with low growth in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County.

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a projected increase in the 
population of school going ages which has 
the potential to increase pressure on the 
education services in areas that are near 
capacity. However, increased demand for 
school places may result in some education 
facilities being able to remain open if pupil 
numbers increase.

SA14 – Economy

+

This option falls short of reaching the growth 
target set out in Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral study. However, this 
option sees increases in labour workforce 
ages which go some way to balancing the 
increase in 65+ age groups.

SA15 – Social Fabric

+

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with increases in the labour 
workforce age groups which would go some 
way to balancing the population in the 
County. Higher growth levels will also 
support contribution of the LDP to affordable 
housing.

Tudalen 155



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

31
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 6 – Population Growth (PG) Pre-Recession
This option is based on internal migration rates and international migration flow 
assumptions are based on the period pre-2008 recession (2001/02 – 2007/08), in which 
higher in-migration flows to Carmarthenshire were recorded. As a result, estimations of 
future net migration is highest under this option.

Population Change
 This option will see an increase in 0-15 and 16-64 age groups by +8% and +6% 

respectively over the plan period. 
 This option would see an increase of 40% in 65+ age group and 82% increase in 80+ 

age group over the plan period. 
 This option sees a move to a more elderly population on balance, with the number of 

people aged 65+ equivalent to 53% of the labour workforce (ages 16-64) by 2033. 
This is an increase from 40% in 2018. 

Employment Growth 
 This option would support an employment growth of +632 jobs per year. This is lower 

than the projected annual employment growth of +1,182 in Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral Study. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development +

This option is likely to contribute positively to 
supporting a sustainable economy and a 
healthy, balanced society.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+/-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. This option 
sees a slight decrease in the number of 
dwellings required from the current LDP 
number of 1,013, to 969 per year which may 
alleviate pressure somewhat on biodiversity 
assets.

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is lower than the current LDP 
requirement and so may alleviate some 
pressure on areas of poor air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is significantly lower than the current 
requirement and so may result in less 
greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water

-

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 16.6%, which is above the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil +/- Any development infers the loss of 

soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 

Tudalen 156



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

32
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is slightly lower than 
the current LDP requirement and so loss of 
high quality soils and greenfield land to non-
permeable surfaces will be reduced.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population

+

This option goes some way to addressing 
the balance of the population, with an 
increase projected in the 0-15 and 16-64 age 
groups.

SA11 – Welsh Language

+

Increasing numbers of young people is likely 
to have a positive effect on the Welsh 
language as more young people are 
education through the medium of Welsh in 
the County.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

?

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with low growth in the labour 
workforce age groups which could result in 
significant challenges in the funding and 
delivery of health and social care services 
throughout the County.

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a projected increase in the 
population of school going ages which has 
the potential to increase pressure on the 
education services in areas that are near 
capacity. However, increased demand for 
school places may result in some education 
facilities being able to remain open if pupil 
numbers increase.

SA14 – Economy

+

This option falls short of reaching the growth 
target set out in Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral study. However, this 
option sees increases in labour workforce 
ages which begins to balance increases in 
65+ age groups.

SA15 – Social Fabric

+

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with increases in the labour 
workforce age groups which would go some 
way to balancing the population in the 
County. Higher growth levels will also 
support contribution of the LDP to affordable 
housing.

Tudalen 157



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

33
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 7 – Commuting Ratio (CR) Reducing
This option considers the population and housing implications of Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral Study, which estimates an average annual employment growth of 
+1,182 per annum. This option applies the 2011 Census commuting ratio, but assumes a 
reduction from 1.09 to 1.06 by the end of the plan period.

Population Change

 This option will see an increase in population of 19.3% over the plan period.
 This option would see a net-in migration of 2,483 per year.
 This would result in a requirement of 1,196 dwellings per year throughout the plan 

period, in order to support the 1,182 jobs per year estimated by Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral Study.

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development -

This option is not likely to result in a 
sustainable level of development in the 
County.

SA2 – Biodiversity

-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact of 
this growth option on SA2. This option sees an 
increase in the number of dwellings required 
from the current LDP number of 1,013, to 
1,196 per year which may place additional 
pressure on biodiversity assets.

SA3 – Air Quality

-

Any level of growth infers increasing transport 
and economic activity. However, the number 
of dwellings required under this option is 
higher than the current LDP requirement and 
so is likely to increase pressures on air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

-

Any level of growth infers increasing transport 
and economic activity, with associated carbon 
emissions. However, the number of dwellings 
required under this option is higher than the 
current LDP requirement and so is likely to 
result in an increase in greenhouse gas 
emissions.

SA5 – Water

-

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 20.5%, which is above the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil

-

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is above that of the 
current LDP requirement and so may result in 
an increase of loss of high quality soils and 
greenfield land to non-permeable surfaces.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

Tudalen 158



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

34
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population

+

This option would see a high number 
dwellings required to accommodate high 
employment growth. This is likely to provide 
an attractive housing and employment market 
for young people in the County.

SA11 – Welsh Language

+/-

This option would see high housing and 
employment growth which is likely to create an 
attractive market by which to retain young 
people in the County. Higher in migration has 
the potential to dilute the Welsh language. 

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

+

This option would see a high number 
dwellings required to accommodate high 
employment growth. Which are likely to help 
retain and grow the labour workforce age 
groups and may address challenges in the 
funding and delivery of health and social care 
services throughout the County.

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a projected increase in the 
population of school going ages which has the 
potential to increase pressure on the 
education services in areas that are near 
capacity. However, increased demand for 
school places may result in some education 
facilities being able to remain open if pupil 
numbers increase.

SA14 – Economy

++

This option aligns with the target set out in 
Carmarthenshire’s Employment Sectoral 
study, supporting the level of employment 
growth projected for the County over the plan 
period. This option would see increases in 
labour workforce ages which begins to 
balance increases in 65+ age groups. 

SA15 – Social Fabric

+

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with increases in the labour 
workforce age groups which would go some 
way to balancing the population in the County. 
Higher growth levels will also support 
contribution of the LDP to affordable housing.

Tudalen 159



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

35
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Option 8 – Commuting Ratio (CR) Fixed
This option considers the population and housing implications of Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral Study, which estimates an average annual employment growth of 
+1,182 per annum. This option applies the 2011 Census commuting ratio of 1.09, fixed 
throughout the plan period.

Population Change
 This option will see an increase in population of 22.2% over the plan period.
 This option would see a net-in migration of 2,814 per year.
 This would result in a requirement of 1,354 dwellings per year throughout the plan 

period, in order to support the 1,182 jobs per year estimated by Carmarthenshire’s 
Employment Sectoral Study.

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development -

This option is not likely to result in a 
sustainable level of development in the 
County.

SA2 – Biodiversity

-

The choice of site and the manner in which 
they are developed will influence the impact 
of this growth option on SA2. This option 
sees an increase in the number of dwellings 
required from the current LDP number of 
1,013, to 1,354 per year which may place 
additional pressure on biodiversity assets.

SA3 – Air Quality

-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity. However, 
the number of dwellings required under this 
option is higher than the current LDP 
requirement and so is likely to increase 
pressures on air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

-

Any level of growth infers increasing 
transport and economic activity, with 
associated carbon emissions. However, the 
number of dwellings required under this 
option is higher than the current LDP 
requirement and so is likely to result in an 
increase in greenhouse gas emissions.

SA5 – Water

--

This growth option projects a household 
growth of 23.2%, which is above the 14.6% 
capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource Management 
Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets No direct link
SA7 - Soil

-

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, the number of dwellings required 
under this growth option is above that of the 
current LDP requirement and so may result 
in an increase of loss of high quality soils 
and greenfield land to non-permeable 
surfaces.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this option with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

Tudalen 160



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

36
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this option with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population

+

This option would see a high number 
dwellings required to accommodate high 
employment growth. This is likely to provide 
an attractive housing and employment 
market for young people in the County.

SA11 – Welsh Language

+/-

This option would see high housing and 
employment growth which is likely to create 
an attractive market by which to retain young 
people in the County. Higher in migration has 
the potential to dilute the Welsh language.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

+

This option would see a high number 
dwellings required to accommodate high 
employment growth. Which are likely to help 
retain and grow the labour workforce age 
groups and may address challenges in the 
funding and delivery of health and social 
care services throughout the County

SA13 – Education and Skills

?

This option sees a projected increase in the 
population of school going ages which has 
the potential to increase pressure on the 
education services in areas that are near 
capacity. However, increased demand for 
school places may result in some education 
facilities being able to remain open with 
increasing pupil numbers.

SA14 – Economy

++

This option aligns with the target set out in 
Carmarthenshire’s Employment Sectoral 
study, supporting the level of employment 
growth projected for the County over the plan 
period. This option would see increases in 
labour workforce ages which begins to 
balance increases in 65+ age groups.

SA15 – Social Fabric

+

This option sees high growth in the 65+ age 
cohort, coupled with increases in the labour 
workforce age groups which would go some 
way to balancing the population in the 
County. Higher growth levels will also 
support contribution of the LDP to affordable 
housing.

Tudalen 161



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

37
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA of Growth Options - Summary

In summary, the Growth Options present the following issues and opportunities:

 Growth Options 1 and 2 perform better with regard to preserving the County’s natural 
environmental resources. However neither option sufficiently address existing socio-
economic issues within the County, including the need for affordable housing, 
accessibility to community and health facilities and the retention of young people. Both 
options also provide for significantly lower employment growth than that projected in the 
Councils, Employment Sectoral study, and would not provide sufficient employment 
opportunities. The level of growth under Options 4 and 5 are more likely to deliver these 
social and economic benefits. 

 Options 4 and 5 have the most potential for negative environmental impacts, compared 
to other options. These impacts could be mitigated by sustainable site selection and 
sensitive implementation, with consideration for Carmarthenshire’s largely rural 
landscape and habitats of high biological value. 

 All options have the potential to impact negatively on the County’s air quality due to 
increased transport and economic activity. Again, these impacts can be mitigated by 
sustainable site location with sufficient access to public transport. It is also important that 
Green Infrastructure (GI) is considered and where possible protected as GI assets can 
have air purification functions.

 All options support growth in the population and are therefore likely to contribute to 
increases in consumption, waste and other activities such as transport. This could be 
addressed through sustainable design, integrating sustainable waste and transport 
solutions into new development. Protecting green infrastructure is also important to 
mitigate the effects of growth across the County, providing important carbon sink 
functions as well as providing land drainage and cooling effects.

 All of the options have the potential to impact negatively on historic and cultural assets 
and landscape, depending on the selection of sites and implementation of development. 
These impacts could be mitigated by ensuring that design of new developments is 
sympathetic to local character and distinctiveness, and that the cultural and historic 
assets are protected.

Tudalen 162



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

38
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Sustainability Appraisal of Spatial Options

The Council has identified and developed a range of strategic spatial options which 
demonstrate different ways in which the strategic objectives can be achieved, whilst best 
reflecting development needs and constraints, and supporting the aims of other international, 
national and local level strategies, plans and policies. 

The development of these options has been informed by the available baseline evidence, as 
well as stakeholder views and the integrated objectives. These options are based on an 
understanding of the development potential of the County and the need to accommodate 
future growth requirements. In developing the options regard has also been had to the Well-
Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the wellbeing objectives developed by 
Carmarthenshire County Council and the Public Service Board. 

The options identified assume that housing development without employment opportunities 
in the same broad location, and vice versa, is less sustainable and is to be avoided. 
Similarly, infrastructure improvements need to be aligned with new development, including 
improvements to transport networks, utilities, green infrastructure, health, education and 
social facilities. Consequently, the term ‘development’ is used in the Spatial Options for 
Growth to refer to the balance of housing, employment opportunities and the accompanying 
infrastructure.

The SA process helps to inform the selection of the spatial strategy contained in the 
Preferred Strategy and provides a mechanism through which reasonable alternatives are 
considered. It is acknowledged that following SA appraisal, no single option may be 
considered as ‘preferable’ and there is scope and flexibility for options to be adapted and 
new option to be devised, that may be a combination of existing options. 

The spatial options have been assessed against the sustainability objectives and a detailed 
commentary is presented in the subsections below. Figure 5 summarises the results of the 
appraisal but note does not consider the effects of existing or potential mitigation. In the 
absence of certainty that mitigation measures would be implemented and be successful, a 
precautionary approach has been taken to the appraisal. A detailed commentary is provided 
on pages 41 – 63. Suggested mitigation measures to reduce negative impacts are discussed 
in Section 7 of this report.

Tudalen 163



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

39
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Figure 5 Summary of the Sustainability Appraisal of the Spatial Options

SA Objective Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 6

SA1 Sustainable Development + - - + ? ?

SA2 Biodiversity l + l l + l

SA3 Air Quality - - - - - -

SA4 Climatic Factors +/- +/- +/- +/- - -

SA5 Water +/- + - + - -

SA6 Material Assets + - - + - -

SA7 Soil l + - l + +

SA8 Cultural Heritage l l l l l l

SA9 Landscape l l - l l l

SA10 Population ++ - - ++ +/- +/-

SA11 Welsh Language + - - + +/- -

SA12 Health and Wellbeing + - - ++ +/- +/-

SA13Education and Skills + - - + ++ ?

SA14 Economy + - - + ++ ?

SA15 Social Fabric + - - ++ - -

T
udalen 164



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

40
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 F

ac
to

rs

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l A

ss
et

s

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l H

er
ita

ge
 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. P

op
ul

at
io

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l F
ab

ric

O
ve

ra
ll

S + + + + - + - + + + +/- + + + + +
M + l - + +/- + l l l ++ + + + + + +SO1
L + l - +/- +/- ++ l l l ++ + + + + + +

This option focusses growth proportionally 
across a hierarchy underpinned by the 
principles of sustainability. In doing so, this 
option:

 Encourages the dispersal of 
employment, housing and other types 
of development to identified 
settlements and village groups or 
clusters in a manner reflective of their 
existing scale, population and 
availability of facilities and services.

 Reflects the diversity of the County 
and growth is apportioned 
appropriately to urban and rural use 
areas.

 Focusses the majority of employment 
growth in larger towns and villages.

T
udalen 165



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

41
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 1 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

This option is likely to contribute positively to achieving a sustainable economy and addressing local need 
throughout the County.

SA2 Biodiversity

Limits the potential for extensive rural development and habitat fragmentation as development is 
concentrated within identified urban centres and rural clusters. Some urban growth areas such as Llanelli 
and Carmarthen are in close proximity to designated sites and focussed development in these areas will 
increase the potential for negative impacts. Some rural development will be required and uncertainty 
remains as to how this would impact biodiversity in the medium to long term. The choice of development 
sites and the manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of 
biodiversity importance would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA3 Air Quality

Focus of development on urban centres and rural clusters based on need means that services can be 
provided locally, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public 
transport services. Concentrated development in urban growth areas may exacerbate air quality issues 
due to increasing congestion, in particular in the established AQMA’s in Carmarthen, Llanelli and 
Llandeilo. It is predicted that it would lead to a negative effect in the medium to long term without 
mitigation measures.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA4 Climatic Factors

Focus of development on urban centres and rural clusters based on need means that services will be 
provided and retained locally, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access 
to public transport services. However, directing growth to urban growth areas has the potential to 
increase development in coastal areas such as Llanelli, Burry Port and Pembrey, which are partially or 
wholly within C1 and C2 areas and at a higher risk of flooding in the medium to long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA5 Water

Limits the potential for development outside of previously developed areas, thereby minimising the risk to 
waterbodies and diffuse pollution. Increased concentration of development in existing urban centres and 
rural centres has the potential to increase pressure on water resources, in areas that have historically 
seen high levels of growth. 
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA6 Material Assets

This spatial option increases the potential to encourage means to be met locally. It would also support the 
use of the public transport network and use of different modes of transport.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term ++

Tudalen 166



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

42
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 Soil

Increasing development outside of urban growth areas increases the probability of greenfield land being 
used for development as opposed to the redevelopment of brownfield sites.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

This option would reduce potential impacts on areas with less development with high numbers of cultural 
assets and townscapes. Concentrating development in urban centres and rural clusters may result in 
pressure on existing townscapes and archaeological heritage interests. The choice of development sites 
and the manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of cultural 
heritage importance would be affected.

Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

Development within existing settlements reduces the likelihood of features of landscape importance and 
natural landscapes being disturbed. This option does however, provide some flexibility to avoid sensitive 
areas, which would depend on choice of development sites and the manner in which they are developed
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA10 Population

Development distributed within identified urban centres and rural clusters based on need would support 
the viability of existing settlements and provide development including education and employment 
facilities where required. This option would also maximise the viability of existing public transport 
infrastructure and promote access based on distribution of local services.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA11 Welsh Language

Locating development in urban and centres and rural clusters based on need would support the viability 
and growth of existing settlements, providing employment and education opportunities for Welsh 
speakers in the county, and helping to retain young Welsh speakers. 
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term + Long Term +

SA12 Health and Well-being

This option would encourage access to health services on a local basis and ensure that services are 
supported by the local population and accessible by alternative modes of transport to the private car.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

SA13 Education and Skills

This option would encourage access to education services on a local basis and would maximise the use 
of public transport networks.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

Tudalen 167



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

43
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA14 Economy

Development within existing urban centres and rural clusters would support existing economic 
development as well as supporting inward investment by creating viable economic centres supported by 
a local workforce and market. Concentrating development in areas where, previously development has 
been focussed may lead to a lack of economic growth in smaller rural communities
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

SA15 Social Fabric

This option would largely support the delivery of services required by the local population. Access to 
services would be increased, and the future viability is likely to be enhanced, as the location of facilities is 
driven by identified need.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

Tudalen 168



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

44
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 

Fa
ct

or
s

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l 

As
se

ts

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l 

He
rit

ag
e 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. P

op
ul

at
io

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l F
ab

ric

O
ve

ra
ll 

S + + + + + + + + + - +/- + + + - +
M - + - +/- + - + l l - - - - - - -SO2
L - - -- - - - l l l -- - - - - - -

This option looks at the existing provision of utility 
infrastructure and the highway network across the 
County and aims to focus the majority of growth in 
areas with the capacity for growth. This option seeks 
to encourage growth in areas which it can most 
feasibly be accommodated by:

 Encouraging growth along the key transport 
routes and junctions of the M4, A40, A48, 
A484, A474 and A485, as well as in locations 
accessible to other modes of transport 
including the rail network, cycle network and 
pedestrian linkages.

 Encouraging growth in areas where there is 
either current or planned capacity for the 
supply and treatment of water and waste 
water.

 Encouraging growth in areas where there are 
sufficient services and facilities to support 
communities.

T
udalen 169



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

45
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 2 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

This option would address needs locally in the short term, however in the long term development would 
not be sustainable as it would lead to disparity between rural and urban economies and would not 
address the needs of rural communities.

SA2 Biodiversity

In the short term, it is likely that due to the avoidance of rural and greenbelt development, this option will 
have a largely positive effect on biodiversity. However, concentration of growth along transport corridors 
has the potential to encroach on green spaces and habitats, and direct growth to areas that have 
historically seen high levels of urbanisation, to the detriment of biodiversity.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term -

SA3 Air Quality

Siting growth in locations accessible to alternative modes of transport will reduce the need for private car 
use, and therefore transport related pollutants. However, aligning development with transport corridors is 
likely to concentrate transport related emissions and pollutants to areas already at high risk of air quality 
objectives being compromised. This is of particular risk in Carmarthenshire’s three existing AQMA’s in 
Carmarthen, Llanelli and Llandeilo. .
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term --

SA4 Climatic Factors

Access to alternative modes of transport and growth in areas where there are sufficient services and 
facilities may reduce the need for private car use, leading to a reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. 
However, some major transport routes (e.g. A40) follow river corridors and focussed development in such 
areas is likely to fall somewhat within C1 and C2 flood zones. Focus of development in urban centres has 
the potential to increase development in coastal areas such as Llanelli, Burry Port and Pembrey, which 
are partially or wholly within C1 and C2 areas, which could result in climate related flooding in the long 
term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term +/- Long Term -

SA5 Water

Focus of growth in areas with current or planned capacity for supply and treatment of water and waste 
water reduces the likelihood of negative impacts on water resources. However, increasing urbanisation of 
areas means an increase in hard standings which will result in high surface water runoff and associated 
pollution issues.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term -

SA6 Material Assets

Concentration of development along transportation corridors is unlikely to encourage needs to be met 
locally, which could lead to an increase in the need to travel, especially in rural areas. However, 
focussing development along major transport routes would increase access to established public 
transport services and cycle routes, promoting the integration of different modes of transport.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

Tudalen 170



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

46
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 Soil

Development along transportation corridors may not favour the redevelopment of brownfield sites or 
contaminated land. Some major transport routes (e.g. A40) follow river corridors and focussed 
development in such areas may impact on land with high agricultural value. However this option will 
largely avoid rural development and is therefore less likely to impact on greenfield sites.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term l

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

Focussed development along transportation corridors, would avoid impacting on more rural areas that 
have high quality cultural assets and townscapes. This option does limit provision to site development 
away from sites of cultural heritage importance and place increasing pressure in areas that have 
historically seen most development. The choice of development sites and the manner in which they are 
developed would determine the way in which features of cultural heritage importance would be affected in 
the medium to long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

Focussed development along transportation corridors would limit flexibility to take sensitive landscape 
locations into account when siting development, however this option would reduce the likelihood of 
impacts on rural and natural landscapes by siting growth in largely urban areas.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA10 Population

Development along transportation corridors is unlikely to address existing community needs and could 
increase the relative deprivation of areas currently facing social exclusion
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term --

SA11 Welsh Language

This option would see development directed to areas that have historically seen high levels of 
development. These areas may not have the potential to absorb changes in character and so Welsh 
language could be adversely effected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term - Long Term -

SA12 Health and Well-being

Siting growth in areas with access to cycle networks and pedestrian linkages will encourage walking and 
cycling as alternative means of transport. However, development along transportation corridors is unlikely 
to address existing community needs which may result in an increase of private car use in the long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA13 Education and Skills

Development along transportation corridors is unlikely to result in equal access to education services 
between rural and urban areas, and will not address rural need in the medium to long term.

Tudalen 171



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

47
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA14 Economy

This option would site growth in areas that have previously seen population and employment growth and 
so aligns with existing market growth in the short term. Does not address economic issues in more rural 
areas of the county in the long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA15 Social Fabric

Development along transportation corridors is unlikely to result in equal access to services and facilities 
between rural and urban areas and will not address rural needs. Would not respect the existing pattern of 
development which will increase barriers to positive social interactions.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term -

Tudalen 172



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

48
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 F

ac
to

rs

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l A

ss
et

s

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l H

er
ita

ge
 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. P

op
ul

at
io

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l F
ab

ric

O
ve

ra
ll 

S - l - +/- +/- - l + - - - - - - - -
M - l - +/- - - - l - - - - - - - -SO3
L + - + +/- - + - l - + - + + - + +

This option distributes housing, employment and 
other forms of development on a broad basis 
between settlements within the County, both urban 
and rural. It allows settlements to grow incrementally 
without necessarily taking account of the availability 
of services or facilities nor the impact which growth 
could have upon the existing communities and their 
capacity to accommodate and absorb growth. 

This option would see a higher proportion of the 
County’s growth being directed to the rural areas and 
a lower proportion to the existing urban areas. 

T
udalen 173



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

49
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 3 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

Dispersal of growth does not consider supporting infrastructure and so is largely unsustainable in the 
short and medium terms. In the long term, facilities and services may become established around areas 
of growth and may result in clusters of sustainable communities. 

SA2 Biodiversity

Dispersal of development is likely to result in no discrimination of growth between rural and urban areas, 
increasing the potential for currently undisturbed and biodiversity sensitive areas to be developed in 
short, medium and long term. The choice of development sites and the manner in which they are 
developed would determine the way in which features of biodiversity importance would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term l Medium Term l Long Term -

SA3 Air Quality

Dispersal of growth would result in a lack of access to public transport and would not address existing 
need for availability of services as they would be provided disparately. Both of these factors would 
reinforce the need for residents to rely on the private car as a means of transport in the short to medium 
term. However, in the long term, established rural settlements may be better able to retain services and 
facilities, meaning they are more accessible locally.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term +

SA4 Climatic Factors

This option would relieve pressure in urban growth areas, some of which are partially or wholly in C1/C2 
flooding zones in the short term although increasing development in rural areas with no regard to existing 
services is likely to reduce access to public transport and increase reliance on the private car. However in 
the longer term, dispersal of growth is likely to increase development of greenfield land which may reduce 
upland flood storage areas, but could increase access to services as they become more established 
around growth areas and so would reduce private car use.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA5 Water

This option would relieve pressure in urban growth areas, many of which are partially or wholly in C1/C2 
flooding zones in the short term, but dispersal of growth is likely to increase development of greenfield 
land which may reduce upland flood storage areas and places development outside of previously 
developed areas which increases risk to water bodies and diffuse pollution. Development will not be 
located in areas where there are sufficient water treatment services and would therefore likely have a 
detrimental effect on water quality.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term - Long Term -

SA6 Material Assets

This option does not consider access to public transport networks or location of services and facilities. It 
is therefore likely to contribute to an over reliance on private cars. However, services and facilities may 
develop and be retained in rural areas and so may led to a reduction of private car use in the long term
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term +

Tudalen 174



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

50
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 Soil

Dispersal of development in settlements across the county reduces the potential to redevelop previously 
used land and increases the potential for undeveloped areas and soils to be lost.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term l Medium Term - Long Term -

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

In the short term, dispersing new settlement across the county would relieve development pressure on 
existing urban townscapes and archaeological or built heritage interests that have historically seen the 
most development. However, in the medium to long term, higher development within rural settlements 
may affect the setting of a greater number of cultural assets and townscapes across the county.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

Dispersal of new settlement across the county would increase the likelihood of impacts on sites 
designated as special landscape areas which are predominantly rural. This option would also limit the 
ability to encourage future use of derelict land.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term -

SA10 Population

This option does not discriminate between growth in rural and urban areas and so may increase access 
to services across the County, however growth is not responsive to local needs specifically, so is unlikely 
to have a positive effect in the short to medium term. However, services and facilities may develop and 
be retained in rural areas and so may led to a reduction of private car use in the long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term +

SA11 Welsh Language

This option will see high growth directed to rural areas at a level that is unlikely to be absorbed without 
negative effects.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term -

SA12 Health and Well-being

This option does not discriminate between growth in rural and urban areas and so may lead to a broader 
access to services across the County, simply by chance in the longer term. However growth is not 
responsive to specific local needs and so is unlikely to have a positive effect in the short to medium term. 
This option also does not consider access to infrastructure or public transport.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term +

SA13 Education and Skills

This option does not consider access to services including education facilities and is therefore unlikely to 
have a positive effect on access to Education and Skills services and facilities
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term +

Tudalen 175



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

51
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA14 Economy

This option has no regard to local need, the market or the supporting infrastructure and is therefore 
unlikely to create attractive areas for investment and economic growth.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term -

SA15 Social Fabric

This option does not consider access to services when locating growth and therefore is unlikely to 
improve general accessibility in the short to medium term. However, because this option does not 
discriminate between growth in urban and rural areas, it may result in improved access to services in 
rural areas in the longer term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term - Long Term +

Tudalen 176



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

52
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

This option focusses on the role of settlements 
within their wider locality and community, 
acknowledging the relationships and 
interdependency between settlements and 
considers how the local communities work and 
live.

This option will encourage growth in areas 
which play a significant role in the wider 
community; through the provision of facilities 
and services seeking to reflect the needs of 
communities, including their demand for 
housing. 

This option should reflect an understanding of 
local communities and focus growth in areas 
where it is needed to support communities and 
their aspirations for future growth and ongoing 
sustainability of facilities and services.  This is 
likely to result in the allocation of smaller sites 
and a higher proportion of growth being 
directed to smaller settlements.

SA
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 

Fa
ct

or
s

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l 

As
se

ts

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l 

He
rit

ag
e 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. P

op
ul

at
io

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l F
ab

ric

O
ve

ra
ll 

S ? - - +/- + - - + - + + + + + + ?
M + l - +/- + + l l l ++ + ++ + + ++ +SO4
L + l + +/- + ++ l l l ++ + ++ + ++ ++ ++

T
udalen 177



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

53
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 4 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

This option is likely to contribute positively to achieving a sustainable economy and addressing local need 
throughout the County.

SA2 Biodiversity

This option would see increased development in rural areas and so may have a negative impact on 
currently undisturbed and biodiversity sensitive areas. Effects in the medium to long term would be 
dependent on the choice of development sites and the manner in which they are developed.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA3 Air Quality

In the short term, encouragement of growth outside of urban centres is likely to result in an increase in 
public car use and associated emissions. However, in the medium to long term, facilities, services and 
public transport links are likely to become more established and retained in rural areas following growth 
and so the need for private cars will likely reduce.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term +/- Long Term +

SA4 Climatic Factors

This option would relieve pressure in urban growth areas in the short term, some of which are partially or 
wholly in C1/C2 flooding zones. However, growth outside of urban centres is likely to result in an increase 
in public car use and associated emissions in the short term. In the longer term, growth in rural areas is 
likely to increase development of greenfield land which may reduce upland flood storage areas. However, 
services and public transport links are likely to become more established and retained in rural areas 
following growth and so the need for private cars will likely reduced.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA5 Water

This option would relieve pressure in urban growth areas in the short term, some of which are partially or 
wholly in C1/C2 flooding zones in the short term. This option also takes into consideration the existing 
infrastructure when apportioning growth to rural settlements although this may need to be address in 
some areas in the short term. In the medium to long term, it is likely that sufficient infrastructure and 
water issues addressed will become established in areas of growth and so positive effects are predicted.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term + Long Term +

SA6 Material Assets

In the short term, growth outside of urban centres is likely to result in services and facilities needing to be 
accessed by private car due to areas not being serviced by public transport or having sufficient facilities 
to support growth. However, in the medium to long term, facilities, services and public transport links are 
likely to become more established and so needs are more likely to be met locally or access via alternative 
transport methods.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term + Long Term ++

SA7 Soil

Tudalen 178



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

54
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Increasing development outside of urban growth areas increases the probability of greenbelt land being 
used for development as opposed to the redevelopment of brownfield sites. The choice of development 
sites and the manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of soil 
would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

In the short term, this option would relieve development pressure on existing urban townscapes and 
archaeological or built heritage interests that have historically seen the most development. However, in 
the medium to long term, higher development within rural settlements may affect the setting of a greater 
number of cultural assets and townscapes across the county. The choice of development sites and the 
manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of heritage importance 
would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

This option has the potential to increase impacts on sites designated as special landscape areas which 
are predominantly rural. This option does however, provide some flexibility to avoid sensitive areas, 
which would depend on choice of development sites and the manner in which they are developed
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA10 Population

This option has the potential to support existing settlements with regards to services and facilities which 
in turn is likely to have a positive effect on the retention of young people in the county. It has enough 
flexibility to address local need and will go some way to addressing rural needs.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA11 Welsh Language

This option has largely positive effects on Welsh Language, as growth directed to more rural areas will 
help to ensure that Welsh speakers, in particular young people, can afford housing and access jobs in 
rural areas and are retained in these areas.  
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

SA12 Health and Well-being

This option encourages growth in both rural and urban areas and so may lead to a broader access to 
services across the County and allows enough flexibility to ensure that growth can address specific local 
needs. This is likely to have strong positive effects in the medium to long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA13 Education and Skills

This option would encourage access to education services on a local basis, in particular in the medium to 
long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

Tudalen 179



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

55
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA14 Economy

Balanced development in both urban and rural areas would support existing economic development as 
well as supporting the rural economy by creating viable economic centres supported by a local workforce 
and markets.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term ++

SA15 Social Fabric

This option gives the opportunity for needs to be addressed on a local level which will improve 
accessibility to services, especially for disadvantaged sections of society, in both rural and urban areas.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

Tudalen 180



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

56
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

This option is focussed on the projects and investment 
planned as part of the Swansea Bay City Deal and 
channels growth to align with these geographical areas. 
The projects proposed for Carmarthenshire are:

The Life Science and Well-being Village, Llanelli. This 
facility is a village providing facilities and services which 
promote and improve well-being. It is proposed to be a 
multi-faceted facility integrating business development, 
education, healthcare, leisure, tourism, wellness 
support and research into life sciences in one location; 
and,

Yr Egin, Carmarthen. This facility would be a new 
creative, digital and media hub to be based at the 
University of Wales, Trinity St David. 

This option is likely to see the majority of growth 
focussed in Carmarthen and Llanelli and the 
surrounding areas. This will see some growth focussed 
in the areas between these two areas, however, 
settlements further away from Carmarthen and Llanelli 
will see very little growth but could nevertheless benefit 
from the inward investment

SA
 

O
bj

ec
tiv

e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 

Fa
ct

or
s

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l 

As
se

ts

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l 

He
rit

ag
e 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. 

Po
pu

la
tio

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 
an

d 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l 
Fa

br
ic

O
ve

ra
ll 

(M
ed

ia
n)

S + + +/- + + + + + + +/- +/- +/- ++ ++ + +
M - + - - - - + l l +/- +/- +/- ++ ++ - -SO5
L - l -- - - - l l l +/- +/- +/- ++ - - -

T
udalen 181



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

57
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 5 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

This option would address needs locally in the short term, however in the long term development would 
not be sustainable as it would lead to disparity between rural and urban economies and would not 
address the needs of rural communities.

SA2 Biodiversity

Limits the potential for extensive rural development and habitat fragmentation as development is 
concentrated within the urban areas of Carmarthen/Llanelli. However, Llanelli and Carmarthen are both in 
close proximity to designated sites and focussed development in these areas will increase the potential 
for negative impacts. The choice of development sites and the manner in which they are developed 
would determine the way in which features of Biodiversity importance would be affected in the long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term l

SA3 Air Quality

Focus of development in Llanelli/Carmarthen areas means that services for new growth will be provided 
locally, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public transport, 
however it fails to address rural need in any way and so rural areas will likely still be heavily reliant on 
private car use. Concentrated development in Llanelli/Carmarthen may also exacerbate existing air 
quality issues in these areas, in particular in the established AQMA’s in both Carmarthen and Llanelli.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term - Long Term --

SA4 Climatic Factors

Focus of development in Llanelli/Carmarthen areas means that services for new growth can be provided 
locally, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public transport, 
however it fails to address rural need in any way and so rural areas will likely still be heavily reliant on 
private car use. Increased development in Llanelli and surrounding areas such as Burry Port and 
Pembrey has the potential to put new development at a higher risk of flooding as these areas are partially 
or wholly within C1 and C2 areas.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA5 Water

This option limits the potential for development outside of previously developed areas, thereby minimising 
the risk to waterbodies and diffuse pollution. However, concentration of development in Llanelli will likely 
increase surface water runoff and associated pollution issues, which may have implications for the Burry 
Inlet SPA/Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC without mitigation.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA6 Material Assets

Focus of development in Llanelli/Carmarthen areas means that services for new growth can be provided 
locally, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public transport, 
however it fails to address rural need in any way and so rural areas will likely still be heavily reliant on 
private car use.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

Tudalen 182



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

58
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 Soil

Offers potential to ensure brownfield sites are redeveloped, and minimises development of greenfield 
sites and river corridors where soils of high agricultural value are located. The choice of development 
sites and the manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which soil would be 
affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term l

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

This option would reduce potential impacts on rural areas with high numbers of cultural assets and 
townscapes. Concentrating development in urban centres and rural clusters may result in pressure on 
existing townscapes and archaeological heritage interests. The choice of development sites and the 
manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of cultural heritage 
importance would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

Development within existing settlements reduces the likelihood of further features of landscape 
importance and natural landscapes being disturbed and would increase the likelihood of existing derelict 
land being repurposed.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA10 Population

Focusing development in Llanelli/Carmarthenshire ensures areas of new growth will have access to 
services and facilities and maximising the viability of existing public transport. It will also align residential 
development with significant, skilled employment opportunities which is likely to encourage the retention 
of young people in the county. The option would not however, improve rural access to services and 
facilities, putting these communities at a disadvantage.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA11 Welsh Language

Focused growth around the Swansea Bay city region developments in both Carmarthen and Llanelli has 
the potential to create a vibrant environment in which Welsh speakers may be encouraged to remain in 
the county. However, this option would see development directed to areas that have historically seen 
high levels of development. These areas may not have the potential to absorb changes in character and 
so Welsh language could be adversely effected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA12 Health and Well-being

Focusing development in Llanelli/Carmarthenshire ensures new growth will have sufficient access to 
health and recreation services and facilities and active travel networks. The option would not however, 
improve rural access to health and recreation services and facilities, putting these communities at a 
disadvantage.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

Tudalen 183



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

59
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA13 Education and Skills

Focusing growth around the Swansea Bay City Region developments at both Llanelli and Carmarthen is 
likely to increase access to the high quality educational and skills facilities and provided by the 
developments. This option will not improve rural access to services, however they may also benefit from 
the inflow of skills in the long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term ++ Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA14 Economy

This option is likely to support high economic growth, including significant job creation, in Llanelli, 
Carmarthen and their surrounding areas, following inward investment via the Swansea Bay City deal. 
Settlements outside of these areas may benefit from the inward investment in these areas, however there 
is a risk that in the long term, it may create a larger disparity in economic standing between the north and 
south of the county.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term ++ Medium Term ++ Long Term ?

SA15 Social Fabric

Focusing development in Llanelli/Carmarthenshire ensures areas of new growth will have access to 
services and facilities and maximising the viability of existing public transport. However, this option is 
unlikely to improve rural access to services and facilities, especially for disadvantaged members of 
society, and is unlikely to contribute to removing social barriers.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

Tudalen 184



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

60
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

This option will aim to meet the aspirations and 
requirements of the development industry by 
identifying sites and areas which are the most 
economically attractive to develop. This option looks 
at the market success of settlements within the 
county since 2008 and apportions growth in 
accordance with past delivery rates.

The past delivery rates indicate that the majority of 
growth took place in the Llanelli and Hendy areas with 
a significant amount of development also being 
directed to the Carmarthen and the Ammanford/Cross 
Hands growth areas. 

This approach could be construed as ‘planning based 
on numbers’. It would seek to direct growth in 
accordance with the highest delivery rates of the past 
and where developers would build. 

SA
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 

Fa
ct

or
s

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l 

As
se

ts

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l 

He
rit

ag
e 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. P

op
ul

at
io

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l 
Fa

br
ic

O
ve

ra
ll 

(M
ed

ia
n)

S + +/- +/- + + + + + + +/- +/- +/- +/- + + +
M - l - - - - + l l +/- - +/- ? ? - -SO6
L - l -- - - - l l l +/- - +/- ? - - -

T
udalen 185



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

61
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 6 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

This option would address needs locally in the short term, however in the long term development would 
not be sustainable as it would lead to disparity between rural and urban economies and would not 
address the needs of rural communities.

SA2 Biodiversity

Limits the potential for extensive rural development and habitat fragmentation as development is 
concentrated within existing growth areas. However, areas that have seen high levels of development 
historically such as Llanelli, Carmarthen and Cross Hands are in close proximity to designated sites and 
continued development in these areas will increase the potential for negative impacts.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term l Long Term l

SA3 Air Quality

Focus of development in existing growth areas means that services and facilities will be readily 
accessible, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public transport. 
However, this option fails to address rural need in any way and so rural areas will likely still be heavily 
reliant on private car use. Concentrated development in Llanelli/Carmarthen may also exacerbate 
existing congestion and air quality issues in these areas, in particular in the established AQMA’s in both 
Carmarthen and Llanelli.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term - Long Term --

SA4 Climatic Factors

Focus of development in existing growth areas means that services for new development can be 
provided locally, reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public 
transport. However this option fails to address rural need in any way and so rural areas will likely still be 
heavily reliant on private car use. Increased development in Llanelli and surrounding areas such as Burry 
Port and Pembrey has the potential to put new development at a higher risk of flooding as these areas 
are partially or wholly within C1 and C2 areas.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA5 Water

This option limits the potential for development outside of previously developed areas, thereby minimising 
the risk to waterbodies and diffuse pollution. However, concentration of development in growth areas, in 
particular in Llanelli will likely increase surface water runoff and associated pollution issues, which may 
have negative implications for the Burry Inlet SPA/Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC without mitigation.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

SA6 Material Assets

Focus of development in existing means that services for new development can be provided locally, 
reducing the distances people are required to travel and increases access to public transport. This option 
however, fails to address rural need in any way and so rural areas will likely still be heavily reliant on 
private car use.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

Tudalen 186



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

62
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 Soil

Offers potential to ensure brownfield sites are redeveloped, and minimises development of greenfield 
sites and river corridors where soils of high agricultural value are located. The choice of development 
sites and the manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which soil would be 
affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term l

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

This option would reduce potential impacts on rural areas with high numbers of cultural assets and 
townscapes. Concentrating development in urban centres and rural clusters may result in pressure on 
existing townscapes and archaeological heritage interests. The choice of development sites and the 
manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of cultural heritage 
importance would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

Development within existing settlements reduces the likelihood of further features of landscape 
importance and natural landscapes being disturbed. It also increases the likelihood of derelict land being 
reused for development.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA10 Population

Focusing development in existing growth areas ensures these developments will have access to services 
and facilities and maximising the viability of existing public transport. The option would not however, 
improve rural access to services and facilities, putting these communities at a disadvantage and would 
exacerbate social exclusion in these areas.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA11 Welsh Language

This option would see development directed to areas that have historically seen high levels of 
development. These areas may not have the potential to absorb changes in character and so Welsh 
language could be adversely effected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term - Long Term -

SA12 Health and Well-being

Focusing development in existing growth areas ensures new development will have sufficient access to 
health and recreation services and facilities and active travel networks. The option would not however, 
improve rural access to health and recreation services and facilities, putting these communities at a 
disadvantage.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +/-

SA13 Education and Skills

Tudalen 187



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

63
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Focussed development in areas that have historically seen high growth will mean that, in the short term, 
education and training facilities would be more easily accessible. However, this option is likely to place 
pressure on these resources in the medium to long term and may not be sustainable. The option would 
not, improve access to education and training facilities for rural communities, putting these communities 
at a disadvantage.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term ? Long Term ?

SA14 Economy

Delivery of development based on the market is likely to facilitate a short to medium term economic 
boost, but once which is sensitive to economic cycles or changes in market demand. This is unlikely to 
contribute to a sustainable economy in the long term, and would likely contribute to a larger disparity in 
economic standing between the north and south of the county.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ? Long Term -

SA15 Social Fabric

Focusing development in existing growth areas ensures new development will have access to services 
and facilities and will maximise the viability of existing public transport. However, this option is unlikely to 
improve rural access to services and facilities, especially for disadvantaged members of society, and is 
unlikely to contribute to removing social barriers.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term - Long Term -

Tudalen 188



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

64
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Summary of Sustainability Appraisal of Spatial Options

In particular, the sustainability appraisal highlighted the following issues and opportunities:

 Options 1 and 4 both perform well overall against the sustainability framework, in 
particular in terms of economy, improving social fabric and addressing the needs of both 
rural and urban areas. This is in contrast to Options 2 and 3 which do not specifically 
address rural economy or need, and do not perform favourably against improving social 
equality across the county. Option 5 is predicted to have positive effects on education, 
skills and economy due to the ‘ripple’ effect of inward investment and knowledge and 
skills to the county. It is also likely to have highly positive effects on population structure, 
by aligning residential development with significant, skilled employment opportunities, 
creating attractive areas for young people.

 Although Options 2,5 and 6 would reduce private car use in the short term by directing 
growth to areas that currently have sufficient services and facilities, the medium to long 
term is likely to see an increase in traffic, congestion and associated emissions in areas 
which already breach UK Air Quality Objectives. In contrast, Options 1, 4 and 3 direct 
higher growth to rural areas which in the short term may not have sufficient access to 
services and so would increase public car use. However, in the long term, it is likely that 
services centres would be established and retained around rural settlements and public 
transport links improved, leading to a reduction in car use and associated air quality 
issues. 

 Options 1, 3 and 4 all have both negative and positive impacts with respect to Climatic 
Factors. Directing growth to rural areas will reduce pressure on urban areas in the short 
term, some of which are partially or wholly in C1/C2 flooding zones. However, growth 
outside of urban centres is likely to result in an increase in public car use and associated 
emissions in the short term. In the longer term, growth in rural areas is likely to increase 
development of greenfield land which may reduce upland flood storage areas. However, 
services and public transport links are likely to become more established and retained in 
rural areas following growth and so the need for private cars will likely reduced. Option 2 
would result in an increase in access to alternative modes of transport and growth in 
areas where there are sufficient services and facilities, reducing the need for private car 
use. However, some major transport routes (e.g. A40) follow river corridors and focussed 
development in such areas is likely to fall somewhat within C1 and C2 flood zones. 
Growth directed to urban areas such as Llanelli, Pembrey and Burry Port, which are 
partially or wholly within C1 and C2 areas could result in new development being at risk 
of climate related flooding in the long term. It is for this reason, coupled with rural needs 
not being addressed that Options 5 and 6 are predicted to have negative impacts on 
this objective.

 Performance against sustainability objectives such as cultural heritage, biodiversity and 
landscape is largely dependent on site selection and implementation due to the localised 
nature of these features and so appraisal of impact at this strategic level is difficult. 
However, Options 2 and 5 are likely to have broadly positive effects on biodiversity due 
to them directing growth to areas which have historically seen development, as opposed 
to areas more likely to result in the development of green belt land. 

Tudalen 189



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

65
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 Options 2 and 6 that direct growth to areas that have historically seen high levels of 
growth and as a result, changes in demographics, are less likely to be able to absorb 
further changes in character and would therefore likely see negative impacts on Welsh 
Language. Options 1 and 4 look to distribute growth more proportionally between urban 
and rural areas, and will also support vibrant communities and economy, all of which are 
likely to have positive effects on the Welsh Language, in particular through the retention 
of young people Option 3 would see an unsustainable amount of growth provision in 
rural areas, that has the potential to dilute the Welsh speaking communities in these 
areas. Option 5 has both the negative effects of Options 2 and 6 but may also have 
positive effects as a result of the job creation and skills associated with the Swansea Bay 
City Region (in particular Yr Egin , which houses S4C’s offices) that will help to retain 
young people in the County.

Tudalen 190



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

66
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Hybrid Option – Balanced Community and Sustainable Growth

As a result of this Sustainability Appraisal, and subsequent stakeholder engagement, it is 
recommended that a hybrid option is considered as the preferred option which reflects a 
number of characteristics from the options above. This hybrid option seeks to build on the 
approach highlighted through Strategic Option 4 - Community Led, seeking to provide 
opportunities for rural areas and ensuring the diversity of the County and communities is 
recognised, but removing the prescriptive approach of assigning character areas within the 
County. This option aims to retain an approach which reflects the role and function of 
settlements and will seek to be responsive in how it assigns growth, to urban and rural areas 
of the County. 

The hybrid option will incorporate elements of Option 5, recognising and reflecting 
investment and economic benefits to the County and its communities through the Swansea 
Bay City Deal, and other economic opportunities. As is the primary focus in Option 2, it also 
acknowledges that sustainable growth needs to be supported by the availability of a range of 
appropriate infrastructure. In line with Option 6, it will recognise that growth should also be 
deliverable and orientated to a community’s needs and market demand.

The hybrid option has been assessed against the Sustainability Objectives and a detailed 
commentary is presented in the below. Figure 6 summarises the results of the appraisal 
against the original six spatial options.

 Figure 6 Summary of the Sustainability Appraisal of Spatial Options, including Hybrid Option

SA Objective Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 6 Hybrid 
SA1 Sustainable Development + - - + ? ? +
SA2 Biodiversity l + l l + l l
SA3 Air Quality - - - - - - +
SA4 Climatic Factors +/- +/- +/- +/- - - +/-
SA5 Water - + - + - - +
SA6 Material Assets + - - + - - +
SA7 Soil l + - l + + l
SA8 Cultural Heritage l l l l l l l
SA9 Landscape l l - l l l l
SA10 Population ++ - - ++ +/- +/- ++
SA11 Welsh Language + - - + +/- - +
SA12 Health and Wellbeing + - - ++ +/- +/- ++
SA13Education and Skills + - - + ++ ? ++
SA14 Economy + - - + ++ ? ++
SA15 Social Fabric + - - ++ - - ++

Tudalen 191



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

67
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

NEW HYBRID OPTION HERE

SA
 O

bj
ec

tiv
e

Ti
m

es
ca

le

1.
 S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

2.
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

3.
 A

ir 
Q

ua
lit

y

4.
 C

lim
ac

tic
 

Fa
ct

or
s

5.
 W

at
er

6.
 M

at
er

ia
l A

ss
et

s

7.
 S

oi
l

8.
 C

ul
tu

ra
l 

He
rit

ag
e 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

9.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

10
. P

op
ul

at
io

n

11
. T

he
 W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

12
. H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
W

el
lb

ei
ng

13
. E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

14
. E

co
no

m
y

15
. S

oc
ia

l F
ab

ric

O
ve

ra
ll 

(M
ed

ia
n)

S - +/- +/- +/- - - + - + + + ++ + + +
M l + +/- + + l l l ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++ +SO7
L l + + + ++ l l l ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++ +

T
udalen 192



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

68
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Spatial Option 7 – Sustainability Commentary

SA1. Sustainable Development

This option is likely to contribute positively to achieving a sustainable economy and addressing local need 
throughout the County.

SA2 Biodiversity

This option would see increased development in rural areas and so may have a negative impact on 
currently undisturbed and biodiversity sensitive areas in the short term. Effects in the medium to long 
term would be dependent on the choice of development sites and the manner in which they are 
developed.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA3 Air Quality

In the short term, encouragement of growth outside of urban centres is likely to result in an increase in 
public car use and associated emissions. However, in the medium to long term, facilities, services and 
public transport links are likely to become more established and retained in rural areas following growth 
and so the need for private cars may reduce.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term + Long Term +

SA4 Climatic Factors

This option would relieve pressure in urban growth areas in the short term, some of which are partially or 
wholly in C1/C2 flooding zones. However, growth outside of urban centres is likely to result in an increase 
in public car use and associated emissions in the short term. In the longer term, growth in rural areas is 
likely to increase development of greenfield land which may reduce upland flood storage areas. However, 
services and public transport links are likely to become more established and retained in rural areas 
following growth and so the need for private cars will likely reduced.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term +/- Long Term +

SA5 Water

This option would relieve pressure in urban growth areas in the short term, some of which are partially or 
wholly in C1/C2 flooding zones in the short term. This option also takes into consideration the existing 
infrastructure when apportioning growth to rural settlements although this may need to be address in 
some areas in the short term. In the medium to long term, it is likely that sufficient infrastructure and 
water issues addressed will become established in areas of growth and so positive effects are predicted.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term +/- Medium Term + Long Term +

SA6 Material Assets

In the short term, directing growth to areas outside of urban centres is likely to result in services and 
facilities needing to be accessed by private car, due to areas lack of access to public transport or areas 
initially having sufficient facilities to support growth. However, in the medium to long term, facilities, 
services and public transport links are likely to become more established in these areas and so needs are 
more likely to be met locally or access via alternative transport methods.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term ++

Tudalen 193



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

69
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 Soil

Increasing development outside of urban growth areas increases the probability of greenbelt land being 
used for development as opposed to the redevelopment of brownfield sites. The choice of development 
sites and the manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of soil 
would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment

In the short term, this option would relieve development pressure on existing urban townscapes and 
archaeological or built heritage interests that have historically seen the most development. However, in 
the medium to long term, higher development within rural settlements may affect the setting of a greater 
number of cultural assets and townscapes across the county. The choice of development sites and the 
manner in which they are developed would determine the way in which features of heritage importance 
would be affected.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term l Long Term l

SA9 Landscape

This option has the potential to increase impacts on sites designated as special landscape areas which 
are predominantly rural. This option does however, provide some flexibility to avoid sensitive areas, 
which would depend on choice of development sites and the manner in which they are developed
Predicted Impacts: Short Term - Medium Term l Long Term l

SA10 Population

This option has the potential to support existing settlements with regards to services and facilities which 
in turn is likely to have a positive effect on the retention of young people in the county. It has enough 
flexibility to address local need and will go some way to addressing rural needs. It will also align 
residential development with significant, skilled employment opportunities as a result of the Swansea Bay 
City Deal, which is likely to encourage the retention of young people in the county.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA11 Welsh Language

This option has the potential to support existing settlements with regards to services and facilities which 
in turn is likely to have a positive effect on the retention of young welsh speakers in the county. It will also 
align residential development with significant, skilled employment opportunities as a result of the 
Swansea Bay City Deal, which is likely to encourage the retention of young welsh speakers in the county.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term + Long Term +

SA12 Health and Well-being

This option encourages growth in both rural and urban areas and so may lead to a broader access to 
services across the County and allows enough flexibility to ensure that growth can address specific local 
needs. This is likely to have strong positive effects in the medium to long term.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

Tudalen 194



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

70
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA13 Education and Skills

This option would encourage access to education services on a local basis, in particular in the medium to 
long term. Focusing some growth around the Swansea Bay City Region developments at both Llanelli 
and Carmarthen is also likely to increase access to the high quality educational and skills facilities and 
provided by the developments.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term ++ Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA14 Economy

This option is likely to support high economic growth, including significant job creation, in Llanelli, 
Carmarthen and their surrounding areas, following inward investment via the Swansea Bay City deal. 
Settlements outside of these areas will also see benefits from the inward investment in these areas. 
Balanced development in both urban and rural areas would support existing economic development as 
well as supporting the rural economy by creating viable economic centres supported by a local workforce 
and markets.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

SA15 Social Fabric

This option gives the opportunity for needs to be addressed on a local level which will improve 
accessibility to services, especially for disadvantaged sections of society, in both rural and urban areas.
Predicted Impacts: Short Term + Medium Term ++ Long Term ++

Tudalen 195



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

71
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

6. Appraisal of Strategic Policies

The LDP Strategic Policies are high level policies intended to deliver the LDP Vision and 
Objectives. They are strategic in nature and will be supplemented by more detailed policies 
and proposals in the Deposit Plan stage of the LDP. 

The SA process helps to inform the policy drafting process and provides the opportunity for 
greater scrutiny of the sustainability impacts of policies and what they seek to deliver. The 
Strategic Policies are set within four themes which directly align with the core themes of 
Carmarthenshire’s Well-being plan

The draft Strategic Policies are set out below (excluding supporting text), and a summary of 
their performance against the SA framework is summarised in Figure 7. A detailed 
commentary is provided in pages 73 - 99. 

Early Intervention – To make sure that people have the right help at the right time; as 
and when they need it

 SP1 Strategic Growth
 SP2 Retail and Town Centres

Prosperous People and Places – To maximise opportunities for people and places in 
both urban and rural parts of our county

 SP3 Providing New Homes
 SP4 Affordable Homes
 SP5 Strategic Sites
 SP6 Employment and the Economy
 SP7 Welsh Language and Culture
 SP8 Infrastructure
 SP9 Gypsy and Traveller Provision
 SP10 The Visitor Economy
 SP11 Placemaking, Sustainability and High Quality Design

Healthy Habits – People have a good quality of life and make healthy choices about 
their lives and environment

 SP12 Rural Development
 SP13 Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment
 SP14 Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment

Strong Connections – Strongly connected people, places and organisations that are 
able to adapt to change

 SP15 Climate Change
 SP16 Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework
 SP17 Transport and Accessibility
 SP18 Mineral Resources
 SP19 Waste Management

Tudalen 196



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

72
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Figure 7 Testing of Revised LDP Strategic Policies against the Sustainability Objectives framework
Strategic 
Policy

SA1 SA2 SA3 SA4 SA5 SA6 SA7 SA8 SA9 SA10 SA11 SA12 SA13 SA14 SA15

SP1 + - - - + + l l l ++ +/- + + ++ +
SP2 + l +/- +/- l l l + + ++
SP3 + - - - + + l l l ++ +/- + + ++ +
SP4 + ++ + + + + ++
SP5 + - +/- +/- ? + l l l ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++
SP6 + - +/- + ? + l l l ++ +/- + ++ +
SP7 + + + ++ + + ++
SP8 ++ +/- + + + + - - - ++ + + + ++
SP9 + l ? l l l + +
SP10 + l +/- +/- l + l l l + +/- ++ + ++ +
SP11 ++ + + ++ + + + + + + + + +
SP12 + - + + - + - l - + +/- + + ++ ++
SP13 + ++ + + + + + + +
SP14 + ++ + + +
SP15 ++ + + ++ + + + ?
SP16 ++ - + + ? ++ l l l ++ +/- + + ++ ++
SP17 ++ + ++ + ++ + + + l+
SP18 l - - - ? - l - +
SP19 l - l l + - l - l +T

udalen 197



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

73
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SP 1: Strategic Growth
The LDP will provide for the future growth of the economy and housing requirement 
through the provision of following: 

a) 10,704 new homes to meet the identified housing requirement of 10,195.
b) A minimum of 5,295 new jobs

The focus on regeneration and growth reflects the Councils core strategic ambitions with 
development distributed in a sustainable manner consistent with the spatial strategy and 
settlement hierarchy.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development +

This policy looks to support a sustainable 
economy, and provides opportunity for needs 
to be met locally.

SA2 – Biodiversity -
Growth in particular in rural areas is likely to 
impact on greenfield land and undisturbed 
areas of biodiversity.

SA3 – Air Quality -

This policy supports population and economic 
growth, both of which are likely to lead to a 
significant increase in transport (domestic and 
economic) and associated traffic related air 
pollution.

SA4 – Climatic Factors -

This policy supports population and economic 
growth, both of which are likely to lead to a 
significant increase in transport (domestic and 
economic) and associated carbon emissions.

SA5 – Water +

This policy provides for a housing growth 
percentage of 11.7%, which is within the 
14.6% capacity provided for in Dwr Cymru 
Welsh Water’s (DCWW) Resource 
Management Plan.

SA6 – Material Assets +

Growth, especially in rural areas, has the 
potential to create and/or retain communities 
with population densities high enough to 
support facilities and services leading to needs 
being met locally.

SA7 - Soil l
The alignment of this policy with SA7 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape l
The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA10 – Population ++

This supports a level of growth that will 
provide a significant number of affordable 
homes, in both urban and rural areas. Also, 
the creation of new jobs is likely to help retain 
young people in the county.

SA11 – Welsh Language +/-

Alignment of this policy with SA11 is difficult to 
determine. Growth and inward migration has 
the potential to dilute Welsh language and 
culture in certain areas. However, it does 

Tudalen 198



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

74
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

increase the potential for retaining young 
Welsh speakers in the county and so may also 
have a positive effect.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being +

Growth, especially in rural areas, has the 
potential to create and/or retain communities 
with population densities high enough to 
support new, accessible leisure and health 
care facilities.

SA13 – Education and Skills +

Growth, especially in rural areas, has the 
potential to create and/or retain communities 
with population densities high enough to 
support new, accessible educational and 
training facilities.

SA14 – Economy ++
Supports growth at a level that will create a 
minimum of 5,295 jobs over the plan period, in 
line with the Council’s core ambitions.

SA15 – Social Fabric +
This supports a level of growth that will 
provide a significant number of affordable 
homes in both urban and rural areas.

SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggested policy alteration:
The LDP will provide for the future growth of a sustainable economy and housing 
requirements through the provision of following: 

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 2: Retail and Town Centres
Proposals for retail development will be considered in accordance with the following 
retail hierarchy.
Proposals will be permitted where they maintain and enhance the vibrancy, viability and 
attractiveness of our retail centres.  They should protect and promote the viability and 
vitality of the defined retail centres, supporting the appropriate delivery of retail provision 
(comparison and convenience), leisure, entertainment, office and cultural facilities. 
Proposals for small local convenience shopping facilities in rural and urban areas where 
they accord with the settlement framework will be supported.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+

SA2 – Biodiversity

l

Any development infers potential for negative 
impacts on biodiversity, but at a strategic level, 
it is difficult to determine more specific 
impacts. The choice of sites and the manner in 
which they are developed would determine the 
way in which biodiversity would be affected.

SA3 – Air Quality
+/-

This policy does encourage attractiveness of 
town centres which may increase access via 
public car, in particular to towns such as 

Tudalen 199



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

75
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Carmarthen, Llanelli and Llandeilo which 
currently all have AQMA’s. However, town 
centres are well serviced by public transport 
meaning that they are accessible by 
alternative transport networks. 

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

This policy does encourage attractiveness of 
town centres which may increase access via 
public car and associated carbon emissions. 
However, town centres are well serviced by 
public transport meaning that they are 
accessible by alternative transport networks.

SA5 – Water
l

Effects on water quality and supply is largely 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA6 – Material Assets 0
SA7 - Soil

l
The alignment of this policy with SA7 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape + This policy supports the protection and 
enhancement of existing townscapes. 

SA10 – Population

+

Protecting and enhancing the vibrancy, 
viability and attractiveness of our retail centres 
is likely to contribute to the retention of young 
people in the County.

SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being 0

SA13 – Education and Skills 0
SA14 – Economy

++

Protecting and enhancing the vibrancy, 
viability and attractiveness of our retail centres 
will have strong positive effects on the 
County’s economy.

SA15 – Social Fabric 0
SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggested policy alteration:
Proposals for small local convenience shopping facilities in rural and urban areas where 
they accord with the settlement framework and sustainability principles will be 
supported.

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 3: Providing New Homes
In order to ensure the overall housing land requirement of 10,195 homes for the plan 
period 2018-2033 is met, provision is made for 10,704 new homes. Sufficient land will be 
allocated (on sites of 5 or more dwellings) to accommodate this requirement in 
accordance with the Settlement Framework.

Tudalen 200



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

76
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable Development

+

This policy looks to support a 
sustainable economy, and provides 
opportunity for needs to be met 
locally.

SA2 – Biodiversity

-

Housing provision, in particular in 
rural areas, is likely to impact on 
greenfield land and undisturbed 
areas of biodiversity.

SA3 – Air Quality

-

This policy supports the provision of 
new homes, which is likely to lead to 
a significant increase in transport 
(domestic and economic) and 
associated traffic related air 
pollution.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

-

This policy supports the provision of 
new homes which is likely to lead to 
a significant increase in transport 
(domestic and economic) and 
associated carbon emissions.

SA5 – Water

+

This policy provides for a housing 
growth percentage of 11.7%, which 
is within the 14.6% capacity 
provided for in Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water’s (DCWW) Resource 
Management Plan. 

SA6 – Material Assets

+

Growth, especially in rural areas, 
has the potential to create and/or 
retain communities with population 
densities high enough to support 
facilities and services leading to 
needs being met locally.

SA7 - Soil

l

The alignment of this policy with 
SA7 is dependent on the choice of 
sites and manner in which they are 
developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and Historic 
Environment l

The alignment of this policy with 
SA8 is dependent on the choice of 
sites and manner in which they are 
developed

SA9 – Landscape

l

The alignment of this policy with 
SA9 is dependent on the choice of 
sites and manner in which they are 
developed.

SA10 – Population

++

This supports a level of growth that 
will provide a significant number of 
affordable homes, in both urban and 
rural areas. Also, the creation of 
new jobs is likely to help retain 
young people in the county.

SA11 – Welsh Language
+/-

Alignment of this policy with SA11 is 
difficult to determine. Growth and 
inward migration has the potential to 

Tudalen 201



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

77
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

dilute Welsh language and culture in 
certain areas. However, it does 
increase the potential for retaining 
young Welsh speakers in the county 
and so may also have a positive 
effect.

SA12 – Health and Well-being

+

Growth, especially in rural areas, 
has the potential to create and/or 
retain communities with population 
densities high enough to support 
new, accessible leisure and health 
care facilities.

SA13 – Education and Skills

+

Growth, especially in rural areas, 
has the potential to create and/or 
retain communities with population 
densities high enough to support 
new, accessible educational and 
training facilities.

SA14 – Economy

++

Supports growth at a level that will 
create a minimum of 5,295 jobs over 
the plan period, in line with the 
Council’s core ambitions.

SA15 – Social Fabric

+

This supports a level of growth that 
will provide a significant number of 
affordable homes in both urban and 
rural areas.

SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggested policy alteration:
Sufficient land will be allocated (on sites of 5 or more dwellings) to accommodate this 
requirement in accordance with the Settlement Framework and sustainability 
principles.

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 4: Affordable Homes
The Plan will maximise the delivery of affordable homes up to 2033 through the provision 
of XXXX affordable homes.
SA Objective Apprais

al 
Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+

This policy contributes positively to ensuring 
development is socially sustainable, by 
addressing the Well-being of all members of 
society and removing barriers to social 
inclusion.

SA2 – Biodiversity 0
SA3 – Air Quality 0
SA4 – Climatic Factors 0
SA5 – Water 0
SA6 – Material Assets 0

Tudalen 202



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

78
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 - Soil 0
SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment 0

SA9 – Landscape 0
SA10 – Population

++

Residents who otherwise may not be able to 
afford to live and work in the County are able 
to access affordable housing and remain in 
the County. In particular, this policy supports 
disadvantaged groups in society as well as 
young persons. 

SA11 – Welsh Language

+

Carmarthenshire has a large proportion of 
welsh speakers and this policy will support 
residents who otherwise may not be able to 
afford to live and work in the County are able 
to access affordable housing and remain in 
the County.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being +

SA13 – Education and Skills +
SA14 – Economy

+

Residents who otherwise may not be able to 
afford to live and work in the County are able 
to access affordable housing and remain in 
the County.

SA15 – Social Fabric

++

Policy facilitates the delivery of affordable 
housing, which in turn, removes barriers and 
creates opportunities for disadvantaged 
sections of society.

SA Comments and Suggestions

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 5: Strategic Sites
In reflecting their contribution to the future growth requirements for Carmarthenshire and 
as key components of the City deal, the following 2 key Strategic Sites have been 
identified as making an important contribution to the overall provision for growth during 
the Plan period:
• Llanelli Life Science and Well-being village
• Yr Egin – Creative Digital Cluster
SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development +

This policy looks to support a sustainable 
economy, and provides opportunity for needs 
to be met locally.

SA2 – Biodiversity

-

Any development infers potential for negative 
impacts on biodiversity, but at a strategic 
level, it is difficult to determine more specific 
impacts. These will be assessed at a site 
appraisal stage. It should be noted that 
Llanelli Life Science and Well-being village is 

Tudalen 203



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

79
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

immediately adjacent to the Carmarthen Bay 
and Estuaries European Marine Site. 

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Both sites are outside of the established 
AQMA’s in both Carmarthen and Llanelli, 
however, have the potential to increase 
traffic and related air pollution. Both sites are 
strategic and well serviced by public 
transport networks.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+/-

Both sites have the potential to increase 
traffic and related air pollution. Both sites are 
strategic and well serviced by public 
transport networks.

SA5 – Water

?

Information required from DCWW Review of 
Consents as to site specific capacity for 
growth with respect to water abstraction and 
waste water treatment.

SA6 – Material Assets

+

Both sites are well serviced and have access 
to facilities, allowing need to be met locally. 
They are also well serviced by public 
transport.

SA7 - Soil

l

Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, it is difficult to predict impacts at a 
strategic level. The alignment of this policy 
with SA7 is dependent on the choice of sites 
and manner in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA10 – Population

++

This policy would contribute towards aligning 
development with significant, skilled 
employment opportunities which is likely to 
encourage the retention of young people in 
the county. The Llanelli Life Science and 
Well-being village is also in an area of high 
deprivation and so is likely to create 
opportunities for disadvantaged 
communities. 

SA11 – Welsh Language

+

Yr Egin is the base for the Welsh language 
broadcaster S4C and is a new development 
space for creative and digital companies with 
promotion of the Welsh language at the heart 
of the development. The significant job 
creation as a result of both strategic sites are 
likely to create opportunities for young 
people in the county, a large proportion of 
which are welsh speaking. However, 
uncertainty remains as to the effects of in 
migration of non-welsh speakers to the 
county as a result of these developments. 

Tudalen 204



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

80
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

++

Llanelli Life Science and Well-being village is 
to be a wellness hub where multiple services 
will be available in one location. Aligning 
development with this will have positive 
effects on health and wellbeing.

SA13 – Education and Skills

++

Both facilities create opportunities for shared 
learning, inward investment and inflow of 
skills to the county, all of which are predicted 
to have strong positive effects.

SA14 – Economy

++

Both facilities are part of significant inward 
investment to the county and have the 
potential to create thousands of high quality 
jobs. 

SA15 – Social Fabric

++

This policy would contribute towards aligning 
development with significant, skilled 
employment opportunities and in the case of 
Llanelli, in areas of high deprivation and so is 
likely to create opportunities for 
disadvantaged

SA Comments and Suggestions
Reference should be made in the policy the any development of strategic sites will be 
subject to planning permission and should be based on sustainability principles.
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 6: Employment and the Economy
Sufficient and appropriate land will be allocated for the provision of employment for the 
plan period 2018 – 2033 (figure to be quantified) in accordance with the Plan’s Spatial 
Strategy / Settlement Framework.
SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+ Allocation of employment land in both urban 
and rural areas, as well is in support of the 
Swansea Bay City deal is likely to create 
numerous high quality employment 
opportunities which will contribute positively 
to a sustainable economy and social 
inclusion.

SA2 – Biodiversity

-

Any development infers potential for negative 
impacts on biodiversity, but at a strategic 
level, it is difficult to determine more specific 
impacts. These will be assessed at a site 
appraisal stage. It is likely that employment 
land will be allocated in rural areas which is 
likely to impact on greenfield land.

SA3 – Air Quality

+/-

Allocation of employment land in line with the 
plans’ spatial strategy/settlement framework 
is likely to reduce the need to travel, and as 
a result car related emissions. However, 
employment land will inevitably increase 
numbers and frequencies of HGV’s which 

Tudalen 205



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

81
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

are likely to contribute to existing air quality 
issues. 

SA4 – Climatic Factors
+

Allocation of employment land in line with the 
plans’ spatial strategy/settlement framework 
is likely to decrease the need to travel.

SA5 – Water

?

Development will increase the level of 
demand for water supply and sewerage 
discharge, but at a strategic level it is difficult 
to determine more specific impacts. These 
will be assessed at a site appraisal stage 
and will consider DCWW review of consents 
to determine capacity.

SA6 – Material Assets
+

Allocation of employment land in line with the 
plans’ spatial strategy/settlement framework 
is likely to reduce the need to travel.

SA7 - Soil l Any development infers the loss of 
soil/permeable surfaces to hard standing. 
However, it is difficult to predict impacts at a 
strategic level. The alignment of this policy 
with SA7 is dependent on the choice of sites 
and manner in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

l The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape l The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA10 – Population ++ Allocation of employment land in both urban 
and rural areas, as well is in support of the 
Swansea Bay City deal is likely to create 
numerous high quality employment 
opportunities which will contribute positively 
to promoting the retention of young people 
and social inclusion.

SA11 – Welsh Language +/- Alignment of this policy with SA11 is difficult 
to determine. Economic growth and resulting 
inward migration has the potential to dilute 
Welsh language and culture in certain areas. 
However, it does increase the potential for 
retaining young Welsh speakers in the 
county and so may also have a positive 
effect.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

0

SA13 – Education and Skills + Creating a diverse range of employment 
opportunities increases the potential and 
accessibility of education and skills facilities.

SA14 – Economy ++ Allocation of employment land in both urban 
and rural areas, as well is in support of the 
Swansea Bay City deal is likely to create 
numerous high quality employment 
opportunities which will contribute positively 
to a sustainable economy.

Tudalen 206



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

82
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA15 – Social Fabric + Increasing employment land in both urban 
and rural areas will contribute positively to 
promoting the retention of young people and 
social inclusion.

SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggested policy alteration:
Sufficient and appropriate land will be allocated for the provision of employment 
opportunities for the Plan period (figure to be quantified) in accordance with the Plan’s 
Spatial Strategy / Settlement Framework, and sustainability principles.
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 7: Welsh Language and Culture
The Plan supports development proposals which safeguard and promote the interests of 
the Welsh language and culture in the County.  Development proposals which have a 
detrimental impact on the vitality and viability of the Welsh language and culture will not 
be permitted unless the impact can be mitigated.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+ This policy looks to protect and enhance the 
social fabric of the County’s communities.

SA2 – Biodiversity 0
SA3 – Air Quality 0
SA4 – Climatic Factors 0
SA5 – Water 0
SA6 – Material Assets 0
SA7 - Soil 0
SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

+ This policy looks to protect local cultural 
distinctiveness from potential negative effects 
as a result of development. 

SA9 – Landscape 0
SA10 – Population + Promoting welsh language and ensuring 

sufficient employment and housing 
opportunities are likely to help retain young 
welsh speakers within the County. 

SA11 – Welsh Language ++ This Policy aligns directly with SA11.
SA12 – Health and Well-
being

0

SA13 – Education and Skills + Protecting and enhancing Welsh Language 
and Culture is likely to have a positive effect 
on Welsh literacy.

SA14 – Economy + Promoting welsh language and ensuring 
sufficient employment and housing 
opportunities are likely to help retain young 
welsh speakers within the County.

SA15 – Social Fabric ++ This policy looks to protect and enhance the 
social fabric of the County’s communities. 

SA Comments and Suggestions

LDP Response

Tudalen 207



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

83
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 8: Infrastructure
Development will need to be directed to locations where the infrastructure, services and 
facilities considered necessary to deliver and support the development proposal are 
available.  
Development proposals will need to demonstrate that there is sufficient capacity in the 
existing infrastructure to deliver and support the proposed development.  Where this 
cannot be achieved, proposals will need to demonstrate that suitable arrangements are 
in place to provide the infrastructure capacity considered necessary to deliver and 
support the development.
Planning obligations may be sought to ensure that the infrastructure, services and 
facilities needed to deliver and support the development are delivered.
SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development ++

This policy underpins the ability to deliver 
develop sustainably, ensuring access to 
services and facilities and creating 
sustainable economic centres.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+/-

Siting development in areas with sufficient 
infrastructure capacity may be at the 
detriment of biodiversity. However, 
encouraging needs to be catered for locally 
will reduce private car use and associated air 
pollution which currently impact on some 
European designated sites in 
Carmarthenshire.

SA3 – Air Quality

+

This policy will direct development to areas 
with capacity for growth including access to 
services and facilities which will reduce 
reliance on private car use.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+

This policy will direct development to areas 
with capacity for growth including access to 
services and facilities which will reduce 
reliance on private car use.

SA5 – Water
+

Directing development to areas with 
sufficient or potential capacity for growth will 
ensure water resources are protected.

SA6 – Material Assets

+

This policy will direct development to areas 
with capacity for growth including access to 
services and facilities which will encourage 
needs to be met locally. 

SA7 - Soil
-

Development directed to locations with 
sufficient infrastructure may reduce flexibility 
to promote regeneration of land.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment -

Development directed to locations with 
sufficient infrastructure may reduce flexibility 
to avoid sensitive cultural heritage and 
historic environment features.

Tudalen 208



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

84
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA9 – Landscape
-

Development directed to locations with 
sufficient infrastructure may reduce flexibility 
to avoid sensitive landscape areas.

SA10 – Population

++

This policy will direct development to areas 
with capacity for growth including access to 
services and facilities which will maximise 
access to services and facilities, especially 
for disadvantaged members of society.

SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being +

This policy will increase accessibility to 
services and facilities including health and 
leisure facilities.

SA13 – Education and Skills
+

This policy will increase accessibility to 
services and facilities including education 
and skills facilities.

SA14 – Economy

+

Development directed to locations with 
sufficient infrastructure is likely to create 
viable economic centres supported by a local 
workforce and market.

SA15 – Social Fabric

++

This policy will direct development to areas 
with capacity for growth including access to 
services and facilities which will maximise 
access to services and facilities, especially 
for disadvantaged members of society.

SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggested policy alteration:
Development will need to be directed to sustainable locations where the infrastructure, 
services and facilities considered necessary to deliver and support the development 
proposal are available.  

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 9: Gypsy and Traveller Provision
Land will be allocated within the Llanelli area to meet the identified need for Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation and to allow for the potential future expansion of Gypsy and 
Traveller Households.
SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development +

This policy promotes the inclusion of Gypsy 
and Traveller community by allocating land 
to specifically address their housing need.

SA2 – Biodiversity l
The alignment of this policy with SA2 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA3 – Air Quality 0
SA4 – Climatic Factors 0

SA5 – Water ?

Information required from DCWW Review of 
Consents as to site specific capacity for 
growth with respect to water abstraction and 
waste water treatment.

Tudalen 209



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

85
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA6 – Material Assets 0

SA7 - Soil l
The alignment of this policy with SA7 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape l
The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA10 – Population +
This policy promotes the inclusion of Gypsy 
and Traveller community by allocating land 
to specifically address their housing need.

SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being 0

SA13 – Education and Skills 0
SA14 – Economy 0

SA15 – Social Fabric +
This policy promotes the inclusion of Gypsy 
and Traveller community by allocating land 
to specifically address their housing need.

SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggested policy alteration:
Land will be allocated at a sustainable location within the Llanelli area to meet the 
identified need for Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation and to allow for the potential 
future expansion of Gypsy and Traveller Households.
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 10: The Visitor Economy
Proposals for tourism related developments will be supported where they:
(a) add value to our visitor economy; and,
(b) preserve our  social, economic and environmental fabric for future generations; 
and, 
(c) are sustainably located.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+ This policy contributes positively towards 
maintaining a sustainable economy in the 
County and promotes health and wellbeing.

SA2 – Biodiversity l Any development infers potential for negative 
impacts on biodiversity, but at a strategic level, 
it is difficult to determine more specific 
impacts. The choice of sites and the manner in 
which they are developed would determine the 
way in which biodiversity would be affected.

SA3 – Air Quality +/- Increasing numbers of tourism related visitors 
to the county will potentially increase access 
via private car. However, the policy stipulates 

Tudalen 210



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

86
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

that tourism related development to be 
sustainably located will ensure that 
developments are located in areas that are 
accessible by public transport. 

SA4 – Climatic Factors +/- Increasing numbers of tourism related visitors 
to the county will potentially increase access 
via private car. However, the policy stipulates 
that tourism related development to be 
sustainably located will ensure that 
developments are located in areas that are 
accessible by public transport.

SA5 – Water l There is potential for tourism related activities 
may extend to riverine and coastal 
environments, which may have repercussions 
for water quality, however the policy expressly 
states that developments should not have any 
significant impact on the natural environment. 
The choice of sites and the manner in which 
they are developed would determine the way 
in which water would be affected.

SA6 – Material Assets + Ensuring tourism related development reflects 
the Plan’s settlement framework supports the 
intention to meet needs locally and reduce the 
need to travel. 

SA7 - Soil l The alignment of this policy with SA7 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

l The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape l Development has the potential to impact of 
features of landscape importance however the 
policy expressly states that developments 
should not have any significant impact on the 
landscape. Effects will depend on the 
implementation of the policy.

SA10 – Population + Tourism is a key component of 
Carmarthenshire’s economy and a major 
source of employment. Increasing tourism jobs 
is likely to contribute to the retention of young 
people in the county.

SA11 – Welsh Language +/- Alignment of this policy with SA11 is difficult to 
determine. Economic growth and resulting 
inward migration has the potential to dilute 
Welsh language and culture in certain areas. 
However, it does increase the potential for 
retaining young Welsh speakers in the county 
and so may also have a positive effect.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

++ Tourism facilities aligned with corporate 
policies such as the County’s cycling 
aspirations has the potential to encourage 
walking/cycling, access to natural and cultural 
heritage and access to health and recreation 
facilities.

Tudalen 211



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

87
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA13 – Education and Skills + Provision for year round tourism related 
initiatives is likely to result in an increase in 
employment and associated education, skills 
and training opportunities.

SA14 – Economy ++ This policy looks to facilitate tourism related 
development, which is a key component of 
Carmarthenshire’s economy and a major 
source of employment.

SA15 – Social Fabric + Tourism is a key component of 
Carmarthenshire’s economy and a major 
source of employment. Increasing tourism jobs 
is likely to contribute to the retention of young 
people in the county.

SA Comments and Suggestions

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 11: Placemaking, Sustainability and High Quality Design
In order to facilitate sustainable development, new development should acknowledge local 
distinctiveness and sense of place, and be designed to high standards that are adaptable 
to climate change.

In order to achieve this, all development should:

 Contribute towards the creation of attractive, safe places and public spaces, which 
enhance the well-being of communities, including safeguarding amenity, landscaping, 
the public realm and the provision of open space and recreation;

 Retain and, where appropriate, incorporate new green infrastructure which 
encourages (creates?) opportunities to enhance biodiversity and ecological 
connectivity;

 Be adaptable to climate change and utilise materials and resources appropriate to the 
area within which it is located;

 Exhibit and demonstrate a clear understanding of the existing natural and built 
heritage, local character and sense of place;

 Be accessible and integrated allowing permeability and ease of movement;
 Have regard to the generation, treatment and disposal of waste;
 Manage water sustainably, including incorporating sustainable urban drainage 

systems (SuDS) into development proposals where feasible.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development ++

This policy supports sustainable development 
and includes regard to Well-being and 
integration of communities.

SA2 – Biodiversity
+

Retention and creation of green infrastructure 
creates opportunities to protect and enhance 
biodiversity and ecological connectivity.

Tudalen 212



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

88
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA3 – Air Quality
+

Retention and creation of green infrastructure 
will contribute to the filtering and removal of 
pollutants from the air.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

++

Retention and creation of green infrastructure 
can mitigate effects of climate change by 
recycling CO2 and also providing cooling 
effects and absorption of rain water which can 
reduce risk of flooding. This policy encourages 
development to be adaptable to climate 
change and encourages regard to be had to 
incorporating SuDS into development where 
feasible.

SA5 – Water

+

Encouraging the incorporation of SUDS into 
future development as well as retention and 
creation of green infrastructure aligns 
positively with SA5.

SA6 – Material Assets
+

This policy encourages new development to 
have regard for generation, treatment and 
disposal of waste.

SA7 - Soil
+

Retention and creation of green infrastructure 
aligns positively with the avoidance of loss of 
soils to non-permeable surfaces

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment +

This policy actively seeks to promote high 
quality design that reflects local character and 
distinctiveness. 

SA9 – Landscape
+

This policy actively seeks to promote high 
quality design in keeping with the surrounding 
landscape.

SA10 – Population

+

This policy encourages the creation of safe, 
attractive and accessible environments which 
in turn, create attractive spaces for all 
members of society, including young people 
and disadvantaged groups.

SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being +

This policy encourages new development to 
have regard for Well-being and, in particular, 
access to open space and recreation.

SA13 – Education and Skills 0
SA14 – Economy

+

Creation of vibrant, safe and sustainable 
communities in likely to encourage the 
retention and inflow of people to 
Carmarthenshire, which will contribute 
positively to the economy. 

SA15 – Social Fabric

+

This policy encourages the creation of safe, 
attractive and accessible environments which 
in turn, create attractive spaces for all 
members of society, including young people 
and disadvantaged groups.

SA Comments and Suggestions
 Suggest specific reference is made to energy efficient design. 
Suggested policy alteration:
Be adaptable to climate change, promote energy efficiency and utilise materials and 
resources appropriate to the area within which it is located;

Tudalen 213



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

89
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 Suggest reference to use of sustainable materials?
Suggested policy alteration:
Be adaptable to climate change and utilise materials and resources appropriate to the 
area within which it is located, and that are, where feasible, sustainable.

 Suggest reference to recycling of waste
Have regard to the generation, treatment, disposal and recycling of waste

 Strengthen wording for biodiversity
Suggested policy alteration:
Retain and, where appropriate, incorporate new green infrastructure which encourages 
(creates?) opportunities to protect and enhance biodiversity and ecological connectivity
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 12: Rural Development
The Plan supports development proposals which will contribute towards the 
sustainability of the County’s rural communities.  Development proposals in rural areas 
should demonstrate that they are proportionate in scale and that they support the rural 
settlements’ role in the settlement hierarchy to meet the housing, employment and social 
needs of Carmarthenshire’s rural communities.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+ This policy contributes positively towards 
maintaining a sustainable economy in the 
County and promotes health, wellbeing and 
social inclusion.

SA2 – Biodiversity - This policy supports increased development in 
rural areas which is likely to increase 
development of greenfield land and have a 
negative impact on currently undisturbed and 
biodiversity sensitive areas.

SA3 – Air Quality + Promoting development in rural areas will 
alleviate pressure on urban areas that are 
close to or in breach of UK air quality 
objectives. Retention of facilities and services 
in rural settlements will also contribute 
positively by reducing private car use.

SA4 – Climatic Factors + Retention of facilities and services in rural 
settlements will also contribute positively by 
reducing private car use thereby reducing 
transport related carbon emissions. 

SA5 – Water - Rural development is likely to result in a loss 
of permeable greenfield land to hard standing, 
potentially increasing flood risk and surface 
run off. This policy specifically states that 
development must consider effects on local 
infrastructure, which would include water 
supply and sewerage discharge.

Tudalen 214



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

90
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA6 – Material Assets + This policy supports the retention of facilities 
and services in rural settlements and therefore 
aids in addressing needs locally. 

SA7 - Soil - Rural development is likely to result in a loss 
of permeable greenfield land to hard standing.

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

l The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape - Rural development is unlikely to result in 
derelict land being repurposed. The county 
has a number of Special Landscape Areas 
(SLA) which are largely rural which may be 
negatively impacted. 

SA10 – Population + Retention and enhancement of rural facilities, 
services and employment opportunities is 
likely to have a positive effect on the retention 
of young people and inclusion of 
disadvantaged and minority groups in society.

SA11 – Welsh Language +/- Alignment of this policy with SA11 is difficult to 
determine. Economic growth in rural areas has 
the potential to dilute Welsh language and 
culture due to in migration of people, 
potentially from outside of the County. 
However, it does increase the potential for 
retaining young Welsh speakers in the county 
and so may also have a positive effect.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

+ Rural development would increase access to 
green spaces and the County’s natural and 
cultural heritage. Retention and enhancement 
of rural facilities, services will also ensure 
access to local health and recreation services 
are likely to be protected.

SA13 – Education and Skills + This policy facilitates the retention and 
enhancement of rural facilities and services 
which is likely to ensure access to rural 
education facilities are protected.

SA14 – Economy ++ This policy seeks to address economic 
disparity between the north and south of the 
county, by providing local employment 
supported by a local workforce in rural area. 

SA15 – Social Fabric ++ Retention and enhancement of rural facilities, 
services and employment opportunities is 
likely to have a positive effect on the retention 
of young people and inclusion of 
disadvantaged and minority groups in society.

SA Comments and Suggestions
Make reference in policy to accessibility to public transport? Reference to placemaking 
and design SPG to reduce impacts on landscape and cultural heritage and encourage 
high quality design. Regard to SLA’s which are largely rural. 
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

Tudalen 215



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

91
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SP 13: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment
Proposals for development will be expected to protect and enhance the County’s natural 
environment.
Proposal must reflect the role an ecologically connected environment has in protecting 
and enhancing biodiversity, defining the landscape, creating a sense place and 
contributing to the sense of well-being. 

SA Objective Appraisal Comments
SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+

SA2 – Biodiversity ++ This policy directly aligns with SA2 to protect 
and enhance the natural environment.

SA3 – Air Quality + Protection and enhancement of the natural 
environment will contribute to the filtering 
and removal of pollutants from the air.

SA4 – Climatic Factors + Protection and enhancement of the natural 
environment can mitigate effects of climate 
change by recycling CO2 and also providing 
cooling effects and absorption of rain water 
which can reduce risk of flooding.

SA5 – Water + This policy includes the protection and 
enhancement of waterbodies.

SA6 – Material Assets
SA7 - Soil + This policy includes the protection and 

enhancement of soil resources.
SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment
SA9 – Landscape + This policy directly refers to the protection 

and enhancement of Carmarthenshire’s 
landscape.

SA10 – Population
SA11 – Welsh Language
SA12 – Health and Well-
being

+ Protecting and enhancing the County’s 
natural assets will directly support promoting 
access to Carmarthenshire’s natural 
heritage.

SA13 – Education and Skills
SA14 – Economy + Protection of Carmarthenshire’s natural 

assets preserves the biodiversity and unique 
natural environment within the County, which 
enhances the tourism and visitor economy.

SA15 – Social Fabric
SA Comments and Suggestions

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

Tudalen 216



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

92
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SP 14: Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment.
Development proposals should preserve or enhance the built and historic environment of 
the County, its cultural, townscape and landscape assets, and, where appropriate, their 
setting.
Proposals will be expected to promote high quality design that reinforces local character 
and respects and enhances the cultural and historic qualities of the plan area.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

+ Protection of the built and historic environment 
contributes positively towards sustainable 
development and well-being objectives.

SA2 – Biodiversity 0
SA3 – Air Quality 0
SA4 – Climatic Factors 0
SA5 – Water 0
SA6 – Material Assets 0
SA7 - Soil 0
SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

++ This policy directly supports the protection and 
enhancement of Carmarthenshire’s cultural 
heritage and high quality design.

SA9 – Landscape + This policy directly supports the safeguarding 
of the County’s townscapes and landscapes.

SA10 – Population 0
SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being

+ Protection of the built and historic environment 
preserves access to cultural heritage for Well-
being purposes.

SA13 – Education and Skills 0
SA14 – Economy + Protection of Carmarthenshire’s cultural 

assets preserves the diversity and rich 
heritage of the County, which enhances the 
tourism and visitor economy.

SA15 – Social Fabric 0
SA Comments and Suggestions

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 15: Climate Change
Where development proposals respond to, are resilient to, adapt to and minimise the 
causes and impacts of climate change they will be supported. In particular proposals will 
be supported where they:

a.  reflect sustainable transport principles and minimise the need to travel, 
particularly by private motor car;

b. Avoid, or where appropriate, minimise the risk of flooding including the 
incorporation of measures such as SUDS and flood resilient design;

c. Promote the energy hierarchy by reducing energy demand, promoting 
energy efficiency and increasing the supply of renewable energy;

Tudalen 217



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

93
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

d. Incorporate appropriate climate responsive design solutions including 
orientation, layout, density and low carbon solutions (including design and 
construction methods) and utilise sustainable construction methods where 
feasible. 

Proposals for development which are located within areas at risk from flooding will be 
resisted unless they accord with the provisions of Planning Policy Wales TAN 15.
SA Objective Apprais

al 
Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development ++

Policy supports climate resilience in future 
development and will contribute to reducing 
Carmarthenshire’s carbon footprint.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+

Encouraging sustainable transport will in turn 
have positive effects on air quality, which 
currently impacts on certain designated sites 
in the County.

SA3 – Air Quality
+

Encouraging sustainable transport will in turn 
have positive effects on air quality by reducing 
car related emissions.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

++

This policy supports the reduction of carbon 
emissions as well as future proofing new 
development to the risks of flooding, including 
reference to TAN 15. It also encourages all 
new development to be energy efficient and to 
incorporate climate resilient design. 

SA5 – Water
+

Encouraging the incorporation of SUDS into 
future development as well as flood resilient 
design align positively with SA5.

SA6 – Material Assets + This policy ensures the consideration of 
sustainable transport in new development.

SA7 - Soil 0
SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment 0

SA9 – Landscape 0
SA10 – Population 0
SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being + Minimising the need to travel supports active 

travel.  
SA13 – Education and Skills

?
Has the potential to foster the development of 
skills associated with delivering innovative, 
climate responsive design.

SA14 – Economy 0
SA15 – Social Fabric 0
SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggest specific reference is made to a reduction in carbon emissions in policy.

Suggested policy alteration:
To contribute to a reduction in carbon emissions by reflecting sustainable transport 
principles and minimising the need to travel, particularly by private motor car

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

Tudalen 218



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

94
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SP 16: Sustainable Distribution - Settlement Hierarchy 
The provision of growth and development will be directed to sustainable locations 
in accordance with the following spatial framework. 

Cluster 1
Tier 1: Carmarthen
Tier 2: Pontyates/Meinciau/Ponthenri, Kidwelly, Ferryside

Cluster 2:
Tier 1: Llanelli
Tier 2: Burry Port, Pembrey, Fforest/Hendy, Llangennech, Trimsaran/Caraway, Kidwelly, 
Ferryside

Cluster 3
Tier 1: Ammanford/Crosshands
Tier 2: Brynamman, Glanamman/Garnant, Pontyberem/Bancffosfelyn

Cluster 4
Tier 1: N/A
Tier 2: Newcastle Emlyn, Llanybydder, Pencader

Cluster 5
Tier 1: N/A
Tier 2: Llandovery, Llandeilo, Llangadog

Cluster 6
Tier 1: N/A
Tier 2: St Clears/Pwll Trap, Whitland, Laugharne

Tiers 3/4 for each cluster are listed in full in Appendix 4.

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

++

The division of the settlement hierarchy into 
clusters provides a framework for sustainable 
development, allowing needs to be addressed 
locally and supporting a sustainable economy, 
in both rural and urban areas of the County.

SA2 – Biodiversity
-

Provision of growth and development, to rural 
areas is likely to impact on greenfield land and 
undisturbed areas of biodiversity.

SA3 – Air Quality

+

Directing growth to sustainable locations with 
sufficient access to facilities, services and 
public transport links is likely to reduce private 
car use and associated air pollution.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+

Directing growth to sustainable locations with 
sufficient access to facilities, services and 
transport is likely to reduce private car use and 
associated carbon emissions.

SA5 – Water ? Information required from DCWW Review of 
Consents as to site specific capacity for 

Tudalen 219



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

95
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

growth with respect to water abstraction and 
waste water treatment.

SA6 – Material Assets

++

Directing growth to sustainable locations with 
sufficient access to facilities and services is 
likely to allow needs to be met locally. It is also 
likely to maximise access to public transport.

SA7 - Soil
l

The alignment of this policy with SA7 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment l

The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA9 – Landscape
l

The alignment of this policy with SA9 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed

SA10 – Population

++

Distribution of development to sustainable 
locations in both urban and rural settlements is 
likely to result in vibrant and viable 
communities, which will in turn help to retain 
and attract young people 

SA11 – Welsh Language

+/-

Alignment of this policy with SA11 is difficult to 
determine. Growth and inward migration has 
the potential to dilute Welsh language and 
culture in certain areas. However, it does 
increase the potential for retaining young 
Welsh speakers in the county and so may also 
have a positive effect.

SA12 – Health and Well-
being

+

Growth in line with the settlement hierarchy 
has the potential to create and/or retain 
communities with population densities high 
enough to support new, accessible leisure and 
health care facilities.

SA13 – Education and Skills

+

Growth in line with the settlement hierarchy 
has the potential to create and/or retain 
communities with population densities high 
enough to support new, accessible 
educational and training facilities.

SA14 – Economy
++

Growth in line with the settlement hierarchy 
provides opportunity to support sustainable 
rural and urban economies across the county.

SA15 – Social Fabric

++

Growth in line with the settlement hierarchy 
provides opportunity to address needs locally 
and to promote the design of vibrant, inclusive 
settlements.

SA Comments and Suggestions

LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

Tudalen 220



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

96
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SP 17: Transport and Accessibility
Sustainable and deliverable development requires an integrated, accessible, reliable, 
efficient, safe and sustainable transport network to underpin delivery.  The Plan therefore 
contributes to the delivery of a sustainable transport system and associated 
infrastructure through:
a).Reducing the need to travel, particularly by private motor car; 
b) Addressing social inclusion through increased accessibility to employment, services 
and facilities;
c) Supporting and where applicable enhancing alternatives to the motor car, such as 
public transport (including park and ride facilities and encourage the adoption of travel 
plans) and active transport through cycling and walking; 
d) Re-enforcing the function and role of settlements in accordance with the settlement 
framework;
e) Promoting the efficient use of the transport network;
f) Enhancing accessibility to employment, homes, services and facilities at locations 
accessible to appropriate transport infrastructure – including significant trip generating 
proposals; 
g) The incorporation of design and access solutions within developments to promote 
accessibility. Provide walking and cycling routes, linking in with active travel networks 
and green infrastructure networks; and
h) Adopt a sustainable approach to the design, function and layout of new development, 
including providing appropriate levels of parking.
SA Objective Apprais

al 
Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development ++

This policy underpins the ability to deliver 
develop sustainably, by reducing private car 
use and ensuring access to services and 
facilities.

SA2 – Biodiversity

+

Reduced private car use will decrease related 
air pollutants that have negative effects on 
European designated sites in some areas of 
Carmarthenshire.

SA3 – Air Quality
++

This policy will contribute to the delivery of a 
sustainable travel network which will have 
strong positive effects on improving air quality.

SA4 – Climatic Factors

+

This policy will contribute to the delivery of a 
sustainable travel network which will reduce 
private car use and associated greenhouse 
gas emissions. 

SA5 – Water 0
SA6 – Material Assets

++
This policy will contribute to the delivery of a 
sustainable travel network including active 
travel such as walking and cycling.

SA7 - Soil 0
SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment 0

SA9 – Landscape 0
SA10 – Population

+
This policy looks to address social inclusion 
through increased accessibility to 
employment, services and facilities

SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being +

This policy looks to increase accessibility to 
services and facilities including health and 
leisure facilities.

Tudalen 221



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

97
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA13 – Education and Skills
+

This policy looks to increased accessibility to 
services and facilities including education and 
skills facilities.

SA14 – Economy 0
SA15 – Social Fabric

+
This policy looks to address social inclusion 
through increased accessibility to 
employment, services and facilities

SA Comments and Suggestions
None Suggested
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 18: Mineral Resources
The County’s identified mineral resources will be sustainably managed by:
a) Ensuring supply by maintaining an adequate landbank of permitted aggregate 
reserves (hard rock and sand and gravel) throughout the Plan period;
b) Encouraging the efficient and appropriate use of high quality minerals and 
maximising the potential for the re-use and recycling of suitable minerals as an 
alternative to primary won aggregates;
c) Safeguarding areas underlain by minerals of economic importance where they 
could be worked in the future to ensure that such resources are not unnecessarily 
sterilised by other forms of development;
d) The use of buffer zones to reduce the conflict between mineral development and 
sensitive development;
e) Securing appropriate restoration which can deliver specific environmental and 
community benefits

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

l The alignment of this policy with SA1 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA2 – Biodiversity - The location of aggregates is driven by site 
specific geological conditions and so has less 
flexibility to avoid impacts on sensitive 
ecological features. Mineral workings are also 
likely to be situated in undeveloped areas.

SA3 – Air Quality - The location of aggregates is driven by site 
specific geological conditions and so reducing 
distances required to travel in order to 
transport goods will be difficult.

SA4 – Climatic Factors - The location of aggregates is driven by site 
specific geological conditions and so reducing 
distances required to travel in order to 
transport goods will be difficult.

SA5 – Water 0
SA6 – Material Assets ? This policy safeguards aggregate reserves to 

ensure their future availability. However, the 
extraction of mineral resources must be 
balanced with the use of recycled and 
secondary materials.

Tudalen 222



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

98
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA7 - Soil - The location of aggregates is driven by site 
specific geological conditions and so has less 
flexibility to avoid impacts on specific soil 
resources. 

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

l The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape - The location of aggregates is driven by site 
specific geological conditions and so has less 
flexibility to avoid impacts on sensitive 
landscape areas. Mineral workings are also 
likely to be situated in undeveloped areas.

SA10 – Population 0
SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being

0

SA13 – Education and Skills 0
SA14 – Economy + Extraction of aggregates supports 

development and economic growth. 
SA15 – Social Fabric 0
SA Comments and Suggestions
Suggest more in the supporting text to support point (e) securing appropriate restoration 
which can deliver specific- environmental and community benefits.

Reference to access to transport links such as rail/or water transport as opposed to road 
haulage.
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

SP 19: Waste Management
Provision will be made to facilitate the sustainable management of waste through: 
a) The allocation of adequate appropriate land to provide for an integrated network 
of waste management facilities;
b) Supporting proposals for waste management which involve the management of 
waste in accordance with the ranking set out within in the waste hierarchy; 
c) Supporting proposals for new in-building waste management facilities at existing 
and allocated industrial sites which are suitable for waste management facilities;
d) Acknowledging that certain types of waste facility may need to be located outside 
the development limits of settlements;
e) Ensuring that provision is made for the sustainable management of waste in all 
new development, including securing opportunities to minimise the production of waste;

SA Objective Apprais
al 

Comments

SA1 – Sustainable 
Development

l The alignment of this policy with SA1 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA2 – Biodiversity - Development or disposal from waste may 
adversely impact natural habitats.

Tudalen 223



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

99
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

SA3 – Air Quality l Energy from Waste (EfW) sites are tightly 
regulated with respect to pollutants such as 
SO2, NOx, HCl and CO.  Effects ultimately 
depend on the type and location of waste 
management facilities.

SA4 – Climatic Factors l Energy from Waste (EfW) sites are tightly 
regulated with respect to pollutants such as 
SO2, NOx, HCl and CO. Effects ultimately 
depend on the type and location of waste 
management facilities.

SA5 – Water 0
SA6 – Material Assets + This policy directly refers to the waste 

hierarchy and the promotion of recycling and 
minimising waste. 

SA7 - Soil - Waste disposal including landfill and disposal 
of ash from EfW sites may adversely affect 
soil resources. 

SA8 – Cultural Heritage and 
Historic Environment

l The alignment of this policy with SA8 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA9 – Landscape - Proposals for waste management have the 
potential to have a negative impact on 
landscapes 

SA10 – Population 0
SA11 – Welsh Language 0
SA12 – Health and Well-
being

l The alignment of this policy with SA12 is 
dependent on the choice of sites and manner 
in which they are developed.

SA13 – Education and Skills 0
SA14 – Economy + New waste management sites generate jobs 

and local, long term employment 
opportunities.

SA15 – Social Fabric 0
SA Comments and Suggestions
Policy should include a criterion stating that no significant impacts in the environment 
should occur as a result of waste management proposals.
Suggest more in the supporting text regarding sustainable location of waste management 
facilities especially when situated outside of development limits. 
Make reference to design of buildings being in keeping with surrounding landscape.
Include reference to the proximity principle to minimise distance between where waste is 
generated and managed. 
LDP Response

Changes made to policy as a result of SA

Tudalen 224



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

100
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

7. Overall Effects and Mitigation

Figure 8 brings together the previous appraisals of Chapters 5 and 6 to show what 
the overall cumulative impacts of the Preferred Strategy would be. 

Overall, the Preferred Strategy would have significant benefits in terms of providing 
the housing and employment land required to support sustainable growth in 
Carmarthenshire. It performs well against the socio-economic objectives of the 
sustainability framework, with strategic options that look to improve access to good 
quality jobs, services and infrastructure across the County, with a view to addressing 
some of the disparity between rural and urban areas. The Preferred Strategy also 
aims to improve health and well-being across the County, with better housing, 
access to open space and active travel facilities. 

As is the case with any development, some potential negative impacts remain, in 
particular with regards to biodiversity, air quality and climatic factors. However, with 
suitable mitigation in place, this negative impact can be reduced.

Some mitigation measures have already been implemented within the Strategy as a 
result of the SA appraisal, such as the selection of a Hybrid spatial option that looked 
to combine the best aspects of the existing alternatives. The Sustainability has also 
suggested some changes to the wording of the Strategic Policies which are detailed 
in Chapter 6 of this report. Table 8 proposed measures to avoid or reduce additional 
plan-wide impacts of the Preferred Strategy. It also makes suggestions for how to 
improve the benefits of the Preferred Strategy as well as addressing some 
uncertainty that may remain. 

Table 7 Residual Impacts of Preferred Strategy and Suggested Mitigation.

Significant impacts of the 
Preferred Strategy

Suggestions for avoiding or 
mitigating negative impacts 
or enhancing positive ones

LDP Response

Capacity for water 
infrastructure to facilitate 
growth is unclear

Confirm with Dŵr Cymru 
that water provision and  
wastewater treatment 
infrastructure will be 
adequate for the amount of 
development being 
proposed

Potential for development in 
Llanelli to directed to areas 
within C1/C2 flood zones

Llanelli flood work?

Potential for increasing 
development in Llanelli 
which may increase 
pressure on sewerage 
infrastructure which may 
have implications for the 
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries Marine Site. 

Review of current 
Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) 
between Carmarthenshire 
County Council, Swansea 
Council, Dwr Cymru and 
Natural Resources Wales to 
ensure it is still for purpose. 

Tudalen 225



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

101
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Ensure the incorporation of 
SuDS into new development 
proposals where feasible 
with a specific policy, 
including a requirement for 
demonstration of 
accordance with section 8 of 
TAN 15, as well as the 
existing SPG on Place 
Making and Design.
Ensure site allocations are 
sustainably located with 
sufficient access to public 
transport. 
A specific policy relating to 
improvement of air quality 
detailing how air quality, 
with particular regard to NO2 
and the three existing 
AQMA’s, can be both 
conserved and enhanced 
under the new plan.
A specific policy should also 
require the retention, 
protection and enhancement 
of a network of landscape 
features that contribute to 
air purification, such as 
trees, natural vegetation or 
other green infrastructure. 

Air pollution and 
greenhouse gas emissions 
likely to increase with 
projected growth over the 
plan period.

Requirement for new 
development to show regard 
of the AQMA action plans as 
well as the UK Air Quality 
Strategy and objectives, and 
any proposals with potential 
adverse effects on National 
and/or International sites of 
biodiversity importance 
should require mitigation 
measures to be 
implemented.

Potential impacts on 
biodiversity as a result of 
development

Ensure a specific policy that 
reflects the Environment Act 
with regards to protection 
and enhancement of 
biodiversity.

Other possibilities for 
improving benefits or 
reducing impacts

Suggest a green 
infrastructure plan that 
coordinates the protection 
and enhancement of green 
infrastructure throughout the 
county with regards to 
development.

Tudalen 226



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

102
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Figure 8 Summary of Sustainability Appraisal of Preferred Strategy 

SA Objective

SA
1 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

SA
2 

Bi
od

iv
er

sit
y

SA
3 

Ai
r Q

ua
lit

y

SA
4 

Cl
im

at
ic

 F
ac

to
rs

SA
5 

W
at

er

SA
6 

–M
at

er
ia

l A
ss

et
s

SA
7 

So
il

SA
8 

Cu
ltu

ra
l h

er
ita

ge
 

an
d 

Hi
st

or
ic

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t
SA

9 
La

nd
sc

ap
e

SA
10

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

SA
11

 T
he

 W
el

sh
 

La
ng

ua
ge

SA
12

 H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
l-

be
in

g

SA
13

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
an

d 
Sk

ill
s

SA
14

 E
co

no
m

y

SA
15

 S
oc

ia
l F

ab
ric

Vision + + ? ? ? + ? ? ? + + + + +
Objectives ++ + + + + + + + + ++ + + + + ++
Growth Option 4 + +/- +/- +/- ? +/- l l + + ? ? + +
Spatial Option Hybrid + l + +/- + + l l l ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++
Strategic Policies
SP1 + - - - ? + l l l ++ +/- + + ++ +
SP2 + l +/- +/- l l l + + ++
SP3 + - - - + + l l l ++ +/- + + ++ +
SP4 + ++ + + + + ++
SP5 + - +/- +/- ? + l l l ++ + ++ ++ ++ ++
SP6 + - +/- + ? + l l l ++ +/- + ++ +
SP7 + + + ++ + + ++
SP8 ++ +/- + + + + - - - ++ + + + ++
SP9 + l ? l l l + +
SP10 + l +/- +/- l + l l l + +/- ++ + ++ +
SP11 ++ + + ++ + + + + + + + + +
SP12 + - + + - + - l - + +/- + + ++ ++
SP13 + ++ + + + + + + +
SP14 + ++ + + +
SP15 ++ + + ++ + + + ?
SP16 ++ - + + ? ++ l l l ++ +/- + + ++ ++
SP17 ++ + ++ + ++ + + + l+
SP18 l - - - ? - l - +
SP19 l - l l + - l - l +

T
udalen 227



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

103
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

T
udalen 228



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

104
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

8. Sustainability Appraisal Monitoring Framework

The LDP Deposit Plan will set out a monitoring framework which will assess not only how 
effectively the LDP is performing but also the SA implications. This will in turn help inform the 
LPA when it considers the need to review and amend the LDP. The results will be reported 
and published through the LDP Annual Monitoring Report. 

At the Preferred Strategy stage of the LDP process, proposals and policies are only at a 
strategic stage and so it is difficult to set out a detailed monitoring framework. The SA 
monitoring framework will be finalised at Stage E of the SA process and is therefore at this 
stage evolving and subject to change as a result of emerging policies at local and national 
levels and consultation.

The SA Monitoring Framework is outlined in Table 8 below. The sources for each of the data 
sets referred to are listed in Appendix 2. 

Tudalen 229



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

105
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Table 8 Draft Sustainability Monitoring Framework

SA 
Topic

SA Objective Monitoring Indicator Target/Trend

1-1 To live within environmental 
limits

The Ecological Footprint of Wales Reducing 

1-2 To ensure a strong, healthy and 
just society
1-3 To achieve a sustainable 
economy

Monitored via SA14

SA
1 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

1-4 To remove barriers and 
promoting opportunities for 
behavioural change
2-1 To avoid damage or 
fragmentation of designated sites, 
habitats and protected species and 
encourage their enhancement

SA
2 

Bi
od

iv
er

si
ty

2-2 To protect, enhance and create 
appropriate wildlife habitats and 
wider biodiversity in urban and rural 
areas

Number of planning applications 
granted which have an adverse 
effect on the :
a) integrity of Natura 2000 site
b) integrity of designated site for 
nature conservation
c) favourable conservation status 
of European protected species

No applications 
granted which have 
an adverse effect on 
a), b) or c)

Air Quality Indicators (by Local 
Authority). Modelled, population 
weighted average concentrations. 

Reducing3-1 To maintain/reduce the levels of 
the UK national air quality pollutants

Number of breaches of EU/UK NO2 
Air Quality objectives in 
Carmarthenshire.

Reducing

3-2 To reduce levels of ground level 
ozoneSA

3 
Ai

r Q
ua

lit
y

3-3 To reduce the need to travel 
through appropriate siting of new 
developments and provision of 
public transport infrastructure

Total traffic on major roads (by 
Local Authority) 

 Cars

Reducing

4-1 To reduce the emission of 
greenhouse gases

Annual CO2 emissions estimates 
(by Local Authority)

Reducing

4-2 To minimise the vulnerability of 
Carmarthenshire to the effects of 
climate change through making 
space for water, coastal retreat and 
shifting habitat distribution patterns

Number of applications permitted 
within C1 and C2 floodplain areas 
contrary to advice of DCWW/NRW

No applications 
permitted contrary 
to DCWW/NRW 
advice

4-3 To encourage all new 
developments to be climate resilient 
4-4 To encourage energy 
conservation and higher energy 
efficiency SA

4 
Cl

im
at

ic
 F

ac
to

rs

4-5 To minimise energy consumption 
and promote renewable energy 
sources

a) Number of, and
b) Installed capacity permitted 
renewable energy and low carbon 
technology developments.

Increasing

SA
5 

W
at

er

5-1 To ensure water quality of rivers, 
lakes, groundwater and coastal areas 
is improved and ensure that the 
hydromorphological quality of the 
water bodies is maximised

Annual Bathing Water Quality 
classification for 
a) Pembrey
b) Pendine
bathing sites in Carmarthenshire

Maintain excellent 
water quality 
classification

Tudalen 230



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

106
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

% water bodies at ‘good’ 
classification status or above for 
a)Ecological status
b)Chemical status

a) Increase
b) Increase

5-2 To protect and maintain water 
resources in the public supply chain 
and ensure enough water is available 
for the environment at all times of 
the year

Carmarthen Bay Catchment 
Abstraction Management Strategy 
Water resource availability

No reduction

5-3 To minimise diffuse pollution 
from urban and rural areas

Percentage of permitted sites that 
incorporate SUDS.

Increasing

5-4 To increase water efficiency in 
new and refurbished developments

Number of houses built 
meeting the water efficiency 
threshold set by the 
government in Building 
Regulation Part G2.36(1).

Increasing

Number of applications permitted 
within C1 and C2 floodplain areas 
contrary to advice of DCWW/NRW

No applications 
permitted contrary 
to DCWW/NRW 
advice

5-5 To make space for water and 
minimise flood risk

Number of properties (homes 
and businesses) at medium or 
high risk of flooding from rivers 
and the sea

6-1 Minimise the use of finite 
resources and promote higher 
resource efficiency and the use of 
secondary and recycled materials
6-2 Promote the waste hierarchy of 
reduce, reuse and recycle

% Waste 
reuse/recycling/composting (by 
Local Authority)

Increasing

6-3 Encourage needs to be met 
locally
6-4 Promote the use of more 
sustainable resources
6-5 Improve the integration of 
different modes of transport

Percentage of total traffic 
a) Bicycles
b) Buses and Coaches
c) Cars

a) Increasing
b) Increasing
c) Decreasing

SA
6 

– 
M

at
er

ia
l A

ss
et

s

6-6 Promote the use of more 
sustainable modes of transport (e.g. 
cycling and walking)

Total Annual Bicycle Counts 
(Carmarthenshire Active Travel)

Increasing

7-1 To avoid and reduce 
contamination of soils and promote 
the regeneration of contaminated 
land

Area of contaminated land Decreasing

7-2 To avoid loss of soils to non-
permeable surfaces and minimised 
soil erosion

Percentage of permitted 
developments that incorporate 
SUDS.

Increasing

SA
7 

- S
oi

l

7-3 To reduce SO2 and NOx 
emissions and nitrate pollution from 
agriculture

SA 8 8-1 To protect historic and cultural 
assets and local distinctiveness from 

Number of developments 
permitted adversely impacting 

No development 
permitted adversely 

Tudalen 231



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

107
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

negative effects of 
development/regeneration and 
support their enhancement

upon buildings and areas of built or 
historical interest and their setting

impacting upon 
buildings and areas 
of built or historical 
interest and their 
setting

– Cu ltu ra
l 

He rit ag e

8-2 To promote high quality design 
reflecting local character and 
distinctiveness

Number of applications refused on 
design grounds

For reference

9-1 To protect and enhance 
landscape/townscape from negative 
effects of land use change
9-2 To take sensitive locations into 
account when siting development 
and promote high quality design

Number of developments 
permitted which have an adverse 
impact on a Special Landscape 
Area

No developments 
permitted which 
have an adverse 
impact on a Special 
Landscape AreaSA

9 
- L

an
ds

ca
pe

9-3 To encourage appropriate future 
use of derelict land
10-1 Ensure suitable, affordable 
housing stock with access to 
education and employment facilities

Number of affordable dwellings 
permitted

10-2 Promote the retention of 
younger people

% persons aged 
a) 15-29 
b) 30 – 44 
residing in Carmarthenshire

Increasing

SA
10

 - 
Po

pu
la

tio
n

10-3 Promote inclusion of 
disadvantaged and minority groups 
in society

Percentage of people agreeing 
a) that they belong to the area;
b) that people from different 
backgrounds get on well together 
c) that people treat each other 
with respect.

Increasing

SA
11

 –
 

Th
e 

W
el

sh
 

La
ng

ua
ge

11-1 Encourage growth of the Welsh 
language and culture

% of people who can speak Welsh 
(by Local Authority)

Increasing

12-1 Create opportunities for people 
to live active, healthy lifestyles 
through planning activities 

Percentage of adults reported as 
being 
a) overweight 
b) obese 
(by Health Board)

Decreasing

12-2 Provide access to health and 
recreation facilities and services

Percentage of people 
satisfied/very satisfied with their 
ability to get to/access the facilities 
and services they need (by Local 
Authority)

Increasing

Total Annual Bicycle Counts 
(Carmarthenshire Active Travel)

Increasing12-3 Encourage walking or cycling as 
an alternative means of 
transportation Percentage of people surveyed 

method of travel to work (by Local 
Authority)
(a) On foot
(b) By bicycle
(c) By Car

(a) Increasing
(b) Increasing
(c) DecreasingSA

12
 –

 H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
l-B

ei
ng

12-4 Promote access to Wales’ 
natural and cultural heritage

Amount of open space lost to 
development (ha)

No open space lost 
to development

Tudalen 232



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

108
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Percentage of people attending or 
participating in arts, culture or 
heritage activities at least three 
times a year.(by Local Authority)

Increasing

13-1 Provide accessible educational 
and training facilities which meet the 
future need of the area
13-2 Increase levels of literacy (in 
both Welsh and English) and 
numeracy

SA
13

 –
 E

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

Sk
ill

s

13-3 Promote lifelong learning Level of highest qualification held 
by adults of working age in Wales 
(by Local Authority). 

14-1 To promote sustainable 
economic growth

Gross Value Added (GVA) per head 
(South West Wales value)

Increasing

Percentage of population in part 
and full time or self-employment 

Increasing14-2 To provide good quality 
employment opportunities for all 
sections of the population Amount of employment land lost 

to non-employment uses
No loss of 
employment land

Number of new active businesses 
in Carmarthenshire

Increasing

SA
14

 - 
Ec

on
om

y

14-3 To promote sustainable 
businesses in Wales

Number of active business closures 
in Carmarthenshire

Decreasing

Average annual crime level 
(Carmarthenshire)

Decreasing15-1 Improve safety and security for 
people and property

Probability of feeling safe (by local 
authority)

Increasing

Probability of having a strong 
sense of community (by local 
authority area)

Increasing15-2 Promote the design of 
settlements that improve social 
fabric by removing barriers and 
creating opportunities for positive 
interactions

Percentage of people agreeing 
a) that they belong to the area;
b) that people from different 
backgrounds get on well together 
c) that people treat each other 
with respect.

Increasing

15-3 Promote the deliverability of 
affordable housing

Proportion of affordable housing 
as a percentage of new homes 
delivered

SA
15

 –
 S

oc
ia

l F
ab

ric

15-4 Improve accessibility to 
services, particularly for 
disadvantaged sections of society

Percentage of people satisfied with 
their ability to get to/ access the 
facilities and services they need

Increasing

Tudalen 233



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

109
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

9. Conclusions and Next Steps

Conclusions

The SA has described and evaluated the likely significant effects of the revised LDP 
Preferred Strategy and has been produced in accordance with Regulation 12(5).

A core principle of the preferred strategy is to deliver sustainable development over the 
lifetime of the revised LDP, by supporting sufficient residential growth that meets the 
County’s needs; permitting development that encourages economic growth; ensuring there 
is a sufficient social infrastructure to meet community needs and protecting and, where 
possible, enhancing, the County’s natural environment. 

It is recognised that the SA has been strategic, due to the nature of the Preferred Strategy. 
However, it is important that conflicts raised in the SA are adequately addressed and 
mitigated in the LDP Deposit Plan. Particular regard should be made to:

 Biodiversity and habitat loss
 Increasing traffic and the associated impacts on air quality
 Impacts on the water environment in line with WFD and HRA requirements

Next Stages of the SA Process

This SA report will be available for public consultation alongside the revised LDP Preferred 
Strategy for a XX week period between XXX and XXX. A non-technical summary is also 
available, as well as this full version of the document. Copies of these documents are 
available from the Forward Planning Section of Carmarthenshire County Council or can be 
viewed on the Authority’s website: www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

The SA reports can also be inspected at the Council’s Customer Service Centres and at 
Planning Offices in Carmarthen, Llanelli and Llandeilo.

Responses to this consultation may be made online at xxxxxx or forms may be downloaded 
from the website and are also available from the above locations or by contacting the 
Forward Planning Section directly.

Your views on the SA Initial Report should be sent in writing to:

Forward Planning Section,
Environment Department,
7/8 Spilman Street,
Carmarthen,
Carmarthenshire,
SA31 1JT

Or via email: forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
Or online at: www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Tudalen 234

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/
mailto:forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

110
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Appendices

Appendix 1Sustainability Appraisal Framework

SA Objectives Decision Making Influences

1 Sustainable Development
1-1 To live within environmental limits
1-2 To ensure a strong, healthy and just society
1-3 To achieve a sustainable economy
1-4 To remove barriers and promoting opportunities for 
behavioural change

Will the LDP contribute to 
reducing resource 
consumption?
Will the LDP encourage needs 
to be met locally?
Will the LDP encourage 
individuals, companies and 
businesses to make more 
sustainable choices?

2 Biodiversity
2.1 To avoid damage or fragmentation of designated sites, 
habitats and protected species and encourage their 
enhancement
2-2 To protect, enhance and create appropriate wildlife habitats 
and wider biodiversity in urban and rural areas

Are there any designated or 
non-statutory nature 
conservation sites that may be 
affected by the LDP?
Is there any evidence of 
protected species that may be 
affected?
Will there be any opportunities 
for enhancing or recovering 
wildlife resources?
Will there be any opportunities 
to create new habitats?

3 Air Quality
3-1 To maintain/reduce the levels of the UK National Air Quality 
pollutants
3-2 To reduce levels of ground level ozone
3-3 To reduce the need to travel, through appropriate siting of 
new developments and provision of public transport 
infrastructure

Will the LDP have a positive or 
negative impact on the existing 
air quality baseline?
Will the LDP increase or 
decrease the emissions of air 
pollutants from developments?
Will the LDP increase or 
decrease the emissions of air 
pollutants from transport?

4 Climactic Factors
4-1 To reduce the emission of greenhouse gases
4-2 To minimise the vulnerability of Carmarthenshire to the 
effects of climate change through making space for water, 
coastal retreat and shifting habitat distribution patterns
4-3 To encourage all new developments to be climate resilient
4-4 To encourage energy conservation and higher energy 
efficiency.
4-5 To minimise energy consumption and promote renewable 
energy sources.

Will the LDP have a positive or 
negative impact on the 
emissions of carbon dioxide 
from new development in the 
County?
Will the LDP contribute to a 
reduction in carbon dioxide 
emissions from traditional 
forms of energy generation?
Will the LDP put a larger 
number of residents at risk of 
flooding?

Tudalen 235



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

111
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Are new developments climate 
resilient?
Does the LDP leave room for 
habitat adjustment and coastal 
and fluvial flood water?

5 Water
5-1 To ensure water quality of rivers, lakes, groundwater and 
coastal areas is improved and ensure that the 
hydromorphological quality of water bodies is maximised.
5-2 To protect and maintain water resources in the public supply 
chain and ensure enough water is available for the environment 
at all times of year.
5-3 To minimise diffuse pollution from urban and rural areas.
5-4 To increase water efficiency in new and refurbished 
developments
5-5 To make space for water, and minimise flood risk

Will there be an increase or 
decrease in the discharge of 
pollutants to water?
Will there be an increase or 
decrease in water consumption 
from development?
Will the LDP have a positive or 
negative effect on water quality 
and hydromorphology?
Will it contribute to an increase 
in flood risk?
Will it contribute to a reduction 
in flood risk?

6 Material Assets
6-1 Minimise the use of finite resources and promote higher 
resource efficiency and the use of secondary and recycled 
materials.
6-2 Promote the waste hierarchy of reduce, reuse and recycle.
6-3 Encourage needs to be met locally.
6-4 Promote the use of more sustainable resources.
6-5 Improve the integration of different modes of transport.
6-6 Promote the use of more sustainable modes of transport 
(e.g. cycling and walking).

Will the LDP contribute to 
increased rates of recycling and 
higher resource efficiency?
Will the LDP ensure that needs 
can be met locally?
Will the LDP allow people to 
make more sustainable 
transport choices?

7 Soil
7-1 To avoid and reduce contamination of soils and promote the 
regeneration of contaminated land.
7-2 To avoid loss of soils to non-permeable surfaces and 
minimise soil erosion.
7-3 To reduce SO2 and NOX emissions and nitrate pollution from 
agriculture.

Will the LDP increase or 
decrease land contamination?
Will the LDP result in an 
increase or loss of good quality 
soil resources?
Will the LDP improve or degrade 
soil quality?
Will the LDP involve 
development on previously 
used land?

8 Cultural Heritage and Historic Environment
8-1 To protect historic and cultural assets and local 
distinctiveness from negative effects of 
development/regeneration and support their enhancement
8-2 To promote high quality design reflecting local character and 
distinctiveness

Are there any sites of 
archaeological importance that 
can be positively or negatively 
affected by the LDP?
Are there any historic 
landscapes that can be 
positively or negatively affected 
by the LDP?

Tudalen 236



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

112
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Are there any listed buildings 
that can be positively or 
negatively affected by the LDP?

9 Landscape
9.1 To protect and enhance landscape/townscape from negative 
effects of land use change
9-2 To take sensitive locations into account when siting 
development and to promote high quality design
9-3 To encourage appropriate future use of derelict land

Will the LDP have a positive or 
negative impact on landscapes 
or townscapes?
Will the LDP have a positive or 
negative impact on designated 
landscapes?
Will the LDP encourage the 
redevelopment of previously 
developed land?

10 Population
10-1 Ensure suitable, affordable housing stock with access to 
education and employment facilities 
10-2 Promote the retention of younger people
10-3 Promote inclusion of disadvantaged and minority groups 
into society

Will the LDP increase the 
provision of affordable housing 
in Carmarthenshire?
Will the LDP contribute to 
promoting the retention of 
young people in the county?
Will the LDP contribute to social 
inclusion?

11 The Welsh Language
11-1 Encourage growth of the Welsh language and culture Will the LDP encourage the 

growth of the Welsh language 
and culture?

12 Health and Well-being
12-1 Create opportunities for people to live active, healthy 
lifestyles through planning activities
12-2 Provide access to health and recreation facilities and 
services
12-3 Encourage walking or cycling as alternative means of 
transportation
12-4 Promote access to Wales’ natural and cultural heritage

Will there be a positive or 
negative impact on human 
health?
Will access to health services 
and recreation facilities 
including natural heritage 
features be increased?
Will the LDP increase 
opportunities for walking and 
cycling?

13 Education and Skills
13-1 Provide accessible educational and training facilities which 
meet the future needs of the area
13-2 Increase levels of literacy (in English and Welsh) and 
numeracy
13-3 Promote lifelong learning

Will the LDP contribute to 
increasing attainment levels 
amongst young people?
Will the LDP promote access to 
education facilities for all 
member s of the community?
Will the LDP contribute to 
increasing literacy and 
numeracy levels?

14 Economy

Tudalen 237



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

113
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

14-1 To promote sustainable economic growth
14-2 To provide good quality employment opportunities for all 
sections of the population
14-3 To promote sustainable businesses in Wales

Will there be any adverse 
economic impacts on land and 
premises in employment use?
Will there by a positive or 
negative impact on jobs 
opportunities as a result of the 
LDP?

15 Social Fabric
15-1 Improve safety and security for people and property
15-2 Promote the design of settlements that improve social 
fabric by removing barriers and creating opportunities for
positive interactions
15-3 Promote the delivery of affordable housing
15-4 Improve accessibility to services, particularly for 
disadvantaged sections of society.

Will the LDP contribute to 
making housing more 
affordable?
Will the LDP contribute to 
creating settlements that are 
safe and of a high quality urban 
fabric?
Will the LDP contribute to 
creating healthier homes?
Will the LDP maximise access to 
services and facilities for all 
members of the community by 
different modes of transport?

Tudalen 238



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

114
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Appendix 2 Sustainability Monitoring Framework – Data Sources

SA 
Topic

SA Objectives Monitoring Indicator Source

1-1 To live within 
environmental limits

The Ecological Footprint of 
Wales 

Future Generations National Indicator 14
https://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/publicati
ons/ecological-footprint-of-wales-report/?lang=en

1-2 To ensure a strong, healthy 
and just society
1-3 To achieve a sustainable 
economy

Monitored via SA14

1 
– 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t

1-4 To remove barriers and 
promoting opportunities for 
behavioural change
2-1 To avoid damage or 
fragmentation of designated 
sites, habitats and protected 
species and encourage their 
enhancement

2 
- B

io
di

ve
rs

ity

2-2 To protect, enhance and 
create appropriate wildlife 
habitats and wider biodiversity 
in urban and rural areas

Number of planning 
applications granted which have 
an adverse effect on the :
a) integrity of Natura 2000 site
b) integrity of designated site 
for nature conservation
c) favourable conservation 
status of European protected 
species

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

Air Quality Indicators (by Local 
Authority). Modelled, 
population weighted average 
concentrations.

Future Generations Indicator 4
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Air-
Quality/airqualityindicators-by-localauthority 

3 
– 

Ai
r Q

ua
lit

y

3-1 To maintain/reduce the 
levels of the UK national air 
quality pollutants

Number of breaches of EU/UK 
Air Quality objectives in 
Carmarthenshire.

Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) monitored by Carmarthenshire 
County Council Public Health.

T
udalen 239

https://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/publications/ecological-footprint-of-wales-report/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/publications/ecological-footprint-of-wales-report/?lang=en
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Air-Quality/airqualityindicators-by-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Air-Quality/airqualityindicators-by-localauthority


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

115
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

3-2 To reduce levels of ground 
level ozone

3-3 To reduce the need to 
travel through appropriate 
siting of new developments 
and provision of public 
transport infrastructure

Total traffic on major roads, in 
thousand vehicle miles
 – cars 
(by local authority)

Department for Transport (DfT) traffic count data (by Local Authority)

https://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-
counts/area.php?region=Wales&la=Carmarthenshire 

4-1 To reduce the emission of 
greenhouse gases

Annual CO2 levels (by Local 
Authority)

UK local authority and regional CO2 emissions national statistics:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-
regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics#2018 

4-2 To minimise the 
vulnerability of 
Carmarthenshire to the effects 
of climate change through 
making space for water, 
coastal retreat and shifting 
habitat distribution patterns

Number of applications 
permitted within C1 and C2 
floodplain areas contrary to 
advice of DCWW/NRW 

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

4-3 To encourage all new 
developments to be climate 
resilient 
4-4 To encourage energy 
conservation and higher 
energy efficiency 

4 
- C

lim
at

ic
 F

ac
to

rs

4-5 To minimise energy 
consumption and promote 
renewable energy sources

a) Number of, and
b) Installed capacity permitted 
renewable energy and low 
carbon technology 
developments.

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

T
udalen 240

https://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-counts/area.php?region=Wales&la=Carmarthenshire
https://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-counts/area.php?region=Wales&la=Carmarthenshire
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics#2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics#2018


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

116
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Annual Bathing Water Quality 
classification for bathing sites in 
Carmarthenshire

Environment Agency Water Quality data
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-
services/environmental-health/bathing-water/#.WzNhqOmQyUk 

5-1 To ensure water quality of 
rivers, lakes, groundwater and 
coastal areas is improved and 
ensure that the 
hydromorphological quality of 
the water bodies is maximised

% water bodies at ‘good’ 
classification status or above for 

a) Ecological status
b) Chemical status

Water Framework Directive classification 
http://waterwatchwales.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/en/ 

5-2 To protect and maintain 
water resources in the public 
supply chain and ensure 
enough water is available for 
the environment at all times of 
the year

Carmarthen Bay Catchment 
Abstraction Management 
Strategy Water resource 
availability

NRW Abstraction management plans
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-
topics/water-management-and-quality/water-available-in-our-
catchments/?lang=en 

5-3 To minimise diffuse 
pollution from urban and rural 
areas

Proportion of developments 
that incorporate SUDS.

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

5-4 To increase water 
efficiency in new and 
refurbished developments

Number of houses built meeting 
the water efficiency threshold 
set by the government in 
Building Regulation Part 
G2.36(1).

Reference: https://gov.wales/topics/planning/buildingregs/approved-
documents/part-g-sanitation/?lang=en 
CCC Building Control 

Number of applications 
permitted within C1 and C2 
floodplain areas contrary to the 
advice of NRW/Dwr Cymru

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

5 
- W

at
er

5-5 To make space for water 
and minimise flood risk

Number of properties (homes 
and businesses) at medium or 
high risk of flooding from rivers 
and the sea

Future Generations National Indicator 32
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-
Countryside/Flooding/environment-and-countryside-state-of-the-
environment-our-local-environment-properties-at-risk-of-flooding 

T
udalen 241

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/environmental-health/bathing-water/#.WzNhqOmQyUk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/environmental-health/bathing-water/#.WzNhqOmQyUk
http://waterwatchwales.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/en/
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/water-available-in-our-catchments/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/water-available-in-our-catchments/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/water-management-and-quality/water-available-in-our-catchments/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/buildingregs/approved-documents/part-g-sanitation/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/topics/planning/buildingregs/approved-documents/part-g-sanitation/?lang=en
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Flooding/environment-and-countryside-state-of-the-environment-our-local-environment-properties-at-risk-of-flooding
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Flooding/environment-and-countryside-state-of-the-environment-our-local-environment-properties-at-risk-of-flooding
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Flooding/environment-and-countryside-state-of-the-environment-our-local-environment-properties-at-risk-of-flooding


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

117
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

6-1 Minimise the use of finite 
resources and promote higher 
resource efficiency and the use 
of secondary and recycled 
materials
6-2 Promote the waste 
hierarchy of reduce, reuse and 
recycle

% Waste 
reuse/recycling/composting (by 
Local Authority)

Future Generations National Indicator 15
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/local-authority-municipal-waste-
management/?lang=en 

6-3 Encourage needs to be met 
locally

6-4 Promote the use of more 
sustainable resources

6-5 Improve the integration of 
different modes of transport

Proportion of total traffic 
d) Bicycles
e) Buses and Coaches
f) Cars

Department for Transport (DfT) traffic count data (by Local Authority)

https://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-
counts/area.php?region=Wales&la=Carmarthenshire 

6 
– 

M
at

er
ia

l A
ss

et
s

6-6 Promote the use of more 
sustainable modes of transport 
(e.g. cycling and walking)

Total Annual Bicycle Counts 
(Carmarthenshire Active Travel)

Active travel reports
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/travel-
roads-parking/active-travel/#.W5EArumQzIU 

7 
- S

oi
l 7-1 To avoid and reduce 

contamination of soils and 
promote the regeneration of 
contaminated land

Total area of contaminated land 

T
udalen 242

https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/local-authority-municipal-waste-management/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/local-authority-municipal-waste-management/?lang=en
https://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-counts/area.php?region=Wales&la=Carmarthenshire
https://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-counts/area.php?region=Wales&la=Carmarthenshire
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/travel-roads-parking/active-travel/#.W5EArumQzIU
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/travel-roads-parking/active-travel/#.W5EArumQzIU


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

118
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

7-2 To avoid loss of soils to 
non-permeable surfaces and 
minimised soil erosion

Percentage of permitted 
developments that incorporate 
SUDS.

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

7-3 To reduce SO2 and NOx 
emissions and nitrate pollution 
from agriculture

8-1 To protect historic and 
cultural assets and local 
distinctiveness from negative 
effects of 
development/regeneration 
and support their 
enhancement

Number of developments 
permitted adversely impacting 
upon buildings and areas of 
built or historical interest and 
their setting

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

8 
– 

Cu
ltu

ra
l H

er
ita

ge

8-2 To promote high quality 
design reflecting local 
character and distinctiveness

Number of applications refused 
on design grounds

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

9-1 To protect and enhance 
landscape/townscape from 
negative effects of land use 
change

9-2 To take sensitive locations 
into account when siting 
development and promote 
high quality design

Number of applications refused 
on design grounds

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

9 
- L

an
ds

ca
pe

9-3 To encourage appropriate 
future use of derelict land

Number of development on 
previously developed land 

Carmarthenshire County Council planning dataT
udalen 243



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

119
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

10-1 Ensure suitable, 
affordable housing stock with 
access to education and 
employment facilities

Number of affordable dwellings 
permitted 

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data

10-2 Promote the retention of 
younger people

% persons aged 
a) 15-29 
b) 30 – 44 
residing in Carmarthenshire 

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Distributions 

10
 - 

Po
pu

la
tio

n

10-3 Promote inclusion of 
disadvantaged and minority 
groups in society

Percentage of people agreeing 
a) that they belong to the area;
b) that people from different 
backgrounds get on well 
together 
c) that people treat each other 
with respect.

Future Generations National Indicator 27
National Survey for Wales
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-
survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en 

11
 –

 T
he

 
W

el
sh

 
La

ng
ua

ge

11-1 Encourage growth of the 
Welsh language and culture

% of people who can speak 
Welsh (by Local Authority) 

Future Generations National Indicator 37
National Survey for Wales
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?lang=en 

12-1 Create opportunities for 
people to live active, healthy 
lifestyles through planning 
activities 

Percentage of adults reported 
as being 
a) overweight 
b) obese 
(by Health Board)

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=381&geoTyp
eId=  

https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-
survey/?tab=el_home&topic=population_health&lang=en

12-2 Provide access to health 
and recreation facilities and 
services

Percentage of people satisfied 
with their ability to get 
to/access the facilities and 
services they need

Future Generations National Indicator 24
Wales National Survey

12
 –

 H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 W

el
l-B

ei
ng

12-3 Encourage walking or 
cycling as an alternative means 
of transportation

Percentage of people surveyed 
method of travel to work

(a) On foot
(b) By bicycle

Office of National Statistics - Travel to work methods and the time it takes 
to commute from home to work, Labour Force Survey

T
udalen 244

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Distributions
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Distributions
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?lang=en
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=381&geoTypeId
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=381&geoTypeId
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=population_health&lang=en
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=population_health&lang=en


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

120
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labo
urproductivity/adhocs/008005traveltoworkmethodsandthetimeittakestoco
mmutefromhometoworklabourforcesurvey2007to2016 

Total Annual Bicycle Counts 
(Carmarthenshire Active Travel)

Active travel reports
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/travel-
roads-parking/active-travel/#.W5EArumQzIU 

Amount of open space lost to 
development (ha)

Carmarthenshire County Council planning data12-4 Promote access to Wales’ 
natural and cultural heritage

Percentage of people attending 
or participating in arts, culture 
or heritage activities at least 
three times a year. 

Future Generations National Indicator 35

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Sport-
and-
Recreation/percentageofpeoplewhoattendorparticipateinartcultureheritag
eactivities3ormoretimesayear-by-localauthority-year 

13-1 Provide accessible 
educational and training 
facilities which meet the future 
need of the area
13-2 Increase levels of literacy 
(in both Welsh and English) 
and numeracy

% of adults without basic 
numeracy and literacy skills

13
 –

 E
du

ca
tio

n 
an

d 
Sk

ill
s

13-3 Promote lifelong learning Level of highest qualification 
held by adults of working age in 
Wales (by Local Authority). 

Future Generations National Indicator 8

https://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2018/180418-levels-highest-qualification-
held-working-age-adults-2017-en.pdf 

T
udalen 245

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/adhocs/008005traveltoworkmethodsandthetimeittakestocommutefromhometoworklabourforcesurvey2007to2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/adhocs/008005traveltoworkmethodsandthetimeittakestocommutefromhometoworklabourforcesurvey2007to2016
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/labourproductivity/adhocs/008005traveltoworkmethodsandthetimeittakestocommutefromhometoworklabourforcesurvey2007to2016
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/travel-roads-parking/active-travel/#.W5EArumQzIU
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/travel-roads-parking/active-travel/#.W5EArumQzIU
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Sport-and-Recreation/percentageofpeoplewhoattendorparticipateinartcultureheritageactivities3ormoretimesayear-by-localauthority-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Sport-and-Recreation/percentageofpeoplewhoattendorparticipateinartcultureheritageactivities3ormoretimesayear-by-localauthority-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Sport-and-Recreation/percentageofpeoplewhoattendorparticipateinartcultureheritageactivities3ormoretimesayear-by-localauthority-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Sport-and-Recreation/percentageofpeoplewhoattendorparticipateinartcultureheritageactivities3ormoretimesayear-by-localauthority-year
https://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2018/180418-levels-highest-qualification-held-working-age-adults-2017-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/statistics/2018/180418-levels-highest-qualification-held-working-age-adults-2017-en.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

121
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

14-1 To promote sustainable 
economic growth

Gross Value Added (GVA) per 
head

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=470&geoTyp
eId= 
(South West Wales value)

Amount of employment land 
lost to non-employment uses

CCC planning data14-2 To provide good quality 
employment opportunities for 
all sections of the population

Percentage of population in 
part and full time or self-
employment

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-
democracy/research-statistics/electoral-ward-county-
profiles/#.W5J2dOmQyUk 

Number of active businesses in 
Carmarthenshire

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=456&geoTyp
eId= 

14
 –

 E
co

no
m

y

14-3 To promote sustainable 
businesses in Wales

Number of active business 
closures in Carmarthenshire

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=456&geoTyp
eId= 

Average annual crime level https://www.police.uk/dyfed-powys/110/crime/stats/ 15-1 Improve safety and 
security for people and 
property

Probability of feeling safe (by 
local authority)

Future Generations Indicator 25

https://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2017/170301-national-survey-who-
most-likely-feel-safe-local-area-en.pdf 

15
 –

 S
oc

ia
l F

ab
ric

15-2 Promote the design of 
settlements that improve 
social fabric by removing 
barriers and creating 
opportunities for positive 
interactions

Probability of having a strong 
sense of community (by local 
authority area)

Future Generations indicator 27:

https://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2017/170301-national-survey-who-
most-likely-strong-sense-community-en.pdf 

T
udalen 246

http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=470&geoTypeId
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=470&geoTypeId
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/research-statistics/electoral-ward-county-profiles/#.W5J2dOmQyUk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/research-statistics/electoral-ward-county-profiles/#.W5J2dOmQyUk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/research-statistics/electoral-ward-county-profiles/#.W5J2dOmQyUk
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=456&geoTypeId
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=456&geoTypeId
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=456&geoTypeId
http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/profiles/profile?profileId=456&geoTypeId
https://www.police.uk/dyfed-powys/110/crime/stats/
https://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2017/170301-national-survey-who-most-likely-feel-safe-local-area-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2017/170301-national-survey-who-most-likely-feel-safe-local-area-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2017/170301-national-survey-who-most-likely-strong-sense-community-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/caecd/research/2017/170301-national-survey-who-most-likely-strong-sense-community-en.pdf


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

122
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Percentage of people agreeing 
that they belong to the area; 
that people from different 
backgrounds get on well 
together; and that people treat 
each other with respect.

Future Generations Indicator

15-3 Promote the deliverability 
of affordable housing

Proportion of affordable 
housing as a percentage of new 
homes delivered

15-4 Improve accessibility to 
services, particularly for 
disadvantaged sections of 
society

Percentage of people satisfied 
with their ability to get to/ 
access the facilities and services 
they need

Future Generations National Indicator 24
https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?lang=en 

T
udalen 247

https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?lang=en


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

123
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Appendix 3. Review of Relevant Plans, Programmes and Policies 

International: Plan, Policy or Programme
Agenda 21: United nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/outcomedocuments/agenda21

Rio Declaration on Environment and Development UNEP 1992 
http://www.unep.org/Documents.multilingual/Default.asp?DocumentID=78&ArticleID=1163
&l=en

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change United Nations 1994 
http://unfccc.int/2860.php
 
The Kyoto Protocol United Nations 1997 
http://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol/items/2830.php

Convention on Migratory Species UNEP 1979 
http://www.cms.int/

Convention on Biological Diversity UNEP 1992 
http://www.biodiv.org/default.shtml

The Ramsar Convention on Wetlands UNESCO 1971 
http://www.ramsar.org/

EU Directive 2009/147/EC (on the Conservation of Wild Birds - ‘The Birds Directive’) 
The Council of the European Communities 30 November 2009 
(http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/birdsdirective/index_en.htm

The Bird’s Directive is the EU’s oldest piece of nature legislation and one of the most 
important, creating a comprehensive scheme of protection for all wild bird species naturally 
occurring in the EU. It was adopted as a response to increasing concern about the declines 
in Europe's wild bird populations resulting from pollution, loss of habitats as well as 
unsustainable use.

The Directive recognises that habitat loss and degradation are the most serious threats to 
the conservation of wild birds. It therefore places great emphasis on the protection of 
habitats for endangered as well as migratory species, particularly through the establishment 
of a network of Special Protection Areas (SPAs) comprising all the most suitable territories 
for these species.

EU Directive 2000/60/EC (the Water Framework Directive - WFD) The Council of the 
European Communities 23 October 2000 

The overall aim of the Directive is to establish a framework for the protection and 
management of surface waters, including rivers, lakes, transitional and coastal waters and 
ground waters in the EU. The main objectives of the proposed Directive are to:

 prevent further deterioration and to protect and enhance the aquatic environment;

 achieve good ecological and chemical water quality for all surface waters and
ground waters unless it is impossible or prohibitively expensive; and

 promote sustainable water management based on long-term protection of water

Tudalen 248

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/outcomedocuments/agenda21
http://www.unep.org/Documents.multilingual/Default.asp?DocumentID=78&ArticleID=1163&l=en
http://www.unep.org/Documents.multilingual/Default.asp?DocumentID=78&ArticleID=1163&l=en
http://unfccc.int/2860.php
http://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol/items/2830.php
http://www.cms.int/
http://www.biodiv.org/default.shtml
http://www.ramsar.org/
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/birdsdirective/index_en.htm


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

124
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

resources.

EU Directive 92/43/CEE (the Habitats Directive) The Council of the European 
Communities 21 May 1992
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/index_en.htm
 
The Habitats Directive is one of the most significant pieces of legislation driving Europe’s 
conservation policies adopted following the Berne Convention (1982). It aims to protect 
identified species and habitats of nature conservation importance at the European level, 
and led to the establishment of a network of Special Areas of Conservation. Together with 
the Special Protection Areas set up under the Conservation of Wild Birds Directive (1979), 
these sites make up the European network of protected sites known as Natura 2000 sites. 
The aim of the network is to assure the long-term survival of Europe's most valuable and 
threatened species and habitats.

Proposal for a new EU Environment Action Programme to 2020 European 
Commission 2012 
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/newprg/index.htm
 
EU Directive 1999/31/EC (the Landfill Directive) The Council of the European Union 
1999 
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/landfill_index.htm

The Landfill Directive intends to help drive waste up the hierarchy through waste 
minimisation and increased levels of recycling and recovery. The Directive's overall aim is 
"to prevent or reduce as far as possible negative effects on the environment, in particular 
the pollution of surface water, groundwater, soil and air, and on the global environment, 
including the greenhouse effect, as well as any resulting risk to human health, from the 
landfilling of waste, during the whole life-cycle of the landfill".

The Directive has provisions covering location of landfills, and technical and engineering 
requirements for aspects such as water control and leachate management, protection of 
soil and water and methane emissions control. The Directive sets stringent targets on 
reducing the amount of biodegradable municipal waste that is sent to landfill:-

 By 2010 to reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled to 75% of that produced 
in 1995;

 By 2013 to reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled to 50% of that produced 
in  1995; and

 By 2020 to reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled to 35% of that produced 
in 1995.

EU Directive 2008/98/EC (the Waste Framework Directive) The European Parliament 
and the Council of the European Union 19 November 2008 
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/framework/index.htm

EU Directive 91/676/EEC (the Nitrates Directive) The Council of the European Union 
1991 
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-nitrates/directiv.html

The Nitrates Directive concerns the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates 
from agricultural sources with the intention of redirecting agriculture toward greater 
sustainability. The Directive aims to protect fresh, transitional/coastal and marine waters 

Tudalen 249

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/newprg/index.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/landfill_index.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/framework/index.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-nitrates/directiv.html


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

125
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

against pollution caused by nitrates. It requires Member States to identify waters, either 
actually or potentially affected by diffuse nitrate pollution. These include:

 surface waters, particularly those for the abstraction of drinking water, where nitrate 
concentrations exceed 50 mg/l nitrate;

 groundwaters actually or potentially containing more than 50 mg/l nitrate; and

 freshwater lakes, other freshwater bodies, estuaries, coastal waters and marine 
waters which are, or may in the future be, eutrophic.

Member States had to designate all areas draining into such waters as nitrate vulnerable 
zones by 19 December 1993 and establish Action Programmes to control the timing and 
date of application of manure and chemical fertilisers in these zones.

EU Directive (2008/50/EC) (the New Air Quality Framework Directive) The Council of 
the European Union 11June 2008 
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/quality/legislation/existing_leg.htm
 

UK: Plan, Policy or Programme
Conservation  of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

The Regulations implement Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural 
habitats and of wild fauna and flora (EC Habitats Directive). The Regulations provide for the 
designation and protection of 'European sites (Special Areas of Conservation)', the 
protection of 'European protected species', and the adaptation of planning and other 
controls for the protection of European Sites.  

A further objective is to preserve, maintain and re-establish sufficient diversity and area of 
habitat for wild birds in the United Kingdom and to avoid any pollution or deterioration of 
habitats of wild birds in exercising of all relevant functions.

There are a large number of sites of ecological / geological importance in the county and in 
this regard, Carmarthenshire has a number of sites considered to be of international 
importance for nature conservation. These Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) are designated under European legislation.

Special Protection Areas (SPA)
 Burry Inlet (also a Ramsar site)
 Elenydd Mallaen
 Carmarthen Bay 

Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)
 Afon Teifi
 Afon Tywi
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Carmarthen Bay Dunes
 Cwm Doethie - Mynydd Mallaen
 Caeau Mynydd Mawr
 Cernydd Carmel

Candidate Special Areas of Conservation. 
 Bristol Channel Approaches SAC

Tudalen 250

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/air/quality/legislation/existing_leg.htm


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

126
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

More information about them and why they were designated can be found on the Natural 
Resources Wales website.
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-
biodiversity/find-protected-areas-of-land-and-seas/designated-sites/?lang=en 

Securing the Future - UK Government sustainable development strategy – 
UK Government 2005 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/publications/2011/03/25/securing-the-future-pb10589/

The UK Sustainable Development Strategy is based upon the following five guiding
principles:-

1 - Living within environmental limits
Respecting the limits of the planet’s environment, resources and biodiversity – to improve 
our environment and ensure that the natural resources needed for life are unimpaired and 
remain so for future generations.
2 - Ensuring a strong, healthy and just society
Meeting the diverse needs of all people in existing and future communities, promoting 
personal wellbeing, social cohesion and inclusion, and creating equal opportunities for all.
3 - Achieving a sustainable economy
Building a strong, stable and sustainable economy which provides prosperity and 
opportunities for all, and in which environmental and social costs fall on those who impose 
them (polluter pays), and efficient resource use is incentivised.
4 - Promoting good governance
Actively promoting effective, participative systems of governance in all levels of society – 
engaging people’s creativity, energy and diversity.
5 - Using sound science responsibly
Ensuring policy is developed and implemented on the basis of strong scientific evidence, 
whilst taking into account scientific uncertainty (through the precautionary principle) as well 
as public attitudes and values.

The 2005 strategy builds on the 1999 strategy and looks more closely at the international 
aspects and social elements of achieving sustainable development. One of the 
underpinning themes of the document is the recognition of environmental limits. The four 
agreed key priorities for achieving sustainable development are:-

 Sustainable production and consumption;
 Climate change;
 Natural resource protection; and
 Sustainable communities.

The UK Government intends to look at ways to encourage behavioural change and 
improving resource efficiency and reducing waste. The strategy recognises that climate 
change and energy generation represent significant challenges to achieving sustainable 
development and that everyone should be entitled to environmental justice. 

The UK Climate Change Programme DEFRA 2006 
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-4000

Defra’s Climate Change Programme sets out the UK’s policies and priorities for action on climate 
change in the UK and internationally and sets out the approach to strengthening the role that 
individuals can play in tackling climate change.

Tudalen 251

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/find-protected-areas-of-land-and-seas/designated-sites/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/environmental-topics/wildlife-and-biodiversity/find-protected-areas-of-land-and-seas/designated-sites/?lang=en
http://www.defra.gov.uk/publications/2011/03/25/securing-the-future-pb10589/
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-4000


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

127
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The Government is committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions towards the long-term by 
60 per cent by 2050 in the 2003 Energy White Paper.

Alongside high-level international and domestic commitments, the strategy sets out spending to 
support microgeneration technologies, developing carbon abatement technologies, supporting 
energy from renewables and combined heat and power (CHP), raising energy standards of new 
builds and refurbished buildings and delivering energy efficiency measures in low income 
households.

The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (Volumes 1&2) 
DEFRA 2007 
(http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/air-quality/approach/)
 
The Strategy:

 Sets out common aims and a way forward for work and planning on air quality issues for 
the UK government and devolved administrations;

 sets out the air quality standards and objectives to be achieved;
 introduces a new policy framework for tackling fine particles; and
 identifies potential new national policy measures which modelling indicates could give 

further health benefits and move closer towards meeting the Strategy’s objectives.

The primary objective of the strategy is to ensure that all UK citizens should have access to outdoor 
air without significant risk to their health, where this is economically and technically feasible. 
According to the strategy, the UK is projected to miss objectives on three of the nine pollutants 
(particles, ozone and nitrogen dioxide). In particular, critical loads for acidity and/or the fertilising 
effects of nitrogen are projected to be exceeded in over half the UK’s natural and semi-natural 
habitats.

Countryside and Rights of Way Act (CRoW) 2000 

The CRoW Act provides for public access on foot to certain types of land, amends the law 
relating to public rights of way, increases protection for Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) and strengthens wildlife enforcement legislation, and provides for better 
management of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

There are 81 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) in the county (excluding the area 
within the Brecon Beacons National Park) covering 17,088 Ha, and ranging in size from 
small fields to large areas of mountain sides and long rivers. They cover approximately 7.2 
% of the county. SSSI are the best wildlife and geological sites in the country. They include 
habitats such as ancient woodland, flower-rich meadows, wetlands as well as disused 
quarries and support plant and animal species which are not often seen in the wider 
countryside. SSSIs are statutorily protected under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended by the Countryside & Rights of Way Act 2000). Natural Resources Wales has 
responsibility for identifying, notifying and protecting SSSIs.

Carmarthenshire has six Local Nature Reserves (LNRs). LNRs are designated by local 
authorities and are places which support a rich variety of wildlife or geological features and 
which are important to local people, by enabling contact with the natural environment. The 
LNRs in the county are managed with the conservation of wildlife as the top priority. They 
are Pembrey Burrows and Saltings, Ashpits Pond and Pwll Lagoon, North Dock Dunes, 
Morfa Berwick (all in the Llanelli coastal area), Carreg Cennen and Glan-yr-Afon, Kidwelly.

Tudalen 252

http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/air-quality/approach/


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

128
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The Act also places a duty on all highway authorities to produce a Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan (ROWIP) for their area.

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)

The Act covers protection of wildlife (birds, and some animals and plants), the countryside, 
the prevention of the spread of certain invasive species and the designation of protected 
areas including Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) that are identified for their flora, 
fauna, geological or physiographical features.

The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Wales) 
Regulations  2017

This requires that certain types of project are subject to an assessment of their 
environmental impact before planning permission can be determined.

The Environment Act 1995

The Environment Act 1995 places a duty on the Council to periodically review and assess 
air quality within its area. The Air Quality Objectives are set out in the Air Quality Standards 
(Wales) Regulations 2010.

The Flood and Water Management Act 2010

This Act changes the way that coping with the increasing pressures posed by climate 
change, notably water management. Of particular reference is the potential proposal to 
commence Schedule 3 in Wales and bring forward the related Statutory Instruments in May 
2018. The Council is a designated Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) under the Act. 

The Environmental Protection Act 1990

In relation to contaminated land, the County has a rich and diverse industrial legacy, 
including a wide range of industries such as mining, tin plate manufacturing, gas works, 
tanneries etc. All of these processes have the potential to have caused contamination of the 
ground, ground waters or other sensitive receptors. A Contaminated Land Inspection 
Strategy is in the process of being reviewed and updated by the Council.

UK Post-2010 Biodiversity Framework 
(http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-6189) 

Marine & Coastal Access Act 2009 UK Government 2009 
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/fisheries/marine/marine-planning/?lang=en

Tudalen 253

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/page-6189
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/fisheries/marine/marine-planning/?lang=en


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

129
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 provides new powers to assist in achieving the 
vision set out in the UK High Level Marine Objectives. The new powers provided by this 
act include: 

 Marine planning – A new system for marine planning that will cover all of the key 
marine activities; and

 Marine Licensing – In Wales Marine Licensing powers were delegated to Natural 
Resources Wales in 2011. These licensing powers replace the licensing regimes 
that were previously covered under: Food and Environment Act 1985, Coast 
Protection Act 1949 and Environmental Impact Assessment (extraction of 
minerals and dredging (Wales) Regulations 2007. 

 Marine Conservation Mechanics – The Act provides the power to create 
Marine Conservation Zones (MCZs) to assist in the conservation of marine 
plants and animals or geological/geomorphological features. 

The Water Framework Directive and Planning - Initial Advice to Planning Authorities 
in England and Wales EA; RTPI; WLGA; LGA February 2006 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/planning/40195.aspx

This guidance provides advice on the implementation of the Water Directive Framework in 
relation to development plan policy (and other matters). The WFD requires all inland and 
coastal waters to reach "good status" by 2015. It establishes a river basin district structure 
with ecological targets for surface waters and other environmental indicators. 

Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act 1979, UK Parliament 1979 

The means by which Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAMs) are afforded legal protection. 
A key tool for protection of SAMs. The protection given by this falls short of protecting the 
settings and surroundings of monuments. In addition, the Act allows for certain damaging 
operations to continue under certain circumstances. 

National: Plan, Policy or Programme
The Wales Act (2017)

This Act received Royal Assent on the 31st January 2017. It provides the National Assembly 
for Wales with the power to legislate on any subject other than those which are reserved to 
the UK Parliament. The Wales Act 2017 implements elements of the St David’s Day 
agreement which required legislative changes. It is aimed at creating a clearer and stronger 
settlement in Wales which is durable and long-lasting. In particular, the Wales Act amends 
the Government of Wales Act 2006 by moving to a reserved powers model for Wales.

The 2017 Act also devolves further powers to the Assembly and the Welsh Ministers in 
areas where there was political consensus in support of further devolution. These include:

 Devolving greater responsibility to the Assembly to run its own affairs, including
deciding its name;

 Devolving responsibility to the Assembly for ports policy, speed limits, bus
registration, taxi regulation, local government elections, sewerage and energy
consenting up to 350MW (see below for additional detail);

 Devolving responsibility to Welsh Ministers for marine licensing and conservation
and energy consents in the Welsh offshore region; and extending responsibility for

Tudalen 254

http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/planning/40195.aspx


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

130
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

building regulations to include excepted energy buildings;
 Devolving power over Assembly elections;
 Devolving powers over the licensing of onshore oil and gas extraction;
 Aligning the devolution boundary for water and sewerage services along the border 

between England and Wales; and,
 Establishing in statute the President of Welsh Tribunals to oversee devolved 

tribunals and allowing cross-deployment of judicial office holders.

In relation to the 2017 Act and the devolution of powers, specific reference is made to 
matters relating to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Previously not a devolved 
matter, this will change as part of the 2017 Act, with CIL being devolved with powers 
anticipated to be transferred to the Welsh Government in April 2018. In this respect, a
Transfer of Functions Order will however be necessary to allow Welsh Ministers to modify 
existing secondary legislation.

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=10103
 
The key purposes of the Act are to: 

 Set a framework within which specified Welsh public authorities will seek to ensure 
the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs (the sustainable development principle); 

 Put into place well-being goals which those authorities are to seek to achieve in 
order to improve wellbeing both now and in the future; 

 Set out how those authorities are to show they are working towards the well-being 
goals; 

 Put Public Services Boards and local well-being plans on a statutory basis and, in 
doing so, simplify current requirements as regards integrated community planning, 
and 

 Establish a Future Generations Commissioner for Wales to be an advocate for future 
generations who will advise and support Welsh public authorities in carrying out their 
duties under the Bill. 

The Act sets out 7 well-being goals for Wales: 

 A prosperous Wales. 
 A resilient Wales. 
 A healthier Wales. 
 A more equal Wales. 
 A Wales of cohesive communities. 
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language. 
 A globally responsible Wales. 

The LDP must have regard for the goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/legislation/planning-wales-act-2015/?lang=en

This Act aims to modernise and improve the planning system to facilitate the delivery of 
homes, jobs and infrastructure. It also seeks to:
 

 reinforce the role of the Welsh Government as the active stewards of the planning 
system in Wales;

Tudalen 255

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=10103
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/legislation/planning-wales-act-2015/?lang=en


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

131
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 promote a cultural change in planning to help make it more positive and support 
appropriate development more effectively; and

 promote partnership working between Local Planning Authorities. 

The below is also noted in terms of potential implications:
 

 Introduction of a National Development Framework (NDF) - this concentrates on 
land-use planning issues at a national level, identifying key locations for 
infrastructure development and setting the national framework for planning.

 Introduction of Sub-Regional Plans Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) – with 
specific reference made to the Cardiff, Swansea and the A55 corridor. 

 Retention of Local Development Plans - however these will need to be reviewed to 
ensure that they are consistent with the National Development Framework (and 
SDPs where appropriate).

 Increased powers for the Welsh Ministers, whilst in some circumstances applicants 
will be able to apply directly to the Welsh Government. 

The LDP will need to be reviewed and prepared in line with this Act as well other primary 
and secondary legislative documents.

The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015

This legislation amends the 2005 Regulations in order to simplify the LDP procedures. The 
amendments are in response to the outcomes of the LDP process refinement exercise. 

Those key amendments, that are of particular relevance to the LDP, include the following:

 Site allocation representations (also known as alternative site) stage – this created 
confusion and did not add value to the LDP process. The amended regulations 
abolish the need to consult on the alternative sites following the deposit consultation 
stage.

 The Regulations introduced a short-form revision process for use where it appears 
to the LPA that the issues involved are not of sufficient significance to warrant the 
full procedure.

 Allowance for the review of part or parts of the plan, prior to a revision taking place.
 The Regulations introduce a requirement that the LDP sub-title indicates the end of 

the period in relation to which the LDP has been prepared.
 Removes the requirement to publicise matters by adverts in the local paper.

Further amendments seek to assist with clarity and transparency in parts of the procedure. 
These include setting out how the candidate site process, review report process and the 
initial consultation report work.

Local Development Plan Manual – Edition 2 - August 2015

The Manual proposes a more integrated approach to incorporating the sustainability 
appraisal, explains changes relating to candidate and alternative site procedures, as well 
as the tests of soundness, and expands the advice on plan review and revision.

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  

Tudalen 256



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

132
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The measure gives the Welsh language official status in Wales. This means that Welsh 
should be treated no less favourably than the English language.  It places a duty on some 
organisations to comply with one or more standards of conduct on their delivery of services 
through the Welsh language including areas such as policy making, operational activities 
and Welsh language promotion.  

River Basin Districts Surface Water and Groundwater Classification (Water 
Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Direction 2009:
http://gov.wales/legislation/subordinate/nonsi/epwales/2009/3739275/?lang=en 

The Classification Directions set out the principles and standards for classifying water 
bodies for the Water Framework Directive (WFD). They apply to Wales and England and 
were developed by the UK Technical Advisory Group (UKTAG) to support the 
implementation of the WFD.

Welsh Government - People, Places, Futures – The Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) (2008 
Update):  

The Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) provides an overarching policy context for spatial planning 
and development in Wales by establishing cross-cutting national priorities. Carmarthenshire 
is situated within three of the six sub areas identified in the WSP. 

Welsh Government - One Wales: One Planet, The Sustainable Development Scheme
of the Welsh Assembly Government (WAG) 2009 

It is stated that sustainable development is a core principle within the founding statute of the 
Welsh Assembly Government. and that there is a duty, under the Government of Wales Act 
2006 (Section 79), that requires Welsh Ministers to make a scheme setting out how they 
propose, in the exercise of their functions, to promote sustainable development.

Housing (Wales) Act 2014

This is Wales’ first ever housing Act. It aims to improve the supply, quality and standards of 
housing in Wales. The Welsh Government’s priorities are stated as: more homes, better 
quality homes and better housing-related services.

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9)

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) is the national land-use planning policy document for Wales.  
It is used by Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to inform policies and land-use allocations 
in Local Development Plans (LDPs) and it is a material consideration for decision makers 
in determining individual planning applications. PPW sets out the land use policies of the 
Welsh Government and provides the context for land use planning in Wales. 
Draft Planning Policy Wales: Edition 10

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) is the national land-use planning policy document for Wales. 
It is used by Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to inform policies and land-use allocations 
in Local Development Plans (LDPs) and it is a material consideration for decision makers 
in determining individual planning applications. PPW sets out the land use policies of the 
Welsh Government and provides the context for land use planning in Wales. 
The draft is published for consultation and takes into account the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The draft PPW has been restructured into policy themes 

Tudalen 257

http://gov.wales/legislation/subordinate/nonsi/epwales/2009/3739275/?lang=en


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

133
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

which reflect the well-being goals and policy updated where necessary to reflect Welsh 
Government strategies and policies.

Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016

The Act has three main aims which are to:

 give more effective protection to listed buildings and scheduled monuments; 
 improve the sustainable management of the historic environment; and 
 introduce greater transparency and accountability into decisions taken on the 

historic environment. 

The Act amends the two pieces of UK legislation — the Ancient Monuments and 
Archaeological Areas Act 1979 and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990.

Towards Zero Waste – One Wales One Planet: The Overarching Waste Strategy for 
Wales (2010)

This Strategy sets out a long term framework for resource efficiency and waste 
management up to 2050.  It identifies the outcomes to achieve, sets high level targets and 
lays out the general approach to delivering these targets and other key actions. The Strategy 
identifies high level outcomes, policies and targets, and forms part of a suite of documents 
that comprise the national waste management plan for Wales.

PPW Technical Advice Note 1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2006): 

TAN 1 provides guidance for the undertaking of Joint Housing Land Availability Studies. 
These studies seek to monitor the provision of market and affordable housing, provide an 
agreed statement of residential land availability and also set out the need for action in 
situations where an insufficient supply is identified.

PPW Technical Advice Note 2 Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) :

This TAN provides guidance on the use of the planning system in delivering affordable 
housing. The guidance defines affordable housing for planning purposes and provides 
advice to local planning authorities on how to determine affordability. The need to work 
collaboratively is stressed, including the requirement for housing and planning authorities 
to undertake local housing market assessments in participation with key stakeholders.

PPW Technical Advice Note 3 Simplified Planning Zones (1996) :

This TAN sets out the procedures that should be followed when designating Simplified 
Planning Zones. A Simplified Planning Zone is one way in which an authority can help 
secure development or redevelopment of part of its area, providing certainty and allowing 
the developer or landowner to avoid delays in the planning applications process. The TAN 
provides advice on the selection of areas, extent of permission, exclusions and conditions 
and limitations during the process of designation.

PPW Technical Advice Note 4 Retail and Commercial Development (2016)

Tudalen 258



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

134
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The TAN provides guidance on the role of land use planning in retail and commercial 
development, including:

 retail strategies, masterplanning and Place Plans;
 the tests of retail need and Sequential approach to development;
 retail impact assessments;
 primary and secondary retail and commercial frontages in centres;
 retail planning conditions;
 Local Development Orders; and
 indicators of vitality and viability in retail and commercial areas.

PPW Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning Welsh Government 
(2009): 

TAN 5 provides advice about how the land use planning system should contribute to 
protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation. It provides an overview 
of all relevant legislation within the field and “demonstrates how local planning authorities, 
developers and key stakeholders in conservation can work together to deliver more 
sustainable development that does not result in losses from the natural heritage but instead 
takes every opportunity to enhance it”.

PPW Technical Advice Note 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010): 

This TAN provides guidance on how the planning system can support sustainable rural 
communities.  It provides advice on areas including sustainable rural communities and 
economies, rural affordable housing, rural enterprise dwellings, one planet developments, 
sustainable rural services and sustainable agriculture.

PPW Technical Advice Note 7 Outdoor Advertisements Control (1996) :

This TAN describes how outdoor advertisements may be controlled to protect amenity and 
public safety. It provides advice on the advertisement applications process including on the 
criteria for dealing with such applications, advertisement control, the use of advertisements 
in areas of heritage interest such as conservation areas, National Assembly of Wales 
direction making powers and appeals for advertisements.

PPW Technical Advice Note 8: Renewable Energy (2005): 

TAN 8 outlines the land use planning considerations relating to renewable energy. It 
provides detail on how the planning system can achieve Government targets relating to 
renewable energy. The TAN also promotes energy efficiency and conservation. Since the 
publication of TAN 8 there have been some policy and legislative changes. Annex A of the 
Chief Planning Officers (CPOs) letter ’Publication of Planning Policy Wales Edition 4, 
February 2011’ sets out these changes. It should be read alongside TAN 8.

PPW Technical Advice Note 10 Tree Preservation Orders (1997):

This TAN provides guidance on where local planning authorities are to make adequate 
provision for the preservation and planting of trees when granting planning permission 
through the process of making tree Preservation Orders (TPOs).  It provides advice on the 
process of making TPOs and the consideration of protecting trees, particularly during the 
development process.

Tudalen 259

http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/dear-cpo-letters/ppwedition4letter/
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/dear-cpo-letters/ppwedition4letter/
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/policy/dear-cpo-letters/ppwedition4letter/


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

135
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

PPW Technical Advice Note 11 Noise (1997) :

This TAN provides guidance on how the planning system can be used to minimise the 
adverse impact of noise without placing unreasonable restrictions on development. It 
provides advice on the consideration of noise during the development plan and control 
(management) processes as well as noise exposure categories for different types of activity 
which should be taken into account during the consideration of proposals for residential 
development.

PPW Technical Advice Note 12 Design (2016) :

The purpose of this TAN is to equip all those involved in the design of development with 
advice on how ‘Promoting sustainability through good design’ and ‘Planning for sustainable 
buildings’ may be facilitated through the planning system. Good design requires a 
collaborative, creative, inclusive, process of problem solving and innovation - embracing 
sustainability, architecture, place making, public realm, landscape, and infrastructure. The 
TAN emphasises that a holistic approach to design requires everyone involved in the design 
process to focus from the outset on meeting a series of objectives of good design:

 Ensuring ease of access for all
 Promoting sustainable means of travel
 Ensuring attractive, safe public spaces
 Achieving environmental sustainability
 Sustaining or enhancing local character

PPW Technical Advice Note 13: Tourism, Welsh Government (1997) : 

This TAN provides guidance on tourism related issues in planning including matters relating 
to hotel development, holiday and touring caravans and seasonal and holiday occupancy 
conditions.

PPW Technical Advice Note 14 Coastal Planning (1998) :

This TAN provides guidance on key issues relating to planning for the coastal zone. It 
identifies and describes the role of local planning authorities and the range of sectoral and 
regulatory controls over marine and coastal development. The TAN details a number of 
issues which must be taken into account because of their potential effects on physical 
processes and ground conditions, as well as the overall balance, sensitivity and 
conservation of the area. The TAN provides guidance around the planning considerations 
and issues to be included in development plans and in the determination of planning 
applications. 

PPW Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk, Welsh Government 
(2004) :

This TAN provides guidance which supplements the policy set out in Planning Policy Wales 
in relation to development and flooding. It provides advice on matters including the use of  
development advice maps to determine flood risk issues, how to assess the flooding 
consequences of proposed development and action that can be taken through development 
plans and development control (management) procedures to mitigate flood risk when 
planning for new development. The Development Advice Map (DAM) which supplements 
TAN 15 is published by Natural Resources Wales.

Tudalen 260



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

136
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

PPW Technical Advice Note 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) : 

This TAN provides guidance regarding planning for sports, recreation and open space 
provision as part of new development proposals.  It provides advice relating to this area 
including on the preparation of Open Space Assessments, the keeping of existing facilities, 
the provision of new facilities and the planning for allotments and spaces for children's and 
young people's play.  The TAN discusses development management issues regarding the 
design of facilities and spaces, and noise and accessibility.  It also considers how planning 
agreements can help to ensure the provision and maintenance of facilities.

PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007) : 

This TAN describes how to integrate land use and transport planning. It explains how 
transport impacts should be assessed and mitigated.  It includes advice on transport related 
issues when planning for new development including integration between land use planning 
and transport, location of development, parking and design of development.  

Also, on walking and cycling, public transport, planning for transport infrastructure, 
assessing impacts and managing implementation.

PPW Technical Advice Note 19 Telecommunications (2002) :

This TAN outlines the planning procedures that should be followed when assessing 
telecommunications proposals. In so doing it takes account of the growth of the 
telecommunications industry and technology. 

The TAN provides guidance on different forms of public communications systems and their 
developmental requirements and the implications for development plans and the 
determination of planning applications. 

PPW Technical Advice Note 20: Planning and the Welsh Language (2017): 

This TAN provides guidance on the consideration of the Welsh language as part of the 
Development Plan making process.  The TAN provides advice on incorporating the Welsh 
language in development plans through Sustainability Appraisals, procedures for windfall 
development in areas where the language is particularly significant, and signs and 
advertisements.

PPW Technical Advice Note 21: Waste (2014):  

This TAN requires monitoring to identify whether: 
 sufficient landfill capacity is being maintained; 
 sufficient treatment capacity is being maintained, whether the spatial pattern of 

provision is appropriate to fill identified needs, and 
 whether any further action is needed by local planning authorities to address 

unforeseen issues.  

Reference should be made to the annual Waste Planning Monitoring Reports (WPMRs) for 
the SW Wales region.

PPW Technical Advice Note 22:  Sustainable Buildings, Welsh Government (2011) 

Tudalen 261



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

137
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The TAN provides the national planning policy on sustainable buildings as well as guidance 
on the standards of sustainable building assessment, design solutions to meet these 
standards and additional guidance on low carbon buildings. The TAN also provides 
guidance development of policies and strategic sites. 

PPW Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development 

The TAN emphasises that LDPs will need to be informed by robust evidence and advises 
that a range of stakeholders should be engaged for their insights into the local economy.  It 
recognises that economic issues are generally larger than local authority level, and that 
evidence is most appropriately collected at both regional and local scale.  This will require 
collaboration with other planning authorities within an agreed regional grouping.

PPW Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017): 

The TAN provides guidance on how the planning system considers the historic environment 
during development plan preparation and decision making on planning and listed building 
applications. It provides guidance on how the following aspects of the historic environment 
should be considered: 

 World Heritage Sites; 
 Scheduled monuments; 
 Archaeological remains; 
 Listed buildings; 
 Conservation areas; 
 Historic parks and gardens; 
 Historic landscapes; and
 Historic assets of special local interest.

PPW Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) 2: Coal (2009):

This sets out detailed advice on the mechanisms for delivering the policy for coal extraction 
through surface and underground working and also provides advice on best practice.  It sets 
out how impacts should be assessed and what mitigation measures should be adopted, and 
seeks to identify the environmental and social costs of operations so that they are properly 
met by the operator.

PPW Minerals Technical Advice Note (MTAN) 1: Aggregates (2004):

It is stated that the overarching objective in planning for aggregates provision is: to ensure 
supply is managed in a sustainable way so that the best balance between environmental, 
economic and social considerations is struck, while making sure that the environmental and 
amenity impacts of any necessary extraction are kept to a level that avoids causing 
demonstrable harm to interests of acknowledged importance. The MTAN is structured to 
reflect the following five key principles:

 To provide aggregate resources in a sustainable way to meet society’s needs for 
construction materials;

 To protect areas of importance;
 To reduce the impact of aggregates production;
 To achieve a high standard of restoration and aftercare, and provide for a beneficial 

after-use; and

Tudalen 262



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

138
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

 To encourage the efficient use of minerals and maximizing the potential use of 
alternative materials as aggregates.

Environment (Wales) Act 2016:

The Environment (Wales) Act received Royal Assent on 21 March 2016. It delivers against 
the Welsh Government’s commitment to introduce new legislation for the environment. A 
key component of the Act is the duty it places on public authorities to ‘seek to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity’. In doing so, the Act requires public authorities to forward plan and 
report on how they intend to comply with the biodiversity and resilience of ecosystems duty. 
The Act replaces the duty in section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
Act (NERC) Act 2006 in relation to Wales, with a duty on public authorities to seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity.  

Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013 – 2020, ‘Partnership for Growth: 

This identifies Destination Management as fundamental in helping to improve the visitor 
appeal of tourism destinations throughout Wales.

Visit Wales - Developing the Visitor Economy: A Charter for Wales 2009:

This provides clear terms of reference for Destination Management arrangements in Wales 
and identifies a key role for local authorities in contributing to the preparation of local 
destination plans and the establishment of local destination partnerships.

Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013:

The Act requires local authorities in Wales to produce active travel maps and deliver year 
on year improvements in active travel routes and facilities. It requires highways authorities 
in Wales to make enhancements to routes and facilities for pedestrians and cyclists in all 
new road schemes and to have regard to the needs of walkers and cyclists in a range of 
other highway authority functions. 

As part of its commitment to make it easier to walk and cycle, the Council has prepared 
maps that identify current walking and cycling routes. These maps were created following 
public consultation as well as its own research in 2015.The routes identified on the maps 
meet current Welsh Government standards for walking and cycling routes in Wales.
Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standard:  

This provides guidance on the planning and design of outdoor sport, play and informal 
space.  

Regional: Plan, Policy or Programme
The Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy 2013 – 2030: 

The Strategy sets out the strategic framework for the region aimed at supporting the area’s 
development over the coming decades. The Vision is that by 2030, South West Wales will 
be “a confident, ambitious and connected city region, recognised internationally for its 
emerging knowledge and innovation economy”. The Strategy contains 5 Strategic aims.

Swansea Bay City Deal 2017

Tudalen 263



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

139
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The £1.3 billion Swansea Bay City Deal was signed in March 2017. It is claimed that the 
Deal will transform the economic landscape of the area, boost the local economy by £1.8 
billion, and generate almost 10,000 new jobs over the next 15 years. There is reference to 
11 major projects overall, with the following specific projects proposed for Carmarthenshire:

 Wellness and Life Science Village in Llanelli; and
 Creative industry project at Yr Egin in Carmarthen.

4 key themes of Economic Acceleration, Life Science and Well-being, Energy, and Smart 
Manufacturing.  An enhanced Digital Infrastructure & next generation wireless networks and 
the development of workforce skills and talent will underpin each.

Joint Local Transport Plan for South West Wales (2015-20): 

This sets out the vision, objectives and a long term strategy for a 20 year period and a five 
year programme of projects. The Plan encompasses the region which fall within the 
administrative areas of Carmarthenshire County Council, Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council, Pembrokeshire County Council and the City and County of Swansea.

The South West Wales Tourism Partnership (SWWTP) 

The SWWTP had responsibility for delivering the national tourism strategy at the regional 
level. Whilst wound up in 2014, Visit Wales continues to maintain its ongoing commitment 
to Destination Management through Regional Engagement Teams.

Waste Planning Monitoring Report(s) for the South West Wales Region: 

These reports are produced in accordance with TAN21: Waste and set out to collate and 
assess available data on all waste arising’s, landfill void and the management of residual 
waste in the region in order to monitor trends and ultimately monitor performance against 
the targets set out in Towards Zero Waste.  It also assesses the progress of waste policy 
coverage in LDPs, as well as providing information on current local authority waste 
management / resource recovery schemes and future procurement.

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water Water Resources Management Plan (2014)
http://www.dwrcymru.co.uk/en/My-Water/Water-Resources/Water-Resource-
Management-Plan.aspx 
The Plan covers a 25 year period, from 2015 to 2040 (also termed the ‘planning period’) 
and considers what needs to be done to ensure a sustainable and affordable balance 
between the amount of water we take from the environment and the amount of water we 
need for our daily lives. 

It is vitally important for a water company to understand its capability to supply water and 
the demand for water from customers and business within its supply area. The comparison 
is termed the Supply Demand Balance (SDB). 

In relation to Carmarthenshire, it should be noted that the Tywi Gower zone is shown to be 
in surplus. However Pembrokeshire and Brecon Portis zones are shown to be in deficit. 

River Basin Management Plan Western Wales River Basin District (2015-2021), 
Natural Resources Wales 2015 

Tudalen 264

http://www.dwrcymru.co.uk/en/My-Water/Water-Resources/Water-Resource-Management-Plan.aspx
http://www.dwrcymru.co.uk/en/My-Water/Water-Resources/Water-Resource-Management-Plan.aspx


Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

140
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

The River Basin Management Plan for the Western Wales River Basin District is prepared 
under the Water Framework Directive. It describes the current condition of the river basin 
district and what has been achieved since 2009; details the Programme of Measures for 
improving the water environment by 2021, provides the water body objectives and look 
forward to the planned review in 2021. 

Lavernock Point to St Ann’s Head Shoreline Management Plan 2 (2012)

A Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) provides a large-scale assessment of the risks 
associated with coastal erosion and flooding at the coast. It also presents policies to help 
manage these risks to people and to the developed, historic and natural environment in a 
sustainable manner. 

This document is the second generation Shoreline Management Plan (SMP2) for the 
shoreline between Lavernock Point (Vale of Glamorgan) in the east and St Ann’s Head 
(Pembrokeshire) in the west, including the counties of Vale of Glamorgan, Bridgend, Neath 
Port Talbot, Swansea, Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire. 

The study area includes the Neath Estuary, the Tawe Estuary, the Loughor Estuary (Burry 
Inlet), the Three Rivers Estuarine Complex (Gwendraeth, Towy and Taf) and Milford Haven, 
as well as a number of smaller estuaries.

Tudalen 265



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

141
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Appendix 4. Strategic Policy 16:Settlement Hierarchy

The provision of growth and development will be directed to sustainable locations in accordance with the following 
spatial framework.  

Cluster 1 Cluster 2 Cluster 3 Cluster 4 Cluster 5 Cluster 6
Tier 1 –
Principal 
Centre Carmarthen Llanelli Ammanford/Crosshands    
       
Tier 2  
Service 
Centre

Pontyates/
Meinciau/
Ponthenri Burry Port Brynamman

Newcastle 
Emlyn Llandovery

St Clears / 
Pwll Trap

  Pembrey Glanamman/Garnant Llanybydder Llandeilo Whitland
  Fforest/Hendy Pontyberem/Bancffosfelen Pencader Llangadog Laugharne
  Llangennech     
  Trimsaran/Carway     
                        Kidwelly     
                       Ferryside     
       
Tier 3 –
Sustainable 
Villages Cynwyl Elfed Mynyddygarreg Carmel

Drefach/
Felindre Caio Llanboidy

Llanybri Five Roads/Horeb Cwmgwili Waungilwen Ffarmers Glandy Cross
 Llansteffan Llansaint / Broadway Foelgastell Llangeler Llansawel Efailwen
 Bronwydd Maesybont Pentrecwrt Rhydcymerau Llangynin
 Cwmffrwd Ystradowen Saron/Rhos Talley Meidrim
 Llangyndeyrn Llannon Llanllwni Cwrt Henri Bancyfelin
 Brechfa Llanedi Cwmann Llanfynydd Llangynog
 Llangain  Capel Iwan Llanwrda Pendine

T
udalen 266



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

142
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Idole and 
Pentrepoeth

Llanfihangel ar 
Arth Cwmdu Llanddowror

 Peniel Trelech Cwmifor Llanmiloe
 Alltwalis Pontyweli Salem

Llanpumsaint Cenarth Abergorlech
Llandyfaelog

 Rhydargaeau

 
Llanfihangel-ar-

arth
 New Inn
 Llanarthne
 Capel Dewi
 Nantgaredig
 Pontargothi
 Llanddarog
 Porthyrhyd

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Crwbin
Cwmduad    

Tier 4 - Rural 
Villages (No 
Development 
Limits) Penboyr Ffaldybrenin

Cwmfelin 
Mynach

Hermon Cynheidre Capel Seion Drefelin Crugybar Cwmbach
Abernant Four Roads Derwydd Cwmpengraig Cwm-du Blaenwaun
Blaenycoed Heol Ddu Cwmhiraeth Ashfield Row Llanglydwen

Bancycapel Maesybont Pentrecagal
Felindre 
(Llangadog)

Cwmfelin 
Boeth

Nantycaws Milo Pontarsais Cynghordy Cross Inn
Croesyceiliog Pantllyn Gwyddgrug Golden Grove Llansadurnen

T
udalen 267



Revised Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033

143
SA – SEA Initial Report 
October 2018

Felingwm Uchaf Pentregwenlais Dolgran Broad Oak Broadway
Felingwm Isaf Temple Bar Bancyfford Trapp Red Roses
Llanegwad Cefnbrynbrain Bryn Iwan Manordeilo Llanfallteg
Pontantwn Rhosamman Pencarreg Penybanc

Nebo Drefach (Llandyfan)
Felindre, 
(Dryslwyn)

Talog Stag and Pheasant Dryslwyn
Cross Inn Mynyddcerrig Rhydcymerau

Penybont
Waunystrad 
Meurig

Whitemill Bethlehem
Pont-Newydd Capel Isaac

Llangathen
Llansadwrn
Rhandirmwyn
Porthyrhyd
Pumsaint
Siloh

T
udalen 268



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

Carmarthenshire Revised Local Development Plan 2018 – 2033

Population and Household Forecasts 
Briefing Paper

Tudalen 269



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

1. Introduction
1.1 As part of the evidence base for the revised Local Development Plan 2018 - 2033, Edge 

Analytics have been commissioned to develop a range of demographic forecasts for the 

Authority. These demographic forecasts are considered from a range of evidence and 

demographic factors to provide an outlook on population, housing and economic growth within 

Carmarthenshire for the 2018-2033 period. The results of the population and household 

forecasts allows a set of varying options to be considered and inform the future strategic growth 

strategy within the LDP.

1.2 This report will outline at the following:

 Carmarthenshire’s profile and historic demographic evidence;

 A summary of the various household scenarios and the options to be considered; and

 Consideration of the County’s economic strategies to support growth options. 

2. Carmarthenshire’s Profile
2.1 Carmarthenshire is home to approximately 6% of Wales’ total population with 186,452 

people. Since 2001, the population has grown by 12,800 people within the county, a 7.4% 

increase in 16 years. Higher annual population growth was recorded pre-2008, with notably lower 

annual growth recorded thereafter. Carmarthenshire’s growth is consistent with the national rate 

of growth, but remains lower than the neighbouring authorities of Swansea and Pembrokeshire.

2.2 A net inflow of internal migration has been the dominant driver of population change since 

2001/2002, whilst international migration has had a smaller but positive impact on population. 

Conversely natural change has had a negative impact on population change, with the number of 

deaths exceeding births in all years. 

2.3 The age profile of migration patterns within Carmarthenshire has seen a large net outflow 

at ages 15-19 and this is associated with the student migration out of Carmarthenshire for higher 

education opportunities, while there is a small return flow in the 20-24 age group. The net inflow 

of the 30-44 young family age group is mirrored by the growth in the 0-14 year age as people 

move into Carmarthenshire to either have children or move with their families. A net inflow is 

recorded in the older age cohort (65+) which contributes to Carmarthenshire’s ageing population.  

This is set out within the figure below.

Tudalen 270



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

2.4 The WG 2006 and 2008-based projections were formulated during a time of high net 

migration (internal and international) which considered significant growth for Carmarthenshire. 

The 2011 and 2014-based projections was considered at a time post-recession and less in-

migration which resulted in a much lower anticipated household growth requirement for 

Carmarthenshire.

2.5 For the 2018-2033 plan period, the WG 2014-based household projection estimates a 

decline in average household size for Carmarthenshire from 2.26 to 2.20, resulting in less 

household growth than considered in the early projections of 2006 and 2008. 

3. Demographic Scenarios

3.1 There is no single definitive view on the likely growth expected in Carmarthenshire. 

Ultimately, a mix of demographic, economic and local policy issues will determine the speed 

and scale of change.

3.2 In addition to the WG-based principle scenario, Edge Analytics have provided 

four additional demographic scenarios to be considered: 

 WG 2014-based: this replicates the WG 2014-based population projection. 

Tudalen 271



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

 WG 2014-based (10yr Average Migration): replicates the WG 2014-based 10yr 

average migration variant population projection. Migration assumptions are based on the 

ten year period prior to 2014 (i.e. 2004/05–2013/14) 

 PG Short Term: Internal migration rates and international migration flow assumptions 

are based on a six-year historical period (2011/12–2016/17). This is a similar time period 

to the WG projection (i.e. 5–6 years), but includes the latest three years of data. 

 PG 10 year: utilises the migration trend of the previous 10 years, which takes 

into account the first couple of years of the pre-recession period, but with the 

majority of the migration data being from the post-recession era. 

 PG Long Term: Internal migration rates and international migration flow assumptions 

are based on the full sixteen-year historical period (2001/02–2016/17). 

 PG Pre-Recession: Internal migration rates and international migration flow 

assumptions are based on the period pre-2008 recession (2001/02–2007/08), in which 

higher in-migration flows to Carmarthenshire were recorded. 

3.3 The demographic trend scenarios incorporate mid-year population, migration, births and 

deaths statistics for 2001–2017 (i.e. three additional years of historical data to the WG 

projection). Household and dwelling growth under the demographic scenarios has been 

estimated using assumptions from the WG 2014-based household projection model in 

conjunction with a 2011 Census vacancy rate of 6.3%. 

3.4 In utilising the demographic scenarios above, Edge Analytics have considered the 

demographic data in conjunction with a variant vacancy rate of 3.4%, which is borne from 

Empty Property records from the Local Housing Authority. This lowers (albeit not fundamentally) 

the housing requirement within each scenario.

Tudalen 272



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

Carmarthenshire Population Change 2001-2033

Carmarthenshire IA Demographic Scenario Outcomes 2001-2033

Change 2018-2033 Average per year
Scenario Population 

Change
 Population 
Change %

Household 
Change

Household 
Change %

Net 
Migration

Dwellings 
(Census 
VR)

Dwellings 
(ALT. VR)

Total 
Dwelling 
Growth 
(Census VR)

Total 
Dwelling 
Growth 
(ALT. VR)

PG Pre-
Recession

26,811 14.2% 13,616 16.6% 2,028 969 939 14,529 14,090

PG Long 
Term

17,567 9.4% 9,555 11.7% 1,423 680 659 10,195 9,887

PG 10 year 11,755 6.3% 6,992 8.6% 1,043 497 482 7,461 7,236
PG Short 
Term

10,691 5.7% 6,807 8.4% 997 484 470 7,263 7,044

(WG 2014 
(10yr 
Average 
Migration

10,842 5.8% 6,322 7.7% 921 450 436 6,746 6,542

WG 2014 
based

3,207 1.7% 3,254 4.0% 546 231 224 3,472 3,367

3.5 The WG 2014-based scenario bases its migration assumptions on the five-year 

2009/10–2013/14 period, which recorded notably lower net in-migration to Carmarthenshire. As 

deaths exceed births within the historic yearly data, the household change under the 2014-

based projections is low at 231 dwellings per year. This equates to 3,372 dwellings over the 

Tudalen 273



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

revised LDP period. Utilising the lower vacancy rate, this would result in 224 dwellings per year, 

or 3,367 dwellings over the revised LDP period.

3.6 Of all the alternative demographic trend based scenarios, the PG Short Term results in 

the lowest population change (5.7%) over the plan period, capturing the lower net migration 

flows evident in 2011/12–2013/14. The estimated population growth would support 

approximately 484 dwellings per annum, or a total of 7,263 dwellings over the plan period. 

Utilising the lower vacancy rate would result in 470 dwellings per year, or 7,044 dwellings over 

the revised LDP period.

3.7. The WG 2014-based (10 year average migration) projection utilises the WG 2014-based 

natural change assumptions but also considers the 10 year migration period between 

2003/2004 and 2012/13. This trend uses a migration period prior to, and post-recession, which 

would see a population and household change of 5.8% and 7.7% respectively during the plan 

period of 2018-2033. The housing requirement within this scenario (2011 Census vacancy rate) 

would equate to 450 dwellings per year, which would be less than that currently being built 

within Carmarthenshire on an average yearly basis. This equates to 6,746 dwellings over the 

LDP period 2018-2033. In considering this projection against the variant vacancy rate of 3.4%, 

the dwelling requirement within this scenario reduces to 436 dwellings per year. This equates to 

6,542 dwellings over the LDP period 2018-2033.

3.8  The PG 10 year projections utilises the migration trend of the previous 10 years, which 

takes into account the first couple of years of the pre-recession period, but with the majority of 

the migration data since 2008. This trend offers a slightly more positive outlook than that 

considered in the 10yr migration data from the WG 2014 based projection, and similar to the PG 

Short term Scenario. 

3.9  By utilising the 2011 Census vacancy, this scenario would, require 497 dwellings per 

annum within the revised LDP period 2018-2033, with the variant vacancy rate highlighting a 

provision of 482 dwellings per year. This equates to 7,461 dwellings and 7,236 dwellings over 

the revised LDP period respectively. Both variant scenario would show a requirement that is 

similar to the 10 year average build rates 2007-2017, but less than the average build rates from 

2015 onwards.

3.10 Under the PG Long Term scenario, higher net migration flows are estimated (averaging 

+1,423 people per year), resulting in population change (9.4%) and subsequent dwelling growth 

Tudalen 274



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

of 680 dwellings per year (2011 Census vacancy rate) or 659 dwellings per year (variant 

vacancy rate). This equates to 10,195 dwellings and 9,887 dwellings over the revised LDP 

period respectively. Both scenarios are higher than estimated under the PG Short Term and 

WG 2014-based scenarios. 

3.11 The PG Pre-Recession scenario draws its migration assumptions from the 2001/02–

2007/08 period, capturing the period of high net migration to Carmarthenshire. Consequently, 

future estimation of net migration is highest under the PG Pre-Recession scenario (averaging 

+2,028 per year), resulting in population change of 14.2% and an average annual dwelling 

growth of 969 per year over the 2018–2033 plan period. 

Future Age structure under the Demographic Scenarios 
3.12 In all demographic scenarios, the number of 15-19 years leaving the county continues to 

be high, whilst the number of migrants to Carmarthenshire over 65+ is higher than that in the 

2014 based projection

3.13 In terms of the working age population, the five variant scenarios show that the 

migration levels into Carmarthenshire are higher than the principal WG 2014-based projection.  

This would provide a more optimistic outlook in seeking to achieve the targets outlined in 

Carmarthenshire’s Strategic Regeneration Plan. Increased net migration inflows to 

Carmarthenshire in the young adult age groups would support higher economic growth and 

have a positive impact on the ageing population profile of the Unitary Authority. 

Tudalen 275



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

3.14 Migration profiles will drive changes to Carmarthenshire’s population age structure. Over 

the 2018–2033 plan period, there is substantial population growth projected in the 65+ age 

groups under all scenarios driven by the gradual ageing of the birth cohorts from the 1940s, 50s 

and 60s, plus the additional impact of net in-migration. As recognised in the Hywel Dda Health 

Transformation Agenda, Carmarthenshire’s ageing population provides a real challenge for the 

future delivery of health and social care services. 

Tudalen 276



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

4. Economic Growth
4.1 The demographic scenarios presented provide an indication of the potential impact of a 

continuation of past migration trends upon future population change and housing growth in 

Carmarthenshire. It is evident that historical migration trends in Carmarthenshire have been 

influenced by economic factors, resulting in lower net migration to the UA over the recessionary 

period. 

4.2 The Edge Analytics report considers the future housing requirement in Carmarthenshire 

based on the Council’s various economic strategies and publications. These strategies include

 Swansea Bay City Deal - and the projected creation of approximately 2,500 jobs within 

Carmarthenshire.

 Carmarthenshire County Council Strategic Regeneration Plan identifies a jobs 

growth target of 5,000 units over the 2015-2030 period, which includes those captured in 

the Swansea Bay City Deal.

 The Employment Sectoral Study – The study makes recommendations for target 

interventions and actions to develop a proactive land acquisition programme of 

employment sites and to support the growth of economic activity. For this to take place it 

assumes a fixed annual growth rate for key employment sectors. To fulfil its potential, 

the Employment Sectoral Study estimated an average annual jobs growth in nine priority 

sectors of +1,245 jobs per year over the 2017–2032 period, taking account of the 

Swansea Bay City Deal and six transformational projects. 

4.3 The methodology of the Edge Analytics report considers the potential impact of 

employment growth upon population and housing growth in Carmarthenshire. POPGROUP 

quantifies the demographic impact of an economic growth trajectory by measuring the 

relationship between employment growth and the changing size of the resident population and 

its labour force. 

4.4 The Edge Analytics report considers the Employment Sectoral Study as the basis for the 

employment led-scenario as it reflects the content of other economic and regeneration studies 

(as highlighted above).

Tudalen 277



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

Demographic scenarios and jobs growth

4.5 If the six demographic scenarios were considered, the table below indicates the number 

of new jobs the increase in population could support.

4.6 It is estimated that the population growth rate range of 1.7% to 14.2% (WG 2014-based 
to PG Pre-Recession respectively) could support an average annual employment change of -

55 to +632 per annum over the 2018–2033 plan period. 

4.7 The decline in employment change estimated under the WG 2014-based scenario, 

reflects the estimated decline in the labour force over the plan period, driven by population 

ageing and lower migration. The PG Pre-Recession records higher employment growth over 

the plan period, driven by higher migration and the maintenance of a more youthful population. 

4.8 However, even the PG Pre-Recession scenario suggests a lower employment growth 

outcome than the 1,182 per year total from the Employment Sectoral Study. This suggests a 

higher population growth is required to support this level of employment growth, possibly in 

combination with future change in Carmarthenshire’s commuting balance and its underpinning 

economic activity rates. A balanced view is however required in assessing the level of growth 

suggested in the PG Pre-Recession scenario and the Employment Led scenarios below.

Tudalen 278



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

5. Employment Led Scenario and Population Growth

5.1 Using an employment-led formulation of the POPGROUP model, the required 

population and housing growth to meet the 1,182 per annum employment trajectory is 

estimated in the table below.

5.2 To support an average employment growth of +1,182 per year, the required 

estimated population change ranges from 19.3% to 22.2% over the plan period. This is notably 

higher than estimated under each of the demographic scenarios, driven by higher net in-

migration flows to Carmarthenshire to support the defined economic growth. A younger 

migration profile is estimated under the employment-led scenarios (driven by larger growth in 

the working age groups), which in turn results in a younger population age profile than 

estimated under the demographic scenarios. For comparison, the difference in the make-up of 

the population change between the WG-based projection and the employment led projection is 

below.

Tudalen 279



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

5.3 To consider this in context of the adopted Local Development Plan 2006-2021, the LDP 

currently has a housing requirement of 1,013 dwellings per annum. Secondly, build rates for the 

previous 10 years has been at an average of approximately 500 dwellings per year. The 

employment-led scenario highlighted in the table above indicates over twice as many houses 

are required than what has historically been delivered.

6. Summary of the Growth Options for the Revised LDP 

6.1 The Edge Analytics Report provides various demographic and employment led 

scenarios to consider as part of the revised LDP process. Each of the scenarios will be 

considered against other factors which influence the LDP, culminating in a favoured growth 

option.

 The WG 2014-based projections offers very low household growth due to the low 

migration levels for the period it considers. For economic aspirations, the 2014-based 

projection support an average employment change of -55 jobs. 

 The WG 2014-based (10 yr average migration) using both vacancy rates considers a net 

increase of 450 or 436 dwellings per year. This equates to a total of 6,746 and 6,542 

over the revised LDP period. For economic aspirations, this scenario supports an 

employment change of 198 additional jobs per year, or 2,970 jobs over the life of the 

revised LDP.

 The PG short term (using both vacancy rates) considers a net increase of 484 or 470 

dwellings per year, resulting in a total of 7,263 or 7,044 dwellings over the plan period. 

For economic aspirations, PG Short Term supports an average employment change of 

126 jobs per year, or 1,890 jobs over the life of the revised LDP.

 The PG 10 Year (using both vacancy rates) scenario outlines a net increase of 497 or 

482 dwellings per year, this has a resultant requirement of 7,461 or 7,236 dwellings over 

the plan period.  It delivers only a relatively marginal increase in job creation to that of 

the PG short term, falling short of the 5000 jobs figure identified in the Council’s 

Regeneration Strategy. 

 The PG Long term scenario (using both vacancy rates) considers a net increase of 680 

or 659 dwellings per year, resulting in 10,195 or 9,887 dwellings over the plan period. 

For economic aspirations, PG Long term supports an average employment change of 

353 jobs per year, or 5,295 jobs over the life of the revised LDP.

Tudalen 280



Population and Household Forecasts – Briefing Paper 

 The PG pre-recession scenario (using both vacancy rates) consider a net increase of 

969 or 939 dwellings, resulting in 14,529 or 14,090 dwellings over the plan period. For 

the economic aspirations, PG pre-recession supports and average employment change 

of 632 jobs per year, or 9,480 jobs over the life of the revised LDP.

 In considering the employment led scenarios considered from the data within the 

Employment Sectoral Study, the number of dwellings required to support the 

employment growth is as follows:

 Based on a fixed commuting ratio for the Plan period, the requirement would be 

1,354 or 1,313 dwellings per year. This equates to 20,303 or 19,960 dwellings 

over the revised LDP period.

 Based on the CR reducing ratio for the Plan period the requirement would be 

1,196 or 1,160 dwellings per year. This equates to 17,938 or 17,396 dwellings 

over the revised LDP period.

 In terms of the Commuting Reducing Ratio, it means that as the Plan progresses 

through the 15 years, there will be less need for the labour force to out-commute 

as the jobs will be available within the county.

Tudalen 281



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Carmarthenshire Revised Local Development 
Plan (LDP)
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Report

Report for Community Scrutiny

Tudalen 283



1

1. Introduction

Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA)

European Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Flora and Fauna 
(known as the ‘Habitats Directive’), implemented in the UK by the Habitat Regulations 2010, 
provides legal protection for a range of habitats and species identified as being of European 
importance. 

Article 2 of the Directive requires the maintenance or restoration of these habitats and species, in a 
favourable condition, and is achieved through the establishment and maintenance of protected 
areas referred to as Natura 2000 sites. These are comprised of Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) 
designated under European Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild 
Fauna and Flora (‘the Habitats Directive 1992’), implemented in Britain by the Conservation (Natural 
Habitats & c) Regulations 2010 (‘the Habitat Regulations’); and Special Protection Areas (SPA) 
designated under EC Directive 79/409 on the Conservation of Wild Birds (‘the Birds Directive’) and 
Ramsar site under the Ramsar Convention on the Conservation of Wetlands of Importance.

Sites designated as wetlands of international importance under the Ramsar Convention are subject 
to the same provisions as Natura 2000 sites.

The application of Habitats Regulations to Development Plans

Part IVA of the Conservation (Natural Habitats &c.) Regulations 1994 (“the Habitats Regulations”) 
transposes the requirements of article 6(3) and (4) of the Habitats Directive (92/43/EEC) in relation 
to “land use plans”. These plans are defined in regulation 85A and include the following:

 Local development plans adopted or approved under the 2004 Act; and 
 Unitary development plans adopted or approved under the 1990 Act, in accordance with the 

transitional agreements.

WAG’s Technical Advice Note 5, Annex 6(ref) states that The HRA process should consist of the 
following elements:

 Determining whether the development plan, alone or in combination with other plans or 
projects, is likely to have significant effect on any European sites or European offshore 
marine sites and if so, scoping the “appropriate assessment”;

 Undertaking the “appropriate “assessment” (in consultation with NRW and/or Natural 
England) to identify any significant effects that the development plan may have on any 
European sites or European offshore marine sites, either alone or in combination with other 
plans or projects, in view of those sites’ conservation objectives;

 Where the “appropriate assessment” identifies potentially significant impacts on a European 
site or European offshore marine site, identifying whether there are possible alternative 
solutions or mitigation measures which, if adopted, will avoid or counteract those adverse 
impacts; 

Tudalen 284



2

 Determining, in light of the “appropriate assessment”, whether the development plan will or 
will not adversely affect the integrity of any European site or European offshore marine site, 
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects;

 Where there is a possibility that the plan could have such an adverse effect, determining 
whether there are any alternative solutions to the development plan, or to the potentially 
damaging elements within that plan, which would avoid or reduce such effects upon the 
European site(s) or European offshore marine site(s); and

 Where there are no such alternative solutions, determining whether there are imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest for giving effect to the development plan.

The methods and approach used for this screening are based on guidance currently available and 
emergent practice, which recommends that HRA is approached in four main stages - outlined in 
Table 1 below. This report outlines the method and findings for stage 1 of the HRA process.

Table 1 Habitats Regulations Assessment: Key Stages

Habitats Regulation 
Assessment Stage

Purpose Task

1. Screening Process for identifying impacts of 
a plan or project on a European 
site, either individually or in 
combination, and consideration 
of whether likely effects will be 
significant. 

 Description of the plan
 Identification of 

potential effects on 
European Sites

 Assessing the effects 
on European Sites.

2. Appropriate Assessment Consideration of impacts on 
integrity of the site, either 
individually or in combination 
with other plans and projects, 
having regard to the site’s 
structure, function and 
conservation objectives. Where 
adverse impacts are identified, 
assess mitigation options to 
identify impacts on the integrity 
of the site. This stage should 
involve consultation. If 
mitigation options do not result 
in avoidance of adverse effects 
permission can only be granted if 
the remaining 2 stages are 
followed.

 Gather information 
(plan and European 
Sites)

 Impact prediction
 Evaluation of impacts 

in view of conservation 
objectives

3. Assessment of alternative 
solutions

Review and examine alternatives 
to achieve objectives; would 
these alternative solutions avoid 
or have less adverse effects on 
the European sites?

 Where impacts 
considered to affect 
qualifying features, 
identify alternative 
options 

 Assess alternative 
options 

 If no alternatives exist, 
define and evaluate 

Tudalen 285



3

mitigation measures 
where necessary

4. Assessment of any 
‘imperative reasons of 
overriding public interest’ 
(IROPI)

Where no suitable alternative 
solution exists and adverse 
impacts still remain then assess 
whether the development is 
necessary for IROPI. If so then 
identify potential compensatory 
measures to maintain integrity 
and coherence of the protected 
site.

 Identify ‘imperative 
reasons of overriding 
public interest’ (IROPI)

 Identify potential 
compensatory 
measures

Purpose of report

At this stage of Plan preparation, with the exception of a small number of strategic sites, the 
Preferred Strategy will not include reference to the identification of any site-specific allocations. This 
will be done as part of drawing up the Deposit LDP, once the Preferred Strategy has been agreed.

This HRA Report therefore comprises the high-level preliminary screening stage (of the HRA process) 
of the Preferred Strategy. It identifies those allocation sites and/or policies which would clearly have 
no effects upon European sites enabling these to be ‘screened out’ of any further assessment. 
Therefore, the focus of further, more detailed assessment would only be applied to allocation sites, 
or policies, where a likely significant effect could be possible. Further detailed screening will be 
carried out on the next iteration of the LDP (i.e. the Deposit LDP) when the policies have been 
prepared and a full list of allocation sites has been agreed. Allocation sites and policies included for 
further detailed screening would then be reviewed in more detail based on the available 
information.

Consultation

The Habitats Regulations require the plan making/competent authority to consult the appropriate 
nature conservation statutory body (Natural Resources Wales) if undertaking an Appropriate 
Assessment, however  consultation with other bodies and the public is left to the discretion of the 
local planning authority (regulation 85B(3)).

WAG guidance notes that it is good practice to make information on HRA available to the public at 
each formal development plan consultation stage. Therefore, in addition to the statutory 
consultation undertaken with NRW, this report will be made available for wider consultation. 

Responses to this consultation should be sent in writing to: 

Forward Planning Section, 
Environment Department, 
7/8 Spilman Street,
Carmarthen,
Carmarthenshire,
SA31 1JY

or e mail: forward.planning@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Tudalen 286



4

or online at www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk by the closing date of XXX

Following the receipt of the consultation comments, they will be reviewed and modifications will be 
made to the HRA screening report as necessary

Structure of report

This report documents the process and the findings from the screening stages of the HRA for 
Carmarthenshire County Council Preferred Strategy. Following this introductory section, the 
document is organised into the following sections:

Section 2 outlines the methodology and key tasks undertaken for the HRA screening of the Preferred 
Strategy stage of the LDP, and includes reference to the key information sources used. 

Section 3 outlines the process and summary findings of the Screening Process and assessment 
including:

 3.1 Task 1: Identification and characterisation or European Sites
 3.2 Task 2: Screening of Preferred Strategy to identify potential likely effects on European Sites
 3.3 Task 3: Consideration of effects in combination with other plans, programmes and projects.
 3.4 Task 4: Screening Assessment Summary

 

Tudalen 287



5

2. Methodology

Stage 1 – Screening

The process of Screening can be broken down into four main task areas. Each task is outlined below.

 Task 1: Identification and characterisation of European sites
 Task 2: Review and screening of Development Plan to identify potential impacts and likely 

effects on European sites.
 Task 3: Consideration of other plans and projects that may act ‘in-combination’
 Task 4: Screening Assessment, recording the opinion and supporting information and 

analysis. 

A screening assessment, both alone and in combination, with other identified plans and projects will 
identify if any significant environmental affects will result affecting the site and conclude whether 
significant affects are likely or not.

If no potential significant affects are identified, the process ends at this stage.

If there are found to be likely significant effects, having applied the precautionary principle, the plan 
must be subject to an Appropriate Assessment (AA) of its implications for the European site in view 
of the site’s conservation objectives. The work carried out at the evidence gathering stage and the 
screening stage should be drawn upon to assist in assessing the effects of the plan option on the 
conservation objectives

Determining ‘likely significant effect’

In order to decide whether a development plan at any stage requires an appropriate assessment, it 
is necessary to apply the two tests set out in regulation 85B(1) of the regulations, which are:

(1) Is the plan likely to have a significant effect on a European site or European offshore marine 
site (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects)? 

(2) Is it directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site?

When undertaking this assessment a precautionary approach is required. The development plan 
should be considered ‘likely’ to have such an effect if the planning authority is unable (on the basis 
of objective information) to exclude the possibility that the plan could have significant effects on any 
European site or European offshore marine site, either alone or in combination with other plans or 
projects.

An effect will be considered ‘significant’ in this context if it could undermine the conservation 
objectives of a European designated site. The assessment of that risk (of ‘significance’) must be 
made in the light, amongst other things, of the characteristics and specific environmental conditions 
of the site concerned.

The screening step will therefore screen out aspects of the plan which could not have any negative 
effect at all on a European site, because there is no link, nor pathway, nor other relationship 
between the effects of the policy or proposal and any European site, including cases where the link 

Tudalen 288



6

is severed or eliminated by distance, or because any potential effects would be positive, not 
negative.

If the likelihood of significant affects cannot be ruled out on the evidence available, then it must be 
assumed that a risk of significant affects may exist. These will then need to be addressed through 
either changes to the scheme, avoidance or through securing mitigation measures.

Guidance for Habitats Regulations Appraisal/Appropriate 
Assessment
The following methodology developed for the HRA screening is based upon the following regulations 
and guidance documents:

Regulations:
 Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) Regulations 2012 (the ‘Conservation 

Regulations’).
 Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora, 

(the 'Habitats Directive').
Guidance:
 Assessment of plans and projects significantly affecting Natura 2000 sites. European Commission 

(2001).
 Department for Communities and Local Government (2006). Planning for the Protection of 

European Sites: Guidance for Regional Spatial Strategies and Local Development Documents.
 TAN 5
 Habitats Regulations Assessment: A toolkit to support HRA Screening and Appropriate 

Assessment of Plans. South East Wales Strategic Planning Group (SEWSPG) (2008)
 DTA Publications Limited The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook.

Tudalen 289



7

3. Screening

3.1 Task 1: Identification and characterisation or European Sites

Plans, programmes and projects can have spatial implications that extend beyond the intended plan 
boundaries. It is recognised that distance in itself is not a definitive guide to the likelihood or severity 
of an impact and factors such as prevailing wind direction, river flow direction and groundwater flow 
direction will all have baring on the relevant distance at which an impact can occur. This means that 
a plan directing development some distance away from a European Site could still have effects on 
the site and therefore, needs to be considered as part of the screening process. 

European sites on which Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan could potentially have a 
significant effect have been identified via data obtained through the Joint Nature Conservation 
Committee (JNCC) Protected Sites Designations Directory and by applying a 15km buffer from the 
County boundary, in order to take into consideration the potential for transboundary impacts. 

12 designated sites lie within Carmarthenshire’s County boundary and are listed in the table below.

European Site within Plan Boundary Designation
River Tywi SAC
Caeau Mynydd Mawr SAC
Cernydd Carmel SAC
Carmarthen Bay Dunes SAC
River Teifi SAC
Cleddau Rivers SAC
Carmarthen Bay and Estuary SAC
Cwm Doethie – Mynydd Mallaen SAC
Carmarthen Bay SPA
Elenydd - Mallaen SPA
Burry Inlet SPA
Burry Inlet Ramsar

Screening has identified a further 13 designated sites that lie within the 15km buffer zone and may 
be influenced by transboundary effects of the Carmarthenshire preferred strategy.

European Site within 15km buffer around Plan 
Boundary

Designation Distance from Plan boundary (km)

Cardigan Bay SAC 9.2km
North Pembrokeshire Woodlands SAC 9.0km
Yerbeston Tops SAC 8.8km
Rhos Llawr-cwrt SAC 7.5km
Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherton Lakes SAC 6.9km
Gower Ash Woods SAC 8.8km
Pembrokeshire Marine SAC 4.7km
Gower Commons SAC 4.0km
River Wye SAC 1.7km
Gweunydd Blaencleddau SAC 1.9km
Preseli SAC 0.5km

Tudalen 290



8

Mynydd Epynt SAC 1.8km
River Usk SAC 0.2km

Appendix 1.provides a summary of each of the European sites considered to potentially be affected 
by the Carmarthenshire Preferred Strategy, and sets out the conservation objectives and condition 
assessment for each of the features of interest for each site. Detailed site characterisation 
information for each of the identified sites can be found in the accompanying Core Management 
Plan and Natura 2000 standard data form for each site, which can be accessed via the Joint Nature 
Conservation Committee website.

Tudalen 291



9

Figure 1 Location of European sites in relation to Carmarthenshire.

T
udalen 292



10

3.2 Task 2: Screening of Preferred Strategy to identify potential likely 
effects on European Sites

This chapter sets out a preliminary screening of the potential significant likely effects of the revised 
Carmarthenshire Draft Pre-Deposit Preferred Strategy on the conservation objectives of the 
European sites identified in Task 1. 

Those sites identified as having the potential for Likely Significant Effects (LSE), as a result of the 
implementation of the Preferred Strategy, or those European sites for which impacts were 
uncertain, will be carried forward into more detailed screening assessment. 

Scanning and selection European sites potentially affected. 

The scanning stage identifies sites that may be affected by the plan as far beyond as necessary for 
sites and identifying causal connections and links between the plan proposals and the qualifying 
features of the sites. 

The checklist provided in Table 2  identifies potential pathways by which the Preferred Strategy may 
impact on European sites. This checklist reflects and expands upon Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
guidance, and provides a systematic and transparent way of identifying sites potentially affected by 
the Preferred Strategy. 

Figure 2 Impact Source, Pathway, Receptor model

Source
e.g. New Housing

Pathway
 e.g. recreation, traffic, 

noise

Receptor 
e.g. disturbance for 

nesting birds

This process enables an appropriate ‘short list’ of sites potentially affected to be identified, from 
which he final list of sites to be included in assessment can be selected after considering the relevant 
information. Selection of sites is an iterative process, considering and reconsidering information until 
there is a satisfactory degree of confidence that all sites potentially adversely affected have been 
selected. 

If there is no causal connection or link between the Plan’s proposals and the sites qualifying features 
there cannot be an effect. If there is a ‘theoretical’ pathway or ‘hypothetical’ cause, but in practice 
there is no credible evidence of a real link to the site, it cannot be regarded as being potentially 
significant, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects. There is no point including 
that supposition in further assessment. 

This scan is broad ranging, but following a systematic approach is likely to ensure compliance and to 
provide credible and demonstrable evidence of how sites were scanned and selected. 

The scanning list includes plans by: 

 Type – e.g. plans that increase the amount of development
 Potential effect on resources - e.g. the aquatic environment or mobile species

Tudalen 293



11

 The nature of potential effects – e.g. plans that introduce new activities which could affect 
air quality.

Table 2 Scanning and site selection list for sites that could potentially be affected by the plan. 

Types of plan Site selection criteria Sites selected for further 
consideration
SACs
 River Tywi 
 Caeau Mynydd Mawr 
 Cernydd Carmel 
 Carmarthen Bay Dunes 
 Cleddau Rivers 
 River Teifi 
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries 
 Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 

Mallaen 
SPA/Ramsar

1. All plans 
(terrestrial, coastal 
and marine)

Sites within the plan area

 Carmarthen Bay SPA
 Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar
 Elenydd - Mallaen
SACs
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 River Usk
 River Wye
SPA/Ramsar

Sites upstream or downstream of 
the plan area in the case of river or 
estuary sites

 Carmarthen Bay 
 Burry Inlet 
SACs
 Afon Teifi
 Caeau Mynydd Mawr
 Cernydd Carmel
 Carmarthen Bay Dunes
 Cleddau Rivers
 Gweunydd Blaencleddau
 Preseli
 River Wye
SPA/Ramsar

2. Plans that could 
affect the aquatic 
environment

Open water, peatland, fen, marsh 
and other wetland sites with 
relevant hydrological links to land 
within the plan area, irrespective of 
distance

 Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar
SACs
 Carmarthen Bay and Dunes
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Cardigan Bay
 Pembrokeshire Marine
SPA/Ramsar

3. Plans that could 
affect the marine 
environment

Sites that could be affected by 
changes in water quality, currents 
or flows; or effects on the intertidal 
or subtidal areas or the seabed or 
marine species

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay 
SACs4. Plans that could 

affect the coast
Sites in the same coastal ‘cell’ or 
part of the same coastal 
ecosystem, or where there are 
interrelationships with or between 

 Carmarthen Bay and Dunes
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Cardigan Bay

Tudalen 294



12

 Pembrokeshire Marine
SPA/Ramsar

different physical coastal processes

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay
SACs
 River Tywi
 River Teifi
 Cleddau Rivers
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Caeau Mynydd Mawr
 Cardigan Bay
 Pembrokeshire Marine
 River Wye
 River Usk
 North Pembrokeshire 

Woodlands
 Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 

Bosherton Lakes
 Yerbeston Tops
 Rhos Lawr Cwrt
 Preseli
 Gower Commons
SPA/Ramsar

5. Plans that could 
affect mobile species

Sites whose qualifying features 
include mobile species which may 
be affected by the plan irrespective 
of the location of the plans or 
whether the species would be in or 
out of the site when thy might be 
affected.

 Carmarthen Bay
 Burry Inlet
SAC
 River Teifi
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Carmarthen Bay Dunes
 Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 

Mallaen
SPA/Ramsar

Such sites in the plan area

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay
 Elenydd - Mallaen

Such sites within a reasonable 
travel distance of the plan area 
boundaries that may be affected by 
local recreational or other visitor 
pressure from within the plan area

None

6. Plans that could 
increase recreational 
pressure on 
European sites 
potentially 
vulnerable to such 
pressure

Such sites within a longer travel 
distance of the plan area which are 
major (regional or national) visitor 
attractions such as site which are 
National Nature Reserves where 
public visiting is promoted, sites in 
National Parks, coastal sites and 
sites in other major tourist or 
visitor destinations.

None

Tudalen 295



13

SACs
 River Teifi
 River Tywi
 Cleddau Rivers
 Caeau Mynydd Mawr
 Cardigan Bay
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Carmarthen Bay Dunes
 Cernydd Carmel 
 Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 

Mallaen
 Mynydd Epynt
 Preseli
 River Wye
 River Usk
 Yerbeston Tops
 Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 

Bosherton Lakes
 Pembrokeshire Marine
 Gower Commons
SPA/Ramsar

Sites in the plan area or beyond 
that are used for, or could be 
affected by, water abstraction 
irrespective of distance from the 
plan area

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay
SACs
 River Teifi
 River Tywi
 Cleddau Rivers
 Cardigan Bay
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Cernydd Carmel
 River Wye
 River Usk
 Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 

Bosherton Lakes
 Pembrokeshire Marine
SPAs/Ramsar

Sites used for, or which could be 
affected by, discharge of effluent 
from waste water treatment works 
or other waste management 
streams serving the plan area, 
irrespective of distance

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay 

Sites that could be affected by the 
provision of new or extended 
transport or other infrastructure

None

SACs

7. Plans that would 
increase the amount 
of development

Sites that could be affected by 
increased deposition of air 
pollutants arising from the plan, 
including emissions from significant 
increases in traffic

 Caeau Mynydd Mawr
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Carmarthen Bay and Dunes
 Cernydd Carmel
 Cleddau Rivers
 Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 

Mallaen
 Gower Ash Woods
 Gower Commons

Tudalen 296



14

 Gweunydd Blaencleddau
 Mynydd Epynt
 Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 

Bosherton Lakes
 Pembrokeshire Marine
 Preseli
 Rhos Llawr-cwrt
 North Pembrokeshire 

Woodlands
 Yerbeston Tops
SPA/Ramsar
 Carmarthen Bay
 Burry Inlet

8. Plans for linear 
developments or 
infrastructure

Sites within a specified distance 
from the centre line of a proposed 
route (or alternative routes), the 
distance may be varied depending 
on type of site/qualifying features 
and in the absence of established 
good practice standards, distances 
are to be agreed by the statutory 
nature body

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

9. Plans that 
introduce new 
activities or new 
uses to the marine, 
coastal or terrestrial 
environment

Sites considered have qualifying 
features potentially vulnerable or 
sensitive to the effects of the new 
activities proposed by the plan

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

10. Plans that could 
change the nature, 
area, extent, 
intensity, density, 
timing or scale of 
existing use 
activities.

Sites considered to have qualifying 
features potentially vulnerable or 
sensitive to the effects of the 
changes to existing activities 
proposed by the plan

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

11. Plans that could 
change the quantity, 
quality, timing, 
treatment or 
mitigation of 
emissions or 
discharges to air, 
water or soil

Sites considered to have qualifying 
features potentially vulnerable or 
sensitive to the changes in 
emissions or discharges that could 
arise as a result of the plan (over 
and above those already identified)

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

12. Plans that could 
change the quantity, 
volume, timing, rate 
or other 
characteristics of 
biological resources 
harvested, extracted 
or consumed

Sites whose qualifying features 
include the biological resources 
which the plan may affect, or 
whose qualifying features depend 
on the biological resources which 
the plan may affect e.g. as prey 
species or supporting habitat or 
which may be disturbed by the 

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

Tudalen 297



15

harvesting, extraction or 
consumption

13. Plans that could 
change the quantity, 
volume, timing, rate 
or other 
characteristics of 
physical resources 
extracted or 
consumed

Sites whose qualifying features rely 
on the non-biological resources 
which the plan may affect e.g. as 
habitat or physical environment on 
which habitat may develop or 
which may be disturbed by the 
extraction or consumption

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

SACs
 Afon Teifi
 Afon Tywi
 Cleddau Rivers
 Cardigan Bay
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Cwm Doethie
 Gower Commons
 Gower Ash Woods
 North Pembrokeshire 

Woodlands
 Pembrokeshire Marine
 Pembrokeshire Bat sites and 

Bosherton Lakes
 River Wye
 River Usk
SPA/Ramsar

14. Plans that could 
introduce, increase 
or alter the timing, 
nature or location of 
disturbance to 
species

Sites whose qualifying features are 
considered to be potentially 
vulnerable or sensitive to 
disturbance e.g. as a result of 
noise, activity or movement, or the 
presence of disturbing features 
that could be brought about by the 
plan

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay 
SACs
 Afon Teifi
 Afon Tywi
 Cleddau Rivers
 Cardigan Bay
 Carmarthen Bay
 Pembrokeshire Marine
 Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 

Bosherton Lakes
 River Wye
 River Usk
SPAs

15. Plans which 
could introduce, 
increase or change 
the timing, nature or 
location of light or 
noise pollution

Sites whose qualifying features are 
considered to be potentially 
vulnerable to the effects of 
changes in light or noise that could 
be brought about by the plan 

 Burry Inlet
 Carmarthen Bay

16. Plans which 
could introduce or 
increase a potential 
cause of mortality of 
species

Sites whose qualifying features are 
considered to be potentially 
vulnerable to the source of new or 
increased mortality that could be 
brought about by the plan

None (Plan does not produce such 
risks)

Tudalen 298



16

Based on the checklist and taking into account the nature, scope content and function of the 
Preferred Strategy, it is considered that the preliminary screening will need to consider the following 
range of effects:

 Effects on aquatic environment
 Effects on the marine environment
 Effects on the coast
 Effects on mobile species
 Recreational effects 
 Effects associated development 

- Water abstraction
- Discharge of effluent from wastewater
- Effects of air pollution

 Species disturbance effects
 Noise and light pollution effects

Each effect mechanism is introduced and considered at a generic level in relation to the overall 
preferred strategy in the subsequent paragraphs and summarised in Table 12, where implications for 
further screening work have been identified. Where evidence shows that certain effect mechanisms 
will not result in Likely Significant Effects on certain sites, they are screened out from further 
assessment at this stage.

Effects on the aquatic environment
The ‘aquatic environment’ of a site is typically the body of water in a site, taking into consideration 
its movement into, through and out of the site. Effects considered under this heading relate to the 
localised effects of development on the existing surface water and ground water movement. Direct 
effects (such as sediment run off or the reduction of rainwater infiltration) are distinct from indirect 
effects such as water abstraction and wastewater, which are assessed separately under ‘effects 
associated with development’.

Development and changes in land use can have affect the aquatic environment. It can cause 
acceleration of run off by increasing hard surface and reducing areas where infiltration can occur, 
which can increase the amount of chemicals or other pollutants entering watercourses. Water run 
off can also be slowed, through water retention and the introduction of Sustainable drainage 
systems. Sedimentation of surface water can also occur through run off from building sites or the 
diversion of water courses to other catchments. 

Sites identified as potentially vulnerable to this effect are detailed in Table 3. In the case of all of 
these sites, effects are only considered likely where development is in close proximity to a water 
course that is in hydraulic continuity to the site and so will need to be subject to detailed screening. 
For this reason identified sites are screened in at this stage and this is summarised in Table 3.

Tudalen 299



17

Table 3 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects on aquatic environment.

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
Assessment 
Required?

Reasoning

SAC
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

River Usk Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
River Wye Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
SPA/Ramsat
Carmarthen Bay SPA Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Elenydd - Mallaen Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Effects on the marine environment
Development and growth can lead to effects on the marine environment. These effects are 
considered unlikely, but screened in for all identified sites for detailed assessment, on precautionary 
basis. Sites sensitive to effects on the marine environment and preliminary screening assessment is 
summarised in Table 4.

Table 4 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects on marine environment.

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
Assessmen
t Required?

Reasoning

SAC
Carmarthen Bay and Dunes Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Cardigan Bay Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Pembrokeshire Marine Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
SPA/Ramsar
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay SPA Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Effects on the coast
New development and growth can result in impacts on coastal processes. Installation of coastal 
defence structures to protect land and property can interfere with natural sand movement and 
erosion, which can result in coastal squeeze and effects on coastal dynamics. 
Increased recreational pressures also have the potential to modify physical, chemical and 
environmental factors and processes in the coastal environment, which are assessed in more detail 
under ‘recreational effects’. These effects are considered unlikely, but screened in for all identified 
sites for detailed assessment, on precautionary basis. Sites sensitive to effects on the coast and 
screening assessment is summarised in Table 5.

Tudalen 300



18

Table 5 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects on the coast

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
Assessment 
Required?

Reasoning

SAC
Carmarthen Bay and Dunes Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Cardigan Bay Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Pembrokeshire Marine Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
SPA/Ramsar
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay SPA Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Effects on mobile species
Mobile species are those listed as features of a site, that are dependent on areas of land outside of 
the designated site boundary, such as birds, bats, fish etc. The mobile species identified as relevant 
to this preliminary assessment and the sites they are designated within are detailed in Table 6.

Table 6 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects on the coast

Sites with mobile 
species as designated 
features

Distance  outside CCC 
boundary

Potentially impacted 
Species 

Further assessment 
required? 

Within CCC boundary
Twaite shad No
Allis shad No
Sea lamprey No
River lamprey No

River Tywi SAC N/A

Otter Yes
Twaite shad No
Allis shad No
Sea lamprey No
River lamprey No
Otter Yes

River Teifi SAC N/A

Atlantic salmon No
River lamprey NoCleddau Rivers SAC N/A
Sea lamprey No
Twaite shad No
Allis shad No
Sea lamprey No
River lamprey No

Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries SAC

N/A

Otter Yes
Caeau Mynydd Mawr 
SAC

N/A Marsh Fritillary Butterfly Yes

Carmarthen Bay SPA N/A Bird Assemblage Yes
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar N/A Bird Assemblage Yes

Outside CCC boundary
Bottlenose dolphin No
Grey seal No

Cardigan Bay SAC 9.2km

Sea lamprey No

Tudalen 301



19

River lamprey No
Grey seal No
Sea lamprey No
River lamprey No
Allis shad No
Twaite shad No

Pembrokeshire Marine 
SAC

4.7km

Otter Yes
Twaite shad No
Allis shad No
Sea lamprey No
River lamprey No
Otter Yes

River Wye 1.7km

Atlantic salmon No
Twaite shad No
Allis shad No
Sea lamprey No
River lamprey No
Otter Yes

River Usk 0.2km

Atlantic salmon No
North Pembrokeshire 
Woodlands

9km Barbastelle Bat Yes

Greater Horseshoe Bat Yes
Lesser Horseshoe Bat No

Pembrokeshire bat sites 6.9km

Otter Yes
Yerbeston Tops 8.8km Marsh fritillary butterfly No
Rhos Lawr-cwrt 7.5km Marsh fritillary butterfly No
Preseli 0.5km Marsh fritillary butterfly Yes
Gower Commons 4km Marsh fritillary butterfly No

Twaite Shad, Allis Shad, River lamprey, Sea lamprey and Atlantic salmon
The Twaite Shad, Allis Shad, River lamprey, Sea Lamprey and Atlantic salmon all utilise migratory 
routes through both estuarine and riverine SACs within Carmarthenshire at different stages of their 
life cycles. In Carmarthenshire, the Rivers Tywi, Teifi and Cleddau all have these as designated 
features of their SACs. The River Tywi is of particular importance to shad species as it is thought to 
be one of only four rivers in Wales in which they are known to spawn. 

The rivers Tywi, Teifi and Cleddau all drain into estuaries which also have shad and lamprey as 
protected features, namely Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC, Cardigan Bay SAC and 
Pembrokeshire Marine SAC respectively. The rivers Usk and Wye also have shad and lamprey as 
designated species and their catchment area lies partially within Carmarthenshire. 

Offsite impact on features within these sites is likely to be as a result of water quality or 
abstraction impact. For this reason, any likely significant impacts on shad, lamprey or Atlantic 
salmon in the listed sites will be assessed further and in more detail under the heading ‘affects 
associated with development’ and will not be considered further under this impact pathway.

Marsh Fritillary Butterfly
Marsh fritillary butterfly are designated features of a number of sites within the 15km buffer zone 
for consideration under HRA (Table XX). Conservation objectives for Marsh fritillary butterflies state 

Tudalen 302



20

that ‘There will be at least 10ha of Good Condition (optimal breeding) habitat on or within 2km radii 
of the SAC, set in a matrix of at least 50ha of Suitable Condition habitat’. 

All but Gower Commons SAC are considered to support insufficient habitat to achieve good 
conservation status under the above objective and are therefore highly sensitive to habitat 
fragmentation and loss as a result of development within a 2km radii of SAC boundaries. 

Yerbeston tops SAC, Rhos Lawr cwrt SAC and Gower Commons SAC are sited more than 2km 
outside of the direct influence of Carmarthenshire’s LDP and are therefore all screened out of 
further consideration under this impact pathway, as the LDP is not likely to have a significant 
effect on habitat fragmentation at these sites.

Sites identified as potentially vulnerable to impacts on Marsh Fritillary butterfly are: Caeau 
Mynydd Mawr SAC and Preseli SAC on the basis that the LDP may potentially impact on the 2km 
habitat buffer around these SACs and must therefore be considered at the detailed screening 
stage.

Barbastelle Bat
With regards to potential offsite impacts on Barbastelle bats, the management plan for North 
Pembrokeshire Woodlands SAC states that ‘One threat to the barbastelle feature is that around half 
of the roosting sites and the majority of the foraging areas lie outside the SAC boundaries, as the 
boundaries were drawn up before the bats were discovered.’ 
To address this, the site management plan has the following conservation objectives for the 
Barbastelle bat feature: 

‘there will be continual foraging habitat within a 16km radius around Pengelli Forest, including 
wooded stream valleys, low and overgrown hedgerows, scrub, overgrown pastures, broken stands 
and woodland (which can include conifer plantations).’ 

 ‘Roosts outside the [SAC] boundary will be left undisturbed, with no woodland management within 
50m of a barbastelle roost and no clearance of shrub layer.’

As a result, detailed screening will need to be carried out to identify impacts any potential impacts 
on foraging habitat within a 16km radius around Pengelli, used by Barbastelle bats. 

Greater and Lesser Horseshoe Bats

Both Greater and Lesser horseshoe bats are features of Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherton 
Lakes, which is an important site for a number of bat species, and contains a range of important 
roosting sites and nursery roosts for a range of bat species. 

The Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherton Lakes Management Plan states that between 1-16km 
from the component SSSI ‘extensive hedgerow systems and tree-lined watercourses, linking roost 
sites and grasslands foraging areas to be retained within up to 16km of these roosts’. 

It also states that an area between 7-16km from component SSSIs may be used for foraging, but 
flight routes may lead further connecting to other roost sites. And that ‘All existing roosts known to 
CCW should be maintained and there should be no physical deterioration in or disturbance of these 
sites, or loss or of roosting opportunity within 1-16 km radius of the key breeding roosts within the 
SAC.’

Tudalen 303



21

Pembrokeshire Bat Site and Bosherton Lakes SAC sits more than 16km outside of Carmarthenshire’s 
border and therefore will not have any offsite impacts that will have a significant effect on this 
objective. However, it is relevant to this assessment that the management plan does make reference 
to cumulative records, which show that Greater horseshoe bats utilise roosts throughout the West 
Wales region, including Carmarthenshire.

Offsite impacts as a result of the LDP are therefore not considered to have a likely significant 
effect on Lesser Bat species, which are screened out of further assessment. Records would need to 
be checked to inform the screening of any such areas that are considered for development with 
regards to potential threats to greater horseshoe bats, and as such this will be taken forward for 
detailed screening. 

European Otters
European otters are designated features of a number of European sites considered for screening 
within this document, including River Tywi, River Teifi, Cleddau Rivers, Carmarthenshire Bay and 
Estuaries, Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherton Lakes, Pembrokeshire Marine, River Wye and 
River Usk SACs. Management plans for all of the aforementioned sites highlight that otters ‘may be 
affected by developments that affect resting and breeding sites outside of SAC boundaries’.

With regards to riverine SACs, the management plans state that ‘otters require sufficient 
undisturbed riparian habitat for breeding and resting to be maintained in areas adjacent to the SACs’ 
and that in urban areas focus is often placed on maintaining the river as a ‘communication corridor’ 
without considering the requirement of the surrounding supporting habitats, which enable the river 
corridor to function efficiently. Therefore, 

One threat of particular relevance is an increase in road use, as otter road deaths have been 
highlighted as having a potentially significant impact on populations within river catchments. 

It is also highly likely that otters travel between water courses and along the coastline, utilising 
inland watercourses for breeding and coastal areas for foraging. Otters are known to utilise most 
areas of the coastline within and adjacent to both Pembrokeshire Marine and Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries SACs and it is likely that otters present at a particular site are part of the wider population, 
with no site completely isolated. Of relevance to this assessment is the emphasised links between 
the coastal SAC’s and both Tywi and Cleddau river SACs, both of which fall within Carmarthenshire’s 
boundary

This indicates otters a highly mobile between the aforementioned SACs and as such are at risk of 
impacts as a result of the LDP, outside of SAC boundaries.

In light of this, detailed screening will need to be undertaken to identify any site allocations which 
may impact on the use of suitable areas of land outside the SAC boundary by otters. 

Bottlenose Dolphin and Grey Seal
Neither Bottlenose dolphin nor Grey seal species utilise any of the waterways that lie within the plan 
area as part of their natural range. However, upstream water quality issues within the rivers Cleddau 
or Teifi have the potential to negatively impact on both species within Cardigan Bay SAC and 
Pembrokeshire Marine SAC, as well as their natural prey. This will be addressed in more detail 
under the heading ‘affects associated with development’ and will be therefore not be considered 
further under this effect pathway.

Tudalen 304



22

SPA Bird Assemblages
The listed bird species of the Burry Inlet and Carmarthen Bay SPAs  are also considered as ‘mobile’, 
as at high tide many of the wading species are likely to seek refuge in supporting habitat outside of 
the SPA boundary. This is due to habitats above mean high water becoming too crowded or 
disturbed by roosting birds, when birds that utilise intertidal habitats are forced out by the incoming 
tide. Therefore, the birds will, at certain time, be required to utilise supporting habitats outside of 
the SPA, which often include arable land or recreational playing fields. In absence of any evidence to 
the contrary, any suitable land within 1km inshore of the SPAs may be used as supporting habitat by 
bird species at high tide or during inclement weather. 

Records will need to be checked to inform the screening of any such areas that are considered for 
development and will be considered in further detailed screening.

Recreational Effects
The effects of recreational pressure on SACs and SPAs are primarily related to damage to habitats 
and disturbance to species for which the site is designated. Damage to habitats usually arise as a 
result of trampling, which over a period of time can cause paths and tracks to become established 
and subsequently widened. The wearing of paths from use can also cause or accelerate erosion 
leading to further habitat damage. Increased access can also increase the likelihood of invasive, non-
native species being introduced into the SAC. 

Disturbance and/or impacts on species in SACs and SPAs are largely as a result of increased use of 
the sites, which can lead to an increase in activities such as dog walking, recreational fishing, as well 
as eco-tourism activities, recreational boating and pollution associated with anthropogenic use of a 
site. Recreational effects on species will be addressed in more detail under the heading ‘Species 
disturbance effects’.

Section 9 of the preferred strategy states that the strategic growth option on which the strategy is 
based would result in a population change of + 16,567, which represents a population growth of 
+9.4% over the plan period. Unless development occurs in very close proximity to a European site it 
can be assumed, on a precautionary basis, that LDP allocations will result in a proportional 9.4% 
increase in visitor numbers over the plan period. 

7 sites are identified as being potentially sensitive to recreational pressures. It is considered that in 
relation to the potential effects from recreation associated with overall population growth, current 
management of site activities will be able to ensure that sites are able to absorb the anticipated 
overall increase of approx. 0.63% in visitor numbers per year without any likely significant effects to 
conservation objectives.

Any effects associated with development in close proximity to a European site, which may 
generate effects with regards to increasing recreational pressure, will be considered in further 
detailed screening. 
A summary of the preliminary screening of European sites identified as potentially vulnerable to 
effects of recreation are shown in Table 7

Tudalen 305



23

Table 7 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to recreational effects

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
screening 
required?

Reasoning

SAC
River Teifi Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Carmarthen Bay Dunes Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cwm – Doethie – Mynydd 
Mallaen

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

SPA/Ramsar
Burry Inlet SPA Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay 
SPA/Ramsar

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Elenydd – Mallaen SPA Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Effects as a result of development: Water abstraction
Development places an increased demand on water supplies and the potential impacts of increased 
abstraction rates on surface water and groundwater levels can represent likely significant effects on 
European sites. 

Water supply for new development can be abstracted from a source at some distance from the 
actual development location. As a result the potential effects of development through increased 
abstraction must be informed by the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) Water Resource 
Management Plan (WRMP) 

Abstraction is licenced by Natural Resources Wales (NRW), who are the competent authority under 
the Habitats Regulations, and therefore it is primarily the responsibility of NRW to avoid adverse 
effects on European sites as a result of abstraction. However, the HRA of the Deposit Plan must 
recognise that the consenting and management options available to NRW are limited by water 
availability. Welsh Water has a duty to supply new development and there is a tension within the 
HRA if it assumes the NRW can simply consent any associated increases in abstraction in such a way 
to avoid adverse effects on European Sites. 

It is the responsibility of the HRA of the deposit plan to ensure that the allocation of housing as a 
result of the Preferred Strategy is done in such a way that there are viable options available to both 
NRW and DCWW to meet water supply demands and avoid adverse effects on the integrity of any 
European sites. 

The water resources requirements for Carmarthenshire are supplied entirely by DCWW, and the 
county lies within the Tywi conjunctive use system (Tywi WRZ). The draft DCWW Resource 
Management Plan1 (WRMP) predicts that the Tywi WRZ will be in surplus throughout the period of 
the LDP2, based on the projected increase in household numbers within Carmarthenshire of 14.6% 

1 DCWW Draft Water Resources Management Plan Technical Report, March 2018. 
2 Refer to Section 5.18.4

Tudalen 306



24

between 2014 and 20393, with an increase from 82,751 to 89,532 between 2018 and 20334. This 
overall growth forecast exceeds the growth provided for in the Preferred Strategy of 11.7%.

NRW and the EA undertook a detailed review of a DCWW abstraction licences and concluded that 
there were twenty one sites where potential adverse effects upon protected species could not be 
discounted. However the WRMP states that the required amendments to abstraction licences have 
been agreed in order to ensure that there are at sustainable levels now, and in the future, and have 
been built in to the baseline deployable output calculations.

DCWW were also responsible for undertaking a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the most recent 
Water Resources Management Plan. This included consideration of the abstraction licence review 
undertaken by EA and NRW and concluded that ‘the WRMP will have no adverse effects, alone or in 
combination on any European sites’ at the plan level. On the basis of the detailed HRA assessment 
undertaken by DCWW, which was informed by the NRW and EA review of consents work and subject 
to a wide consultation with the statutory agencies, it is reasonable for Carmarthenshire to adopt the 
conclusions for the purpose of the HRA of the preferred strategy and the Deposit plan. Further work 
would be a duplication of work undertaken by NRW and DCWW and as the most appropriate 
authorities in relation to the potential effects connected with water supply, any further work by 
Carmarthenshire is not considered to be appropriate or necessary.

Therefore, it is concluded that the preferred strategy will have no likely significant effect on any 
European site in respect of effects associated with water supply. Such effects can be excluded on 
the basis of the objective information available through the EA and NRW review of consents work 
and the most recent HRA of the DCWW Water Resources Management Plan. 

A summary of the preliminary screening of European sites identified as potentially vulnerable to 
effects of abstraction have been screened in Table 8.

3 See Table 3.16, DCWW Draft Strategic Environmental Assessment Environmental Report of Draft Water 
Resources Management Plan, 2019.
4 Welsh Government, Stats Wales. Household Projections by local authority and year 2011 based. 

Tudalen 307



25

Table 8 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to increased water abstraction

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
screening 
required?

Reasoning

SAC
River Teifi No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.
River Tywi No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.
Cleddau Rivers No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.
Caeau Mynydd Mawr No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.
Cardigan Bay No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries

No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Carmarthen Bay Dunes No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Cernydd Carmel No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 
Mallaen

No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Mynydd Epynt No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Preseli No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

River Wye No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

River Usk No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Yerbeston Tops No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and 
Bosherton Lakes

No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Pembrokeshire Marine No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

Gower Commons No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 
Resources Management Plan.

SPA/Ramsar
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.
Carmarthen Bay SPA No Based on most recent HRA of DCWW Water 

Resources Management Plan.

Tudalen 308



26

Effects as a result of development: Discharge of wastewater

Development will generate wastewater which needs to be treated prior to disposal. The preferred 
option for the disposal of wastewater is via connection to the mains sewerage network and 
treatment at the relevant wastewater treatment works (WWTW). 

Discharge of wastewater by DCWW is licenced by the Environment Agency (EA), who is also a 
competent authority under the Habitats Regulations. Whilst the avoidance of any adverse effects on 
European Sites as a result of discharge consents is principally the responsibility of NRW, the HRA of 
the Deposit Plan must recognise that the consenting and management options available to NRW are 
limited by both capacity within infrastructure and the existing pollutant levels in the receiving 
environment. DCWW has a duty to accept wastewater from new development, when connection to 
the mains sewer system is viable; there is a tension within the HRA if it assumes either that DCWW 
can accept any associated increases in wastewater irrespective of limitations in capacity, or that such 
capacity issues can be resolved by NRW consenting options which avoid adverse effects on European 
sites.

DCWW are under a general duty under section 94 of the Water Industry Act 1991 to effectually drain 
the area. If additional capacity is required in the existing systems then they are legally obliged to 
provide it through their normal funding mechanisms. This general duty extends to sewerage systems 
as well as sewage treatment works5.

It is the purpose of the HRA to ensure that the allocation of housing as part of the Preferred Strategy 
is done in such a way as to ensure that there are viable options available to both NRW and DCWW to 
meet wastewater drainage demands, without adverse effects on the integrity of any European sites. 

Under Regulation 63 of the Habitats Regulations, Natural Resources Wales (NRW) are responsible for 
ensuring potential effects from treated wastewater on European Designated sites are considered as 
part of a Review of all existing Consents (RoC). Under the RoC, discharge consents and water 
abstraction licences will have been considered to ensure that there were no detrimental impacts on 
the conservation interests in designated sites a result of these consents.

The final HRA of the LDP deposit plan will need to seek clarification from both NRW and DCWW over 
the potential capacity within the current post RoC discharge consent limits for further growth. 
Where allocations can be accommodated within the post-RoC discharge consent limits, it can be 
considered that there will be no likely significant effects on European Designated sites. 

If the allocated development might exceed available permitted capacity, then a new or modified 
permit is likely to be required at the waste water treatment works in question to provide for the 
increased demand, and the HRA would need to consider whether it would be feasible for such 
additional capacity to be provided without any adverse effects on the integrity of any European 
Sites.

5 See Barratts Homes Limited v Dwr Cymru Welsh Water [2009] UKSC13

Tudalen 309



27

Table 9 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects on water quality

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
screening 
required?

Reasoning

SAC
River Teifi

Yes
Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

River Tywi
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Cleddau Rivers
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Cardigan Bay
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Cernydd Carmel 
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Pembrokeshire Marine
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Cardigan Bay
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

SPA/Ramsar
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar 

Yes
Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Carmarthen Bay
Yes

Further information required from NRW regarding 
RoC. Further consideration required in detailed 
assessment.

Increased development: effects of air pollution

Air quality is influenced by levels of pollutants such as sulphur dioxide (S02), nitrogen oxides (NOx), 
ammonia (NH3) and ozone (O3), as well as persistent organic compounds (POPs), heavy metals and 
particulate matter (PM10). 

Carmarthenshire currently has three Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs), in Llandeilo (NO2), 
Llanelli (NO2) and Carmarthen (NO2). AQMA’s also exist in some neighbouring counties; Swansea 
(NO2), Neath Port Talbot (PM10) and two in Pembrokeshire (NO2). 

Housing development tends to be linked with increased traffic and therefore increased traffic 
related emissions. Emissions from traffic have been shown to have impacts on vegetation within 

Tudalen 310



28

200m of the road edge67. Beyond 200m, no significant adverse effects associated with traffic 
emissions (including deposition) have been observed in scientific studies. This is likely due to the fact 
that at this distance, pollutants contribute to background levels of atmospheric pollution, and 
disperse to an extent that they have no observable impacts on ground level vegetation at a local 
scale. 

On this basis, it is considered that there will be no likely significant effects on any sites more than 
200m outside of Carmarthenshire’s boundary.

However, additional contributions that may arise from increased traffic could be significant where 
the site is known to be sensitive to such effects and where appropriate critical loads and levels are 
either exceeded or approaching exceedance. The Air Pollution Information Service (APIS) data shows 
that current air quality levels already exceed the critical loads set for many of the habitat types at 
European sites in Carmarthenshire (Appendix 2.Nitrogen Deposition Data for SAC’s/SPA’s within 

Carmarthenshire and 15km Buffer Zone).

All other sites considered sensitive to air pollution will be taken forward for more detailed screening, 
however further consideration of potential effects is required only where site allocations may lead 
to increased traffic emissions within 200m of identified sites . This is summarised in Table 10.

Table 10 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects of air pollution

Sites identified as 
vulnerable

Further 
screening 
required?

Reasoning

SAC
Caeau Mynydd Mawr Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Carmarthen Bay and 
Estuaries

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Carmarthen Bay Dunes Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cernydd Carmel Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cleddau Rivers Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 
Mallaen

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Gower Ash Woods No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Gower Common No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Gweunydd Blaencleddau No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Mynydd Epynt No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Pembrokeshire Bat Sites No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Pembrokeshire Marine No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Preseli No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
Rhos Llawr-cwrt No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
North Pembrokeshire 
Woodlands

No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary

Yerbeston Tops No More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire boundary
SPA/Ramsar
Carmarthen Bay Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

6 Natural England Commissioned Report NECR200: Potential risk of impacts of nitrogen oxides from road traffic 
on designated nature conservation sites. 2016
7 English Nature Research report 580: The ecological effects of diffuse air pollution from road transport. 2004.

Tudalen 311



29

Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Effects of species disturbance, noise and light pollution effects

Effects of this nature are largely associated with the physical proximity of development to a sensitive 
European site. Such effects include visual and noise disturbance associated with issues such as 
construction, lighting and the presence of development, and will be considered further in detailed 
assessment of site allocations. It is considered that the LDP is not likely to have significant effects 
on sites outside of Carmarthenshire’s boundary and so these sites are screened out of further 
consideration.

Sites sensitive to effects of species disturbance, noise and light pollution and the result of the 
preliminary screening assessment is summarised in Table 11

Table 11 Preliminary screening of European Sites identified as vulnerable to effects of disturbance, noise and 
light pollution effects.

Sites identified as vulnerable Screening 
in/out

Reasoning

SAC
Afon Teifi Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Afon Tywi Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cleddau Rivers Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cardigan Bay No Outside of Carmarthenshire boundary
Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Cwm Doethie – Mynydd 
Mallaen

Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Gower Commons No Outside of Carmarthenshire boundary
Gower Ash Woods No Outside of Carmarthenshire boundary
North Pembrokeshire 
Woodlands

No Outside of Carmarthenshire boundary

Pembrokeshire Marine No Outside of Carmarthenshire boundary
Pembrokeshire Bat sites No Outside of Carmarthenshire boundary
River Wye Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
River Usk Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
SPA/Ramsar
Carmarthen Bay Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment
Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar Yes Further consideration required in detailed assessment

Tudalen 312



30

Summary

Having considered each of the potential effect mechanisms and considered them at a generic level in 
relation to the overall growth provided for within the preferred strategy, the conclusions for further 
detailed screening work in relation to individual allocations are detailed in Table 12

Table 12 Summary of the preliminary screening based on overall growth projection of Preferred Strategy.

Potential Effect 
Mechanism

Summary of generic level screening Further screening 
requirements in detailed 
screening of specific 
allocations

Aquatic Environment Effects only likely where development is in close 
proximity to a water course that flows into/out 
of a site

To identify such 
allocations

Marine Environment Effects considered unlikely, but screened in on 
precautionary basis

To ensure no such effects 
occur

Coast Effects considered unlikely, but screened in on 
precautionary basis

To ensure no such effects 
occur

Mobile Species  Marsh Fritillary Butterfly - Any potential 
development within 2km of Caeau Mynydd 
Mawr SAC or Preseli SAC should be subject 
to further assessment. 

 Barbastelle Bat – Any potential 
development within 16km radius of Pengelli 
Forest should be subject to further 
assessment.

 Greater Horseshoe Bats – Presence records 
should be considered to inform screening of 
site allocations.

 European Otters – Any land suitable for use 
by otters that may support SAC populations 
will need to be considered

 SPA Bird Assemblages – Any suitable land 
1km inshore of an SPA should be subject to 
further assessment

To identify such 
allocations

Recreation Recreational effects associated with 
development in close proximity to a European 
site, will require further assessment.

To identify such 
allocations

Development: 
Abstraction

Effects associated with water supply have been 
screened out based on HRA of DCWW water 
resources management plan

No further screening 
required

Development: Waste 
water

Effects associated with waste water discharges 
require further information from NRW on the 
post-RoC capacity. Only allocated development 
might exceed available permitted capacity will 
be considered to have LSE.

To identify such 
allocations

Development: Air 
pollution

Only development which leads to increased 
traffic on roads within 200m of identified 
sensitive sites. 

To identify any such 
allocations

Disturbance, noise 
and light pollution

Only development in close proximity to a 
European Site requires further consideration

To identify such 
allocations

Tudalen 313



31

Five sites identified in Task 1 have been screened out of further detailed assessment as all potential impact 
pathways have been screened out at this preliminary screening stage. This is summarised in Table 13.

Table 13 Summary of preliminary screening of sites where no likely significant effects have been identified.

European site Designation Scanned In Screened Out
Mobile Species – 
Marsh Fritillary 

Butterfly

More than 2km outside of the direct influence 
of Carmarthenshire’s LDP

Abstraction
Based on no LSE being identified in most 
recent HRA of DCWW Water Resources 
Management Plan.

Yerbeston Tops SAC

Air pollution
More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire 
boundary

Mobile Species – 
Marsh Fritillary

More than 2km outside of the direct influence 
of Carmarthenshire’s LDP

Rhos Llawr-cwrt SAC
Air pollution

More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire 
boundary

Air pollution
More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire 
boundary

Gower Ash 
Woods SAC

Species disturbance
Effects only considered likely in close 
proximity. Site outside of Carmarthenshire 
boundary

Mobile Species – 
Marsh Fritillary 

Butterfly

More than 2km outside of the direct influence 
of Carmarthenshire’s LDP

Abstraction
Based on no LSE being identified in most 
recent HRA of DCWW Water Resources 
Management Plan.

Air pollution
More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire 
boundary

Gower Commons SAC

Species disturbance
Effects only considered likely in close 
proximity. Site outside of Carmarthenshire 
boundary

Mynydd Epynt SAC Air pollution
More than 200m outside Carmarthenshire 
boundary

 

Tudalen 314



32

Screening of Preferred Strategy 

The Carmarthenshire Revised Preferred Strategy sets the long term vision for growth and 
development in Carmarthenshire (excluding that area within the Brecon Beacons National Park) and 
the strategic objectives and the strategic land use polices to deliver that vision. However, the 
Preferred Strategy is not the full LDP, rather it sets out broad strategic principles for development in 
our area. The full Plan is called the Deposit LDP and will contain detailed and specific policies as well 
as site-specific allocations.

The Preferred Strategy was subject to an initial screening process, the aim of which is to identify at a 
strategic level, any parts of the plan or its associated policies that will not have an effect on 
European sites and those that have the potential to have a likely significant effect. If LSE are 
identified, they must be considered alone, and in combination.

The approach taken is in accordance with guidance for the appraisal of plans under the Habitats 
Directive, DTA Publications Limited, The Habitat Regulations Assessment Handbook8 The effects 
associated with the Preferred Strategy can be identified as one of the following broad screening 
categories.

Category Description Screening Outcome
A General statements of policy/general aspirations. Screen Out

B Policies listing general criteria for testing the 
acceptability/sustainability of proposals. 

Screen Out

C Proposal referred to but not proposed by the plan Screen Out
D Environmental protection/site safeguarding policy Screen Out

E
Policies or proposals which steer change in such a 
way as to protect European sites from adverse 
effects

Screen Out

F Policy that cannot lead to development or other 
change

Screen Out

G Policy or proposal that could not have any 
conceivable effect on a site

Screen Out

H

Policy or proposal the (actual or theoretical) effects 
of which cannot undermine the conservation 
objectives (either alone or in combination with 
other aspects of this or other plans or projects)

Screen Out

I Policy or proposal with a likely significant effect on 
a site alone

Screen In

J
Policy or proposal with an effect on a site but not 
likely to be significant alone, so need to check for 
likely significant effects in combination.

Check for in combination 
effects and re-categorised as K 

or L

K Policy or proposal not likely to have significant 
effect either alone or in combination.

Screen out after in combination 
test

L Policy or proposal likely to have a significant effect 
in combination

Screen in after in combination 
test

8 Tyldesly, D., 2009. The Habitats Regulations Assessment Handbook. Accessed Oct 2018. 
https://www.dtapublications.co.uk/ 

Tudalen 315

https://www.dtapublications.co.uk/


33

One Carmarthenshire

Carmarthenshire 2033 will be a place to start, live and age well within a healthy, safe and 
prosperous environment, where its rich cultural and environmental qualities are valued and 
respected.

It will have prosperous, cohesive and sustainable communities providing increased opportunities, 
interventions and connections for people, places and organisations in both rural and urban parts 
of our County.

It will have a strong economy that reflects its position as a confident and ambitious driver for the 
Swansea Bay City Region.

Chapters 1-6 of Preferred Strategy

For completeness, the Chapters 1-6 comprise introductory and contextual text and cannot possibly 
have any effects on any European Sites. They are therefore screened out of further assessment and 
are not considered further.

Chapters 7 and 8 of Preferred Strategy

Chapter 7 outlines the draft vision for Carmarthenshire and is reported below.

The vision sets out a general aspiration and is not considered to result in any significant effects upon 
European sites. The vision is therefore screened out under category A.

Chapter 8 discusses the development of the strategic objectives, which are categorised under the 
following themes in alignment with Carmarthenshire’s well-being objectives:

 Healthy Habits – People have a good quality of life and make healthy choices about their 
lives and environments

 Early Intervention – To make sure that people have the right help at the right time; as and 
when they need it

 Strong Connections – Strongly connected people, places and organisations that are able to 
adapt to change

 Prosperous People and Places – To maximise opportunities for people and places in both 
urban and rural parts of the county

The objectives listed against each of the themes are detailed in Appendix 4 . All of the objectives are 
considered to be screened out of the need for further assessment. The category against which each 
objective is considered to be screened out is given in brackets after each objective, as listed in 
Appendix 4 . 

Chapter 9 of Preferred Strategy

Chapter 9 contains text which summarises the findings of the growth and spatial options appraisal 
process. The appraisal process summarised within this chapters cannot possibly have any effect on 
any European sites and is therefore screened out of further assessment under Category B. The 

Tudalen 316



34

implications of the growth and spatial options will be further assessed within the detailed screening, 
where site allocations have been identified. 

Chapter 11 of Preferred Strategy - Strategic Policies

There are 19 individual policies, and the screening conclusions for each policy are set out in Appendix 
5 Preliminary screening of draft Strategic Policies . 

Screening of the strategic policies concluded that the majority of policies are unlikely to have 
significant effects on European sites alone, as they either seek the protection/enhancement of 
cultural heritage and the natural environment or set out design criteria for development proposals. 
For some policies, it was considered that potential impacts would be more appropriately assessed at 
the site allocation level, once the precise nature, scale and location of development is known.

A number of policies do not necessarily propose development, but support certain types of 
development which have the potential to impact on European designated sites. Policy SP13 – 
Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment – seeks to ensure development does not 
impact negatively on the natural environment, provides some mitigation to help minimise the 
impacts on European sites. Wording has been suggested to strengthen this policy, so that when it is 
considered alongside all other strategic polices, will mitigate for any potential significant likely 
impacts. 

Table 14 summarises the screening outcome of the Strategic Policies. Policies SP1, SP3, SP4, SP6, 
SP16 and SP19 have been identified as having the potential for a likely significant effect alone on 
European sites. The significance of any impacts as a result of these policies is dependent on the 
precise location and scale of development, environmental pathways and sensitivities of receptors. 

Table 14 Summary of preliminary screening of draft Strategic policies.

Policy Screening 
Category

Initial Screening 
Outcome

SP1 – Strategic Growth I Screened In
SP2 – Retail and Town Centres B Screened Out
SP3 – Providing New Homes I Screened In
SP4 – Affordable Homes I Screened In
SP5 – Strategic Sites C Screened Out
SP6 – Employment and the Economy I Screened In
SP7 – Welsh Language and Culture F Screened Out
SP8 -  Infrastructure B Screened Out
SP9 – Gypsy and Traveller Provision H Screened Out
SP10 – The Visitor Economy A Screened Out
SP11 – Placemaking, Sustainability and High Quality Design B Screened Out
SP12 – Rural Development A Screened Out
SP13 – Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment D Screened Out
SP14 – Protection and Enhancement of the Built and Historic Environment D Screened Out
SP15 – Climate Change B Screened Out
SP16 – Sustainable Distribution – Settlement Framework I Screened In
SP17 – Transport and Accessibility B Screened Out
SP18 – Mineral resources G Screened Out
SP19 – Waste Management I Screened In

Tudalen 317



35

3.3 Task 3: Consideration of effects in combination with other plans, 
programmes and projects.
It is a requirement of Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive that HRA examines the potential for plans 
and projects to have a significant effect either individually or ‘in combination’ with other plans, 
programmes & projects (PPPs). Undertaking an assessment of other PPPs has required a pragmatic 
approach given the extensive range of PPPs underway in the surrounding region. The approach 
taken was cognisant of the emphasis in the forthcoming WAG guidance that considering the 
potential for in-combination effects is core to delivering robust/ precautionary HRA.

When considering other PPPs attention was focused on those aimed at delivering planned spatial 
growth with the most significant being those that seek to provide, housing, employment and 
infrastructure. The review considered the most relevant plans including those listed below and 
detailed in Appendix XX:

Local Development Plans

 Pembrokeshire County Council Local Development Plan (2013 – 2021) – Adopted
 Swansea Local Development Plan (2010 – 2025) – Deposit
 Ceredigion Local Development Plan (2021 – 2033) – Adopted
 Powys Local Development Plan (2011 – 2026) – Adopted
 Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (2007 – 2022) – Adopted

National

 The Wales Spatial Plan (2008 update)
 The Wales Transport Strategy (2008)
 Wales Coastal Tourism Strategy (2008)
 Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism2013 – 2020
 Active Travel Action Plan (2016)
 A Walking and Cycling Action Plan for Wales (2009 – 2013)
 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water – Water Resources Management Plan (2015 – 2040)
 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water – Draft Water Resources Management Plan 2019
 Towards Zero Waste – Overarching Waste Strategy for Wales

Regional

 The Swansea Bay City Regional Economic Regeneration Strategy 2013 – 2030
 Swansea Bay City Deal 2017
 Joint Local Transport Plan for South West Wales (2015 – 2020)
 Lavernock Point to St Ann’s Head Shoreline Management Plan 2 (2012)
 Waste Planning Monitoring Report(s) for the South West Wales Region
 Regional Technical Statement Regional Aggregate Working Parties (2014)

Local

 Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: the next 5 years (2018)
 Transformations: A strategic Regeneration Plan for Carmarthenshire 2015 – 2030
 Affordable Homes Delivery Plan 2016 -2020: Delivery more homes for the people of 

Carmarthenshire 2015 -2030
 Carmarthenshire Destination Management Plan 2015 -2020
 Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2013)
 Flood Risk Management Plan for the Western Wales River Basin District 

Tudalen 318



36

The findings of this review were used when screening the Strategic Policies to consider if the policies 
had the potential to act in combination with other plans, programmes and projects to have 
significant effects on European Sites. The assessment identified that Strategic Policies SP1, SP3, SP4, 
SP6, SP16 and SP19 have the potential for significant in combination effect on European sites. 

Tudalen 319



37

3.4 Task 4: Screening Assessment Summary
In line with the screening requirement of the Habitats Regulations, an assessment was undertaken 
to determine the potential significant effects of the Draft Pre Deposit preferred strategy on the 
integrity of the 25 European sites that lie outside and within the plan/proposal boundaries. The 
screening decision was informed by:

 The information gathered on the European sites – Appendix 1.;
 The review of the Preferred Strategy and its likely impacts ; which included an analysis of the 

potential environmental impacts generated by the development activities directed by the 
LDP and; 

 The review of other relevant plans and programmes – Appendix 3;
 WAG guidance which indicates that HRA for plans is typically broader and more strategic 

than project level HRA and that it is proportionate to the available detail of the plan

The detail of the main screening of draft Strategic Policies is set out in Appendix 5 Preliminary screening 
of draft Strategic Policies. In summary, the screening assessment found that the majority of Preferred 
Strategy Policies are unlikely to have significant effects on European sites either alone or in 
combination. A number of recommendations have been made to strengthen the mitigation provided 
by specific policies and should be incorporated into the Preferred Strategy to ensure that these 
policies (Strategic Policies SP1, SP3, SP4, SP6, SP16 and SP19 ) have no likely significant effects on 
European sites either alone or in combination.

At this stage, these policies have the potential for significant effects both alone and in combination 
with other plans, programmes and projects. At this stage the significance of the effects is uncertain 
as further detail on the nature, scale and location of development is required. The next stage of the 
revised LDP (Deposit) will provide further detailed policies and site allocations that will allow a more 
comprehensive assessment of the impacts and how they may affect European sites. It is 
recommended that further screening work is carried out for the revised LDP once Deposit Policies 
and Site Allocations are available.

The Preferred Strategy already contains policies that seek to protect and enhance European sites as 
well as minimise the impacts of proposed development. When developing detailed Deposit policies 
the Councils should seek to minimise the potential impacts identified through this screening 
assessment.

This HRA Report is a high-level preliminary screening of the Preferred Strategy. It identifies those 
policies which would clearly have no effects upon European sites enabling these to be ‘screened out’ 
of any further assessment. The focus of further, more detailed assessment would only be applied to 
allocation sites, or policies, where a likely significant effect could be possible. A further detailed 
screening will be carried out on the next iteration of the LDP (i.e. the Deposit LDP) when the specific 
policies have been prepared and a full list of allocation sites has been agreed. Allocation sites and 
policies included for further detailed screening would then be reviewed in more detail based on the 
available information.

Tudalen 320



38

Appendicies

Appendix 1. Conservation objectives of sites identified as within 15km buffer zone of Carmarthenshire.

T
udalen 321



39

Site name : Afon Tywi/ River Tywi SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN687263
JNCC Site Code: UK0013010
Size: 363.45 ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Otter Lutra lutra Favourable: Maintained

 The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the 
natural carrying capacity of the habitat within the SAC, as determined by natural levels of prey 
abundance and associated territorial behaviour. 

 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future.

 The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by the provision, 
where necessary, of suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc. at road bridges 
and other artificial barriers.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r 

se
le

ct
io

n

Twaite Shad Alosa fallax Unfavourable: Unclassified (May 2012)

Sea lamprey Petromyzon 
marinus

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2011)

River lamprey Lampetra 
fluviatili

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2011)

Brook lamprey Lampetra 
planeri

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2011)

Allis shad Alosa alosa Unfavourable: Unclassified (May 2012)

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
e

Bullhead Cottus gobio Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the watercourse as defined here XX must be met
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term. 
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s 

population in the SAC on a long-term basis.

T
udalen 322



40

Site name : Caeau Mynydd Mawr SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN575121
JNCC Site Code: UK0030105
Size: 25.06 ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
es

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils Molinion 
caeruleae

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 2015)

 The Molinia meadow feature (M24) will occupy between 25% and 80% of the total site area.
 The remainder of the site will be other semi-natural habitat.
 The following plants will be common in the Molinia meadows: purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea; 

meadow thistle Cirsium dissectum; devil’s bit scabious Succisa pratensis; carnation sedge Carex 
panicea and tormentil Potentilla erecta.

 Cross-leaved heath Erica tetralix and common heather Calluna vulgaris will also be common in 
some areas.

 Rushes should not be allowed to spread and species indicative of agricultural modification, such as 
perennial rye grass Lolium perenne and white clover Trifolium repens, will be largely absent from 
the Molinia meadow.

 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent from the Molinia 
meadow.

 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Marsh fritillary butterfly 
Euphydryas aurinia Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 2015)

 The population will be viable in the long term, acknowledging the extreme population fluctuations 
of the species.

 Habitats on the site will be in optimal condition to support the metapopulational.
 The SAC populations will be the core of the metapopulation. The metapopulation will consist of 

the SAC populations plus populations breeding on land within c. 2 kilometres of the SAC boundary.
 At least 13 ha across the three component SSSIs will be marshy grassland suitable for supporting 

marsh fritillary, with Succisa pratensis present and only a low cover of scrub.
 At least 6 ha of this will be good condition marsh fritillary breeding habitat, where, for at least 80% 

of sample points, the tussocky vegetation is within the range of 12-25 cms tall and Succisa 
pratensis is present within a 50 cm radius sample point. Scrub (>0.5 m tall) covers no more than 
10% of area.

 At least another 7 ha of this will be suitable condition marsh fritillary breeding habitat where 
Succisa pratensis is occasional/frequent/abundant and vegetation height is usually 12-25 cms. 
Scrub (> 0.5 m tall) will cover no more than 10% of the total area.

 The marshy grassland will be well sheltered by hedgerows and mature trees.
 All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions are under control.

T
udalen 323



41

Site name : Cernydd Carmel SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN592161
JNCC Site Code: UK0030070
Size: 361.14 ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t p
rim

ar
y 

re
as

on
 fo

r 
se

le
ct

io
n

Turloughs Favourable: Unclassified (Sept 2011)

 The turlough will fill and empty according to the natural seasonal fluctuations in the underlying 
aquifer. It will typically fill with water in the autumn-spring period and empty during the summer 
months.

 A natural pattern of vegetation zones will be apparent during the dry phase of the turlough, as 
determined by micro-topographical variation in the turlough basin in relation to the main swallow 
hole. 

 The following vegetation zones, together with typical associated species, will be present: 
hydrophytic bryophyte zone; Equisetum fluviatile zone; Carex vesicaria zone; Phalaris arundinacea 
zone; Salix cinerea-Galium palustre woodland zone.

 Alien plant species such as Crassula helmsii, Hydrocotyle ranuculoides, Myriophyllum aquaticum 
and Azolla filiculoides will be absent

 All factors affecting the achievement of the above conditions, including water quality, water levels 
and scrub development, will be under control. 

North Atlantic wet heaths 
with Erica tetralix Favourable: Unclassified (Sept 2016)

  Northern Atlantic wet heath will occupy at least 6ha of Cernydd Carmel SAC.
 The wet heath will have a high cover (>25%) of dwarf shrubs, including heather Calluna vulgaris, 

cross-leaved heath Erica tetralix and bilberry Vaccinium myrtillus. 
 Typical associates will include western gorse Ulex galli and Molinia caerulea, but not high cover.
 Bog mosses Sphagnum spp. will be prominent in the sward.
 Scrub and bracken will be largely absent.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions, including grazing and scrub/bracken 

encroachment, are under control.  

European dry heaths Destroyed: Partially (Sept 2016)

 European dry heath will occupy at least 19ha of Cernydd Carmel SAC.
 The dry heath will be dominated by varying mixtures of heather Calluna vulgaris, bilberry 

Vaccinium myrtillus and western gorse Ulex gallii, although U.gallii itself should not exceed 50% 
cover. 

 Scrub, bracken, bramble, thistles, tall rushes, large docks and nettles will be largely absent.
 Bare ground will not exceed 10% cover.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions, including grazing and scrub/bracken 

encroachment, are under control.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t q
ua

lif
yi

ng
 fe

at
ur

e

Active raised bogs Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)
 Active raised bog will cover at least 13ha of Cernydd Carmel SAC.
 At least five raised bog peatland units will be present, occupying a series of peaty depressions 

within the Millstone Grit ridge.

T
udalen 324



42

 The mires will support a specialist bog flora including heather Calluna vulgaris, cross-leaved heath 
Erica tetralix, deergrass Scirpus cespitosus, hare’s-tail cotton grass Eriophorum vaginatum common 
cotton-grass E.angustifolium, bog asphodel Barthecium ossifragum and round-leaved sundew 
Drosera rotundifolia.

 Bog mosses Sphagnum spp. Will be abundant, while purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea and other 
grasses will be scarce.

 The mire surfaces will display a characteristic hummock and hollow topography, with lawns of 
Sphagnum moss dominating the wet hollows. 

 Scrub and bracken will be largely absent.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions, including water levels, nutrient levels 

and grazing, will be under control. 

Tilio-Acerion forests of 
slopes, screes and ravines Favourable: Unclassified (Jul 2013)

 Tilio-Acerion woodland will occupy approx. 44ha of Cernydd Carmel SAC.
 The Tilio-Acerion woodland will occur as a patchwork of small woods with areas of grassland 

between, forming a characteristic element of the historic landscape pattern of Cernydd Carmel. 
The distribution of woods will mirror the pattern of woodland mapped in 1994. 

 Within the high forest areas, between 10 and 25% of the woodland will comprise open glades or 
canopy gaps, although the location of glades/canopy gaps may vary over time.

 Trees and shrubs of a wide range of ages and sizes should be present, including functionally 
mature canopy trees, young trees and an active shrub layer.

 Regeneration of locally native trees/shrubs will be plentiful
 The canopy will comprise varying mixtures of locally native species including ash Fraximus 

excelsior, oak Quercus spp., goat willow Salix caprea, yew Taxus baccata and wych elm Ulmus 
glabra. Typical shrub layer species will include hazel Corylus avellana, hawthorn Crateagus 
monogyna, blackthorn Prunus spinosa, spindle Euonymus europaeus and dogwood Rhamnus 
catharticus. Non-native species including sycamore Acer pseudoplatanus and beech Fagus sylvatica 
will be largely absent.

 The field layer will comprise a rich mixture of woodland herbs including Ranunculus ficaria, Circaea 
lutetiana, Galium odoratum, Allium ursinum, Hyacinthoides non-scripta, Mercurialis perennis, 
Conopodium majus, Paris quadrifolia, Lamiastrum galeobdolon, Conopodium majus, Phyllitis 
scolopendrium, Arum maculatum and Anemone nemorosa.

 Dense bramble will be largely absent.
 Within the high forest areas, dead wood will be present in the form of standing and fallen 

trunks/limbs.
 All factors affecting the achievement of the above conditions, including grazing and browsing, will 

be under control.

T
udalen 325



43

Site name : Carmarthen Bay Dunes SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN285074
JNCC Site Code: UK0020019
Size: 1206.32 ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Embyonic shifting dunes Favourable: Maintained (Jul 2007)  Natural processes will be allowed to determine the time and place when the strandline and 
embryonic dunes exist. These processes will not be impeded by direct or indirect human 
intervention.

 A strandline will be present at least one year in every five within the areas identified
 Embryonic dunes will be present on the seaward side of the mobile frontal dune ridge at least one 

year in every three
 All of the factors affecting the feature are under control

“Shifting dunes along the 
shoreline with Ammophila 
arenaria (“”white 
dunes””)”

Favourable: Maintained (Jul 2007)  Shifting dunes will exist as part of the dynamic natural processes which create the dune systems.
 There will be an interaction between the three dune systems such that the natural process of 

erosion in some parts and accretion in others will continue without direct or indirect human 
disturbance.

 Shifting dunes will comprise a significant part of the dune system but will increase and decrease in 
extent and location as natural processes determine the landscape of the dune systems

 At least two of the three sites in the SAC satisfy the limits outlined in the performance indicator 
below.

 All of the factors affecting the feature are under control.

“Fixed coastal dunes with 
herbaceous vegetation 
(“grey dunes””)”

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2015)  Fixed dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey dunes) will occur where older, shifting dunes 
become more stabilised and in early successional stages become colonised by lichens and other 
species indicative of the transition from less mobile habitat.

 The habitat will encompass a range of successional stages throughout the area, determined by 
patterns of natural factors and grazing.

 Grey dunes will comprise a significant part of the dune system but will increase and decrease in 
extent and location as natural processes determine the landscape of the dune systems

 All factors are under management control.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 se
le

ct
io

n

Dunes with Salix repens 
ssp. Argentea (Salicion 
arenariae)

Unfavourable Unclassified (Aug 2007)
 Dunes with Salix repens and humid dune slacks will occur as part of the dune system, their location 

will be determined by natural processes and appropriate grazing management
 A range of successional stages will be found in both features
 Factors affecting the features will be under control

T
udalen 326



44

Humid dune slacks Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2015)

Narrow-mouthed whorl 
snail

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 2016)  Sufficient suitable habitat is present to support the populations
 The factors affecting the feature are under control

Petalwort Unfavourable: Unclassified (May 2016)

 The species will be found where conditions are suitable in sufficient numbers to form a viable and 
sustainable population

 The population will vary from year to year depending on conditions, especially in drier years, but 
the long term population will remain steady and sustainable

 Suitable dune slacks will have patches of bare ground that is being colonised by jelly lichens 
(Collema spp.) and Barbula mosses.

 The factors affecting the feature are under control

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r 

se
le

ct
io

n 
:

Fen orchid Unfavourable: Unclassified (Oct 2014)  Sufficient suitable habitat is present to support the populations
 The factors affecting the feature are under control

T
udalen 327



45

Site name : Afon Teifi SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN515508
JNCC Site Code: UK0012670
Size: 715.58 ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 se
le

ct
io

n

Water courses of plain to 
montane levels with the 
Ranunculion fluitantis and 
Callitricho-Batrachion 
vegetation.

Favourable: Unclassified (Sept 2012)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in XX above must be met.
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or 

increasing in the SAC.
 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing.
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable. The typical species 

are defined with reference to the species composition of the appropriate JNCC river vegetation 
type for the particular river reach, unless differing from this type due to natural variability when 
other typical species may be defined as appropriate.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

e Oligotrophic to 
mesotrophic standing 
waters with vegetation of 
the Littorelletea uniflorae 
and/or of the Isoeto-
Nanojuncetea

Favourable: Unclassified (Sept 2003)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The Littorelletea uniflorae aquatic upland lake community will be present in all five of the Teifi 

Pools (Llyn Hir, Llyn Teifi, Llyn Egnant, Llyn y Gorlan and Llyn Bach), and will be self-maintaining on 
a long-term basis.

 A fully developed Littorelletea community will be present in Llyn Hir, including all of the 
component species typical of the SAC feature, as represented in the Afon Teifi SAC.

 For each of Llyn Teifi, Llyn Egnant, Llyn y Gorlan and Llyn Bach, the extent and species composition 
of the Littorelletea community will be stable or increasing in range. There will be no deterioration 
in the conservation status of the feature as represented in these lakes.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

e

Sea lamprey Petromyzon 
marinus

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2016)

Brook lamprey Lampetra 
planeri

Favourable: Unclassified (Oct 2013)

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s 

pr
im

ar
y 

re
as

on
 

fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

River lamprey Lampetra 
fluviatilis

Favourable: Unclassified (Oct 2013)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in XX above must be met
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 There is, and will continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s population in 

the SAC on a long-term basis.

T
udalen 328



46

Atlantic salmon Salmo 
salar Favourable: Unclassified (Jan 2016)

Bullhead Cottus gobio Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

Otter Lutra lutra Favourable: Maintained (Mar 2010)

 The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the 
natural carrying capacity of the habitat within the SAC, as determined by natural levels of prey 
abundance and associated territorial behaviour.

 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future.

 The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by the provision, 
where necessary, of suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc. at road bridges 
and other artificial barriers.

Floating water-plantain 
Luronium natans

Favourable: Unclassified (Sept 2012)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in XX above must be met.
 The floating water-plantain populations will be viable throughout their current distribution in the 

SAC (maintaining themselves on a long-term basis). Each floating water-plantain population must 
be able to complete sexual and/or vegetative reproduction successfully. Potential for genetic 
exchange between floating water-plantain populations, in and/or outside the SAC, must be evident 
in the long-term. Dispersal of floating water-plantain must be unhindered.

 The SAC will have sufficient suitable habitat to support floating water-plantain populations within 
their current distribution. There will be no contraction of the current floating water-plantain 
distribution in the SAC. 

T
udalen 329



47

Site name : Afonydd Cleddau/ Cleddau Rivers SAC
Location Grid Reference: SM938249
JNCC Site Code: UK0030074
Size: 751.71 ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Water courses of plain to 
montane levels with the 
Ranunculion fluitantis and 
Calliticho-Batrachion 
vegetation.

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the watercourse as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or 

increasing in the SAC.
 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing.
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable condition. The typical 

species are defined with reference to the species composition of the appropriate JNCC river 
vegetation type for the particular river reach, unless differing from this type due to natural 
variability when other typical species may be defined as appropriate.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
e

Active raised bogs Unfavourable: Unclassified (Oct 2012)

 On the mire expanse there are at least 3 of Calluna vulgaris, Erica tetralix, Eriophorum 
angustifolium, E.vaginatum & Trichophorum cespitosum constant, with a combined cover not 
exceeding 80%

 · No single species > 50% cover
 · At least one of Andromeda polifolia, Drosera rotundifolia, Empetrum nigrum, Narthecium 

ossifragum and Vaccinium oxycoccos occurs at least frequently
 · On the mire expanse only there are at least 2 of the following spp. constant, with a combined 

cover > 20%: Sphagnum capillifolium, S. magellanicum, S. papillosum, S. tenellum
 · No reduction in extent of microtopographic features (e.g. bog pools).

T
udalen 330



48

Alluvial forests with Alnus 
glutinosa and Fraxinus 
excelsior (Alno-Padion, 
Alnion incanae, Salicion 
albae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Nov 2012)

 The canopy is dominated by single stands of alder Alnus glutinosa or willow Salix spp. In alluvial 
woods with free draining soils there may be ash or oak in the canopy, but in the wetter alluvial 
woodlands ash Fraxinus excelsior is more likely to be limited to areas of relatively drier ground

 The structure of alluvial woodland is recognised as being dynamic therefore the presence of over 
mature trees is desirable but not essential

 The river itself should be dynamic to allow for areas of outwash and deposition that trees can 
regenerate on.

 Lying or standing deadwood (> 20cm diameter and > 1m length) is present at all sites
 The feature should support alluvial ground flora including two of the following: meadowsweet 

Filipendula ulmaria, yellow flag Iris pseudacorus, nettle Urtica dioica, common reed Phragmities 
austrailis, greater tussock sedge Carex paniculata, opposite-leaved golden saxifrage 
Chrysosplenium oppositifolium, rushes Juncus spp, tufted hair-grass Deschampsia cespitosa, 
hemlock water-dropwort Onanthe crocata, and wild angelica Angelica sylvestris.

Brook Lamprey lampetra 
planeri

Unfavourable: Recovering (Jan 2012)

River lamprey Lampetra 
fluviatilis

Unfavourable: Recovering (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the watercourse as defined in 4.1 above is met
 The population of the feature in the SAC must be stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 Passage of the feature through the SAC is not to be hindered by artificial barriers such as weirs.
 The characteristic channel morphology provides the diversity of water depths, current velocities 

and substrate types necessary to fulfil the habitat requirements of the features. The close 
proximity of different habitats facilitates movement of fish to new preferred habitats with age.

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Bullhead Cottus gobio Unfavourable: Unclassified (Nov 2006)

 The conservation objective for the watercourse as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The population of the feature in the SAC must be stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 Passage of the feature through the SAC is not to be hindered by artificial barriers such as weirs
 . The characteristic channel morphology provides the diversity of water depths, current velocities 

and substrate types necessary to fulfil the habitat requirements of the features. The close 
proximity of different habitats facilitates movement of fish to new preferred habitats with age.

T
udalen 331



49

Otter Lutra lutra Favourable: Maintained (Mar 2010)

 The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the 
natural carrying capacity of the habitat within the SAC

 The SAC will have sufficient habitat, including riparian trees and vegetation and wetlands, to 
support the otter population in the long term

 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future.

 The otter must be able to breed and recruit successfully in the SAC. The size of breeding territories 
may vary depending on prey abundance.

 Otter food sources must be sufficient for maintenance of the population.
 The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by the provision, 

where necessary, of suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc at road bridges 
and other artificial barriers.

 No otter breeding site should be subject to a level of disturbance that could have an adverse effect 
on breeding success. Where necessary, potentially harmful levels of disturbance must be 
managed.

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

e

Sea lamprey Petromyzon 
marinus

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the watercourse as defined in 4.1 above is met.
 The population of the feature in the SAC must be stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 Passage of the feature through the SAC is not to be hindered by artificial barriers such as weirs.
 The characteristic channel morphology provides the diversity of water depths, current velocities 

and substrate types necessary to fulfil the habitat requirements of the features. The close 
proximity of different habitats facilitates movement of fish to new preferred habitats with age.

Site name : Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC
Location Grid Reference: SS357991
JNCC Site Code: UK0020020
Size: 66092.05

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I 

ha
bi

ta
ts

 
pr

im
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 
se

le
ct

io
n

Sandbanks which are 
slightly covered by 
seawater all the time

Unfavourable: Declining (Nov 2006) Range: The overall distribution and extent of the habitat features within the site, and each of their 
main component parts is stable or increasing.

Structure and function: The physical biological and chemical structure and functions necessary for the 
long-term maintenance and quality of the habitat are not degraded. Important elements include; 
geology, sedimentology, geomorphology, hydrography and meteorology, water and sediment 
chemistry, biological interactions.

This includes a need for nutrient levels in the water column and sediments to be:

T
udalen 332



50

Estuaries Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

Mudflats and sandflats not 
covered by seawater at low 
tide

Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

Large shallow inlets and 
bays

Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

Salicornia and other 
annuals colonizing mud 
and sand

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Oct 2006)

Atlantic salt meadows 
(Glauco-Puccinellietalia 
maritimae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 at or below existing statutory guideline concentrations
 within ranges that are not potentially detrimental to the long term maintenance of the 

features species populations, their abundance and range.

Contaminant levels in the water column and sediments derived from human activity to be:
 at or below existing statutory guideline concentrations
 below levels that would potentially result in increase in contaminant concentrations within 

sediments or biota
 below levels potentially detrimental to the long-term maintenance of the feature species 

populations, their abundance or range.

For Atlantic saltmeadows this includes the morphology of the saltmarsh creeks and pans.

Typical Species: The presence, abundance, condition and diversity of typical species is such that 
habitat quality is not degraded. Important elements include: species richness population structure and 
dynamics, physiological heath, reproductive capacity recruitment, mobility range

As part of this objective it should be noted that:
 populations of typical species subject to existing commercial fisheries need to be at an 

abundance equal to or greater than that required to achieve maximum sustainable yield and 
secure in the long term

 the management and control of activities or operations likely to adversely affect the habitat 
feature is appropriate for maintaining it in favourable condition and is secure in the long 
term.

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Twaite Shad Alosa fallax Unfavourable: No change (Nov 2006)

Population: The population is maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable component of its 
natural habitat. Important elements include:

 population size
 structure, production
 condition of the species within the site.

As part of this objective it should be noted that;
 Contaminant burdens derived from human activity are below levels that may cause physiological 

damage, or immune or reproductive suppression

Range: The species population within the site is such that the natural range of the population is not 

T
udalen 333



51

Sea lamprey Petromyzon 
marinus

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Apr 2005)

River lamprey Lampetra 
fluviatilis

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Apr 2005)

Allis shad Alosa alosa Unfavourable: No change (Nov 2006)

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
e

Otter Lutra lutra Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2010)

being reduced or likely to be reduced for the foreseeable future.

As part of this objective it should be noted that:
 Their range within the SAC and adjacent inter-connected areas is not constrained or hindered.
 There are appropriate and sufficient food resources within the SAC and beyond.
 The sites and amount of supporting habitat used by these species are accessible and their extent 

and quality is stable or increasing.

Supporting habitats and species: The presence, abundance, condition and diversity of habitats and 
species required to support this species is such that the distribution, abundance and populations 
dynamics of the species within the site and population beyond the site is stable or increasing. 
Important considerations include;

 distribution
 extent
 structure
 function and quality of habitat
 prey availability and quality.

As part of this objective it should be noted that;
 The abundance of prey species subject to existing commercial fisheries needs to be equal to or 

greater than that required to achieve maximum sustainable yield and secure in the long term.
 The management and control of activities or operations likely to adversely affect the species 

feature is appropriate for maintaining it in favourable condition and is secure in the long term.
 Contamination of potential prey species should be below concentrations potentially harmful to 

their physiological health.
 Disturbance by human activity is below levels that suppress reproductive success, physiological 

health or long-term behaviour.
 For otter there are sufficient sources within the SAC and beyond of high quality freshwater for 

drinking and bathing.
Site name : Cwm Doethie - Mynydd Mallaen  SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN747458
JNCC Site Code: UK0030128
Size: 4121.73ha

Qualifying Features Condition 
Assessment

Conservation Objectives

T
udalen 334



52

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 se
le

ct
io

n

Old sessile oak woods with 
llex and Blechnum in the 
British Isles

Unfavourable: 
Unclassified (Aug 
2012)

 Old sessile oak woodlands remain a significant and conspicuous feature of the upland valley sides within the plan 
area. Those in the Elan and Claerwen valleys and Rhayader area, the Dinas and Gwenffrwd area of the upper Tywi 
valley and the Cothi valley to the north of Mynydd Mallaen are particularly well developed and extensive.

 The boundary between the woodland and adjacent upland habitat is often a flexible one where trees regenerate on 
to open ground. At many locations oak woodland forms patches in ‘ffridd’ areas where there is less grazing pressure 
on the upland fringe.

 The oak woodland has of a variety of different structures and its character varies from place to place, ranging from 
long standing closed canopy areas to largely open wood pasture.

 The dominant trees are sessile oaks, but in places birch is more conspicuous. Rowans and other trees occur as a 
minor component while at the foot of slopes where the oak woodland grades into wet woodland, there are some 
alders and willows. Non-native trees such as beech and sycamore will be present only in small numbers are generally 
scarce.

 Under-storey shrubs are generally quite sparse, but scattered groups of hazel or holly will be found in some woods.
 Ground cover varies widely. Parts will be bracken covered, others grassy, others again have a wider range of 

flowering plants and ferns and are often carpeted with bluebells in spring. On thin soils in shaded moist situations 
there are luxuriant carpets of mosses and liverworts, with or without under-shrubs like heather and bilberry.

 The larger trees support a variety of lichens on their trunks and branches.
 In each woodland block, trees in most age classes are present and veteran trees are prominent in some areas, 

particularly where there is wood pasture.
 In all areas except wood pasture, there is evidence of actual regeneration in the form of seedlings and saplings or 

potential for regeneration, while in some wood pasture areas the planting and protecting of young trees, especially 
oak, may be appropriate.

 Dead wood is well distributed and sometimes abundant, both lying on the woodland floor and occurring as standing 
dead trees or branches of trees.

 The majority of the oak woodland has a closed canopy, but there are some clearings and much larger areas that are 
effectively wood pasture. These conditions should be sympathetic to the important populations of mosses and 
liverworts on the one hand and lichens on the other.

 The oak woods support a characteristic assemblage of birds, such as wood warbler, pied flycatcher and redstart.
 The pattern and distribution of grazed and un-grazed woods may change over time as different conservation needs 

arise.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

T
udalen 335



53

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 
fe

at
ur

e

European dry heaths
Unfavourable: 
Recovering (Sept 
2012)

 The extent, quality and diversity of heath vegetation within the constituent sites is maintained and, where possible, 
degraded heath is restored to good condition.

 · The main heathland areas have a varied age structure with a mosaic of young heath, mature heath and degenerate 
heath.

 · Sunny slopes in certain areas support vegetation that includes bell heather and western gorse and steep north and 
east facing slopes have a rich variety of mosses and liverworts beneath the dwarf shrub canopy, including bog mosses 
in some areas.

 · Populations of uncommon plants, such as lesser twayblade, are stable or increasing.
 · The larger heathland areas provide suitable habitat for breeding birds, including red grouse and merlin.
 · All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control

T
udalen 336



54

Site name : Cardigan Bay SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN214641
JNCC Site Code: UK0012712
Size: 4121.73ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Sandbanks which are slightly 
covered by sea water all the 
time

Not Assessed 

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
e

Reefs Not Assessed

Range: The overall distribution and extent of the habitat features within the site, and each of their 
main component parts is stable or increasing.
For the reef feature these include;  Intertidal bedrock reefs Intertidal cobble, pebble with Sabellaria 
alveolata (biogenic) reefs Subtidal bedrock reefs Subtidal pebble, cobble and boulder reefs Sea caves 
Structure and Function: The physical biological and chemical structure and functions necessary for the 
long-term maintenance and quality of the habitat are not degraded. Important elements include; 
geology, sedimentology, geomorphology, hydrography and meteorology, water and sediment 
chemistry, biological interactions
This includes a need for nutrient levels in the water column and sediments to be:
 at or below existing statutory guideline concentrations
 within ranges that are not potentially detrimental to the long term maintenance of the features 

species populations, their abundance and range.
Contaminant levels in the water column and sediments derived from human activity to be:
 at or below existing statutory guideline concentrations
 below levels that would potentially result in increase in contaminant concentrations within
 sediments or biota
 below levels potentially detrimental to the long-term maintenance of the feature species 

populations, their abundance or range taking into account bioaccumulation and biomagnification.
Typical species: The presence, abundance, condition and diversity of typical species is such that 
habitat quality is not degraded. Important elements include
 species richness:
 population structure and dynamics,
 physiological heath,
 reproductive capacity
 recruitment,
 mobility
 range
As part of this objective it should be noted that:T

udalen 337



55

Submerged or partially 
submerged sea caves Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

 populations of typical species subject to existing commercial fisheries need to be at an 
abundance equal to or greater than that required to achieve maximum sustainable yield and 
secure in the long term

 the management and control of activities or operations likely to adversely affect the habitat 
feature is appropriate for maintaining it in favourable condition and is secure in the long 
term.

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Bottlenose dolphin Tursiops 
truncatus

Favourable: Maintained (Jan 2007)

Sea lamprey  Petromyzon 
marinus Unfavourable: Unclassified (April 2005)

An
ne

x 
II 

Sp
ec

ie
s 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

e

River lamprey  Lampetra 
fluviatilis Unfavourable: Unclassified (April 2005)

Populations: The population is maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable component of its 
natural habitat.
Important elements include:

 population size
 structure, production
 condition of the species within the site.

As part of this objective it should be noted that for bottlenose dolphin and grey seal;
 Contaminant burdens derived from human activity are below levels that may cause 

physiological damage, or immune or reproductive suppression
For grey seal populations should not be reduced as a consequence of human activity
Range: The species population within the site is such that the natural range of the population is not 
being reduced or likely to be reduced for the foreseeable future.
As part of this objective it should be noted that for bottlenose dolphin and grey seal

 Their range within the SAC and adjacent inter-connected areas is not constrained or hindered
 There are appropriate and sufficient food resources within the SAC and beyond
 The sites and amount of supporting habitat used by these species are accessible and their
 extent and quality is stable or increasing

Supporting habitats and species: The presence, abundance, condition and diversity of habitats and 
species required to support this species is such that the distribution, abundance and populations 
dynamics of the species within the site and population beyond the site is stable or increasing. 
Important considerations include;

 distribution
 extent
 structure

T
udalen 338



56

Grey seal  Halichoerus grypus Favourable: Maintained (Jan 2007)

 function and quality of habitat
 prey availability and quality.

As part of this objective it should be noted that;
 The abundance of prey species subject to existing commercial fisheries needs to be equal to 

or greater than that required to achieve maximum sustainable yield and secure in the long 
term.

 The management and control of activities or operations likely to adversely affect the species 
feature is appropriate for maintaining it in favourable condition and is secure in the long 
term.

 Contamination of potential prey species should be below concentrations potentially harmful 
to their physiological health.

 Disturbance by human activity is below levels that suppress reproductive success, 
physiological health or long-term behaviour

Restoration and recovery: As part of this objective it should be noted that for the bottlenose dolphin 
populations should be increasing.

T
udalen 339



57

Site name : North Pembrokeshire Woodlands/Coedydd Gogledd Sir Benfro SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN046345
JNCC Site Code: UK0030227
Size: 4121.73ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 se
le

ct
io

n

Old sessile oak woods with 
llex and Blechnum in the 
British Isles

Unfavourable: Recovering (May 2010)

 The majority of the SAC will be covered by oak woodland.
 There will be no measurable, permanent loss of semi-natural woodland.
 The trees will be locally native, with a dominance of oak in the canopy, and include ash and rowan.
 No more than 5% of the canopy forming trees will consist of non-native species.
 Each woodland will include trees of a wide range of age classes, including veteran trees.
 Between 10-25% of the woodland area will comprise a dynamic, shifting pattern of gaps: in the 

long-term, most of these will be created by natural processes.
 There will be sufficient natural regeneration to replace the canopy in these gaps over time.
 There will be abundant dead and dying trees with holes and hollows, rot columns, torn off limbs 

and rotten branches. Dead wood, both standing and fallen, will be retained to provide habitats for 
other species, and will represent at least 10% (by volume) of the total timber.

 Veteran trees will be favoured during any silvicultural management because they support a wide 
variety of species, including lichens.

 Old forest lichen species will be found throughout the site, especially on well-lit trees around 
woodland edges and glades.

 Invasive alien species, such as rhododendron, laurel and Japanese knotweed, will eventually be 
eradicated from the site, or restricted to very low cover.

 There will be a well-developed shrub layer throughout the SAC, including hazel and holly.
 The field layer will be diverse and include broad-buckler fern, greater wood-rush, bluebell, 

honeysuckle, wood-sorrel, dog’s-mercury, opposite-leaved golden-saxifrage, bilberry, bracken, 
bramble and violets.

 The woodlands will support populations of butterflies, birds and mammals.
 All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions will be under control.

T
udalen 340



58

An
ne

x 
I H

ab
ita

t q
ua

lif
yi

ng
 fe

at
ur

e

Alluvial forests with Alnus 
glutinosa and Fraxinus 
excelsior (Alno-Padion, 
Alnion incanae, Salicion 
albae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (June 2016)

 At least 2% of the SAC will be covered by alluvial woodland.
 The canopy will consist of locally native trees, with an overall dominance of alder. At least 90% of 

the canopy trees will be wet woodland species. There will be no non-native trees present in the 
canopy.

 In the long-term, each woodland will include trees of a broad range of age classes, including 
saplings and veteran trees.

 At any given time, around 30% of the woodland area will consist of a dynamic, shifting pattern of 
canopy gaps, maintained by natural processes.

 There will be sufficient natural regeneration in the gaps (from seed or vegetative) to replace the 
canopy, 90% of which will be alder or willow.

 There will be abundant dead and dying trees with holes and hollows, rot columns, torn off limbs 
and rotten branches. Dead wood, both standing and fallen, will be retained to provide habitats for 
other species, and will represent at least 10% (by volume) of the total timber.

 There will be no evidence of alder disease.
 Veteran trees will be favoured during any silvicultural management because they support a wide 

variety of species, including lichens. Old forest lichen species will be found throughout the sites, 
especially on well-lit trees around woodland edges and glades.

 Invasive alien species, such as rhododendron, laurel and Japanese knotweed, will be eradicated 
from the site, or subject to a control programme of eradication.

 The field layer will be diverse and dominated by alluvial species. Indicators of drying out (bramble) 
and over-grazing (creeping buttercup) will be scarce.

 All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions will be under control.

T
udalen 341



59

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

pr
im

ar
y 

re
as

on
s f

or
 se

le
ct

io
n

Barbastelle Bat Barbastella 
barbastellus Favourable: Maintained (Aug 2012)

 There will be no loss of ancient semi-natural woodland at the site.
 Canopy gaps will be present throughout the site, with two or more young trees growing in each.
 Canopy cover will be 50-90% throughout the site (except in Hawthorn fields).
 A well-developed shrub layer with holly will be present throughout the woodland, to provide a 

favourable micro-climate for roosting barbastelles.
 A minimum of 4 trees per hectare will be allowed to die standing, will not be removed or cut 

down. These will be distributed across the site and will include trees with splits, fallen, leaning 
trees and hollow trees.

 Ivy will be allowed to grow on trees throughout the site, to provide roosting opportunities.
 There will be no overall loss of open water.
 There will be no increase in disturbance (eg paths or rides) near any of the roosting sites.
 No roosting sites will be lost as a result of human intervention.
 Barbastelle bat passes will be detected on at least 4 out of 6 transects between 25 July and 7 

September.
 There will be contiguous suitable foraging habitat within a 16km radius around Pengelli Forest, 

including wooded stream valleys, low and overgrown hedgerows, scrub, overgrown pastures, 
bracken stands and woodland (which can include conifer plantations).

 Roosts outside the SSSI boundary will be left undisturbed, with no woodland management within 
50m of a barbastelle roost, and no clearance of the shrub layer. Over-mature trees in any of the 
woodlands within 2km of Pengelli should be left undisturbed except where they pose a risk to 
public safety, in which case minimal trees surgery can be permitted.

 All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions will be under control.

T
udalen 342



60

Site name : Yerbeston Tops SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN057099
JNCC Site Code: UK0030305
Size: 18.6ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I H

ab
ita

t 
qu

al
ify

in
g 

fe
at

ur
e

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils (Molinion 
caeruleae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2017)

 Molinia meadows will cover at least 4ha
 The following plants will be common in the Molinia meadows: purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea; 

small sedges including Carex pulicaris and hostiana, and devil’s bit scabious Succisa pratensis.
 Soft rush Juncus effusus and species indicative of agricultural modification, such as perennial rye 

grass Lolium perenne and white clover Trifolium repens will be largely absent from the Molinia 
meadows.

 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent from the Molinia 
meadows

 • All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions will be under control

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

pr
im

ar
y 

re
as

on
s 

fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Marsh fritillary butterfly  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2017)

 Density of larval webs during sampling is at least 200 per hectare of optimal breeding habitat
 There are at least 10ha of Good Condition (optimal breeding) habitat on or within 2 km radii of the 

SSSI
 • There are at least 50ha of Suitable Condition habitat on or within 2km radii of the SSSI
 • Optimal breeding habitat comprises grassland, with Molinia abundant, where the vegetation 

height is within the range of 10 to 20 cm, and where, for at least 80% of sampling points, Succisa 
pratensis is present within a 1 m radius. Scrub (>1 metre tall) covers no more than 10% of area.

 The factors influencing the breeding habitat are under control.
 Trees, bracken, scrub and saplings are of no more than scattered occurrence within the marshy 

grassland.
 A range of characteristic wetland plants and insects are present.
 Species indicating agricultural improvement are rare or absent.

T
udalen 343



61

Site name : Rhos Llawr-cwrt SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN411497
JNCC Site Code: UK0012680
Size: 45.95ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

pr
im

ar
y 

re
as

on
s f

or
 se

le
ct

io
n

Marsh fritillary butterfly  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Unfavourable: Recovering (Aug 2012)

 The SAC will continue to support a nationally important population of the marsh fritillary butterfly. 
Although, numbers of adult butterflies and larvae will fluctuate annually in response to a parasitic 
wasp and weather conditions, the population will be robust, resilient and viable in the long term.

 During peak years, a visitor taking a walk through the site on a sunny day in June will see several 
hundreds of adult butterflies. In these years the caterpillars, feeding communally in silken webs on 
their food plant devil’s bit scabious, will be found in their thousands throughout the SAC.

 The SAC population will be the core of the Rhos Llawr Cwrt marsh fritillary metapopulation. The 
metapopulation will consist of the SAC population, plus populations breeding on land outside the 
SAC, within the Rhos Llawr Cwrt National Nature Reserve and elsewhere in the immediate vicinity 
(research indicates that a marsh fritillary metapopulation requires at least 50 hectares of available 
habitat to be viable in the long term).

 The population will breed throughout all 4 SAC units, where it will be a key species driving the 
management of each unit.

 Rosettes of devil’s bit scabious will be both very numerous and widespread throughout the SAC, 
growing amongst a short turf of grasses, sedges and flowering herbs with scattered tussocks of 
purple moor grass and rushes providing shelter for the caterpillars in wet weather. This colourful 
wet grassland mosaic will extend throughout all the management units and some of the NNR 
fields outside the SAC and other non-designated areas nearby.

 Dense mixed hedges of hawthorn, hazel, mountain ash and other locally native species will grow 
around the external and internal boundaries and offer vital shelter to the breeding adult 
butterflies during poor weather in what is otherwise a very exposed landscape with little shelter.

 • All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions will be under control.

T
udalen 344



62

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

qu
al

ify
in

g 
sp

ec
ie

s

Slender green feather-moss  
Drepanocladus 
(Hamatocaulis) vernicosus

Unfavourable: unclassified (Oct 2005)

 Slender green feather moss will be common across the Bwdram and Clettwr valley bottoms, with 
more than five populations of plants, appearing as groups of uniform dark green 'patches' 
scattered amongst the marshy grassland and fen vegetation communities.

 The populations of moss will grow in a series of flushes, old peat cuttings and shallow excavations, 
where ground conditions are wet throughout the year, the water table being at, or near the 
surface. This habitat will have an open, relatively short sward and scrub will be confined to hedge 
banks on old field boundaries.

 Groundwater across the valley bottom will range from slightly acid to slightly basic.
 Associated site-specific herbs, grasses and sedges will grow in close proximity to the moss 

populations. These plants share the habitat requirements of the moss; they include Lesser 
Spearwort, Sharp-flowered Rush, Purple Moor Grass, Star Sedge, Carnation Sedge, Devil’s- bit 
Scabious, Lesser Skullcap, Large Birdsfoot Trefoil, Bogbean, Common marsh-bedstraw, Common 
Cotton Sedge, Bottle Sedge, Common Sedge, Common Yellow Sedge, Velvet Bent and Flea Sedge.

 • The site will continue to be summer-grazed by cattle; this will maintain the short open sward 
conditions favoured by the moss.

 • All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions will be under control.

T
udalen 345



63

Site name : Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherton Lakes /
Safleodd Ystlum Sir Befro a Llynnoedd Bosherton SAC
Location Grid Reference: SR966954
JNCC Site Code: UK0014793
Size: 121.26ha

T
udalen 346



64

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t  
pr

im
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 se
le

ct
io

n

Hard oligo-mesotrophic waters 
with benthic vegetation of Chara 
spp.

Unfavourable: No 
Change (Dec 2011)

 Submerged Chara beds (mainly Chara hispida in places up to a metre long) will form the predominant submerged 
macrophyte vegetation throughout most of Central and Western Arms and Central Lake of Bosherston Lakes (unit 
1a) and may be present in the Eastern Arm (unit 1b).

 Chara will occur at more than 50% frequency along regular surveillance transects within the Western and Central 
arms.

 Chara species (not necessarily hispida) will be present in other embayments and pools, including the Eastern Arm 
of Bosherston Lakes (unit 1b) and pools in the Mere Pool Valley (unit 1d).

 The Western and Central Arms are spring-fed, so nutrient levels here remain low. One of the main nutrients 
(phosphorous) will reach no more than 25 micrograms per litre in regular sampling areas. Nitrogen levels in the 
water will be low (less than 1 milligram per litre) and declining or stable.

 The Western Arm, Central Arm and Central Lake water will be fairly clear, but well vegetated with submerged and 
marginal plants. In natural openings (e.g. over springs) within otherwise dense Chara beds, a sechii disk will be 
viewable on the lakebed.

 Water depth will vary from about 3.5 metres OD (winter maximum) to about 0.5 metres or less in places in 
summer.

 Fringing the Chara beds, are beds of white water lilies Nymphaea alba. They will remain fairly abundant in the 
Western and Central Arms, with smaller populations in Central Lake.

 Reed and swamp and fringing burr-reed will be restricted to shallow zones – covering not more than 10 % of the 
site.

 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

T
udalen 347



65

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

pr
im

ar
y 

re
as

on
s f

or
 

se
le

ct
io

n

Greater horseshoe bat  
Rhinolophus ferrumequinum

Favourable: 
Maintained (Aug 
2012)

 The greater horseshoe bat population will be capable of maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable 
component of its natural habitats.

 The natural range of greater horseshoe bats will neither be reduced nor will be likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future, and

 There will be sufficient habitat to maintain its populations on a long-term basis.
 At least three SSSI maternity roosts will be occupied annually by adult greater horseshoe bats and their babies:

• Stackpole Courtyard Flats and Walled Garden SSSI
• Slebech Stable Yard Loft, Cellars and Tunnels SSSI
• Felin Llwyngwair SSSI

 Carew Castle SSSI will continue to be used as an intermediate greater horseshoe bat roost, during the spring and 
autumn, as a male summer roost and an autumn/spring mating roost.

 The greater horseshoe bat population at the component SSSI’s will be stable or increasing.
 There will be a sufficiently large area of suitable habitat surrounding these roosts to support the bat population, 

including continuous networks of sheltered, broadleaved woodland, tree lines and hedgerows connecting the 
various types of roosts with areas of insect-rich grassland and open water.

 • All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

es

Lesser horseshoe bat  
Rhinolophus hipposideros

Unfavourable: 
Declining (Aug 2012)

 The Lesser horseshoe bat population will be capable of maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable 
component of its natural habitats.

 The natural range of lesser horseshoe bats will be neither being reduced nor will be likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future, and

 There will be sufficient habitat to maintain its populations on a long-term basis.
 At least four SSSI maternity roosts will be occupied annually by adult lesser horseshoe bats and their babies:

• Beech Cottage, Waterwynch SSSI,
• Orielton Stable Block and Cellars SSSI,
• Park House Outbuildings SSSI,
• Stackpole Courtyard Flats and Walled Garden SSSI

 The lesser horseshoe bat population at the component SSSI’s will be stable or increasing.
 There will be a sufficiently large area of suitable habitat surrounding these roosts to support the bat population, 

including continuous networks of sheltered, broadleaved woodland, tree lines and hedgerows connecting the 
various types of roosts with areas of insect-rich grassland and open water.

 • All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

T
udalen 348



66

Otter  Lutra lutra
Favourable: 
Unclassified (Mar 
2010)

 The Otter population will be capable of maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable component of its 
natural habitats.

 The natural range of otters will neither be reduced nor will be likely to be reduced for the foreseeable future, and
 There will be sufficient habitat to maintain its populations on a long-term basis.
 The otter population will be stable or increasing.
 There will be a sufficiently large area of suitable habitat to support an otter breeding population, including:

• Open water with sufficient food resources (notably eels and other fish species) and 
• a continuous network of undisturbed sheltered resting places along the lake shoreline – including swamp, 
broadleaved woodland and calcareous scrub.

 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

T
udalen 349



67

Site name : Gower Ash Woods SAC
Location Grid Reference: SS574882
JNCC Site Code: UK0030157
Size: 233.15ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t  
pr

im
ar

y 
re

as
on

s f
or

 se
le

ct
io

n

Tilio-Acerion forests of 
slopes, screes and ravines  Unfavourable: Unclassified (May 2016)

 The steep sided valleys found across most of the site will be covered with woodland dominated by 
ash.

 The rocky slopes will be covered with a rich ground flora including species such as dog’s mercury, 
hart’s tongue fern and ramsons.

 Fallen trees left on the ground will provide homes for invertebrates and fungi.
 The steep slopes will prevent the canopy trees reaching full size.
 Amongst the canopy ash will dominate, with other species like field maple, oak and sycamore also 

present.
 A shrub layer of hazel, hawthorn, spindle and saplings of ash will fill the spaces between the 

ground flora and the canopy.
 Mosses and hart’s tongue fern will cover limestone boulders that pepper the ground.
 The ground flora on the slopes and on the flatter ground will be full of colour in the spring, with 

bluebells and ransoms providing a haze of blue and white.
 Mature rotting trees will be found standing and fallen.
 Young trees will grow in the ground flora and shrub layer ready to take the place of a fallen tree.
 Some uncommon vascular plants will be found in the woods these include herb Paris, purple 

gromwell, butcher’s broom and spurge laurel.
 On the flatter areas fallen planted conifers will support mosses and ferns and ash trees will grow 

up from between the fallen conifers. Old conifer and beech plantations will support developing 
ash woodland.

 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions will be under control.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t  
qu

al
ify

in
g 

fe
at

ur
es

Alluvial forests with Alnus 
glutinosa and Fraxinus 
excelsior (Alno-Padion, 
Alnion incanae, Salicion 
albae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jun 2016)

 Alongside the Pennard Pill and the Ilston stream alluvial woodland will grow in the silts from the 
river,

 Alder will dominate these areas but hazel and elder will also grow here,
 Creeping buttercup, nettles and meadowsweet will dominate the ground flora.
 There will be no signs of disturbance such as over-grazing or fly-tipping and no non-native species 

will grow in these areas.
 Young saplings of alder and hazel will be numerous and waiting to fill the spaces left by fallen
 trees.
 All other factors will be under control.

T
udalen 350



68

T
udalen 351



69

Site name : Pembrokeshire Marine SAC
Location Grid Reference: SM503093
JNCC Site Code: UK0013116
Size: 138038.50ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Estuaries Unfavourable: Declining (Nov 2006)

Large shallow inlets and 
bays Unfavourable: Declining (Nov 2006)

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t p
rim

ar
y 

re
as

on
 fo

r s
el

ec
tio

n

Reefs Unfavourable: Declining (Jul 2008)

Sandbanks which are 
slightly covered by sea 
water all the time

Unfavourable: No change (Dec 2006)

Mudflats and sandflats not 
covered by seawater at low 
tide

Unfavourable: Declining (Nov 2006)

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
es

Coastal lagoons Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

Range: The overall distribution and extent of the habitat features within the site, and each of their 
main component parts is stable or increasing.
For the inlets and bays feature these include;
 The embayment of St.Brides Bay 
 The ria of Milford Haven
 Peripheral embayments and inlets
For the coastal lagoons feature this is subject to the requirements for maintenance of the artificial 
impoundment structure and maintenance of the lagoons for the original purpose or subsequent 
purpose that pre-dates classification of the site.
Structure and Function: The physical biological and chemical structure and functions necessary for the 
long-term maintenance and quality of the habitat are not degraded. Important elements include; 
geology, sedimentology, geomorphology, hydrography and meteorology, water and sediment 
chemistry, biological interactions.
This includes a need for nutrient levels in the water column and sediments to be:
• at or below existing statutory guideline concentrations
• within ranges that are not potentially detrimental to the long term maintenance of the features 
species populations, their abundance and range.
Contaminant levels in the water column and sediments derived from human activity to be:
• at or below existing statutory guideline concentrations
• below levels that would potentially result in increase in contaminant concentrations within
sediments or biota
• below levels potentially detrimental to the long-term maintenance of the features species
populations, their abundance or range.
Restoration and recovery: As part of this objective it should be noted that; the Milford Haven 
waterway complex would benefit from restorative action, for example through the removal of non-
natural beach material, and the removal, replacement or improved maintenance of rock filled gabions. 

T
udalen 352



70

Atlantic salt meadows 
(Glauco-Puccinellietalia 
maritimae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Oct 2006)

Submerged or partially 
submerged sea caves Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

There is also need for some restoration of the populations of several typical species of the Milford 
Haven waterway complex that are severely depleted with respect to historical levels as a consequence 
primarily of human exploitation. 
In the Milford Haven waterways complex inputs of nutrients and contaminants to the water column 
and sediments derived from human activity must remain at or below levels at the time the site 
became a candidate SAC. 
For the lagoons feature this is subject to the requirements for maintenance of the artificial 
impoundment structures of coastal lagoons and maintenance of the lagoons for their original purpose 
or subsequent purpose that pre-dates classification of the site.
For the inlets and bays features this includes the need for some restoration of the populations of
several typical species which are severely depleted with respect to historical levels as a consequence, 
primarily of human exploitation.
In the Milford Haven waterways complex inputs of nutrients and contaminants to the water column 
and sediments derived from human activity must remain at or below levels at the time the site 
became a candidate SAC.
Typical Species: The presence, abundance, condition and diversity of typical species are such that 
habitat quality is not degraded. Important elements include species richness, population structure and 
dynamics, physiological heath, reproductive capacity, recruitment, mobility, range.
As part of this objective it should be noted that: 
• populations of typical species subject to existing commercial fisheries need to be at an abundance 
equal to or greater than that required to achieve maximum sustainable yield and be secure in the long 
term 
• the management and control of activities or operations likely to adversely affect the habitat feature 
is appropriate for maintaining it in favourable condition and is secure in the long term.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s 

pr
im

ar
y 

 re
as

on
 fo

r  
se

le
ct

io
n

Grey seal  Halichoerus 
grypus Favourable: Maintained (Nov 2006)

 Populations: The population is maintaining itself on a long-term basis as a viable component of its 
natural habitat. Important elements are population size, structure, production, and condition of 
the species within the site.

As part of this objective it should be noted that for otter and grey seal;
• Contaminant burdens derived from human activity are below levels that may cause physiological 
damage, or immune or reproductive suppression
For grey seal, populations should not be reduced as a consequence of human activity
Range: The species population within the site is such that the natural range of the population is not 
being reduced or likely to be reduced for the foreseeable future.
As part of this objective it should be noted that for otter and grey seal
• Their range within the SAC and adjacent inter-connected areas is not constrained or hindered
• There are appropriate and sufficient food resources within the SAC and beyond
• The sites and amount of supporting habitat used by these species are accessible and their
extent and quality is stable or increasing
Supporting Habitats and Species: The presence, abundance, condition and diversity of habitats and 

T
udalen 353



71

Shore dock  Rumex 
rupestris Favourable: Maintained (Feb 2006)

Sea lamprey  Petromyzon 
marinus Unfavourable: Declining (Apr 2005)

River lamprey  Lampetra 
fluviatilis Unfavourable: No change (Apr 2005)

Allis shad  Alosa alosa Not Assessed

Twaite shad  Alosa fallax Not Assessed

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
es

Otter  Lutra lutra Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2010)

species required to support this species is such that the distribution, abundance and populations 
dynamics of the species within the site and population beyond the site is stable or increasing. 
Important considerations include; distribution, extent, structure, function and quality of habitat, prey 
availability and quality.
As part of this objective it should be noted that;
• The abundance of prey species subject to existing commercial fisheries needs to be equal to or 
greater than that required to achieve maximum sustainable yield and secure in the long term.
• The management and control of activities or operations likely to adversely affect the species feature 
is appropriate for maintaining it in favourable condition and is secure in the long term.
• Contamination of potential prey species should be below concentrations potentially harmful
to their physiological health.
• Disturbance by human activity is below levels that suppress reproductive success, physiological 
health or long-term behaviour
• For otter there are sufficient sources within the SAC and beyond of high quality freshwater for 
drinking and bathing.
Restoration and recovery: In the Milford Haven waterways complex inputs of nutrients and 
contaminants to the water column and sediments derived from human activity must remain at or 
below levels at the time the site became a candidate SAC.
As part of this objective it should be noted that for the otter, populations should be increasing.

T
udalen 354



72

Site name : Gower Commons / Tiroedd Comin SAC
Location Grid Reference: SS497900
JNCC Site Code: UK0012685
Size: 1775.29ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t p
rim

ar
y 

re
as

on
 fo

r s
el

ec
tio

n

Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2016)

 The wet heath will be found on moist and generally acidic soils across the commons.
 The wet heath will be characterised by western gorse growing amongst cross-leaved heath and 

purple moor grass. The gorse will be low growing and does not seem to dominate the heath. The 
yellow of the gorse and the pink of the cross-leaved heath make a spectacular display. Pink 
lousewort will be seen growing amongst the mixture of gorse and heath, with grasses and sedges 
weaving their way through the mix of species such as cotton grass, heath bedstraw, heath milkwort, 
flea sedge and carnation sedge.

 Sphagnum mosses grow beneath the heath, holding moisture like a sponge. Plants capable of 
growing in certain very wet areas associated with wet heath like bog asphodel and the insect eating 
sundews will also be found as you walk around the wet heath.

 The wet heath is not poached by grazing animals, but is evenly and sensitively grazed. There are no 
invasive species like Rhododendron or Japanese Knotweed growing in the wet heath and willow and 
birch are found only very thinly scattered throughout the site, mainly on the edges.

 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

T
udalen 355



73

European dry heaths Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2008)

 Dry heath is found on the free-draining parts of the commons. In some parts of the SAC dry heath 
grows in large continuous areas like at Rhossili Down, in other parts of the SAC, the dry heath grows 
in mosaics with wet heath and acid grassland. Bell heather and cross-leaved heath grow along side 
European and western gorse. There is a lack of purple moor grass and sphagnum mosses which tell 
us that the heath is drier. Heath milkwort, tormentil and heath bedstraw are seen regularly 
decorating the dry heaths.

 Scrub like birch and overgrown gorse is rare with the dry heaths, except where island of scrub 
provide some shelter for grazing animals. These islands will be accepted within the heathland 
landscape.

 Bracken is present within the dry heath and grows around the edges but bracken never dominates 
stands of dry heath and does not encroach on the dry heath.

 Burning of the heath is only carried out as a controlled management technique to create a mosaic of 
different ages of heath. There are no signs of burning causing damage or causing bracken to spread.

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils (Molinion 
caeruleae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2016)

On the wettest ground, marshy grassland will be found; it will often be found growing in a mosaic with 
wet heath.
 The marshy grassland will be dominated by tussocks of purple moor grass. The tussocks will provide 

little sheltered areas where flowers grow and help to provide some shelter for the marsh fritillary 
butterfly.

 The tussocks are uneven in size, but there will always be young purple moor grass coming through 
each spring. Only a few of the tussocks will have old and ‘rank’ purple moor grass growing on them.

 Devil’s bit scabious, the food plant for the larvae of marsh fritillary butterflies will be found 
commonly growing amongst the purple moor grass. Whorled caraway and soft leaved sedge are 
both scarce plants that will be commonly found in the marshy grassland areas.

 Often heathy plants like cross-leaved heath and gorse will be found in marshy grassland – this is a 
transition area between the two habitats.

T
udalen 356



74

Southern damselfly  
Coenagrion mercuriale Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2017)

 Seepages and runnels at Rhossili Down, Cefn Bryn and Sluxton Marsh will be well maintained, clear 
and pollution free.

 They will support good numbers of native aquatic plants.
 On summer days each year southern damselflies will be seen darting over the seepages and runnels.
 Each year the population of southern damselflies will stay the same or increase.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Marsh fritillary butterfly  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2009)

 The site will contribute towards supporting a sustainable metapopulation of the marsh fritillary on 
Gower. This will require a minimum of 50ha of suitable habitat, of which at least 10ha must be in 
good condition. Some will be on nearby land within a radius of about 2km.

 The population will be viable in the long term, acknowledging the extreme population fluctuations 
of the species.

 Habitats on the site will be in optimal condition to support the metapopulation.
 At least 50ha of the total site area within the SAC & associated SSSI will be marshy grassland 

suitable for supporting marsh fritillary, with Succisa pratensis present and only a low cover of scrub.
 At least 10ha will be good marsh fritillary breeding habitat in good condition, dominated by purple 

moor-grass Molinia caerulea, with S. pratensis present throughout and a vegetation height of 10-
20cm over the winter period.

 Suitable marsh fritillary habitat is defined as stands of grassland where Succisa pratensis is present 
and where scrub more than 1 metre tall covers no more than 10% of the stands

 Optimal marsh fritillary breeding habitat will be characterised by grassland where the vegetation 
height is 10-20 cm, with abundant purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea, frequent “large-leaved” 
devil’s-bit scabious Succisa pratensis suitable for marsh fritillaries to lay their eggs and only 
occasional scrub. In peak years, a density of 200 larval webs per hectare of optimal habitat will be 
found across the site. (Fowles 20042)

 The marshy grassland will be well sheltered by hedgerows and mature trees.
 All factors affecting the achievement of the foregoing conditions are under control.

T
udalen 357



75

Site name : River Wye / Afon Gwy SAC
Location Grid Reference: SO109369
JNCC Site Code: UK0012642
Size: 2147.64ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Water courses of plain to 
montane levels with the 
Ranunculion fluitantis and 
Callitricho-Batrachion 
vegetation

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or 

increasing in the SAC.
 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

t q
ua

lif
yi

ng
 fe

at
ur

e

Transition mires and 
quaking bogs Unfavourable: Declining (Jul 2012)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or 

increasing in the SAC.
 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable.

T
udalen 358



76

White-clawed (or Atlantic 
stream) crayfish  
Austropotamobius pallipes

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Sept 
2016)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s 

population in the SAC on a long-term basis.

Otter  Lutra lutra Favourable: Recovered (Mar 2010)

 The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the 
natural carrying capacity of the habitat within the SAC, as determined by natural levels of prey 
abundance and associated territorial behaviour.

 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future.

 The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by the provision, 
where necessary, of suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc at road bridges 
and other artificial barriers.

Sea lamprey  Petromyzon 
marinus Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

Brook lamprey  Lampetra 
planeri Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

River lamprey  Lampetra 
fluviatilis Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

Twaite shad  Alosa fallax Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)
Atlantic salmon  Salmo salar Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Bullhead  Cottus gobio Unfavourable: Unclassified (Dec 2016)

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

es

Allis shad  Alosa alosa Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s 

population in the SAC on a long-term basis.

T
udalen 359



77

Site name : Gweunydd Blaencleddau SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN155317
JNCC Site Code: UK0030144
Size: 149.13ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)  Wet heath will occupy at least 6% of the total site area.
 The following plants will be common in the wet heath: heather Calluna vulgaris; cross-leaved heath 

Erica tetralix; purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea; bog asphodel Narthecium ossifragum; short 
sedges Carex species; mosses including bog moss Sphagnum species; devil’s bit scabious Succisa 
pratensis.

 Competitive species indicative of under-grazing, particularly purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea and 
western gorse Ulex gallii will be kept in check.

 Bracken, and scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent from the 
wet heath.

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils (Molinion 
caeruleae)

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)  Molinia meadows will occur as small patches around the site.
 The following plants will be common: purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea; small sedges including 

Carex pulicaris and hostiana, and devil’s bit scabious Succisa pratensis. 
 Soft rush Juncus effusus and species indicative of agricultural modification, such as perennial rye 

grass Lolium perenne and white clover Trifolium repens will be virtually absent.
 · Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent.
 · All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions will be under control.

Blanket bogs Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)  Blanket bog will occupy at least 4% of the total site area.
 The following plants will be common in the blanket bog: hare’s-tail cotton grass Eriophorum 

vaginatum; heather Calluna vulgaris; cross-leaved heath Erica tetralix and bog moss Sphagnum 
species.

 Competitive species indicative of under-grazing, particularly purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea will 
be kept in check.

 Bracken, and scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent from the 
blanket bog.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
es

Transition mires and 
quaking bogs

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)  Transition mire and quaking bog will occupy at least 2% of the total site area.
 Bottle sedge should be abundant over carpets of bog mosses, ‘brown’ mosses or swamp species 

such as marsh cinquefoil
 Competitive species indicative of under-grazing, particularly soft rush Juncus effusus and purple 

moor-grass Molinia caerulea will be kept in check.
 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent.

T
udalen 360



78

Alkaline fens Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2017)  Flushes will occupy at least 10% of the total site area.
 The majority of the flushes will naturally support carpets of bog moss below a canopy of tall rushes 

or sedges.
 A proportion (at least 15%) should support short, open vegetation rich in small mosses, sedges and 

wildflowers characteristic of less acidic conditions. This type of flush corresponds to the Alkaline Fen 
feature of European interest.

 Many of the flushes will have short, open vegetation to suit the requirements of the southern 
damselfly.

 Competitive species indicative of under-grazing, particularly soft rush Juncus effusus and purple 
moor-grass Molinia caerulea will be kept in check.

 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent.

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Marsh fritillary butterfly  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)  Density of larval webs during sampling will be at least 200 per hectare of Good Condition habitat
 There are at least 50ha of Suitable habitat on the site or within a 2km radius around it.
 At least 10ha of the suitable habitat is Good Condition habitat
 Good Condition habitat habitat comprises grassland, with Molinia abundant, where the vegetation 

height is within the range of 10 to 20 cm, and where, for at least 80% of sampling points, Succisa 
pratensis is present within a 1 m radius. Scrub (>1 metre tall) covers no more than 10% of area.

 Suitable marshy grassland comprises grassland where Succisa pratensis is present at lower 
frequencies but still widely distributed throughout the habitat patch and in which scrub (>1 metre 
tall) covers no more than 20% of area. Alternatively, Succisa may be present at high density in close-
cropped swards.

 The factors influencing the breeding habitat are under control

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s  

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

e

Southern damselfly  
Coenagrion mercuriale

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 2016)
 Density of adult males during sampling is at least 1 male per 10 square metres of breeding habitat
 The extent of breeding habitat is at least 1500 square metres.
 Breeding habitat will be mapped where patches of oviposition plants are present as more  than 20% 

cover over areas greater than 0.5 square metres and no more than 20% of the total cover consists 
of Apium nodiflorum greater than 15cm tall. Southern damselfly females lay their eggs into the 
tissue of emergent aquatic plants and in Wales the key species are Menyanthes trifoliata (bog-
bean), Hypericum elodes (marsh St. John’s wort), Potamogeton polygonifolius (bog pondweed) and 
Apium nodiflorum (fool’s watercress).

 · The factors influencing the flush habitat are under control

T
udalen 361



79

Site name : Preseli SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN110320
JNCC Site Code: UK0012598
Size: 2701.68ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jun 2012) Wet heath will cover at least 11%3 of the site and display a range of plant species typical of the habitat. 
Most of the wet heath will have a mixture of tussocks of purple moor-grass, separated by closely grazed 
patches rich in deer grass, bog mosses and heathers such as cross-leaved heath. A proportion should 
also have a range of short sedges and flowering plants such as round leaved sundew.
 The following plants will be common in the wet heath: heather Calluna vulgaris; cross-leaved heath 

Erica tetralix; purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea; bog asphodel Narthecium ossifragum; short 
sedges Carex species; mosses including bog moss Sphagnum species; devil’s bit scabious Succisa 
pratensis.

 Competitive species indicative of under-grazing, particularly Purple Moor Grass Molinia caerulea 
and Western Gorse Ulex gallii will be kept in check.

 Bracken, and scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent from the 
wet heath.

European dry heaths Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jun 2012)  Dry heath will cover at least 11%2 of Mynydd Preseli SSSI and display a range of plant, insect and 
bird species typical of the habitat.

 The following plants will be common in the dry heath: heather Calluna vulgaris; bell heather Erica 
cinerea and western gorse Ulex gallii.

 Competitive species indicative of under-grazing, particularly bracken Pteridium aquilinum, purple 
moor-grass Molinia caerulea and western gorse Ulex gallii will be kept in check.

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 q

ua
lif

yi
ng

 fe
at

ur
es

Depressions on peat 
substrates of the 
Rhynchosporion

Unfavourable: Declining (Aug 2012) Depressions on peat substrates is a habitat type which typically occurs in complex mosaics with wet 
heath and flush habitats. The vegetation will be open, and have an abundance of species such as white 
beak-sedge Rhynchospora alba, the bog moss Sphagnum auriculatum, marsh clubmoss Lycopodiella 
inundata and round-leaved sundew Drosera rotundifolia. The amount of this habitat on the site has not 
been clearly defined yet, but is thought to be around 1-2% of the total site area.
 Depressions on peat substrates of the Rhynchosporion will occupy roughly 1-2% of the SAC, and be 

present in at least two management units (currently units 2 and 3).
 The following plants will be common: white beaked sedge Rhynchospora alba, the bog moss, 

Sphagnum denticulatum, round-leaved sundew Drosera rotundifolia and, in relatively base-rich 
sites, brown mosses such as Drepanocladus revolvens and Scorpidium scorpioides.

 The vegetation in these areas will be typically very open and competitive species indicative of 
under-grazing, particularly purple moor-grass Molinia caerulea, will be kept in check.

 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent.

T
udalen 362



80

Alkaline fens Favourable: Unclassified (Dec 2004) Alkaline fen will be present in patches across the site and display a range of plant and insect species 
typical of the habitat, including the southern damselfly. The flushes supporting this specific habitat will 
comprise short, open vegetation rich in small mosses, sedges and plants characteristic of less acidic 
conditions.
 Alkaline fens will be present in 8 out of the 10 pink areas as shown on map. 
 Characteristic flush species such as Menyanthes trifoliata, Triglochin palustre, Anagallis tenella, 

Pedicularis palustris and Pinguicula vulgaris will be present
 Species indicative of negative change, such as Juncus squarrosus, will be absent.
 Scrub species such as willow Salix and birch Betula will also be largely absent.

Southern damselfly  
Coenagrion mercuriale

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jul 11)  The density of adult males, during sampling, will be at least 1 male per 10 square metres of 
breeding habitat

 • There will be at least 3500 square metres of breeding habitat
 • All factors affecting the feature will be under control

Marsh fritillary butterfly  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Unfavourable: No change (Sept 2011) A healthy population of the marsh fritillary butterfly will be present on and around the SAC. There will 
be sufficient suitable and good condition habitat to support viable meta-populations of the butterfly 
which is dependent here on marshy grassland and flush, with tussocks of purple moor-grass and plenty 
of the caterpillar’s main food-plant, devil’s bit scabious. The swards will vary in height so that there are 
short ‘lawn’ areas for the caterpillars to sun themselves on, and taller tussocky areas to provide shelter.
For each of the two Meta-populations present within the SAC
 • There should be at least 200 larval webs per hectare of Good Condition habitat
 • There should be at least 50ha of Suitable habitat on the SAC or within a 2km radius around it.
 • At least 10ha of this suitable habitat should be Good Condition Habitat
 All factors affecting the feature must be under control

An
ne

x 
II 

ha
bi

ta
ts

 q
ua

lif
yi

ng
 fe

at
ur

es

Slender green feather-moss  
Drepanocladus 
(Hamatocaulis) vernicosus

Favourable: Maintained (Feb 2006) Slender green feather moss is a qualifying feature in the SAC, but has been found to be considerably 
more frequent and abundant both within Preseli SAC, and indeed in a number of other sites in Wales 
than was previously thought. In the light of this, it has been decided to treat the feature as part of the 
Rare mosses on damp ground SSSI feature.

T
udalen 363



81

Site name : Mynydd Epynt SAC
Location Grid Reference: SN883400
JNCC Site Code: UK0030221
Size: 40.11ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Slender green feather-moss  
Drepanocladus 
(Hamatocaulis) vernicosus

Favourable: Unclassified (Aug 2009)  There is a thriving population of varnished hook-moss in the mildly base-rich flushes, at six different 
locations spread throughout the site.

 Around 1.5 ha of suitable flush vegetation will continue to occur at Mynydd Epynt at the six 
different locations and the moss will continue to be present and maintain its distribution 
throughout the suitable areas of flush in at least ten separate locations overall.

 The water table is maintained at or near to the surface for most of the year within the flushes.
 The flushes are open in character with no woody shrubs present.
 The flushes are not dominated by rushes, purple moor-grass or bog-mosses (Sphagnum spp.).
 The following plants are typically found in the flushes scattered amongst the moss carpet but not 

dominant: carnation sedge Carex panicea, star sedge C. echinata, common sedge C. nigra , purple 
moor-grass Molinia caerulea and rushes Juncus acutifolius and J. articulatus.

 Species indicative of agricultural modification, such as perennial rye grass Lolium perenne and white 
clover Trifolium repens are absent from the flushes and the surrounding areas of SSSI/SAC in the six 
locations.

 All six locations continue to be grazed by sheep at a level which maintains the short open sward of 
the flushes without poaching.

 All six locations are free from physical damage such as trampling/poaching caused by livestock, 
troop activity, passage of agricultural/other vehicles, or impact damage from weapons practice.

 The population of varnished hook-moss is stable and is sustainable in the long term with its range 
not contracting and all factors that may affect the species are under control.

T
udalen 364



82

Site name : River Usk / Afon Wysg SAC
Location Grid Reference: SO301113
JNCC Site Code: UK0013007
Size: 967.97ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives

An
ne

x 
I h

ab
ita

ts
 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

es

Water courses of 
plain to montane 
levels with the 
Ranunculion 
fluitantis and 
Callitricho-Batrachion 
vegetation

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)  The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The natural range of the plant communities represented within this feature should be stable or 

increasing in the SAC.
 The area covered by the feature within its natural range in the SAC should be stable or increasing.
 The conservation status of the feature’s typical species should be favourable. The typical species are 

defined with reference to the species composition of the appropriate JNCC river vegetation type for 
the particular river reach, unless differing from this type due to natural variability when other 
typical species may be defined as appropriate.

Otter  Lutra lutra Favourable: Recovered (Mar 2010)  The population of otters in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term and reflects the 
natural carrying capacity of the habitat within the SAC, as determined by natural levels of prey 
abundance and associated territorial behaviour.

 The natural range of otters in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for the 
foreseeable future. The safe movement and dispersal of individuals around the SAC is facilitated by 
the provision, where necessary, of suitable riparian habitat, and underpasses, ledges, fencing etc at 
road bridges and other artificial barriers.

Sea lamprey  
Petromyzon marinus

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Nov 
2012)

Brook lamprey  
Lampetra planeri

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Nov 
2012)

River lamprey  
Lampetra fluviatilis

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Nov 
2012)

Twaite shad  Alosa 
fallax

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

Atlantic salmon  
Salmo salar

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s p

rim
ar

y 
re

as
on

 fo
r s

el
ec

tio
n

Bullhead  Cottus 
gobio

Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

An
ne

x 
II 

sp
ec

ie
s 

qu
al

ify
in

g 
fe

at
ur

e

Allis shad  Alosa alosa Unfavourable: Unclassified (Jan 2012)

 The conservation objective for the water course as defined in 4.1 above must be met
 The population of the feature in the SAC is stable or increasing over the long term.
 The natural range of the feature in the SAC is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future.
 There is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain the feature’s 

population in the SAC on a long-term basis.

T
udalen 365



83

T
udalen 366



84

Special Protection Areas and Ramsar sites
Site name : Elenydd-Mallaen SPA
Location Grid Reference: 
JNCC Site Code: UK9014111
Size: 30022.14ha

Qualifying Features Condition Assessment Conservation Objectives
Breeding Red Kite Milvus milvus Favourable: Unclassified (Jun 2000)  The SPA area continues to support at least 15 pairs of breeding red kites, or 0.5% of the 

British population.
 Traditional nest sites within the SPA continue to be used.
 The extent of suitable semi-natural feeding habitat within the SPA is maintained.
 Availability of carrion within the SPA is maintained.
 Roosting sites within the SPA are maintained.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

Breeding Merlin Falco columbaris Favourable: Unclassified (Jun 2003)  The SPA area continues to support at least 7 pairs of breeding merlins, or 0.5% of the 
British population.

 Traditional nest sites within the SPA continue to be used.
 The extent of suitable semi-natural feeding habitat within the SPA is maintained.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

Breeding Peregrine Falco peregrinus Favourable: Maintained (2006)  The SPA area continues to support at least 15 pairs of breeding peregrines, or 0.5% of the 
British population.

 Traditional nest sites within the SPA continue to be used.
 The extent of suitable semi-natural feeding habitat within the SPA is maintained.
 All factors affecting the achievement of these conditions are under control.

Site name : Carmarthen Bay SPA
Location Grid Reference: 
JNCC Site Code: UK9014091
Size: 30022.14ha
Common scoter Melanitta nigra. Not Assessed  The numbers of all SPA bird species are stable or increasing.

 The abundance and distribution of suitable prey are sufficient and appropriate to support 
the numbers of all SPA bird species.

 All SPA birds are allowed to inhabit their feeding grounds and resting areas with minimum 
disturbance, and are allowed to move unhindered between them.

 All states of the Conservation Objectives for the supporting habitats and species, subject to 
natural processes, are fulfilled and maintained in the long-term.

Supporting habitats for bird species of the Burry Inlet SPA include:
•Estuaries
•Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide
•Atlantic salt meadows

T
udalen 367



85

•Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand
‘Large shallow inlets and bays’ are the supporting habitat for the common scoter of the 
Carmarthen Bay SPA.
 The management and control of activities or operations likely to be of significant effect to 

the oystercatchers, is appropriate for maintaining the feature at FCS and is secure in the 
long-term.

Site name : Burry Inlet SPA/Ramsar
Location Grid Reference: 
JNCC Site Code: 
Size:  6627.99
Curlew Numenius arquata Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Dunlin Calidris alpina alpine Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Grey plover Pluviatilis squatarola Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Knot Calidris canutus Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Oystercatcher Haematopus ostralegus Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Pintail Anas acuta Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Redshank Tringa tetanus Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Shelduck Tadorna tadorna Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)
Shoveler Anas clypeata Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)

Teal Anas crecca Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)

Turnstone Arenaria interpres Not Assessed

Wigeon Anas penelope Favourable: Unclassified (Mar 2004)

 The numbers of all SPA bird species are stable or increasing.
 The abundance and distribution of suitable prey are sufficient and appropriate to support 

the numbers of all SPA bird species.
 All SPA birds are allowed to inhabit their feeding grounds and resting areas with minimum 

disturbance, and are allowed to move unhindered between them.
 All states of the Conservation Objectives for the supporting habitats and species, subject to 

natural processes, are fulfilled and maintained in the long-term.
 Supporting habitats for bird species of the Burry Inlet SPA include:

•Estuaries
•Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low tide
•Atlantic salt meadows
•Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand

‘Large shallow inlets and bays’ are the supporting habitat for the common scoter of the 
Carmarthen Bay SPA.
 The management and control of activities or operations likely to be of significant effect to 

the oystercatchers, is appropriate for maintaining the feature at FCS and is secure in the 
long-term.

T
udalen 368



86

Appendix 2.Nitrogen Deposition Data for SAC’s/SPA’s within Carmarthenshire and 15km Buffer Zone 

Tudalen 369



87

Site Designated features Critical Load Class Critical Load (kg 
N/ha/yr)

Site Average (kg 
N/ha/yr)

Oligotrophic to 
mesotrophic standing 
waters with vegetation of 
the Littorelletea uniflorae 
and/or of the Isoeto-
Nanojuncetea

3 - 10 14.2Afon Teifi

Luronium natans – Floating 
water-plantain 

Permanent 
oligotrophic waters: 
Softwater lakes

3 - 10 14.2

Non-mediterranean 
dry acid and neutral 
closed grassland

10 22

Sub-atlantic semi-
dry calcareous 
grassland

15 22

Marsh fritillary butterfly - 
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia  

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

10 22

Caeau Mynydd 
Mawr

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils (Molinion 
caeruleae) 

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

15 22.0

Carmarthen Bay 
and Estuaries

Atlantic salt meadows 
Salicornia and other 
annuals colonising mud 
and sand 

Pioneer, low-mid, 
mid-upper salt 
marshes

30 11.1

Coastal stable dune 
grasslands - acid 
type

8 12.7Fixed coastal dunes with 
herbaceous vegetation 
(grey dunes)

Coastal stable dune 
grasslands - 
calcareous type

10 12.7

Moist to wet dune 
slacks – acid type

10 12.7Humid dune slacks

Moist to wet dune 
slacks – calcareous 
type

15 12.7

Fen Orchid – Liparis loeselii
Petalwort - Petalophyllum 
ralfsii
Dunes with Salix repens ssp 
argentea (Salicion 
arenariae)

Moist to wet dune 
slacks

10-15 12.7

Carmarthen Bay 
and Dunes

Shifting dunes along the 
shoreline with Ammophila 
arenaria (“white dunes”)
Embryonic shifting dunes

Shifting coastal 
dunes

10 12.7

Active raised bogs Raised and blanket 
bogs

5 21.1

Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

Northern wet heath: 
Erica tetralix 
dominated wet 
heath

10 21.1

European dry heaths Dry heaths 10 21.1

Cernydd Carmel

Tilio-Acerion forests of 
slopes, screes and ravines

Meso- and 
eutrophic Quercus 
woodland

15 31.3

Tudalen 370



88

Cleddau Rivers Active raised bogs Raised and blanket 
bogs

5 19.2

Old sessile oak woods with 
Ilex and Blechnum in the 
British Isles

Acidophilous 
Quercus-dominated 
woodland

10 21.5Cwm Doethie

European dry heaths Dry heaths 10 13.8
Gower Ash Woods Tilio-Acerion forests of 

slopes, screes and ravines
Meso- and 
eutrophic Quercus 
woodland

15 17.3

Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

Southern damselfly  
Coenagrion mercuriale

Northern wet heath: 
Erica tetralix 
dominated wet 
heath

10 11.9

European dry heaths Dry heaths 10 11.9
Non-mediterranean 
dry acid and neutral 
closed grassland

10 11.9

Sub-atlantic semi-
dry calcareous 
grassland

15 11.9

Marsh fritillary butterfly

Gower Commons

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils (Molinion 
caeruleae)

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

10 11.9

Blanket bogs Raised and blanket 
bogs

5 21.3

Non-mediterranean 
dry acid and neutral 
closed grassland

10 21.3

Sub-atlantic semi-
dry calcareous 
grassland

15 21.3

Marsh fritillary butterfly  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Molinia meadows on 
calcareous, peaty or clayey-
silt-laden soils (Molinion 
caeruleae)

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

10 21.3

Transition mires and 
quaking bogs

Valley mires, poor 
fens and transition 
mires

10 21.3

Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

Southern damselfly  
Coenagrion mercuriale

Northern wet heath: 
Erica tetralix 
dominated wet 
heath

10 21.3

Gweunydd 
Blaencleddau 

Alkaline fens Rich fens 15 21.3
Mynydd Epynt Slender green feather-

mossDrepanocladus 
(Hamatocaulis) vernicosus  

Valley mires, poor 
fens and transition 
mires

10 14.9

Pembrokeshire Bat 
Sites and Bosherton 
Lakes

Rhinolophus hipposideros - 
Lesser horseshoe bat

Rhinolophus 
ferrumequinum - Greater 
horseshoe bat

Broadleaved 
deciduous 
woodland

10 18.1

Shore Dock – Rumex 
rupestris

Moist to wet dune 
slacks

10 8.9Pembrokeshire 
Marine

Coastal lagoons Pioneer, low-mid, 30 5.8

Tudalen 371



89

Atlantic salt meadows 30 8.9
Estuaries

mid-upper 
saltmarshes 30 8.9
Non-mediterranean 
dry acid and neutral 
closed grassland

10 18.9

Sub-atlantic semi-
dry calcareous 
grassland

15 18.9

Marsh fritillary butterfly – 
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia 

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

10 18.9

Depressions on peat 
substrates of the 
Rhynchosporion

15 18.9

Slender green feather-moss 
- Drepanocladus 
(Hamatocaulis) vernicosus

Valley mires, poor 
fens and transition 
mires

15 18.9

European dry heaths Dry heaths 10 18.9
Northern Atlantic wet 
heaths with Erica tetralix

10 18.9

Southern damselfly – 
Coenagrion mercuriale

Northern wet heath: 
Erica tetralix 
dominated wet 
heath

10 18.9

Preseli

Alkaline Fens Rich fens 15 18.9
Non-mediterranean 
dry acid and neutral 
closed grassland

10 19.9

Sub-atlantic semi-
dry calcareous 
grassland

15 19.9

Marsh fritillary butterfly - 
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

10 19.9

Rhos Llawr-cwrt

Slender green featherela-
moss - Drepanocladus 
(Hamatocaulis) vernicosus

Valley mires, poor 
fens and transition 
mires

15 19.9

Old sessile oak woods with 
Ilex and Blechnum in the 
British Isles

Acidophilous 
Quercus-dominated 
woodland

10 28.6North 
Pembrokeshire 
Woodlands

Barbastelle Bat -  
Barbastella barbastellus

Broadleaved 
deciduous 
woodland

10 28.6

Non-mediterranean 
dry acid and neutral 
closed grassland

10 17.4

Sub-atlantic semi-
dry calcareous 
grassland

15 17.4

Yerbeston Tops Marsh fritillary butterfly -  
Euphydryas (Eurodryas, 
Hypodryas) aurinia

Moist and wet 
oligotrophic 
grasslands: Molinia 
caerulea meadows

10 17.4

Burry Inlet SPA Eurasian curlew – 
Numenius arquata

Moist and wet 
oligtrophic 
grasslands: Heath 
(Jancus) meadows 
and humid (Nardus 
stricta) swards

10- 20 11.7

Tudalen 372



90

Pioneer, low-mid, 
mid-upper 
saltmarshes

20 - 30 11.7

Low and medium 
altitude hay 
meadows 

20 - 30 11.7

Tringa tetanus (eastern 
Atlantic – wintering) – 
Common redshank

11.7

Calidris alpina alpine 
(Northern 
Siberia/Europe/Western 
Africa) DUnlin

Pioneer, low-mid, 
mid-upper 
saltmarshes

20 - 30

11.7

Tudalen 373



91

Appendix 3 Plans and Programmes with potential in-combination effects. 
National
People, Places, futures – The Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) (2008 update)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The Wales Spatial Plan (WSP) provides an overarching policy context for 
spatial planning and development in Wales by establishing cross-cutting 
national priorities.

Carmarthenshire is situated within three of the six sub areas identified 
within the WSP.

Carmarthen, is identified as playing a vital role between this area, Swansea 
Bay and Pembrokeshire; and Newtown, with a key role in the Severn Valley 
area, providing services to the surrounding settlements. These have all 
been identified by Wales Spatial Plan partners as primary settlements for 
the future development of Central Wales.

The Wales Spatial Plan Area of Pembrokeshire and western 
Carmarthenshire combines exemplary coast and countryside, with a history 
of development based on agriculture, tourism, defence and the Milford 
Haven Waterway. 

 Direct loss of habitat and/or migratory routes through development, 
particularly localised hub & cluster development for specific sites

 Housing and employment growth in rural areas may lead to increased 
transport movements - the potential for in-combination effect is 
greater where housing sites are in close proximity to Natura 2000 sites.

 Added growth in rural communities require increased infrastructure - 
potential for land take, pollution increase,  disturbance / fragmentation 
& severance of habitats and species.

 Atmospheric pollution generated as a result of housing, employment 
and transport growth leading to further climate change impact.

 Encouraging tourism and diversification in rural areas will open up the 
countryside and increase possibility of further pollution and 
disturbance to the European sites via noise and physical erosion 
through walking activities.

NOTE: Wales Spatial Plan does not set policy although, has considerable
influence insofar as the Local Development Plan must have regard to the
Plan.

A HRA screening report of the Wales Spatial plan concluded that specific 
impacts could not be identified at this stage due to the lack of detail on the 
development that might occur under the plan but did identify the following 
potential impact pathways:
 Hydrology, water quality and water resources
 Population pressure
 Recreation pressure
 Direct and indirect effects from transport

The Wales Transport Strategy 2008
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

The National Transport Plan (2008) sits alongside the Regional Transport 
Plans in delivering the Wales Transport Strategy. This Plan details the 

Improving the efficient, reliable and sustainable movement of people and 
freight as well as reducing the contribution of transport to greenhouse gas 

T
udalen 374

https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/130701wales-spatial-plan-2008-update-en.pdf
https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-09/wales-transport-strategy.pdf


92

approach to putting transport onto a carbon reduction pathway, whilst at 
the same time ensuring that it can continue to support sustainable 
economic development and social inclusion.

emissions may help to mitigate or offset any increase in diffuse air 
pollution as a result of this Strategy.

Supports investment travel infrastructure, which could, in turn, have 
negative effects on qualifying features within a European Site, through 
disturbance and habitat fragmentation. 

Wales Coastal Tourism Strategy 2008
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The Coastal Tourism Strategy for Wales was launched in 2008. The purpose 
of the strategy was to identify a clear way forward for the development of 
Coastal Tourism, which realised and built on the economic potential of the 
coastline of Wales whilst respecting its environmental quality and 
recognising the importance of achieving community benefits.

Within the regions, seaside tourism is particularly important for South 
West Wales where it accounts for half of all tourism activity.
Carmarthenshire has a number of coastal towns including Llanelli and Burry 
Port, which have not traditionally attracted much tourism activity, but the 
development of their coastal resources such as the Burry Port Harbour 
Development, Pembrey and the Millennium Coastal Parks provide 
opportunities for attracting a wider day visitor market as well as staying 
tourists.

Tourism is an important contributor to the local economy, with villages 
attracting both staying and day visitors, as well as acting as service points 
for the surrounding rural areas. Most have an attractive environment and 
ambience for the visitor as well as specific heritage attractions, cultural or 
historic associations such as Laugharne, Llansteffan. Pendine and Pembrey
.

There is the potential for the following impacts on all coastal SACs and 
SPAs related to the plan area:
 Increased levels of tourism and employment may lead to increased 

transport movements, which could then result in increased noise/ 
disturbance and increased levels of atmospheric pollution.

 Potential for increased recreational pressure and therefore disturbance 
through various activities such as water sports.

 An increased level of waterborne transport and development along the 
coast has the potential to increase diffuse levels of water pollution.

Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013 – 2020 
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
This strategy sets the vision for the Welsh Government and the industry to 
work in partnership to increase visitor spend to Wales.
The strategy focuses on 5 key areas:

 Potential for the plan to increase levels of disturbance through 
increased tourism and therefore recreational activity.

T
udalen 375

https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/sites/dmwales/files/documents/Coastal%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/drah/publications/130613-partnership-for-growth-en.pdf


93

 promoting the Brand
 product Development
 people Development
 profitable Performance
 place building.
The strategy identifies a product-led approach to developing and
marketing tourism in Wales. This means working with iconic, high
quality, reputation-changing products and events. We will be
focusing on:

 more luxury and branded hotels
 more well-being facilities, such as spas
 more heritage hotels that utilise historic and distinctive buildings
 more all year round attractions, activities and cultural experiences
 more innovative, unusual and distinctive products.

The Great Britain domestic market is the main market for Wales and will 
continue to be the main focus. Marketing activity will be increased in 
London and South East Midlands and Yorkshire, as well as within Wales 
itself for the first time. Overseas, the 3 key markets identified by the panel 
are Ireland, Germany and USA.

 Increased levels of tourism and employment may lead to increased 
transport movements, which could then result in increased noise/ 
disturbance and increased levels of atmospheric pollution.

Active Travel Action Plan (2016)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The purpose of the Active Travel Plan (2016) is to set out: 
 the Welsh Government’s vision for active travel and how it relates to 

wider aims 
 how WG will work with others to achieve the changes required 
 how WG will embed consideration of active travel across different 

portfolios 
 how WG will monitor progress against these actions and the rates of 

active travel across Wales

Supports investment in highway and active travel infrastructure, which 
could, in turn, have negative effects on qualifying features within a 
European Site, through disturbance and habitat fragmentation. 

Improving the efficient, reliable and sustainable movement of as well as 
reducing the contribution of transport to greenhouse gas emissions may 
help to mitigate or offset any increase in diffuse air pollution as a result of 
this Strategy.

A Walking and Cycling Action Plan for Wales (2009 – 2013)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

T
udalen 376

https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2017-09/active-travel-action-plan.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/090223walkingactionplanen.pdf


94

This Action Plan brings together the key initiatives which the Welsh 
Assembly Government and its partners are planning to undertake in 
support of walking and cycling in Wales. It replaces the previous Walking 
and Cycling Action Plan which ran from 2007 – 2013. The plans core 
objectives are to improve the health and well-being of the population and 
the environment by encouraging sustainable travel. This should be done by 
promoting walking and cycling and associated facilities in crosscutting 
policies, guidance and funding.

Promoting sustainable travel may influence infrastructure such as 
cycleways, paths, lighting which in turn may have a substantial negative 
effect to the qualifying features within a European Site.

Improving the efficient, reliable and sustainable movement of as well as 
reducing the contribution of transport to greenhouse gas emissions may 
help to mitigate or offset any increase in diffuse air pollution as a result of 
this Strategy.

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water – Water Resources Management Plan (2015-2040)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The Water Resources Management Plan (WRMP) up to 2035 sets out how 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) intends to achieve the required balance 
between supply and demand. The aim is to do so efficiently so that water 
bills are no higher than they need to be and the impact on our 
environment is minimised. In order to develop the plan, DCWW have 
projected the future demand for water from our customers, we have 
calculated how much will be available from current sources, and, where 
there is a shortfall, looked at all the ways of increasing supply and reducing 
demand so as to arrive at the best overall package of solutions.

The Water Resource Management plan does not set out policy although 
gives prioritised direction and guidance on what achievements are required 
during the plan period to take consideration of water demand and water 
supply in the context of future challenges including that of climate change.

A HRA of the WRMP concluded that no significant or adverse effects on any 
European sites as a result of its implementation (alone or in combination 
with other plans and programmes), and that sufficient safeguards are in 
place to ensure this.

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water – Draft Water Resources Management Plan 2019
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
In line with our 2050 strategy, this Plan describes the water resources risks 
that need to be overcome between 2020 and 2050, whether this be from 
the balance between our ability to supply water against the demand from 
our customers, the need to invest in our water resource infrastructure to 
maintain resilient water supplies or to meet the expectations of our 
regulators and customers.

The Water Resource Management plan does not set out policy although 
gives prioritised direction and guidance on what achievements are required 
during the plan period to take consideration of water demand and water 
supply in the context of future challenges including that of climate change.

The preliminary conclusion of the draft HRA for the draft Water Resources 
Management Plan (2019) found that the plan would have no adverse 
effects alone, or in combination. However, it is possible that some aspects 
of the plan (and therefore HRA conclusion) may change whist the plan is in 
draft format and undergoing consultation.  

Towards Zero Waste – One Wales One Planet: The Overarching Waste Strategy for Wales (2010)

T
udalen 377

https://dwrcymru.com/en/My-Water/Water-Resources/Water-Resource-Management-Plan.aspx
https://dwrcymru.com/en/My-Water/Water-Resources/Draft-Water-Resources-Management-Plan-2019.aspx
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/100621wastetowardszeroen.pdf


95

Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
This Strategy sets out a long term framework for resource efficiency and 
waste management up to 2050.  It identifies the outcomes to achieve, sets 
high level targets and lays out the general approach to delivering these 
targets and other key actions. The Strategy identifies high level outcomes, 
policies and targets, and forms part of a suite of documents that comprise 
the national waste management plan for Wales.  The Strategy is 
accompanied by a number of Sector plans - implementation plans that 
describe the role of the individual sector, the Welsh Assembly Government 
and others in delivering the outcomes, targets and policies in Towards Zero 
Waste.

There are a number of potential impacts that a Waste development can 
have on qualifying features. These are summarised below:
 Consideration should be given to the presence of protected or rare 

species
 Dust
 Hours of operation / disturbance
 Litter
 Impact of landfill on existing nature conservation and archaeology
 Noise
 Odours
 Protection of surface and groundwater
 Transport and access
 Visual impact

LDP is not proposing landfill sites so minimal impact on qualifying features.

T
udalen 378



96

Regional
The Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy 2013 - 2030
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy represents an 
ambitious strategic framework to support South West Wales and its future 
economic development. The strategy contains 5 strategic aims:

 Business growth, retention and specialisation
 Skilled and ambitious long-term success
 Maximising job creation for all
 Knowledge, economy and innovation
 Distinctive places and competitive infrastructures

This strategy supports economic investment in the South West Wales area, 
including Carmarthenshire.

This has the potential to result in increased growth and development and 
could result in the following, in combination effects:
 Hydrology, water quality and water resources
 Population pressure
 Recreation pressure
 Direct and indirect effects from transport
 Habitat fragmentation

Swansea Bay City Deal 2017
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The £1.3 billion Swansea Bay City Deal was signed in March 2017. It is 
claimed that the Deal will transform the economic landscape of the area, 
boost the local economy by £1.8 billion, and generate almost 10,000 new 
jobs over the next 15 years. There is reference to 11 major projects overall, 
with the following specific projects proposed for Carmarthenshire:
 Wellness and Life Science Village in Llanelli
 Creative industry project Yr Egin in Carmarthen
4 key themes of Economic acceleration, Life science and Well-being, Energy 
and Smart manufacturing. An enhanced Digital infrastructure and next 
generation wireless networks and the development of workforce skills and 
talent will underpin each.

The proposed Wellness and Life Science village in Llanelli is situated 
adjacent to the Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries European Marine Site. It has 
the potential to have to following in combination effects:

 Effects on mobile species (bird assemblages and otter populations)
 Water Quality
 Noise, disturbance
 Recreation
 Population pressure 
 Tansport related air pollution

Joint Local Transport Plan for South West Wales (2015 – 2020)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The joint local transport plan sets out a long term strategy for 
improvements to transport across four Local Authorities:
 Carmarthenshire County Council
 Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council

Potential to improve air quality through proposed mitigation 

Supports investment in travel infrastructure, which could, in turn, have 
negative effects on qualifying features within a European Site, through 
disturbance and habitat fragmentation. 

T
udalen 379

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/swanseabaycityregioneconomicregenerationstrategy
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/611685/Swansea_City_Deal_-_English.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/4797/joint-transport-plan-300115.pdf


97

 Pembrokeshire County Council
 City and County of Swansea
Aims include: Economic Growth, Access to employment, tackling poverty, 
sustainable travel and safety and access to services.

The plan lays out a programme of schemes to improve transportation 
across Carmarthenshire.

Lavernock Point to St Ann’s Head Shoreline Management Plan 2 (2012)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
A Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) provides a large-scale assessment of 
the risks associated with coastal erosion and flooding at the coast. It also 
presents policies to help manage these risks to people and to the 
developed, historic and natural environment in a sustainable manner. 

This document is the second generation Shoreline Management Plan 
(SMP2) for the shoreline between Lavernock Point (Vale of Glamorgan) in 
the east and St Ann’s Head (Pembrokeshire) in the west, including the 
counties of Vale of Glamorgan, Bridgend, Neath Port Talbot, Swansea, 
Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire. 

The study area includes the Neath Estuary, the Tawe Estuary, the Loughor 
Estuary (Burry Inlet), the Three Rivers Estuarine Complex (Gwendraeth, 
Towy and Taf) and Milford Haven, as well as a number of smaller estuaries.

The overall conclusion of the Habitats Regulations Assessment for the 
Shoreline Management Plan was that its policies may lead to adverse 
effects on the Integrity of the following Natura 2000 sites:
• Pembrokeshire Marine Special Area of Conservation (SAC);
• Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries SAC;
• Burry Inlet Special Protection Area (SPA); and
• Burry Inlet Ramsar Site.

 Habitat loss
 Surface water pollution

An ‘in combination’ assessment refers to the total effect of all influences 
acting on a feature from all plans and projects in the context of prevailing 
environmental conditions. No effects were identified that might, in 
combination with the Lavernock Point to St Ann’s Head SMP2, adversely 
affect the integrity of the SAC, SPA or Ramsar designations present.

Waste Planning Monitoring Report(s) for the South West Wales Region
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

The principal purpose of the Plan is to provide a land use planning 
framework which will assist in the provision of a comprehensive, integrated 
and sustainable network of new waste management facilities throughout 
the South West Wales Region to deal with the future waste forecast to be 
generated in the Region in 2013. The plan, which deals with all controlled 
waste, provides a sustainable land use planning framework for the Region 
for the next ten years.

Each of the Unitary Authorities in the Region have a duty to allocate within 
their own development plan an integrated and adequate network of waste 
management facilities to deal with the forecast waste generated within 
their own Local Authority area. In doing the HRA we need to be aware of 
neighbouring authority plans for waste management.

T
udalen 380

http://www.southwalescoast.org/content.asp?id=58


98

The Plan provides guidance on how the individual Authorities in the Region 
should plan for the future sustainable management of waste in their 
Unitary Development Plans. It does this by forecasting what waste will be 
generated in each Authority area as well as providing a broad commentary 
on the different waste management methods and facilities that are 
available. While not specifically allocating sites the Plan provides the 
relevant information to allow each Unitary Authority in the Region to 
allocate sites, or to come to cross border

Neighbouring planning authorities have the potential to cause ‘in-
combination’ effects to the European sites within Carmarthenshire through 
their waste management policies and proposals.

 Consideration should be given to the presence of protected or rare 
species

 Dust
 Hours of operation / disturbance
 Litter
 Impact of landfill on existing nature conservation and archaeology
 Noise
 Odours
 Protection of surface and groundwater
 Transport and access
 Visual impact
In combination effects may arise in the very nature of a waste 
management facility being developed either within the plan area or a 
neighbouring plan area

The waste plans state “Where it is not possible / practicable for an 
Authority to deal with all forecast waste arising within its area, then that 
Authority’s LDP shall identify how that particular element of waste 
generated within its area is to be managed by reference to cross boundary 
arrangements. The allocation of waste management facilities within the 
Region shall have a cumulative capacity that deals with all of the waste 
forecast to be generated in the Region. Any additional capacity over and 
above the waste forecast to be generated in the Region will need to be 
fully justified.

Regional Technical Statement Regional Aggregate Working Parties (2014)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

The main purpose of the statement is to set out the strategy for the 
provision of the aggregates in the North Wales region for the period until 
2021. As appropriate, MPAs in South Wales will then include allocations for 
future aggregates provision in their area, as part of the UDP / LDP process. 
The RTS will therefore seek to:

 Loss of Habitat - land-take.
 Loss of Supporting Habitat - land-take adjacent to European sites.
 Habitat Fragmentation Impacts - land-take due.
 increased levels of disturbance - acoustic, noise and light pollution; and
 Impacts for Increased Use of Roads - Impacts from increased numbers 

of heavy vehicles:

T
udalen 381



99

 Maximise the use of secondary and recycled materials and mineral 
wastes.

 Safeguard land-based minerals which may be needed in the long 
term.

 • Acknowledge that where the principles of sustainable 
development can be achieved, the extension of existing aggregate 
quarries is likely to be appropriate.

 • Where there is a need for new areas of aggregates supply, these 
should come from locations of low environmental constraint and 
take into account transport implications.

 • Maintain supply of marine aggregate consistent with the 
requirements of good environmental practice.

- increased noise impacts (volume, duration);
- increased vehicular emissions;
- increased road mortality; and
- increased fragmentation impacts.

T
udalen 382



100

Local
Moving Forward in Carmarthenshire: the next 5 years (2018)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

The Council has identified almost 100 priority projects, schemes or services 
that it wants to deliver over the next five years to make Carmarthenshire 
“the best place to live, work and visit”. The Council will be investing in key 
areas as it strives to improve economic, environmental, social and cultural 
well-being in the county.

Has potential to deliver mitigating effects for some potential impacts, such 
as improvements to sewerage system may have positive effects, as well 
improvements to active travel routes which could contribute to 
improvements in air quality.

A number of the projects outlined for delivery in this strategy are in 
proximity to European designated sites. 

Potential in combination impacts include:
 Air quality
 Disturbance (noise, light, recreation)
 Habitat fragmentation
 Water quality
 Water supply

Transformations: A Strategic Regeneration Plan for Carmarthenshire – 2015 – 2030
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The economic landscape is evolving with Carmarthenshire’s position in the 
new Swansea Bay City Region for which the strategy has been adopted by 
the Council; “by 2030, Carmarthenshire will be a confident, ambitious and 
connected component of a European City Region.”

Strategic regeneration sites highlighted include:

Delta Lakes
The Beacon
Cross Hands Food Park
Carmarthen Town Centre
Llanelli Town Centre
Ammanford Town Centre

A number of the projects outlined for delivery in this plan are in proximity 
to European designated sites. 

Generic impacts associated with growth and development include:
 Air quality
 Disturbance (noise, light, recreation)
 Habitat fragmentation
 Water quality
 Water supply

T
udalen 383

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212982/moving-forward.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212060/strategic-regeneration-plan-for-carmarthenshire-2015-2030-pdf.pdf


101

Affordable Homes Delivery Plan 2016 – 2020: Delivering more homes for the people of Carmarthenshire – 2015 – 2030
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
This sets out the Council’s five year vision for maximising the supply of 
affordable homes. Its purpose is to provide detail on how and where more 
homes will be delivered and what resources will be used and how more 
could potentially be accessed. It also outlines how an ambitious new build 
programme can be delivered.

The programme will initially deliver over 1000 additional affordable homes 
over five years, with a total investment exceeding £60m.

Generic impacts associated with growth and development include:
 Air quality
 Disturbance (noise, light, recreation)
 Habitat fragmentation
 Water quality
 Water supply

Carmarthenshire Destination Management Plan 2015 – 2020 (June 2015) – Carmarthenshire Destination Partnership
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
The purpose of the Destination Management Plan (DMP) for 
Carmarthenshire is to clarify what is important to get right for the future, 
to shape policy and priorities, to steer resources and to form the basis for 
people, businesses and organisations to work together to achieve common 
goals. 

 Potential for the plan to increase levels of disturbance through 
increased tourism and therefore recreational activity.

 Increased levels of tourism and employment may lead to increased 
transport movements, which could then result in increased noise/ 
disturbance and increased levels of atmospheric pollution.

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2013)
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
This document identifies the Risk Management Authorities within 
Carmarthenshire, the key requirements and contents of the strategy, and 
outlines the high level objectives and measures for implementing the 
strategy. In addition, this document identifies the potential sources which 
could fund the implementation of the measures. The document also 
discusses the context within which the strategy is required to achieve 
wider environmental benefits.

No structural measures to control flood risk are proposed in this strategy 
and therefore there are unlikely to be in-combination effects. However the 
strategy does state that is requirements for structural measures do arise, 
that the strategy would be subject to a HRA and in-combination effects 
may be possible. 
These may include disturbance, barriers to migration and pollution. 

Flood Risk Management Plan for the Western Wales River Basin District
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

The HRA of the FRMP concluded that the plan contained insufficient detail 
to ascertain significant effects and consequently the assessment for these 
measures have been deferred to lower tier plans or projects. 
Environmental Assessment and HRA will be undertaken of these lower tier 
plans or projects.

T
udalen 384

https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1213902/affordable-homes-delivery-plan.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1212064/carmarthenshire-destination-management-plan-2015-2020.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3506/flood_strategy.pdf
https://naturalresources.wales/media/675146/final_frmp_-western-wales_pk26b82.pdf


102

Sites a relevance to Carmarthenshire which likely significant effects could 
not be screened out include:
 Burry Inlet
 Elenydd – Mallaen
 Cleddau Rivers
 North Pembrokeshire Woodlands
 Pembrokeshire Bat sites and Bosherton lakes
 River Usk
 River Wye

Sites were screened in for potential impacts on mobile species (birds, 
otters lamprey, bullhead, shad, bats)

T
udalen 385



103

Local Development Plans 
Pembrokeshire County Council Local Development Plan (2013 – 2021) - Adopted
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
Spatial approach
New allocations for housing development will be directed to the Hub 
Towns, which are Haverfordwest, Milford Haven, Neyland, Pembroke, 
Pembroke Dock, Fishguard and Goodwick, and, in rural Pembrokeshire, to 
those settlements identified as appropriate for future growth in the 
settlement hierarchy. The settlement hierarchy classifies all settlements 
according to their functional characteristics and provision of services and 
facilities, with Settlement Boundaries defined for Narberth, the Service 
Centres, Service Villages, and Local Villages

Housing growth
Provision is made for approximately 7,300 dwellings in the Plan period, to 
enable delivery of 5,700 dwellings

This plan is now under review as of 5th May 2017. The preferred strategy 
is scheduled to be published for consultation by 2018. The deposit plan is 
scheduled to be published for consultation by October 2019.This will have 
to be considered as the HRA process develops.

The development plans of nearby local planning authorities have the 
potential to cause ‘in-combination’ effects to the European sites within 
Powys through their housing and employment land allocations and other 
policies. Development could have an indirect effect on the sites and could 
increase their vulnerability and have a substantial negative effect if 
connected in any way.

Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include:
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological 

impacts
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution 

loading
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased 

demand for minerals
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations

Specific sites include:
SAC
 Preseli
 Afon Teifi
 Cleddau Rivers
 Yerbeston Tops
 North Pembrokeshire Woodlands
 Gwenydd Blaencleddau
 Pembrokeshire Bat Sites and Bosherton Lake
 Pembrokeshire Marine
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
SPA
 Carmarthen Bay

Swansea Local Development Plan (2010 – 2025) – Deposit 
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects

T
udalen 386

https://www.pembrokeshire.gov.uk/adopted-local-development-plan
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/ldpdeposit


104

Spatial approach
The broad locations identified for growth arising from the analysis of 
spatial options are listed below:

 Greater North West (GNW) encompasses former industrial 
communities such as Gorseinon and Pontarddulais, which have 
become primarily dormitory settlements served by large district 
centres.

 The North Zone incorporates largely residential urban areas around 
the fringes of Central Swansea, including Penlan, Mynyddbach, 
Llangyfelach, and Morriston; and also established business parks at 
Fforestfach and Waunarlwydd. 

 The East Zone largely comprises the urban area east of the River Tawe 
and extends as far north as Clydach. It includes employment and mixed 
use locations, such as Swansea Enterprise Park, Swansea Vale, Swansea 
Port and SA1 Swansea Waterfront. 

 The West Zone rapidly expanded and merged in the late Twentieth 
Century, expanding to its environmental limits from the waterfront 
through to the Gower Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
boundary. The Zone comprises primarily residential settlements, 
including Sketty and Mumbles.

 The Gower and Gower Fringe Zones are characterised by small and 
large villages located in rural and semi-rural landscapes, some near the 
western fringe of the urban area.

Housing growth
This analysis of demographic trends and economic growth scenarios has 
concluded that between 16,100 and 17,100 new dwellings (including a 10% 
flexibility allowance to allow for where some sites may not come forward 
as planned or to respond to unforeseen needs) are required over the Plan 
period 

The development plans of nearby local planning authorities have the 
potential to cause ‘in-combination’ effects to the European sites within 
Powys through their housing and employment land allocations and other 
policies. Development could have an indirect effect on the sites and could 
increase their vulnerability and have a substantial negative effect if 
connected in any way.

Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include:
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological 

impacts
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution 

loading
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased 

demand for minerals
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations

Specific sites include:
SAC
 Carmarthen Bay and Estuaries
 Gower Commons
 Gower Ash Woods
 Carmarthen Bay Dunes
SPA
 Burry Inlet

Ceredigion Local Development Plan (2021 – 2033) - Adopted
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
Spatial Approach
Urban service centres: Aberystwyth, Cardigan, Lampeter, Llandysul, 
Aberaeron and Tregaron

The development plans of nearby local planning authorities have the 
potential to cause ‘in-combination’ effects to the European sites within 
Powys through their housing and employment land allocations and other 

T
udalen 387

https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/oldicm/index.cfm?articleid=21843


105

Rural service centres:
Aberporth/Parcllyn, Bow Street, Cenarth, Felinfach/ Ystrad Aeron, Llanarth, 
Llanilar, Llanon Llanrhystud, Llanybydder (Carmarthenshire), New Quay, 
Penrhyncoch, Pontarfynac, Pontrhydfendigaid, Talybont, Y Borth

Housing Growth
Approximately 6544 dwellings in order to meet the projected growth
of 6000 units
 At least 51% of this growth in the Urban Service Centres (USCs);
 24% of this growth in the Rural Service Centres (RSCs); and
 A maximum of 25% of this growth (or in any event not more than 1522 

units) in settlements and locations other than the Service Centres 
(predominantly in the Linked Settlements)

policies. Development could have an indirect effect on the sites and could 
increase their vulnerability and have a substantial negative effect if 
connected in any way.

Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include:
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological 

impacts
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution 

loading
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased 

demand for minerals
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations

Specific sites include:
SAC
Afon Teifi
Rhos Lawr-cwrt
Cwm Doethie – Mynydd Mallaen
SPA
Ellenydd – Mallaen 

Powys Local Development Plan (2011 – 2026) - Adopted
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
Spatial Approach: 
Towns: Builth Wells (including Llanelwedd), Knighton, Llandrindod Wells, 
Llanfair Caereinion, Llanfyllin, Llanidloes, Llanwrtyd Wells, Machynlleth, 
Montgomery, Newtown, Presteigne, Rhayader, Welshpool, Ystradgynlais, 
Hay-on-Wye (part BBNP area)

Large Villages: Abercrave, Abermule, Arddleen, Berriew, Bettws Cedewain, 
Boughrood and Llyswen, Bronllys, Caersws, Carno, Castle Caereinion, 
Churchstoke, Clyro, Coelbren, Crewgreen, Crossgates, Forden and 
Kingswood, Four Crosses, Glasbury, Guilsfield, Howey, Kerry, Knucklas, 
Llanbrynmair, Llandinam, Llandrinio, Llanfechain, Llangurig, Llangynog, 
Llanrhaeadr-ym-Mochnant, Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain, Llansilin, 

The development plans of nearby local planning authorities have the 
potential to cause ‘in-combination’ effects to the European sites within 
Powys through their housing and employment land allocations and other 
policies. Development could have an indirect effect on the sites and could 
increase their vulnerability and have a substantial negative effect if 
connected in any way.

Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include:
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological 

impacts

T
udalen 388

http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/local-development-plan/adopted-ldp-2018/


106

Llanymynech, Llanyre, Meifod, Middletown, New Radnor, Newbridge on 
Wye, Penybontfawr, Pontrobert, Three Cocks, Trefeglwys, Tregynon, 
Trewern

Housing Growth:
The LDP evidence identifies a Dwelling Requirement Figure of 4,500 
including an affordable housing target of 952 new affordable homes.

 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution 
loading

 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased 
demand for minerals

 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations

Specific sites include:
SAC
River Wye
River Usk

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (2007 – 2022) – Adopted
Document Details Potential ‘in-combination’ effects
Spatial approach:
HUB: Brecon  - Identified as the “Primary Key Settlement” for the Region
CLUSTER: Talgarth, Hay-on-Wye, Crickhowell, Sennybridge - Identified as 
“Key Settlements” having an importantstrategic function in serving the 
surrounding communities.

Housing Growth:
The identified housing requirement for the Brecon Beacons National Park is 
1990 dwellings between 2007 and 2022.

The development plans of nearby local planning authorities have the 
potential to cause ‘in-combination’ effects to the European sites within 
Powys through their housing and employment land allocations and other 
policies. Development could have an indirect effect on the sites and could 
increase their vulnerability and have a substantial negative effect if 
connected in any way.

Generic effects related to development/ growth scenarios include:
 Potential for land take/ habitat fragmentation
 Increased demand for water resources/ abstraction/ hydrological 

impacts
 Increased traffic movements, contributions to atmospheric pollution 

loading
 Growth in requirements for waste management facilities, increased 

demand for minerals
 Increased recreational pressure from existing/ new populations

Specific sites include:
SAC
River Tywi
River Usk

T
udalen 389

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/planning/draft-strategy-and-policy/brecon-beacons-national-park-local-development-plan/


107

Appendix 4 Preliminary screening of draft Strategic Objectives

Objective Assessment 
category

Screening 
Conclusion

Healthy Habits - People have a good quality of life and make healthy choices about 
their lives and environment

SO1 To ensure that the natural environment, including 
habitats and species, are safeguarded and enhanced

D Screened Out

SO2
To assist with widening and promoting wellbeing 
opportunities through access to community, leisure 
and recreational facilities as well as the countryside

A Screened Out

SO5
To safeguarded and enhance the built and historic 
environment and promote the appropriate reuse of 
redundant buildings.

A Screened Out

Early Intervention - To make sure that people have the right help at the right time; as and when 
they need it

SO3 To assist in widening and promoting education and 
skills training opportunities for all.

A Screened Out

SO4

To ensure that the principles of equal opportunities 
and social inclusion are upheld by promoting access to 
a high quality and diverse mix of public services, 
healthcare, shops, leisure facilities and work 
opportunities, as well as vibrant town centres.

A Screened Out

Strong Connections - Strongly connected people, places and organisations that are able to adapt 
to change

SO6

To ensure that the principles of spatial sustainability 
are upheld by directing development to sustainable 
locations with access to services and facilities and 
wherever possible encouraging the reuse of previously 
developed land.

A Screened Out

SO7

To make a significant contribution towards tackling 
the cause and adapting to the effect of climate 
change, including promoting the efficient use and 
safeguarding of resources.

D Screened Out

SO8
To contribute to the delivery of an accessible 
integrated and sustainable transport system, including 
links to alternative transport methods

A Screened Out

Prosperous People and Places – To maximise opportunities for people and places in both urban 
and rural parts of our county

SO9

To protect and enhance the diverse character, 
distinctiveness, safety and vibrancy of the County’s 
communities by promoting a place making approach 
and a sense of place.

A Screened Out

SO10

To make provision for an appropriate mix of quality 
homes across the County based around the principles 
of sustainable socio-economic development and 
equality of opportunities.

A Screened Out

SO11
To assist in protecting, enhancing and promoting the 
Welsh Language and the County’s unique cultural 
identity, assets and social fabric.

A Screened Out

Tudalen 390



108

SO12

To encourage investment & innovation in rural and 
urban areas by making adequate provision to meet 
employment need and to contribute at a regional level 
to the delivery of the Swansea Bay City Deal.

A Screened Out

SO13 To make provision for sustainable & high quality all 
year round tourism related initiatives.

A Screened Out

SO14
To reflect the requirements associated with the 
delivery of new development, both in terms of hard 
and soft infrastructure (including broadband).

A Screened Out

Tudalen 391



109

Appendix 5 Preliminary screening of draft Strategic Policies
Policy Screening 

Category
Justification and conclusion Mitigation measures? Screening Outcome

SP1 – Strategic Growth
The LDP will provide for the future 
growth of the economy and housing 
requirement through the provision of 
following: 

a) 10,480 new homes to meet the 
identified housing requirement of 
9,887.

b) A minimum of 5,295 new jobs

The focus on regeneration and growth 
reflects the Councils core strategic 
ambitions with development 
distributed in a sustainable manner 
consistent with the spatial strategy 
and settlement hierarchy.

I

This policy promotes change, but 
potential effects on European sites 
cannot be identified, because at this 
stage the proposal is too general. 
Detailed assessment is required 
when, location specific information 
is available

This policy will require further 
screening following the 
consideration of mitigation.

It is suggested that the potential for 
likely significant effects can be 
avoided through the incorporation 
of specific policy restriction.

Screened In

SP2 – Retail and Town Centres
Proposals for retail development will 
be considered in accordance with the 
following retail hierarchy.

Proposals will be permitted where 
they maintain and enhance the 
vibrancy, viability and attractiveness 
of our retail centres.  They should 
protect and promote the viability and 
vitality of the defined retail centres, 
supporting the appropriate delivery of 

B

This policy relates specifically to 
town centre locations and 
maintaining the vibrancy, viability 
and attractiveness of 
Carmarthenshire’s town, district, and 
local centres. Implementation of this 
policy would not lead directly to 
development, as they list general 
criteria for testing the acceptability 
of proposals.

N/A Screened Out

T
udalen 392



110

retail provision (comparison and 
convenience), leisure, entertainment, 
office and cultural facilities. 

Proposals for small local convenience 
shopping facilities in rural and urban 
areas where they accord with the 
settlement framework will be 
supported. 

There would be no LSE on European 
sites as a result of implementation 
of this policy

SP3 – Providing New Homes
In order to ensure the overall housing 
requirement of 9,887 homes for the 
plan period 2018-2033 is met, 
provision is made for 10,480 new 
homes in accordance with the 
settlement framework. 

I

This policy promotes change, but 
potential effects on European sites 
cannot be identified, because at this 
stage the proposal is too general. 
Detailed assessment is required 
when, location specific information 
is available

This policy will require further 
screening following the 
consideration of mitigation.

It is suggested that the potential for 
likely significant effects can be 
avoided through the incorporation 
of specific policy restriction.

Screened In

SP4 – Affordable Homes 
The Plan will maximise the delivery of 
affordable homes up to 2033 through 
the provision of XXXX affordable 
homes. 9

I

This policy promotes change, but 
potential effects on European sites 
cannot be identified, because at this 
stage the proposal is too general. 
Detailed assessment is required 
when, location specific information 
is available.

This policy will require further 
screening following the 
consideration of mitigation.

It is suggested that the potential for 
likely significant effects can be 
avoided through the incorporation 
of specific policy restriction. Screened In

9 The level of affordable housing provided will be populated as part of the preparation of the Deposit LDP.

T
udalen 393



111

SP5 - Strategic Sites
In reflecting their contribution to the 
future growth requirements for 
Carmarthenshire and as key 
components of the Swansea Bay City 
deal, two Strategic Sites have been 
identified as making an important 
contribution to the overall provision 
for growth during the Plan period: 

 The Llanelli Life Science and 
Well-being Village; and 

 Yr Egin – Creative Digital 
Cluster 

C

This policy refers to specific 
proposals for projects that would 
progress irrespective of LDP 
adoption.

Both proposals will be subject to 
HRA if required through the planning 
process.

Therefore, it is determined that 
there will be no likely significant 
impacts on European sites as a 
result of the implementation of this 
policy.

Screened Out

SP6 Employment and the Economy
Sufficient and appropriate land will be 
allocated for the provision of 
employment opportunities for the 
Plan period (figure to be quantified) in 
accordance with the Plan’s Spatial 
Strategy / Settlement Framework.

I

This policy promotes change, but 
potential effects on European sites 
cannot be identified, because at this 
stage the proposal is too general. 
Detailed assessment is required 
when, location specific, site 
allocation information is determined.
This policy will require further 
consideration at the detailed 
screening stage.

Screened In

SP7 – Welsh Language and Culture
The Plan supports development 
proposals which safeguard and 
promote the interests of the Welsh 
language and culture in the County.  
Development proposals which have a 
detrimental impact on the vitality and 
viability of the Welsh language and 

F

This policy will not lead to any 
development and it relates to 
general safeguarding of Welsh 
language.

There would be no LSE on European 
sites as

N/A Screened Out

T
udalen 394



112

culture will not be permitted unless 
the impact can be mitigated. 

a result of implementation of this 
policy

SP8 – Infrastructure
Development will need to be directed 
to locations where the infrastructure, 
services and facilities considered 
necessary to deliver and support the 
development proposal are available. 

Development proposals will need to 
demonstrate that there is sufficient 
capacity in the existing infrastructure 
to deliver and support the proposed 
development.  Where this cannot be 
achieved, proposals will need to 
demonstrate that suitable 
arrangements are in place to provide 
the infrastructure capacity considered 
necessary to deliver and support the 
development.

Planning obligations may be sought to 
ensure that the infrastructure, 
services and facilities needed to 
deliver and support the development 
are delivered. 

B

This policy refers specifically to 
ensuring that development is 
sufficiently supported by 
infrastructure, and is designed to 
test plan proposals for their general 
acceptability.

Therefore, There would be no LSE 
on European sites as
a result of implementation of this 
policy

N/A Screened Out

SP9 – Gypsy and Traveller Provision
Land will be allocated within the 
Llanelli area to meet the identified 
need for Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation and to allow for the 
potential future expansion of Gypsy 
and Traveller Households.

H

This policy identifies the need to 
address the accommodation needs 
of gypsies, travellers and travelling 
showpeople. The policy sets out the 
Council’s legal duty, but the policy 
itself does not allocate any sites. 
Given the likely small-scale nature of 

Screened OutT
udalen 395



113

such sites, and their likely location 
adjacent to existing development, it 
is considered unlikely that there 
would be LSE on European sites as a 
result of implementation of this 
policy.

SP10 – The Visitor Economy
Proposals for tourism related 
developments will be supported 
where they:
(a) add value to our visitor economy; 

and,
(b) preserve our  social, economic 

and environmental fabric for 
future generations; and, 

(c) are sustainably located.
A

This policy relates to supporting 
sustainable tourism within the 
County. Although SP10 supports new 
development, there are no specific 
sites allocated under this policy.
The policy states that tourism 
related developments will be 
‘sustainably located’ and will 
‘preserve social, economic and 
environmental fabric for future 
generations’.

Given that the aim of this policy 
emphasises sustainable tourism, it 
is considered unlikely that there 
would be LSE on European sites as a 
result of this policy.

N/A Screened Out

SP11 – Placemaking, Sustainability 
and High Quality Design
In order to facilitate sustainable 
development, new development 
should acknowledge local 
distinctiveness and sense of place, and 
be designed to high standards that are 
adaptable to climate change.

B

This policy refers specifically to 
ensuring that development is 
considers placemaking, sustainability 
and high quality design, and 
proposed criteria to test plan 
proposals for their general 
acceptability.

Therefore, There would be no LSE 
on European sites as

N/A Screened Out

T
udalen 396



114

In order to achieve this, all 
development should:

Contribute towards the creation of 
attractive, safe places and public 
spaces, which enhance the well-being 
of communities, including 
safeguarding amenity, landscaping, 
the public realm and the provision of 
open space and recreation;

a) Retain and where appropriate 
incorporate new green 
infrastructure which encourages 
opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity and ecological 
connectivity;

b) Be adaptable to climate change 
and utilise materials and 
resources appropriate to the area 
within which it is located;

c) Exhibit and demonstrate a clear 
understanding of the existing 
natural and built heritage, local 
character and sense of place;

d) Be accessible and integrated 
allowing permeability and ease of 
movement;

e) Have regard to the generation, 
treatment and disposal of waste;

f) Manage water sustainably, 
including incorporating 
sustainable urban drainage 

a result of implementation of this 
policy

T
udalen 397



115

systems (SuDS) into development 
proposals where feasible.

SP12 – Rural Development
The Plan supports development 
proposals which will contribute 
towards the sustainability of the 
County’s rural communities.  
Development proposals in rural areas 
should demonstrate that they support 
the role of the rural settlements in the 
settlement hierarchy to meet the 
housing, employment and social 
needs of Carmarthenshire’s rural 
communities.

A

Although this policy does support 
development in rural areas, there 
are no specific areas or sites 
allocated under the policy.
The policy does state that ‘the 
sustainability of the countryside and 
natural environment’ is ‘imperitive’ 
and that ‘development would need 
to demonstrate that they accord 
with the provisions of national 
planning policies’.

Given that this policy emphasises 
that the consideration of the 
sustainability of countryside and 
natural environment is imperative 
and that national planning policy 
must be adhered to, it is considered 
unlikely that there would be LSE on 
European sites as a result of this 
policy.

N/A Screened Out

SP13 – Protection and Enhancement 
of the Natural Environment
Proposals for development will be 
expected to protect and enhance the 
County’s natural environment.

Proposals must reflect the role an 
ecologically connected environment 
has in protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity, defining the landscape, 

D

The direct purpose of this policy is 
the protection and enhancement of 
the natural environment.

For this reason, There would be no 
LSE on European sites as
a result of implementation of this 
policy

In order to strengthen this policy the 
addition of the following wording is 
suggested:

All development proposals should 
be considered in accordance with 
national policy (PPW and TAN5) 
where a proposal for development 
would result in a significant adverse 

Screened Out

T
udalen 398



116

creating a sense of place and 
contribute to a sense of Well-being. 

effect on a European designated 
site.

Development that would result in 
unacceptable adverse 
environmental effects will not be 
permitted.

SP14 – Protection and Enhancement 
of the Built and Historic Environment
Development proposals should 
preserve or enhance the built and 
historic environment of the County, its 
cultural, townscape and landscape 
assets, and, where appropriate, their 
setting.

Proposals will be expected to promote 
high quality design that reinforces 
local character and respects and 
enhances the cultural and historic 
qualities of the plan area.

D

The direct purpose of this policy is 
the protection and enhancement of 
the built and historic environment.

For this reason, There would be no 
LSE on European sites as
a result of implementation of this 
policy

N/A Screened Out

SP15 – Climate Change
Where development proposals 
respond to, are resilient to, adapt to 
and minimise the causes and impacts 
of climate change they will be 
supported. In particular proposals will 
be supported where they:
a) Reflect sustainable transport 

principles and minimise the need 
to travel, particularly by private 
motor car;

B

This policy relates specifically to 
ensuring development is resilient to 
climate change Implementation of 
this policy would not lead directly to 
development, as they list general 
criteria for testing the acceptability 
of proposals.

There would be no LSE on European 
sites as
a result of implementation of this 
policy

N/A Screened Out

T
udalen 399



117

b) Avoid, or where appropriate, 
minimise the risk of flooding 
including the incorporation of 
measures such as SuDS and flood 
resilient design;

c) Promote the energy hierarchy by 
reducing energy demand, 
promoting energy efficiency and 
increasing the supply of 
renewable energy;

d) Incorporate appropriate climate 
responsive design solutions 
including orientation, layout, 
density and low carbon solutions 
(including design and construction 
methods) and utilise sustainable 
construction methods where 
feasible. 

Proposals for development which are 
located within areas at risk from 
flooding will be resisted unless they 
accord with the provisions of Planning 
Policy Wales TAN 15. 

SP16 – Sustainable Distribution – 
Settlement Framework
The provision of growth and 
development will be directed to 
sustainable locations in accordance 
with the following spatial framework 
(see Preferred Strategy for settlement 
framework).  

I

This policy promotes change, but 
potential effects on European sites 
cannot be identified, because at this 
stage the proposal is too general. 
Detailed assessment is required 
when, location specific information 
is available

Screened In

T
udalen 400



118

This policy will require further 
screening following the 
consideration of mitigation.

SP17 – Transport and Accessibility
Sustainable and deliverable 
development requires an integrated, 
accessible, reliable, efficient, safe and 
sustainable transport network to 
underpin delivery.  The Plan therefore 
contributes to the delivery of a 
sustainable transport system and 
associated infrastructure through:

a. Reducing the need to travel, 
particularly by private motor car; 

b. Addressing social inclusion 
through increased accessibility to 
employment, services and 
facilities;

c. Supporting and where applicable 
enhancing alternatives to the 
motor car, such as public 
transport (including park and ride 
facilities and encourage the 
adoption of travel plans) and 
active transport through cycling 
and walking; 

d. Re-enforcing the function and role 
of settlements in accordance with 
the settlement framework;

e. Promoting the efficient use of the 
transport network;

B

This policy relates specifically to 
ensuring the plan contributes to the 
delivery of a sustainable transport 
system through sustainable location 
of development Implementation of 
this policy would not lead directly to 
development, as they list general 
criteria for testing the acceptability 
of proposals.

There would be no LSE on European 
sites as
a result of implementation of this 
policy

N/A Screened Out

T
udalen 401



119

f. Enhancing accessibility to 
employment, homes, services and 
facilities at locations accessible to 
appropriate transport 
infrastructure – including 
significant trip generating 
proposals; 

g. The incorporation of design and 
access solutions within 
developments to promote 
accessibility. Provide walking and 
cycling routes, linking in with 
active travel networks and green 
infrastructure networks; and

h. Adopt a sustainable approach to 
the design, function and layout of 
new development, including 
providing appropriate levels of 
parking.

SP18 – Mineral Resources
The County’s identified mineral 
resources will be sustainably managed 
by:
a) Ensuring supply by maintaining an 

adequate landbank of permitted 
aggregate reserves (hard rock and 
sand and gravel) throughout the 
Plan period;

b) Encouraging the efficient and 
appropriate use of high quality 
minerals and maximising the 
potential for the re-use and 

G

This policy makes provision for 
change, however the policy states 
that ‘buffer zones’ will be used to 
‘reduce the conflict between mineral 
development and sensitive 
development’ and that ‘appropriate 
restoration’ will be secured which 
can ‘deliver specific environmental 
community benefits’. 

Given that this policy details the use 
of buffer zones to avoid sensitive 
areas, it is considered unlikely that 

N/A Screened Out

T
udalen 402



120

recycling of suitable minerals as 
an alternative to primary won 
aggregates;

c) Safeguarding areas underlain by 
minerals of economic importance 
where they could be worked in 
the future to ensure that such 
resources are not unnecessarily 
sterilised by other forms of 
development;

d) The use of buffer zones to reduce 
the conflict between mineral 
development and sensitive 
development;

e) Securing appropriate restoration 
which can deliver specific 
environmental and community 
benefits.

there would be LSE on European 
sites as a result of this policy.

SP19 – Waste Management
Provision will be made to facilitate the 
sustainable management of waste 
through: 
a) The allocation of adequate 
appropriate land to provide for an 
integrated network of waste 
management facilities;
b) Supporting proposals for 
waste management which involve the 
management of waste in accordance 
with the ranking set out within in the 
waste hierarchy; 
c) Supporting proposals for new 
in-building waste management 

I

This policy promotes change, but the 
wording of the policy does not allow 
likely significant effects to be ruled 
out. 

This policy will require further 
screening, following the 
consideration of mitigation.

Suggested rewording of policy:

The location and scale of 
developments should have regard to 
the availability and capacity of waste 
management facilities in the area. 
They should also have regard to 
sustainable location and protection 
of the natural environment.

Screened In

T
udalen 403



121

facilities at existing and allocated 
industrial sites which are suitable for 
waste management facilities;
d) Acknowledging that certain 
types of waste facility may need to be 
located outside the development 
limits of settlements;
e) Ensuring that provision is 
made for the sustainable 
management of waste in all new 
development, including securing 
opportunities to minimise the 
production of waste.

T
udalen 404



Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - CYMUNEDAU
DYDDIAD: 23 TACHWEDD 2018

PWNC : 
STRATEGAETH DDIGARTREFEDD RANBARTHOL

Y Pwrpas: 
Mae dogfen y strategaeth yn amlinellu'r prif themâu a'r blaenoriaethau mewn perthynas â sut 
y bydd Sir Gaerfyrddin, Sir Benfro, Ceredigion a Phowys yn atal ac yn mynd i'r afael â 
digartrefedd yn ystod y blynyddoedd nesaf. 

 

Ystyried y materion canlynol a chyflwyno sylwadau arnynt:

 Argymell i’r Bwrdd Gweithredol cymeradwyo'r Strategaeth Ddigartrefedd Ranbarthol. 

Y RHESYMAU: 
 Mae'n ofynnol i Awdurdodau Lleol yng Nghymru lunio strategaeth ddigartrefedd yn unol 

â Deddf Tai (Cymru) 2014;
 Roedd y Bwrdd Gweithredol wedi cytuno o'r blaen i ddatblygu strategaeth ranbarthol 

gyda Cheredigion, Sir Benfro a Phowys;
 Rydym wedi cynnal adolygiad o ddigartrefedd yn Sir Gaerfyrddin drwy ddadansoddi  

data allweddol a thrwy ymgynghori â rhanddeiliaid allweddol; ac
 Mae dogfen y strategaeth yn amlinellu cyfeiriad rhanbarthol sy'n nodi blaenoriaethau 

allweddol. 
 Llunio barn am faterion sydd i'w cyflwyno gerbron y Bwrdd Gweithredol/Cyngor i'w 

hystyried.
Angen cyfeirio'r mater at y Bwrdd Gweithredol / Cyngor er mwyn gwneud penderfyniad:      
Angen i'r Bwrdd Gweithredol wneud penderfyniad                   -  Oes – 17 Rhagfyr, 2018            
Angen i'r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                         -   Oes – 9 Ionawr, 2019

Yr Aelod o'r Bwrdd Gweithredol sy'n dal y Portffolio:   
Y Cynghorydd Linda Evans (Deiliad y Portffolio Tai)

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth
Cymunedau
Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth: 
Jonathan Morgan

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Jonathan Willis

Swydd:

Pennaeth Dros Dro Cartrefi a 
Chymunedau Mwy Diogel.
 
Rheolwr Cyngor a Chymorth 
Tenantiaeth

Rhifau ffôn:
01267 228960
01554 899232

Cyfeiriadau E-bost:
jmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk
JNWillis@sirgar.gov.uk

 

Tudalen 405

Eitem Rhif  5

mailto:jmorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:jnwillis@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

DATE: 23RD NOVEMBER, 2018

SUBJECT: 
REGIONAL HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY

Purpose

The strategy document outlines key themes and priorities in relation to how Carmarthenshire, 
Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion and Powys will prevent and tackle homelessness over the coming 
years.

The themes and priorities have been developed from a review of homelessness services 
undertaken by each local authority across the region. 

For each theme, detailed actions will be developed for Carmarthenshire. The strategy gives 
examples of what these actions will look like, with a more detailed action plan to follow early in 
2019.

Context

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced new responsibilities on local authorities to prevent 
homelessness. In Carmarthenshire, we undertook a service review prior to the new legislation 
coming into force. Key changes involved the re-alignment of our Housing Options Service that 
involves creating a single point of contact for service users seeking housing advice. The team 
pooled a range of expertise and the team now has a range of specialist advisors and partners 
whose aim it is to tackle the root cause of any particular housing problem presented. 

Partnership working has been key to meeting these new duties and providing a better service. 
Key partners who are co-located with our housing teams are:

 The Wallich, who provide mediation services;
  Shelter, who provide money advice and general advocacy;
 Care and Repair, who support older people install adaptations and help with other home 

improvements; and
  Pobl, who provide financial support to access the private rented sector. 

What are the key themes identified across the region?

It is recognised that each local authority area will be different but some key themes with regard 
to homelessness have been identified across the region. These are:

 The number of households triggering homelessness duties has generally increased, 
since the introduction of the recent Housing Act;

 Increasing pressures on Housing Options “emergency response”;
 People approaching Council homelessness services with ever more complex needs;

Tudalen 406



 Less affordable options for single people, (especially those under 35);
 Challenges of the introduction of Universal Credit; and
 All services are facing on-going financial challenges which means we must think 

differently.

What are the key priorities?

The strategy identifies seven key priorities that are supported by a range of high level actions. 
These priorities are:

1. Continuing to evolve and harness community-based services to assist in the prevention 
of homelessness;

2. By utilising intelligence, exploring how we can focus support to households in those 
localities which are producing the highest proportion of homelessness cases in order to 
prevent it;

3. Utilising IT systems and technology to prevent homelessness by ensuring systems are 
in place which flag up issues early to trigger help and advice as early as possible;

4. In partnership with key agencies, exploring how a multi-agency case management 
approach can evolve to meet the needs of households who revolve around the 
homeless system and place demands on a variety of services;

5. In partnership with local stakeholders and other statutory services, exploring whether a 
‘Housing First’ approach can be developed to support those with the most complex 
needs;

6. Each authority, with their Housing Association and private landlord partners, 
developing affordable and sustainable housing options for single people; and

7. Each authority developing close partnership working with DWP/Job Centre+ to mitigate 
any impact the introduction of Universal Credit may have on household’s ability to 
retain their tenancies.

Recommendations:
 To recommend to Executive Board that the Regional Homelessness Strategy be 

approved.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES- Regional Strategy

Tudalen 407



IMPLICATIONS

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report :

Signed:          Jonathan Morgan                                      Acting Head of Homes and Safer Communities 

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets  

YES YES YES NONE NONE NONE NONE 

1.Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities

The strategy will complement the preventative agenda outlined in “The Carmarthenshire We 
Want”.

2. Legal  

Section 50 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 places a duty on local authorities to carry out a 
homeless review and formulate a homeless strategy.

The Welsh Government Code of Guidance for Local Authorities on the Allocation of 
Accommodation and Homelessness Chapter 5 sets out how local authorities plan homeless 
services. 
  

4.Finance
 
Any further re-alignment of resources will be fully considered as part of the development of the 
detailed action plan.

Tudalen 408



CONSULTATIONS

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below

Signed:        Jonathan Morgan                                 Acting Head of Homes and Safer Communities

1. Local Member(s)
Local Members were consulted as part of the homelessness review via a member’s seminar.
2.Community / Town Council 
Will be consulted as part of the development of the proposed action plan.
3.Relevant Partners
Relevant partners were consulted as part of the homelessness review.
4.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  
Relevant staff have been fully involved throughout the process
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW     

Title of Document File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection 

Review of 
Homelessness in 
Carmarthenshire 

\\ntcarmcc\cfp\Housing\Public Docs

Tudalen 409

file://ntcarmcc/cfp/Housing/Public%20Docs


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



1

Regional
Homelessness
Strategy-
Key themes and 
priorities

September 2018

Tudalen 411



2 | P a g e

Contents
What is the purpose of this strategy?.......................................................................................3
What is the direction of travel to prevent and tackle homelessness?......................................4
What is the context?.................................................................................................................5
What’s happening to homelessness in the region? ..................................................................7
How we tackle Prevention, accommodation and support options in Carmarthenshire?.......10
Our key priorities – What are we going to do?.......................................................................12

Tudalen 412



3

What is the purpose of this strategy?

This plan highlights the key themes and priorities in relation to how Carmarthenshire, 
Pembrokeshire, Ceredigion and Powys will prevent and tackle homelessness over the 
coming years.

The themes and priorities have been developed from an overarching review of 
homelessness service across the region, the detail of the work undertaken in 
Carmarthenshire can be found by accessing the following link:

\\ntcarmcc\cfp\Housing\Public Docs

For each theme, detailed actions will be developed for Carmarthenshire. This plan 
gives examples of what these actions will look like, with a more detailed action plan to 
follow early in 2019.

Tudalen 413

file://ntcarmcc/cfp/Housing/Public%20Docs


4 | P a g e

What is the direction of travel to prevent and tackle homelessness?

Diagram 1: Taken from the ‘Homeless Hub’, Canada http://homelesshub.ca/solutions/prevention

The diagram illustrates our direction of travel. The illustration at the top indicates how, 
traditionally, services and resources have been focussed. The majority are centred on 
providing the ‘emergency response’, i.e. are triggered when a household is homeless.

To make services more effective and prevent people falling into crisis we should be 
thinking differently and focussing resources differently. We want to move to the bottom 
illustration in order that support is delivered early, and that people can access help 
before they fall into crisis.

This plan will outline our desire to shift the current approach, by drawing resources 
and demand from the ‘emergency response’, and triggering our homelessness duties, 
to the following two key areas; 

 Community-based support to prevent homelessness before it becomes a 
crisis; and

 Developing support and accommodation options, particularly for those with 
complex needs who are creating demands on a variety of services.

Tudalen 414

http://homelesshub.ca/solutions/prevention


5

What is the context?

National 

This plan aligns with the ‘Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 by 
making sure we think about the long-term impact of our decisions, work better with 
people, communities and each other, and prevent persistent problems re-occurring. 
To deliver this plan will also require close collaboration and partnerships with key 
stakeholders.

The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced new duties for local authorities and its 
partners by:

 Putting the prevention of homelessness at the very heart of the homelessness 
agenda; and 

 Bringing the use of the private rented sector into a far more prevalent position 
in relation to discharging homelessness duties.

We have done a lot of work in Carmarthenshire to focus on prevention but we know 
we need to do more. A recent Welsh Audit Office report still highlighted how “local 
authorities continue to focus on managing people in crisis rather than stop 
homelessness from happening in the first place”.

As a result we want to continue to change cultures in relation to preventing 
homelessness, working more across departments and agencies.

Regional

This plan has been developed across the region and aims to ensure sufficient options 
and opportunities for local people to access affordable or social housing and to enable 
them to remain within the community of their choice. 

The Welsh Language and promotion of bi-linguism plays a key role across the region. 
It is acknowledged that communities are continuing to change due to the lack of 
affordable housing and employment, and this change is having a direct impact on the 
Welsh language and culture. This plan will ensure people are able to access 
prevention services and have a range of affordable accommodation and support 
options.

From Carmarthenshire’s perspective, we will need to ensure that accommodation 
options for homeless people are linked with how we utilise our current supply of 
accommodation, both social and private rented. This will particularly be the case for 

Tudalen 415



6 | P a g e

young single people as well as families. We will also ensure that our successful 
Affordable Homes Delivery Plan reflects the priorities contained in this plan.

Above all we want to help people at ‘the right time, in the right place’ and to empower 
local communities. 

We will focus on developing more preventative services, reduce crisis interventions 
and provide more accommodation and support options for those that need it. 

Tudalen 416



7

What’s happening to homelessness in the region?

In order to plan how we take services forward, it is important to first take stock. As has 
been said each of the authorities have undertaken reviews of how homelessness 
services are currently delivered and how they are working in partnership with all key 
stakeholders.

Clearly, there are differences in each area; but it is possible to identify some key 
themes.

1. Since the introduction of the recent Housing Act the number of 
households triggering homelessness duties has generally increased.

Local Authority Number of households 
triggering homeless duties

2015-16

Number of households 
triggering homeless duties  

2017-18
Carmarthenshire 1044 1488
Ceredigion 432 390
Pembrokeshire 741 855
Powys 432 453
Total 2,649 3,186

It can be seen that Carmarthenshire has not only the highest number of households 
triggering homelessness duties but has also shown the biggest increase over the two 
year period. 

The high number triggering homeless duties is reflective of the population in 
Carmarthenshire and the number of private rented properties. The increase reflects 
our current approach where our partners help us identify those in crisis. This is seen 
in the number of cases we receive which on average amounts to 3,000 in a year (1,900 
on average judged to exhibit a threat of homelessness). There is clearly further work 
needed with partners and support providers to ensure we intervene earlier. 

When homeless duties are triggered local authorities work with those cases to prevent 
and relieve the situation. As a result of our advice, prevention and relief work in 
Carmarthenshire last year 162 cases were eventually classed as homeless. It should 
be recognised that these cases were not rough sleepers and were mainly housed in 
good quality accommodation provided by ourselves or alternatively with family and 
friends as an interim measure. Clearly we continue to work those cases to source a 
long term housing solution. 
 

Tudalen 417



8 | P a g e

2. There is increasing pressure on Housing Options / ‘the emergency 
response’.

The Housing Options Teams’ are carefully managing their resources to meet 
increased demands. We do know, however, that if demand continues to rise there is 
less time dedicated to each case and the options available to assist and help the 
household resolve their housing issue will become increasingly difficult to access.
 
As a result we want to better manage this demand by switching attention to more 
preventative services and managing supply by delivering more appropriate affordable 
housing options.

3. People are approaching Council homelessness services with ever more 
complex needs.

Key feedback from those delivering the ‘emergency response’ and discharging the 
authority’s homelessness duties, was the increase in the complexity of the issues 
being faced by some households who are approaching them. 

The reasons for this need to be explored in more depth, but the evidence suggests 
that those with a variety of complex mental ill health, substance misuse and offending 
issues are unable to sustain their housing and are returning regularly for help and 
assistance.

4. Less affordable options for single people, (especially those under 35).

The options for single people, which are both affordable and sustainable, are 
becoming increasingly difficult to access. The table below indicates the proportion of 
single people on each Council’s current housing register.

Local Authority % of households with one bed 
housing need on housing register

Carmarthenshire 60%
Ceredigion 49%
Pembrokeshire 61%
Powys 44%

As the table illustrates, the demand for single person accommodation would appear 
high. The proportion of households on waiting lists with a need for one bedroomed 
accommodation far exceeds the proportion of one bed properties available within the 
social housing stock. (This becomes even more pronounced when you omit one bed 
accommodation designated for older people).

Tudalen 418



9

The private rented sector was highlighted as a key partner in meeting these needs, 
but the review did suggest an ever-greater reluctance for landlords to get engaged in 
this agenda. 

Landlords are reportedly leaving the market, not only because of increased regulation, 
(such as ‘Rent Smart Wales’); but also, welfare reform which is being perceived as an 
increasing risk when letting properties.

5. Challenges of the introduction of Universal Credit

Universal Credit is a benefit being introduced across the UK to replace six existing 
means tested benefits. It is already in place, to a degree, in all four authorities for 
claimants who have less complex claims. It will be going live for all new claimants, and 
anyone who experiences a change of circumstance from December 2018.

All reviews have flagged the concerns of agencies, both working in housing and 
beyond, in relation to how this new approach will impact upon vulnerable people and 
the impact it will have on them being able to pay their rent and retain their housing.

6. All services are facing on-going financial challenges

This makes it even more important that we think differently and innovatively in how we 
provide the services in the future, both in terms of prevention and accommodation and 
support options.

Tudalen 419



10 | P a g e

How we tackle Prevention, accommodation and support options in 
Carmarthenshire?

Key features of our approach involve:

We have re-aligned the service using existing financial services to try to tackle the 
main reasons for homelessness. These involved problems with their private sector 
home, affordability (problems with paying mortgage, rent arrears), relationship break 
down and property suitability.

We created a specific team of Housing Advisors by re-training existing staff to deal 
with the most common causes of homelessness we identified through our research 
locally.  

We have created a "hub" of specialist advisors and partners to tackle these main 
issues presented. The main parts involve:

 Housing Advisors — who undertake in depth advice and support to 
prevent homelessness or find alternative accommodation.

 Occupational Therapists-who support re-housing disabled people and 
those with serious health issues.

 Private Sector Support Officers/Environmental Health Officers-to support 
tenants and landlords in the private rented sector.

 Home Improvement Officers —to support keeping people in their own home 
by facilitating adaptations and other essential improvement work.

 Our Advice and Tenancy Support Team are co-located with key partners:

 Care and Repair (specialists in helping older people)
 Shelter (providing support to prevent homelessness and providing specialist 

money advice),
 Pobl (providing bonds enabling access to the private rented sector)
 The Walich who provide mediation services.

Partners provide support, improving capacity and by providing expertise on the key 
matters which cause customers to make contact with the service and contribute to 
homelessness.

We have also improved relationship with private landlords by developing our own 
lettings agency. We have developed our partnership with landlords and manage 160 

Tudalen 420



11

private lets on behalf of landlords which have had a significant impact on re-housing 
homeless households.

Local authorities are required to offer temporary accommodation to those households 
who are homeless and may be determined in priority need.
  
We acquire temporary accommodation stock through the private rented sector and is 
mainly located in the three main townships of Ammanford, Llanelli and Carmarthen. 
The stock consists of 38 units of single person accommodation and 59 units of family 
accommodation. 

The majority of the temporary accommodation stock is located in Llanelli and is 
reflective of the high homelessness demand and the need for families/ individuals to 
remain in this area. The single person accommodation units are managed in-house 
with the help of the landlords and the family accommodation is outsourced and 
managed by Cartrefi Hafod Housing Association. All the accommodation meets the 
appropriate legal standard and is visited on a regular basis.

Areas of Good Practice in Carmarthenshire

Wales Audit Office Report – How Local Government manages demand – 
Homelessness published in January 2018 highlighted Carmarthenshire as:

 “a good example of how to deal with service demand by trying to resolve a 
people’s issues at the first point of contact”

 “having a good relationship with private landlords and that considerable 
investment has been made in developing and managing these relationships”

 “one of the authorities who are improving joint working through co-location 
with partners working alongside the service.  Thus enabling a more options to 
resolve people’s homelessness situation.”

Tudalen 421



12 | P a g e

Our key priorities – What are we going to do?

1. Continue to evolve and harness community-based services to assist in 
the prevention of homelessness

We need to manage the increased numbers of households triggering homelessness 
duties. As a result, we need to find a way of working to get to people earlier and ‘turn 
off’ this demand.

There are community services currently aiming to do this. For example, the Regional 
Supporting People Plan is advocating the development of locality-based support 
services across the region and this is in the process of being adopted. These services 
will play a key role. It is not just these services, however. Health services are moving 
into the community, Social Services are recognising the importance of getting to 
people early, and developments like ‘Local Area Coordination’ & ‘Community 
Connectors’ are vital to tap into. 

Community led organisations, such as food banks, are in a position where they can 
spot vulnerable people early and draw in the support they need.

We will also work closely with social housing providers, both Council and Housing 
Associations. Their housing officers are the ‘eyes and ears’ on the estates they work; 
and their local intelligence will be harnessed to ensure support can be delivered early 
to any household facing housing issues. 

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Explore how the existing ‘locality’ services are modelled and how they 
can adapt to meet homelessness prevention objectives; and

 Develop a plan with key departments and external partners outlining 
how we can work more effectively in the heart of communities to 
prevent homelessness.

2. By utilising intelligence, explore how we can focus support to 
households in those localities which are producing the highest 
proportion of homelessness cases in order to prevent it.

From research undertaken as part of the review in Carmarthenshire, it was established 
that those triggering homelessness duties are often living in certain areas. There are 
58 council wards across the County; over 50% of households found homeless / at 
threat of homelessness came from just 10 of these wards.

Tudalen 422



13

We need to develop this intelligence across the region. We will identify the wards which 
are experiencing most homelessness, and then model our early intervention services, 
so they are targeting these wards / households and preventing homelessness. 

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Review all prevention services in the wards exhibiting the highest 
incidences of homelessness. The exercise should involve mapping all 
services currently being provided and consideration given to the 
contact with potentially homeless households; and

 Partnerships and protocols need to be established in these areas to 
prevent homelessness. Consideration given to existing assets and 
community settings that can be utilised to deliver this partnership 
working. For example, food banks, libraries, etc.

3. Utilise IT systems and technology to prevent homelessness by ensuring 
systems are in place which flag up issues early to trigger help and 
advice as early as possible.

IT can have an important role to play in identifying issues early. Ceredigion already 
has a system in place which allows households and the agencies they are working 
with to upload their housing needs on line. This then allows a response early and can 
‘turn off’ demands on the frontline service. 

A similar system is now being commissioned by ourselves and Powys. When 
establishing these systems, it is essential they are developed in full partnership with 
partner agencies working in communities and that they can trigger responses for 
support before any statutory duty is triggered.

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Implement a new IT system (January 2019) to help manage our 
housing allocations and ensure housing needs are recorded and acted 
upon as effectively and as early as possible. In developing this 
system, we will ensure it ‘flags’ potential homelessness and allows a 
swift support response; and

 All agencies working in locality areas, who are likely to work with 
people at threat of homelessness, will be trained in how it works, how 
to access and complete. 

Tudalen 423



14 | P a g e

4. In partnership with key agencies explore how a multi-agency case 
management approach can evolve to meet the needs of households who 
revolve around the homeless system and place demands on a variety of 
services.

The reviews found that all authorities are struggling to meet the needs of those with 
the most complex needs. These might not constitute large numbers of households, 
but the demands they create are significant; not just on housing services but Health, 
Social Services, criminal justice and substance misuse services. 

Other local authority areas in Wales are trying to meet the needs of this group by 
establishing partnerships to ‘case manage’ the support these households receive. For 
example, Neath Port Talbot has established a ‘Street Vulnerable Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Committee’, chaired by South Wales Police and involving a variety of 
agencies.

This type of partnership approach, which doesn’t simply end once the household is 
housed, will be explored to identify if it can help reduce demands on homelessness 
services and improve the outcomes for those households who often ‘revolve’ through 
the homelessness system.

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Housing Options to set up and lead a ‘Street Vulnerable Multi Agency 
Risk Assessment Group’ involving key agencies, such as the Police, 
Probation, Mental Health and Substance Misuse. We will discuss the 
development of a Carmarthenshire approach for those with the most 
complex needs. The purpose of which is to ensure a joined up 
approach to resolving support requirements and housing need;

 We will dedicate an existing member of our Advice and Tenancy 
Support Team to facilitate the housing response and play a full part in 
any case management approach developed; and

 Further develop our out-reach work to any identified “street 
homeless”, to make sure we are able to respond quickly.

5. In partnership with local stakeholders and other statutory services, each 
explore whether a ‘Housing First’ approach can be developed to support 
those with the most complex needs.

In partnership with the multi-agency approach described above, we will also explore 
taking a ‘Housing First’ approach to meeting the needs of the households with the 
most complex needs. 

Tudalen 424



15

What is Housing First?

“'Housing First' is a recovery-oriented approach to ending homelessness that 
centres on quickly moving people experiencing homelessness into independent 
and permanent housing and then providing additional support and services as 

needed” -WG 2018 

For more details the Welsh Government have published Housing First – National 
Principles & Guidance - https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/180206-housing-

first-en.pdf

The approach is being advocated by both UK and Welsh Governments and 
international evidence suggests it leads to far more positive outcomes for these 
households in relation to the sustainability of their accommodation.

By taking this approach, authorities will work over and above their duties. Any service 
will ignore issues like’ priority need’ or ‘intentionality’; the housing provided will sit 
outside the normal allocations process and be made available on a permanent basis.

Each authority will explore with partners, such as housing providers, Health and Social 
Services. If there is an appetite to develop this type of service and, if so, plan and 
commission a service to reflect local needs.

The concept is based around the principle that people with chronic housing and 
support needs should be offered ‘normal’ housing first with support built around their 
needs, rather than expecting them to pass through a hostel or other interim housing 
where they are prepared for longer term accommodation which they would move on 
to.  The concept has been applied most specifically with people who are rough 
sleepers or at least very marginally housed, and who have chronic and complex 
support needs.

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Consider with partners whether there is an appetite to develop a 
‘Housing First’ project in Carmarthenshire; and

 Use the multi-agency case management process to identify those 
individuals who would benefit from the approach.

Tudalen 425

https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/180206-housing-first-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/180206-housing-first-en.pdf
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/180206-housing-first-en.pdf


16 | P a g e

6. Each authority to explore with their Housing Association and private 
landlord partners how to develop affordable and sustainable housing 
options for single people

As discussed, it is not just those with the most complex issues who are placing 
pressures on the emergency response. Each authority is facing pressure securing 
housing options for single people.

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Review the availability of affordable single person accommodation in 
current supply;

 Develop new models of affordable single people accommodation in 
the areas of demand, moving away from large concentrations to more 
manageable dispersed provision; and

 Remodel the provision of temporary accommodation and supported 
accommodation for young people, making sure wider issues such as 
employment and training and health impact are addressed as is 
possible.

7. Each authority to develop close partnership working with DWP/Job 
Centre+ to mitigate any impact the introduction of Universal Credit may 
have on household’s ability to retain their tenancies.

The implementation of this new benefit system has been flagged up as a challenge. 
Work is on-going in all four authorities to prepare for this, but it needs to be a key 
objective of this plan to ensure we are working in close partnership with DWP and Job 
Centre+ colleagues. This will ensure that the required help and support is available for 
all households making the transition to the new benefit.

Actions for Carmarthenshire:

 Implementation of Universal Credit Action Plan from December 2018

Each of our priorities looks to explore how we can refocus services, so they are 
working to either prevent households becoming homeless or offer the right support 
and accommodation options to avoid them becoming homeless again.

Tudalen 426



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU
23ain TACHWEDD 2018

Adroddiad Monitro Cyllideb 
Cyfalaf a Refeniw 2018/19

Ystyried y materion canlynol a chyflwyno sylwadau arnynt:

 Bod y Pwyllgor Craffu yn derbyn yr Adroddiad Monitro Cyllideb ar gyfer y 
Gwasanaethau Tai, Adfywio, Cynllunio ac Hamdden a Chwaraeon, ac yn ystyried y 
sefyllfa cyllidebol.

Rhesymau: 

 I ddatgan sefyllfa bresennol y gyllideb i’r Pwyllgor ar 31ain Awst 2018, ynglyn â 
2018-19.

Angen cyfeirio’r mater at y Bwrdd Gweithredol er mwyn gwneud penderfyniad: 
NAC OES

Aelodau’r Bwrdd Gweithredol sy’n gyfrifol am y Portffolio: 
 Cyng. Linda Evans (Tai) 
 Cyng. Emlyn Dole (Datblygu Economaidd)  
 Cyng. Peter Hughes-Griffiths (Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth)
 Cyng. David Jenkins (Adnoddau) 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 

Enw Cyfarwyddwr y 
Gwasanaeth:
Chris Moore

Awdur yr adroddiad:
Chris Moore

Swydd:

Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau 
Corfforaethol

Rhif Ffôn / Cyfeiriad E-bost:

01267 224120 
CMoore@sirgar.gov.uk  

Tudalen 427

Eitem Rhif  6

mailto:CMoore@sirgar.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23rd NOVEMBER 2018

Revenue & Capital Budget 
Monitoring Report 2018/19

The Financial monitoring Report is presented as follows:

Revenue Budgets
APPENDIX A
Summary position for the Community Scrutiny Committee. Services within the 
Community Scrutiny remit are forecasting a £300k overspend.

APPENDIX B
Report on the main variances on agreed budgets.

APPENDIX C
Detail variances for information purposes only.

APPENDIX D
The HRA is forecasting a £237k overspend to the year end.

Capital Budgets
APPENDIX E
Details the main variances on capital schemes, which shows a forecasted net spend of 
£30,492k compared with a working net budget of £30,854k giving a £-362k variance. The 
variance will be slipped into future years, as the funding will be required to ensure that the 
schemes are completed

APPENDIX F
Details all Capital Regeneration Schemes

APPENDIX G
Details all Capital Leisure Schemes

APPENDIX H 
Details all Capital Housing General Fund (Private Housing) Schemes

APPENDIX I 
Details all Capital Housing HRA (Public Housing) Schemes

Tudalen 428



DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES – A list of the main variances is 
attached to this report.

IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.
Signed:   Chris Moore Director of Corporate Services

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets 

NONE NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE

3. Finance  

Revenue - The Regeneration, Planning, Leisure & Recreation and Non-HRA Housing 
Services show a net variance of £300k and the HRA Housing Service shows a £237k 
variance against the 2018/19 approved budgets.

Capital - The capital programme shows a variance of -£362k against the 2018/19 
approved budget.
 

CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below:
Signed:                        Chris Moore Director of Corporate Services

1. Local Member(s) – N/A 
2. Community / Town Council – N/A
3. Relevant Partners – N/A
4. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW: 

Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection
2018/19 Budget Corporate Services Department, County Hall, Carmarthen

Tudalen 429



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix A

August 2018 June 2018

Division Expenditure Income

Net non-

controllable Net Expenditure Income

Net non-

controllable Net

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration 4,676 -2,995 5,403 7,084 4,776 -3,072 5,403 7,107 23 18

Planning 4,201 -2,457 284 2,027 4,130 -2,110 284 2,304 277 309

Leisure & Recreation 14,383 -7,099 4,525 11,809 14,355 -7,071 4,525 11,809 0 0

Council Fund Housing 9,220 -7,958 243 1,505 9,909 -8,647 243 1,505 0 3

GRAND TOTAL 32,479 -20,509 10,455 22,425 33,170 -20,900 10,455 22,725 300 331

Forecasted 

Variance for 

Year

Community Scrutiny Report 
Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Summary

Working Budget Forecasted Forecasted 

Variance for 

Year

T
udalen 431



Appendix B

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re

In
c
o

m
e

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re

In
c
o

m
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

V
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

V
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration

Regeneration - Core Budgets

The Beacon 143 -136 180 -151 23 Overspend mainly due to additional cleaning costs 22

Planning

Planning Admin Account 334 -9 436 -128 -17 

Staff vacancies £6.8k, projected over-achievement of income £2.6k, various net 

underspends £7.8k -18 

Minerals 339 -205 299 -179 -14 Underspend mainly due to charging out of staff to projects as a 'direct cost'. -13 

Development Management 1,477 -1,265 1,459 -921 326

Overspend due to ongoing shortfall in income which is driven by a small number of 

larger schemes which attract higher planning fees. This mirrors the trend across 

Wales. 360

Conservation 407 -31 377 -14 -14 Underspend due to staff vacancies -30 

Leisure & Recreation

Pendine Outdoor Education Centre 486 -326 492 -264 68

Reduced income due to enforced closure of centre earlier in year due for building 

safety compliance works affecting bookings 52

Pembrey ski shop 0 0 0 10 10

Ski shop closed after easter and forecast represents the write down of stock at year 

end 10

Sport & Leisure West 249 -21 211 -21 -38 In year staff vacancy -21 

Carmarthen Leisure Centre 1,283 -1,329 1,284 -1,297 33

Income shortfall to budget £12k, additional exp relating to in-house delivery of catering 

£21k 4

Sport & Leisure General 971 -56 992 -66 11

Part year effect of the new Actif Operations Manager post £11k which is currently 

funded from underspends elsewhere in the Leisure Division and will be resolved as 

part of ongoing work to align budgets. -23 

Outdoor Recreation - Staffing costs 148 -48 163 -37 25

Park Attendants overspend - being funded from underspends elsewhere in Leisure 

Services and will be resolved as a result of ongoing work to realign budgets and 

structures 5

Pembrey Country Park 654 -697 682 -760 -35 Forecast excess income from Caravan/Camping -32 

Carmarthen Museum, Abergwili 161 -16 169 -13 11 One off relocation expenses £6k, increased NNDR £5k 11

Museum of speed, Pendine 70 -24 53 -18 -11 Part year staff vacancy -2 

Museums General 173 0 190 0 17

£10k Documentation Assistant - fixed term contract as a one off project within 

Museum Service; £7k temporary storage rental 33

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report 

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Main Variances

T
udalen 432



Appendix B

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re

In
c
o

m
e

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re

In
c
o

m
e

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

V
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

V
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report 

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Main Variances

Council Fund Housing

Home Improvement (Non HRA) 833 -288 742 -247 -50 

New funding stream was introduced in 18/19 and working with partners and other 

council departments, the budget was allocated accordingly.  Projects due to 

commence later in the year -2 

Landlord Incentive 12 -10 70 -10 58

We are anticipating WG funding to tackle homelessness, confirmation not yet 

finalised.  Until the funding is agreed the overspend is to be covered by the 

underspends in Home Improvement team -0 

Other Variances -103 -25 

Grand Total 300 331

T
udalen 433



Appendix C

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration

Regeneration - Core Budgets

Parry Thomas Centre 30 -30 1 1 65 -65 1 1 0 0

Betws wind farm community fund 87 -87 1 2 87 -87 1 2 -0 -0 

Welfare Rights & Citizen's Advice 130 0 2 131 130 0 2 131 0 0

Llanelli Coast Joint Venture 142 -142 5 5 142 -142 5 5 -0 -0 

The Beacon 143 -136 43 50 180 -151 43 73 23 Overspend mainly due to additional cleaning costs 22

Econ Dev-Rural Carmarthen, Ammanford, 

Town Centres 429 0 5,062 5,491 429 0 5,062 5,491 -0 -0 

Econ Dev-Llanelli, C Hands, 

Coastal,Business, Inf & Ent 485 0 45 530 485 0 45 530 -0 -0 

Community Development and External 

Funding 627 0 105 733 627 0 105 732 -0 -5 

Regeneration - Externally Funded 

Schemes

GT WWEC EF Holding Account 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GT RDP LEADER 751 -750 28 29 667 -666 28 29 -0 0

GT Regional Engagement Team 233 -233 2 2 162 -161 2 2 -0 0

GT Communities First - CCC Cluster 0 0 0 0 -0 0 0 -0 -0 0

GT Fusion Challenge 30 -30 0 0 30 -30 0 0 0 -0 

GT Communities First Lift 0 0 0 0 -0 0 0 -0 -0 0

GT Communities for Work 163 -162 22 22 148 -148 22 22 0 -0 

GT Legacy Fund 110 -110 0 0 110 -110 0 0 0 0

GT RLP Transition 0 0 26 26 0 0 26 26 0 0

GT Workways Plus 255 -253 52 53 572 -571 52 53 -0 0

GT Exploitation of Digital Technology in 

Carmarthenshire 0 0 0 0 -0 0 0 0 -0 -0 

GT Event Organisers Network 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -0 

GT Mobile & pop up hubs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

GT Bucanier 115 -114 8 8 82 -82 8 8 0 0

GT Pendine Visitor Attractor (VW) 48 -48 0 0 46 -46 0 0 -0 0

GT Celtic Routes 673 -673 0 0 600 -600 0 0 0 -0 

GT Communities for Work Plus 227 -227 1 1 215 -215 1 1 0 0

GT Match Funding Earmarked for Future 

Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Regeneration Total 4,676 -2,995 5,403 7,084 4,776 -3,072 5,403 7,107 23 18

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Detail Monitoring

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report T
udalen 434



Appendix C

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Detail Monitoring

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report 

Planning

Planning Admin Account 334 -9 -97 228 436 -128 -97 211 -17 

Staff vacancies £6.8k, projected over-achievement of 

income £2.6k, various net underspends £7.8k -18 

Building Regulations Trading - Chargeable 481 -536 56 0 401 -456 56 0 0 0

Building Regulations Trading - Non-

chargeable 30 0 7 37 28 0 7 34 -2 -2 

Building Control - Other 174 0 13 187 171 -0 13 185 -2 15

Minerals 339 -205 45 180 299 -179 45 165 -14 

Underspend mainly due to charging out of staff to projects 

as a 'direct cost'. -13 

Policy-Development Planning 576 -28 34 582 577 -28 34 583 0 -4 

Development Management 1,477 -1,265 182 393 1,459 -921 182 719 326

Overspend due to ongoing shortfall in income which is 

driven by a small number of larger schemes which attract 

higher planning fees. This mirrors the trend across Wales. 360

Tywi Centre 33 -34 9 8 73 -74 9 8 -0 1

Conservation 407 -31 30 407 377 -14 30 393 -14 Underspend due to staff vacancies -30 

Caeau Mynydd Mawr - Marsh Fritillary 

Project 132 -132 4 4 112 -112 4 4 -0 0

ESD grant - Natural Resource 

Management 46 -46 0 0 46 -46 0 0 0 0

Morfa Berwick S.106 fund 11 -11 0 0 6 -6 0 0 0 0

WPD Grid Connection S.106 Project 57 -57 1 1 41 -41 1 1 -0 0

Water Vole S.106 Project 5 -5 0 0 5 -5 0 0 0 0

GT South Wales Regional Aggregates 

Working Party 50 -50 0 0 50 -50 0 -0 -0 0

GT Waste planning monitoring report 17 -17 0 0 16 -16 0 0 0 0

GT Heritage for Schools 31 -31 0 0 34 -34 0 0 -0 0

Planning Total 4,201 -2,457 284 2,027 4,130 -2,110 284 2,304 277 309

Leisure & Recreation

Millenium Coastal Park 223 -38 969 1,154 218 -41 969 1,146 -8 -0 

Burry Port Harbour 86 -127 45 4 75 -116 45 4 0 0

Discovery Centre 82 -111 63 34 74 -111 63 27 -8 -0 

Pendine Outdoor Education Centre 486 -326 74 234 492 -264 74 302 68

Reduced income due to enforced closure of centre earlier in 

year due for building safety compliance works affecting 

bookings 52

Pembrey ski shop 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 10 10

Ski shop closed after easter and forecast represents the 

write down of stock at year end 10

T
udalen 435



Appendix C

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Detail Monitoring

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report 

Pembrey Ski Slope 357 -319 133 171 372 -342 133 162 -9 -9 

Sport & Leisure West 249 -21 22 250 211 -21 22 212 -38 In year staff vacancy -21 

Newcastle Emlyn Sports Centre 276 -128 24 172 270 -126 24 168 -4 -3 

Carmarthen Leisure Centre 1,283 -1,329 658 611 1,284 -1,297 658 644 33

Income shortfall to budget £12k, additional exp relating to in-

house delivery of catering £21k 4

St Clears Leisure Centre 138 -40 89 187 128 -33 89 184 -3 2

Bro Myrddin Indoor Bowling Club 0 0 75 75 0 0 75 75 0 0

Sport & Leisure East 192 -49 17 159 188 -49 17 155 -4 0

Amman Valley Leisure Centre 734 -682 79 131 728 -681 79 127 -4 4

Brynamman Swimming Pool 0 0 7 7 0 0 7 7 0 0

Llandovery Swimming Pool 193 -85 15 123 186 -80 15 121 -3 8

Garnant Golf Course 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

Gwendraeth Sports Centre 7 -4 4 6 -6 0 4 -3 -9 -24 

Dinefwr Bowling Centre 5 0 93 98 5 0 93 98 0 0

5 x 60 (E) 224 -282 9 -48 220 -282 9 -53 -5 0

Dragon Sport (E) 118 -56 26 88 122 -56 26 93 5 -0 

LAPA Additional Funding (E) 26 -26 0 0 26 -26 0 0 -0 -0 

Sport & Leisure General 971 -56 44 959 992 -66 44 970 11

Part year effect of the new Actif Operations Manager post 

£11k which is currently funded from underspends elsewhere 

in the Leisure Division and will be resolved as part of 

ongoing work to align budgets. -23 

National Exercise Referral Scheme (E) 175 -175 8 7 175 -175 8 7 -0 0

Sport & Leisure South 166 -23 18 162 166 -23 18 162 -0 0

Llanelli Leisure Centre 1,237 -1,016 606 827 1,205 -984 606 827 1 14

Coedcae Sports Hall 42 -14 3 32 42 -10 3 35 3 -0 

ESD Rev Grant - Ynys Dawela 43 -43 2 2 43 -43 2 2 -0 0

Wales Coast Path Maintenance Fund (E) 73 -73 1 1 73 -73 1 1 -0 -0 

Country Parks General 451 0 73 524 446 -1 73 518 -6 -3 

Outdoor Recreation - Staffing costs 148 -48 89 190 163 -37 89 215 25

Park Attendants overspend - being funded from 

underspends elsewhere in Leisure Services and will be 

resolved as a result of ongoing work to realign budgets and 

structures 5

Pembrey Country Park 654 -697 21 -22 682 -760 21 -57 -35 Forecast excess income from Caravan/Camping -32 

Llyn Lech Owain Country Park 88 -31 22 80 88 -31 22 80 0 0

Carmarthen Library 411 -33 141 520 406 -33 141 515 -5 -3 

Ammanford Library 265 -14 43 294 263 -14 43 292 -2 1

Llanelli Library 438 -32 123 528 437 -33 123 527 -1 4

Community Libraries 210 -9 183 384 207 -10 183 381 -3 -7 

Libraries General 1,069 -2 62 1,130 1,085 -11 62 1,136 7 6

Mobile Library 118 0 12 130 117 0 12 129 -1 -1 

School Libraries General 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

T
udalen 436



Appendix C

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Detail Monitoring

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report 

Carmarthen Museum, Abergwili 161 -16 86 231 169 -13 86 242 11 One off relocation expenses £6k, increased NNDR £5k 11

Kidwelly Tinplate Museum 16 0 1 17 10 0 1 11 -6 -8 

Parc Howard Museum 61 -9 51 103 61 -9 51 103 0 -6 

Museum of speed, Pendine 70 -24 20 66 53 -18 20 55 -11 Part year staff vacancy -2 

Museums General 173 0 12 185 190 0 12 202 17

£10k Documentation Assistant - fixed term contract as a one 

off project within Museum Service; £7k temporary storage 

rental 33

Archives General 130 -2 44 172 121 -2 44 163 -9 -3 

Arts General 67 0 14 81 59 0 14 73 -7 -0 

St Clears Craft Centre 138 -84 46 100 131 -75 46 102 2 -4 

Cultural Services Management 81 0 11 92 84 0 11 95 4 -0 

Laugharne Boathouse 145 -97 30 78 159 -113 30 76 -2 -1 

Lyric Theatre 322 -199 66 189 403 -283 66 187 -2 0

Y Ffwrnes 717 -427 170 460 657 -368 170 458 -2 0

Ammanford Miners Theatre 55 -17 2 40 56 -19 2 39 -1 0

Entertainment Centres General 441 -45 83 479 446 -55 83 473 -5 -0 

Oriel Myrddin Trustee 178 -178 0 0 182 -182 0 0 0 0

Oriel Myrddin CCC 88 0 29 117 88 0 29 117 0 0

Motor Sports Centre - Pembrey 0 -82 0 -82 0 -82 0 -82 0 0

Pendine Beach 5 -29 0 -24 5 -36 0 -31 -7 0

Beach safety 4 0 0 4 4 0 0 4 0 0

Leisure Management 290 0 5 295 291 0 5 296 1 -2 

Leisure & Recreation Total 14,383 -7,099 4,525 11,809 14,355 -7,071 4,525 11,809 0 0

Council Fund Housing 

Independent Living and Affordable Homes 100 -45 64 119 100 -45 64 119 -0 -0 

Supporting People Providers 6,495 -6,495 0 0 6,495 -6,495 0 -0 -0 -0 

Transitional Funding - Implementing the 

Housing (Wales) Act (E) 0 0 0 0 -0 0 0 0 -0 -0 

Rent Smart Wales Project (E) 17 -17 0 0 17 -17 0 1 0 -0 

Syrian Resettlement Scheme (E) 0 0 2 2 272 -272 2 2 -0 -0 

Local Housing Company 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 3 3

GT Pre Tenancy Training 41 -41 8 8 34 -34 8 8 -0 -0 

Home Improvement (Non HRA) 833 -288 112 657 742 -247 112 607 -50 

New funding stream was introduced in 18/19 and working 

with partners and other council departments, the budget was 

allocated accordingly.  Projects due to commence later in 

the year -2 

Penybryn Traveller Site 169 -125 14 58 127 -83 14 58 -0 -0 

T
udalen 437



Appendix C

August 

2018 June 2018

Division

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

In
c

o
m

e

N
e

t n
o

n
-

c
o

n
tro

lla
b

le

N
e

t

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c

a
s

te
d

 

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018 - Detail Monitoring

Working Budget Forecasted

Community Scrutiny Report 

Landlord Incentive 12 -10 0 3 70 -10 0 61 58

We are anticipating WG funding to tackle homelessness, 

confirmation not yet finalised.  Until the funding is agreed the 

overspend is to be covered by the underspends in Home 

Improvement team -0 

Homelessness 153 -64 18 107 153 -64 18 107 0 -0 

Non Hra Re-Housing (Inc Chr) 155 0 4 159 145 0 4 150 -9 -0 

Temporary Accommodation 480 -103 6 382 467 -91 6 382 -0 -0 

Social Lettings Agency 764 -769 10 5 666 -673 10 3 -2 3

Houses Into Homes WG Grant Scheme 0 0 0 0 195 -195 0 0 0 -0 

Home Improvement Loan Scheme 0 0 0 0 180 -180 0 0 0 -0 

Houses Into Homes WG Loan Scheme 0 0 4 4 240 -240 4 4 0 -0 

Council Fund Housing Total 9,220 -7,958 243 1,505 9,909 -8,647 243 1,505 0 3

TOTAL FOR COMMUNITY 32,479 -20,509 10,455 22,425 33,170 -20,900 10,455 22,725 300 330

T
udalen 438



APPENDIX D

Aug 2018 Jun 2018

 V
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

v
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

Repairs & Maintenance

Responsive 1,760 1,760 0 21

Minor Works 2,812 2,812 0 0

Voids 2,350 2,350 0 0

Servicing 1,611 1,611 0 0

Drains & Sewers 128 128 0 0

Grounds 731 731 0 0

Unadopted Roads 102 102 0 0

Supervision & Management

Employee 4,349 4,320 -29 Underspend due to vacant posts part year -17 

Premises 1,411 1,444 34 Overspend in Rent £28k and Other £6k 50

Transport 67 64 -3 -12 

Supplies 874 927 53

Overspend in Legal fees mainly relating to disrepairs £48k and other £2k.  Under 

provision for start up Work choice system costs £43k, which are being covered by an 

underspend in Compensation payments -£40k -10 

Recharges 1,319 1,319 0 25

Provision for Bad Debt 435 130 -305 Provision for bad debt adjustment based on current and former tenants analysis . -264 

Capital Financing Cost 14,205 14,047 -158 Forecast reduction in interest rate applicable. -158 

Central Support Charges 1,620 1,620 -0 -0 

DRF 13,349 13,349 0 0

Total Expenditure 47,123 46,716 -408 -364 

Housing Revenue Account - Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

A
c
tu

a
l

T
udalen 439



APPENDIX D

Aug 2018 Jun 2018

 V
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r Notes

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

v
a
ria

n
c
e
 fo

r

Y
e
a
r

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Housing Revenue Account - Budget Monitoring as at 31st August 2018

W
o

rk
in

g
 

B
u

d
g

e
t

F
o

re
c
a
s
te

d
 

A
c
tu

a
l

Income

Rents -39,729 -39,235 494

Underachievement of rental income - Void loss prediction at budget setting 2.1%, while 

current forecast is 2.9% and reduction in rents due . 118

Service Charges -750 -690 60 Underachievement of service charge income due to predicted void loss 57

Supporting People -135 -135 0 0

Mortgage Interest -3 -3 0 0

Interest on Cash Balances -66 -66 0 0

Other Income -598 -507 91

Underachievement of water rates commission due to a Government initative to reduce 

the water bills for eligible tenants 91

Total Income -41,280 -40,635 645 266

Net Expenditure 5,843 6,080 237 -98 

HRA Reserve £'000

Balance b/f 1/4/18 20,114

Budgeted movement in year -5,843 

Variance for the year -237 

Balance c/f  31/3/19 14,034

T
udalen 440



Appendix E

Working Budget Forecasted

DEPARTMENT/SCHEMES

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

 

£
'0

0
0

In
c

o
m

e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e

t             

£
'0

0
0

E
x

p
e

n
d

itu
re

 

£
'0

0
0

In
c

o
m

e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e

t             

£
'0

0
0

REGENERATION 9,514 -3,039 6,475 7,226 -751 6,475 0 No Major Variances.

COMMUNITIES

 - Leisure 5,667 -120 5,547 5,667 -120 5,547 0 No Major Variances.

 - Private Housing 1,897 0 1,897 1,989 -92 1,897 0 No Major Variances.

 - Public Housing 23,125 -6,190 16,935 22,782 -6,209 16,573 -362

Stock Condition Survey 2018/19 - County Wide 150 0 150 50 0 50 -100 Method and capacity to capture and analyse data still being confirmed.

Managing Private Sector Homes (Social Lettings) 106 0 106 35 0 35 -71 Successful use of alternative funding streams.

Empty Homes 197 0 197 0 0 0 -197 Level of capital investment needed reduced from original assessment, 

further work being undertaken in relation to what is needed for future 

years.

Other Projects with Minor Variances 22,672 -6,190 16,482 22,697 -6,209 16,488 6

TOTAL 40,203 -9,349 30,854 37,664 -7,172 30,492 -362

Capital Programme 2018/19

Capital Budget Monitoring - Report for August 2018 - Main Variances

V
a

ria
n

c
e

 fo
r 

Y
e

a
r £

'0
0

0

Comment

T
udalen 441



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Appendix F

Regeneration

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report for August 2018 - Detailed Variances

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

T
a
rg

e
t D

a
te

 

fo
r 

C
o

m
p

le
tio

n

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

Llanelli JV General Ongoing 839 -11 828 839 -11 828 0

Community Development Mar-19 32 0 32 32 0 32 0

Mynydd Y Betws Wind Farm Community Benefit Ongoing 8 0 8 8 0 8 0

County Wide Regeneration fund 2015-16 Onwards 3,878 -1,000 2,878 2,878 0 2,878 0

Transformation Strategy Project Fund Ongoing 1,000 -1,000 0 0 0 0 0

Rural Enterprise Fund Mar-20 1,343 0 1,343 1,343 0 1,343 0

Transformation Commercial Property Development Fund
Mar-20

1,535 0 1,535 1,535 0 1,535 0

Health & Safety Remediation Works Mar-19 64 0 64 64 0 64 0

Llanelli,Cross Hands & Coastal Belt Area 1,514 0 1,514 1,514 0 1,514 0

Cross Hands East strategic Employment Site Mar-19 711 0 711 711 0 711 0

Opportunity Street (Llanelli) Mar-19 384 0 384 401 0 401 17

Llanelli Regeneration Plan Ongoing 22 0 22 5 0 5 -17

Crosshands East Plot 3 Ongoing 15 0 15 15 0 15 0

Cross Hands East Phase 2 Mar-19 382 0 382 382 0 382 0

Ammanford, Carmarthen & Rural Area 2,891 -2,028 863 1,603 -740 863 0

Ammanford Town Centre Regeneration Mar-19 109 0 109 109 0 109 0

Coastal Communities - Parry Thomas Centre, Pendine Completed 29 0 29 29 0 29 0

Carmarthen Town Regeneration - Jacksons Lane Ongoing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ammanford Town Centre Partnership( Rail Crossing 

Enhancement Scheme)

Mar-19 3 0 3 3 0 3 0

Laugharne Carpark Ongoing 208 0 208 208 0 208 0

Pendine Iconic International Visitors Destination Ongoing 2,000 -2,000 0 712 -712 0 0

Carmarthen Town Regeneration - King Street Ongoing 14 0 14 14 0 14 0

Margaret St - Retaining Wall & Road Widening Mar-19 84 0 84 84 0 84 0

Carmarthen Western Gateway & Wetlands Ongoing 0 -28 -28 0 -28 -28 0

Opportunity Street (Ammanford Hwb) Ongoing 214 0 214 214 0 214 0

Ammanford Regeneration Development Fund Mar-19 230 0 230 230 0 230 0

Acquisitions of Iconic County Buildings Completed 288 0 288 288 0 288 0

NET BUDGET 9,514 -3,039 6,475 7,226 -751 6,475 0

V
a
ria

n
c
e

 fo
r y

e
a

r 

£
'0

0
0 Comment

T
udalen 443



Appendix G

Leisure

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report for August 2018 - Detailed Variances

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

T
a
rg

e
t D

a
te

 

fo
r 

C
o

m
p

le
tio

n

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

Leisure Centres 80 0 80 80 0 80 0

Llanelli Leisure Centre - New Development Ongoing 30 0 30 30 0 30 0

Carmarthen Leisure Centre & Track Sep-19 25 0 25 25 0 25 0

Carmarthen LC Sports Hall - Equipment Ongoing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Amman Valley Leisure Centre Masterplan Ongoing 25 0 25 25 0 25 0

Countryside Recreation & Access Ongoing 268 0 268 268 0 268 0

Libraries & Museums 2,408 -120 2,288 2,408 -120 2,288 0

Carmarthen Museum - Abergwili Sep-19 50 0 50 50 0 50 0

Carmarthenshire Archives Relocation Mar-19 2,208 -120 2,088 2,208 -120 2,088 0

Carms Museums Collections Ongoing 150 0 150 150 0 150 0

Parks 1,070 0 1,070 1,070 0 1,070 0

Burry Port Harbour Dredging Mar-19 404 0 404 404 0 404 0

Closed Circuit Track Completed 609 0 609 609 0 609 0

Burry Port Harbour Wall - 2017-2026 Ongoing 12 0 12 12 0 12 0

Cwmamman AFC Ground Improvements Mar-19 45 0 45 45 0 45 0

Country Parks & Golf Courses 1,841 0 1,841 1,841 0 1,841 0

Pembrey Country Park - Strategic Infrastructure 

Development

Sep-19 970 0 970 978 0 978 8

Pembrey Country Park - Visitor Hub and Café Ongoing 871 0 871 863 0 863 -8

NET BUDGET 5,667 -120 5,547 5,667 -120 5,547 0

V
a
ria

n
c
e

 fo
r y

e
a

r 

£
'0

0
0 Comment

T
udalen 444



Appendix H

Housing G.F.(Private Sector)

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report for August 2018 - Detailed Variances

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

T
a
rg

e
t D

a
te

 

fo
r 

C
o

m
p

le
tio

n

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

Private Sector Housing - Capital Receipts Ongoing 0 0 0 0 -3 -3 -3

Renewal Assistance Completed 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

Disabled Facility Grants Ongoing 1,897 0 1,897 1,896 0 1,896 -1

Penybryn Travellers Site Ongoing 0 0 0 3 0 3 3

ENABLE - Adaptations to Support Independent 

Living

Mar-19 0 0 0 89 -89 0 0

NET BUDGET 1,897 0 1,897 1,989 -92 1,897 0
V

a
ria

n
c
e

 fo
r y

e
a

r 

£
'0

0
0 Comment

T
udalen 445



Appendix I

Housing H.R.A.(Public Sector)

Capital Budget Monitoring - Scrutiny Report for August 2018 - Detailed Variances

Working Budget Forecasted

Scheme

Target Date 

for 

Completion

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

E
x
p

e
n

d
itu

re
 

£
'0

0
0

In
c
o

m
e
        

£
'0

0
0

N
e
t             

£
'0

0
0

Public Sector Housing External Funding Ongoing 0 -6,190 -6,190 0 -6,209 -6,209 -19

Internal and External Works (PROPERTY) 9,490 0 9,490 9,490 0 9,490 0

Sheltered Housing Investment Ongoing 568 0 568 568 0 568 0

Voids To Achieve The CHS (VOI) Ongoing 2,518 0 2,518 2,518 0 2,518 0

Planned M&E Works - Inc Smoke Detectors (PSW) Ongoing 670 0 670 670 0 670 0

Internal Refurbishment (PKB) Ongoing 1,630 0 1,630 1,630 0 1,630 0

Housing Minor Works (HMO) Ongoing 1,084 0 1,084 1,084 0 1,084 0

Rendering and External Works (EXP & EXI) Ongoing 2,096 0 2,096 2,096 0 2,096 0

Re-Roofing - Council Dwellings Ongoing 924 0 924 924 0 924 0

Environmental Works (Housing Services) Ongoing 298 0 298 298 0 298 0

Adaptations and DDA Works (Building Services) Ongoing 1,900 0 1,900 1,900 0 1,900 0

Programme Delivery and Strategy 345 0 345 245 0 245 -100

CHS Programme Ongoing 195 0 195 195 0 195 0

Stock Condition Survey 2018/19 - County Wide Ongoing 150 0 150 50 0 50 -100 Method and capacity to capture and analyse data still being 

confirmed.

Housing Development Programme (New builds & 11,092 0 11,092 10,849 0 10,849 -243

Purchase of Private Dwellings for Hsg Stock 8,789 0 8,789 8,789 0 8,789 0

Managing Private Sector Homes (Social Lettings) 106 0 106 35 0 35 -71 Successful use of alternative funding streams.

Empty Homes 197 0 197 0 0 0 -197 Level of capital investment needed reduced from original 

assessment, further work being undertaken in relation to 

what is needed for future years.

Strategic Regeneration Schemes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council New Build 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 0

Rural Housing Needs For Capital Programme 0 0 0 25 0 25 25

NET BUDGET 23,125 -6,190 16,935 22,782 -6,209 16,573 -362

V
a
ria

n
c
e

 fo
r y

e
a

r 

£
'0

0
0 Comment

T
udalen 446



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU
23ain TACHWEDD 2018

Adroddiad Blynyddol y 
Pwyllgor Craffu Cymunedau 2017/18

Ystyried y materion canlynol a chyflwyno sylwadau arnynt:

 Bod yr aelodau yn ystyried ac yn cymeradwyo adroddiad blynyddol y Pwyllgor Craffu 
Cymunedau ar gyfer blwyddyn y cyngor 2017/18. 

Rhesymau: 

 Mae’n ofynnol yn ôl Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor fod y pwyllgorau craffu’n adrodd yn 
flynyddol ar eu gwaith. 

Angen cyfeirio’r mater at y Bwrdd Gweithredol / Cyngor er mwyn gwneud 
penderfyniad: NAC OES

Cadair Y Pwyllgor Craffu Cymunedau – Cynghorydd S.L. Davies 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Prif Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Linda Rees-Jones 

Awdur yr adroddiad:
Kevin Thomas

Swyddi:

Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith 

Swyddog Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 
 

Rhifau Ffôn / Cyfeiriadau E-bost:

01267 224010
lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk 

01267 224027 
kjthomas@sirgar.gov.uk 

Tudalen 447

Eitem Rhif  7

mailto:lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:kjthomas@sirgar.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23rd NOVEMBER, 2018

Community Scrutiny Committee – 
Annual Report 2017/18

  

The attached report has been prepared in order to comply with Article 6.2 of the County 
Council’s Constitution which states that a scrutiny committee must:

“Prepare an annual report giving an account of the Committee’s activities over the 
previous year.”

The report provides an overview of the workings of the Community Scrutiny Committee 
during the 2017/18 municipal year and includes information on the following topics: 

 Overview of the forward work programme
 Key issues considered 
 Issues referred to or from Executive Board / Other Scrutiny Committees
 Task & Finish Review
 Development Sessions
 Member attendance at meetings

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES
 

Tudalen 448



IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.

Signed:   Linda Rees-Jones           Head of Administration & Law 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets 

YES YES NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities – In line with requirements of the County 
Council’s Constitution.

2. Legal – In line with requirements of the County Council’s Constitution.

CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below:

Signed:   Linda Rees-Jones           Head of Administration & Law

1. Local Member(s) – N/A
2. Community / Town Council – N/A
3. Relevant Partners – N/A
4. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW:

Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Community 
Scrutiny 
Committee Reports 
and Minutes 

Meetings from September 2015 onwards:
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186
 

Tudalen 449

http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



1 | P a g e

 

Community Scrutiny Committee
Annual Report 
2017-18

Tudalen 451



1 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

C O N T E N T S

Section Item Page
Chair’s Foreword 2

1 Introduction 3
2 Overview of the work of the Committee 2017/18 3

2.1 Number of Meetings 3
2.2 The Forward Work Programme 3
2.3 Performance Monitoring Reports 4
2.4 Revenue & Capital Budgets 5
2.5 Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 6
2.6 Carmarthenshire Community Infrastructure Levy –Update and Progress report 6
2.7 Carmarthenshire Museums Strategic Plan 2017 - 2022 7
2.8 Annual Performance Report (Planning) 7
2.9 Establishment of a Council Owned Housing Company  8

2.10 Introduction of a ‘Choice Based Lettings’ 
Process for Council Housing in Carmarthenshire

8

2.11 Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006-2021 review Report 8
2.12 Revised Carmarthenshire Local development Plan 2018-2033 

Draft Delivery Agreement and Draft Site Assessment Methodology
8

2.13 Housing Revenue Account and Housing Rent Setting 2017/18 
(Revenue and Capital) 

9

2.14 The Carmarthenshire Homes Standard Plus (CHS+) ‘Delivering What Matters’ 9
2.15 Local Resilience Forum Business Plan 10
2.16 Welsh Library Standards 10
2.17 Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration 10

3 Other Scrutiny Activity 11
3.1 Task and Finish 11
3.2 Site Visits 11
3.3 Development Sessions 11
3.4 Referrals 12

4 Challenges 12
5 Future Work 12
6 Support for the Scrutiny Function 13
7 Attendance 14

Tudalen 452



2 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

Chair’s Foreword

As the Chair of this Committee, I am pleased to present this Annual 
Report for the Community Scrutiny Committee for the 2017/18 
municipal year. This report provides a comprehensive summary of the 
work undertaken by the Committee during this period and provides an 
opportunity to reflect on this work.

The past year has continued to be a challenging period for the Council and I feel that this 
Committee has continued to constructively play its part in terms of scrutinising 
performance and contributing to key council policies and decisions.

The Committee discussed and scrutinised a wide variety of topics during the past year. 
These included the standard and regular monitoring reports as well as new policies and 
strategies being introduced by the County Council. 

The forthcoming year will no doubt be challenging, and I am confident we will continue to 
focus on how to improve services effectively and efficiently. 

I am looking forward, once again, to the challenge of chairing this Committee for 2018/19 
and, with the assistance of my Vice Chair and the rest of the Committee, hope we will 
have a positive impact on the outcomes for the residents of Carmarthenshire.  

I would also like to thank all members of the Committee for their contributions and 
dedication during 2017/18 and to my former Vice Chair, Councillor Ken Howell who, 
having provided me with support and assistance during my first year as Chair, has moved 
on to become Chair of Cartrefi Croeso Ltd, the new Council Housing Company.

Cllr. Sharen Davies
Chair of Community Scrutiny Committee

Tudalen 453



3 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

1. Introduction

Article 6.2 of the Council’s Constitution requires all scrutiny committees to “prepare an 
annual report giving an account of the Committees activities over the previous year.” 

The main aims of the report are to highlight the work that has been undertaken by the 
Community Scrutiny Committee during 2017/18. It outlines the potential future work of 
the Committee. The document may also facilitate discussions on other items that could be 
included within future work programmes.

The Committee is chaired by Cllr. Sharen Davies and is made up of 13 Elected Members. 
Support is provided to the Panel by the Democratic Services Team and other Council 
officers as and when required.

This report provides an overview of the work of the Community Scrutiny Committee 
during the 2017/18 municipal year. It gives Members the opportunity to reflect on the 
achievements during the year and to identify what worked well and where improvements 
could be made. This analysis is instrumental in developing scrutiny.

2. Overview of the work of the Committee  2017/18 

2.1 Number of Meetings

The Scrutiny Committee held 7 meetings in the 2017/18 Civic Year. 

2.2 The Forward Work Programme

The Scrutiny Committee develops its own Forward Work Programme (FWP) and in 
the main, meeting agendas were consistent with those outlined in the FWP, which 
was confirmed by the Committee at its meeting on 5th October 2017.

The Forward Work Programme was mainly based on key areas identified as 
objectives within the Integrated Community Strategy and Improvement Plan 
together with standard items such as performance and budget monitoring reports, 
action plan monitoring reports, and specific requests from the scrutiny committee 
itself. Additional reports were also requested by the scrutiny committee during the 
year and the Forward Work Programme was amended accordingly.

The development of the concept of the Forward Work Programme and the process 
for its agreement, has allowed each scrutiny committee to determine its own work 
agendas. The benefits of such an approach has led to an improved level of debate 
and input during scrutiny committee meetings.

Tudalen 454



4 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 put long term sustainability 
at the forefront of how public services are designed and delivered and it places 
emphasis on public bodies to work in partnership with each other and the public to 
prevent and tackle problems. 

The Community Scrutiny Committee’s key responsibilities are for:
 Housing – Social and Private Sector
 Planning Policy
 Community Regeneration including physical and rural development
 Economic Development
 European and Externally Funded Programmes
 Libraries
 Arts and Theatres
 Museums and Archives
 Countryside facilities
 Sports, Leisure and Recreation

To compliment the work undertaken during formal meetings, the Committee also 
undertakes other scrutiny functions such as task and finish, visit to establishments 
falling within its remit together with member development sessions 

The following sections will provide a snapshot of the main areas of the 
Committee’s work.

2.3 Performance Monitoring Reports

One of the principal roles of scrutiny committees is to monitor the performance of 
services and functions within its remit. They undertake this work mainly through 
the consideration of performance monitoring reports and various action plan 
monitoring reports. The performance monitoring report provides a balanced 
picture of performance across the relevant service areas. The Community Scrutiny 
Committee received these reports at its meetings in October 2017 and March 
2018. The reports mainly focussed on underperforming indicators. 

Tudalen 455



5 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

As part of its performance management role the Committee received relevant 
information from the Council’s key strategies and plans. In October, 2017 the 
Committee considered the Council’s draft Annual Report for 2016/17 which 
included the second year progress report on the Corporate Strategy 2015-20.  
Annual reporting is one of the prime opportunities for review, monitoring and 
reflection and for the authority to capture its on-going activity around meeting its 
general and specific duties. 

Outcome: 
The Council approved the 2016/17 Annual report

2.4 Revenue & Capital Budgets

The Committee received quarterly reports on the departmental and corporate 
revenue and capital budgets. These reports enabled members to monitor the level 
of spend in each area and the progress made in any capital works. 

As well as monitoring the current budget, the Committee was also consulted on 
the Revenue Budget Strategy 2018/19 to 20/21. The report provided the 
Committee with the current proposals for the Revenue Budget for 2018/19 
together with the indicative figures for the 2019/20 and 2020/2021 financial years. 

The consultation of the Five Year Capital Programme 2018/19 – 2022/23 was 
considered by the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee on 12th January 2018. 
The feedback from this consultation process along with the final settlement 
informed the final budget report presented to Council in February 2018.

Outcome: 
As part of the widespread consultation undertaken on the Revenue Budget 
Strategy 2018/19 to 2020/21, the Community Scrutiny Committee considered the 
budget proposals and whilst a number of comments were raised the Committee 
did not put forward any recommendations to change the budget proposals.  

With regard to the Five Year Capital Programme 2018/19 – 2022/23, Council at its 
meeting in February noted that within the Communities Department new funding 
had been provided for Pembrey Country Park, Carmarthen Museums Collection 
and Parc Howard together with the continuation of support for private sector 
housing in 2022/23.

 

Tudalen 456



6 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

2.5 Annual Monitoring Report 2016/17 Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 

In July 2017, the Committee received the above plan, produced in accordance with 
the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the 
Local Development (LDP) Regulations 2016 which required local authorities to 
submit their Annual Monitoring Reports to the Welsh Government by the 31st 
October 2017

The Committee debated a wide range of issues relevant to the plan’s operation. 
Those included:-
 land availability for housing development,
 criteria for the submission of development sites within the revised LDP,
 impact of large scale developments on community infrastructure,
 pre-application consultations,
 potential impact of the Swansea BAY City Deal Region and the Wellness Centre 

on housing and infrastructure within the Llanelli area,
 the preparation of place plans
 a suggested review to be undertaken of the Local Development Plan.

The Committee endorsed the report for submission to the Executive Board and 
Council for approval, prior to onward submission to the Welsh Government, and 
for a review to be undertaken of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan

Outcome: 
The Executive Board and Council at their meetings held in July and September 
2017 endorsed the report recommendations with Council resolving to commence 
the early full or partial review of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan. 

2.6 Carmarthenshire Community Infrastructure Levy –Update and Progress report

In July 2017, the Committee received a progress report on the preparatory works 
undertaken on the process for the adoption of a Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) for Carmarthenshire. The report outlined Welsh Government thinking on the 
future progression of CIL’s, which would be addressed after April 2018 when 
consideration of their implementation would become a ‘devolved matter’ under 
the provisions of the Wales Act 2017.

Tudalen 457



7 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

The Committee accepted the report recommendations to hold any further work on 
the possible introduction of a CIL for Carmarthenshire in abeyance pending further 
direction from the Welsh Government.

Outcome: 
The Executive Board and Council at their meetings held in July and September 
2017 endorsed the report recommendations

2.7 Carmarthenshire Museums Strategic Plan 2017 - 2022 

In October 2017, the Committee received the proposed Carmarthenshire 
Museums Strategic Plan detailing the vision for the progression of the Museums 
Service during the period 2017-2022. The Plan set out the following five key 
objectives for the plans delivery:-
 Manage and develop our resources, facilities and workforce to become more 

resilient and build a stronger economy;
 Become recognised for our innovative approach to developing and using 

museum collections;
 Create a great visitor experience through excellent services and programmes;
 Support opportunities to promote health and well-being.

2.8 Annual Performance Report (Planning) 

In October 2017 the Committee considered the Authority’s second Annual 
Performance Report on Planning for the period April 2016-March 2017, produced 
in accordance with the requirements of the Planning Performance Framework 
Table for submission to the Welsh Government by the 31st October.

The Committee debated a wide range of issues relevant to the Division’s 
performance. Those included:
 staff resources, 
 income, 
 limitation of national and local planning policies on the provision of new 

homes for farmers
 enforcement
 limitations on development arising from the designation of flood areas by 

Natural Resources Wales.

Outcome: 
The report was received and forwarded to the Welsh Government by the 31st 
October, 2017 deadline.

Tudalen 458



8 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

2.9 Establishment of a Council Owned Housing Company  

In November 2017 the Committee considered a report on the Council’s proposals 
to establish a wholly owned Local Housing Company. The company’s aim was to 
become a development vehicle to accelerate house building within 
Carmarthenshire to increase the supply of homes, creating jobs and apprenticeship 
opportunities deliver the Council’s regeneration ambitions.

The Committee discussed a wide range of issues relative to the proposals including 
the development of a business plan, appointment of company directors; role of the 
company, council control over the company and investment

Outcome: 
The Council formally approved the operational arrangements for the company in 
June 2018.

2.10 Introduction of a ‘Choice Based Lettings’ Process for Council Housing in 
Carmarthenshire

In November 2017 the Committee considered a proposal for the introduction of a 
‘Choice Based Lettings’ Process for Council housing in Carmarthenshire which 
would see the current system of offering properties to prospective tenants 
changing  to a system of openly advertising vacant properties and inviting people 
on the Housing Choice register to bid for those properties.

Outcome: 
The Committee endorsed the proposal which was formally adopted by the 
Executive Board in November 2017.

2.11 Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan 2006-2021 review Report

In December the Committee considered a report on a proposal for the Council to 
undertake a review of the Carmarthenshire Local Development Plan.

Outcome: 
The Committee endorsed the proposal which was formally adopted by the 
Executive Board/Council in November 2017 and January 2018.

Tudalen 459



9 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

2.12 Revised Carmarthenshire Local development Plan 2018-2033 Draft Delivery 
Agreement and Draft Site Assessment Methodology 

In December the Committee considered the Draft Delivery Agreement and Draft 
Site Assessment Methodology proposals to be adopted for progressing the Revised 
Carmarthenshire Local development Plan 2018-2033 detailing the timetable for the 
Plan’s preparation and the Community Involvement Scheme on consultation and 
engagement.

Outcome: 
The Committee endorsed the proposal which was formally adopted by the 
Executive Board/Council in November 2017 and January 2018.

2.13 Housing Revenue Account and Housing Rent Setting 2017/18 (Revenue and Capital) 

In January 2018, the Committee considered the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Budget and Housing Rent Setting for 2018/19, presented as part of the budget 
consultation process. The report reflected the latest proposals contained in the 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, which was the primary financial planning 
tool for delivering the Carmarthenshire Homes Standard Plus (CHS+). 

Outcome:
The budget was adopted by Council in February 2018

2.14 The Carmarthenshire Homes Standard Plus (CHS+) ‘Delivering What Matters’ 

In January 2018, the Committee considered the Carmarthenshire Homes Standard 
Plus (CHS+) Programme Plan for 2018-2021. Members were advised that the plan’s 
three key aims were:

 To explain its provision over the next three year and what it meant for tenants
 To confirm the financial profile based on current assumptions for delivery over the 

plan period
 Produce a business plan for the annual application to the Welsh Government for 

Major Repairs Allowance for 2017/18 equating to £6.1m

Outcome:
The budget was adopted by Council in February 2018

Tudalen 460



10 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

2.15 Local Resilience Forum Business Plan

In February 2018, the Committee received a presentation on the operation of the 
Local Resilience Forum providing an overview on its operation via the business 
planning process, together with an understanding of the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004 and its implications for the Council and the Dyfed Powys Police.

2.16 Welsh Library Standards

In February 2018 the Committee received the Welsh Government’s assessment on 
the operation of Carmarthenshire’s Library Service for 2016/17. It was noted that 
the Service met all of its 18 core entitlements in full

2.17 Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration

In March 2018 the Committee received a presentation on regeneration proposals 
within Llanelli Town centre aimed at stimulating growth and investment via 
number of different initiatives i.e.:
 The delivery of the Opportunity Street Programme
 Town Centre Loan Scheme
 Carmarthenshire Business Start Up Grant and Carmarthenshire Business 

Growth Fund
 Carmarthenshire Transformational Commercial property development 

Fund
 Targeted Regeneration Investment.

As part of its debate on the work to improve and promote Llanelli Town Centre, 
the Committee made reference to the wider regeneration of major towns and 
settlements within the County and for the Council to be apprised of that work.

Outcome:   
Arrangements are to be made for a seminar to be arranged for all members of the 
Council on regeneration activity within the County

Tudalen 461



11 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

3. Other Scrutiny Activity

3.1 Task and Finish

The Committee did not undertake a task and finish review during 2017/18. 

3.2 Site Visits

The Committee did not undertake any site visits during 2017/18. 

3.3 Development Sessions

The following all-member development sessions /seminars were held during 
2017/18, to which Committee members were invited: 

 15-05-2017 Ethics, Standards, Legal Duties and Responsibilities [induction] - 
15th May 2017;

 Member Development and Training - Finance including Budgeting & Treasury 
Management - 17TH May 2017;

 Introduction to Marketing and Media for all members - 27TH June 2017; 
 Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act - 4TH September 2017;  
 Health & Safety (including Corporate Manslaughter) - 28th September 2017; 
 Welsh Local Government (WLGA) Regional Workshop - 13TH October 2017; 
 Digital Transformation Seminar - 16TH October 2017; 
 Substance Misuse all member development session - 13TH December 2017;
 Members Development the Evaluation of the Councillor Induction Programme 

for 2017 - 11TH December 2017;
 Members’ seminar regarding the Local Housing Company - 19TH March 2018;
 Financial Exploitation Safeguarding Scheme seminar - 27TH March 2018.

In addition, there were several departmental budget seminars held.

Tudalen 462



12 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

3.4 Referrals
As part of its scrutiny role the Committee in monitoring the Council’s Annual 
Report for 2016/17, raised concerns on staff sickness levels within the Authority 
and had agreed to refer those to the Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee. 

Outcome: 
A report on staff sickness levels was considered by the Policy and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee in December 2017 where it agreed to convene a development 
session to provide members of that committee with a greater understanding of 
sickness management.

4. Challenges

Following the elections in May, 2017 the Community Scrutiny Committee saw a new 
cohort of Members.  The newly formed Committee worked together as a team to 
familiarise themselves with the decision making process and the subjects within the remit 
of the Scrutiny portfolio.

5. Future Work

The Committee has made significant progress and will continue to concentrate on topics 
where Member’s input will result in positive outcomes to drive forward service 
improvement. The future work of the Committee will be considered as part of the 
Forward Work Programme planning session. In addition, the FWP will continue to be 
monitored during the course of the year.

Tudalen 463



13 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

6. Support for the Scrutiny Function

Support for Carmarthenshire County Council’s Scrutiny function is provided by the 
Democratic Services Unit, based in the Administration & Law Division of the Chief 
Executive’s Department. 

Support for the Scrutiny function includes:

 Providing support and constitutional advice to the Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
and to members of those Committees as well as producing minutes of their 
meetings and ensuring items arising from those meetings are actioned

 Giving support and advice in relation to the functions of the Council’s Scrutiny 
Committees to executive and non-executive members of the Council and its officers;

 Managing the strategic development of Scrutiny in Carmarthenshire through 
engaging in national and regional Scrutiny networks and initiatives, supporting the 
Chairs and 

 Vice-Chairs of Scrutiny Forum, and the Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs Executive 
Board Forum;

 Advising and supporting the implementation of the requirements of the Local 
 Government (Wales) Measure 2011 as guidance is published;
 Managing the co-ordination and development of the Scrutiny forward work 

programmes in conjunction with Scrutiny members;
 Managing and co-ordinating Scrutiny review work, including the operation of 

scrutiny task and finish groups, authoring reports in conjunction with the groups, 
and assisting in the implementation and monitoring of completed reviews;

 Managing the Scrutiny member development programme;
 Despatching agendas for Scrutiny Committee meetings a minimum of 4 working 

days prior to the meeting.

For more information on scrutiny in Carmarthenshire including work programmes, task 
and finish reports and annual reports, visit the County Council’s website at: 
www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/scrutiny 

To contact the Democratic Services Unit, please call 01267 224028 or e-mail 
scrutiny@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

Tudalen 464

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/scrutiny
mailto:scrutiny@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


14 | P a g e

Community 

Annual Report 
2016/17

Scrutiny Committee
 

Annual Report 
2016/17
Annual Report 
2016/17

Annual Report 2017/18
 

7. Attendance
Attendance by members of the Community Scrutiny Committee during the 2017/18 year is 
shown in the table below. A total of 7 meetings were held between May 2017 and April 2018.

Scrutiny Committee Member No. of meetings %

Cllr. D. Cundy 6 86%

Cllr. S. Curry – up to 18/10/17 2 [out of 2] 100%

Cllr. Ann. Davies 6 86%

Cllr. Anthony Davies 7 100%

Cllr. H. Davies 5 71%

Cllr. S. Davies 6 86%

Cllr. K. Howell 6 86%

Cllr. B. Jones 6 86%

Cllr. H. Jones 6 86%

Cllr. S. Matthews 4 57%

Cllr. L. Roberts – from 18/10/17 3 [out of 5] 60%

Cllr. H. Shepardson 5 71%

Cllr. G. Thomas 4 57%

Cllr. A. Vaughan Owen 7 100%

Substitutes No. of meetings attended

Cllr. W.T.Evans 3

Cllr. J. Prosser 2

Cllr. J. Gilasbey 1

Cllr. J.A. Davies 1

Cllr. M.J.A. Lewis 1

EBM No. of meetings attended

Cllr. L.D. Evans 3

Cllr. C. Campbell 1

Cllr. M. Stephens 1

Cllr. P.H. Griffiths 2

Tudalen 465



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU
23AIN TACHWEDD, 2018

Diweddariad Gweithredu Craffu 

Ystyried y materion canlynol a chyflwyno sylwadau arnynt:

 Hoelio sylw ar y cynnydd sy’n cael ei wneud mewn perthynas â’r camau, y ceisiadau 
neu’r atgyfeiriadau a gofnodwyd yng nghyfarfodydd blaenorol y Pwyllgor.  

Rhesymau: 

 Er mwyn i’r aelodau gyflawni eu dyletswyddau craffu mewn perthynas â monitro 
perfformiad.

Angen cyfeirio’r mater at y Bwrdd Gweithredol / Cyngor er mwyn gwneud 
penderfyniad: NAC OES

Aelod y Bwrdd Gweithredol sy’n gyfrifol am y Portffolio: DDIM YN BERTHNASOL 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth:
Prif Weithredwr 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth:
Linda Rees-Jones 

Awdur yr adroddiad:
Kevin Thomas 

Swyddi:

Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith 

Swyddog Gwasanaeth 
Democrataidd 
 

Rhifau Ffôn / Cyfeiriadau E-bost:

01267 224010
lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk 

01267 224027
kjthomas@sirgar.gov.uk 

Tudalen 467

Eitem Rhif  8

mailto:lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:kjthomas@sirgar.gov.uk


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23RD NOVEMBER 2018

Scrutiny Actions Update 
 

During the course of a municipal year, several requests for additional information are 
made by the Committee in order to assist it in discharging its scrutiny role. 

The attached report provides members of the Committee with an update on the progress 
made in relation to these requests. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES
 

Tudalen 468



IMPLICATIONS
I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate 
Directors / Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications 
associated with this report.

Signed:   Linda Rees-Jones           Head of Administration & Law 

Policy, 
Crime & 
Disorder 
and 
Equalities

Legal Finance ICT Risk 
Management 
Issues

Staffing 
Implications

Physical 
Assets 

NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE

CONSULTATIONS
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below:

Signed:   Linda Rees-Jones           Head of Administration & Law

1. Local Member(s) – N/A

2. Community / Town Council – N/A

3. Relevant Partners – N/A

4. Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations – N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW:

Title of Document File Ref No. / Locations that the papers are available for public inspection

Community 
Scrutiny 
Committee Reports 
and Minutes 

Meetings from September 2016 onwards:
http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186

Tudalen 469

http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=186


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

1 of 8

Ref No Meeting Date Recommendation /
Action / Referral Description Progress Update Member / Officer Status

CS
001-17/18

20th July 2017 Recommendation Minute 5 - ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT
2016/17 CARMARTHENSHIRE LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Committee agreed to endorse the
recommendations for referral to the Executive
Board / Council

Submitted to the Executive Board 31st July 2017
and Council 20th September

L. Quelch/I.
Llewellyn

Completed

CS
002-17/18

20th July 2017 Recommendation Minute 6 - CARMARTHENSHIRE COMMUNITY
INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY - UPDATE AND
PROGRESS

Committee agreed to endorse the report's
recommendations for referral to the Executive
Board / Council

Submitted to the Executive Board 31st July 2017
and Council 20th September

L. Quelch/I.
Llewellyn

Completed

CS
003-17/18

5th October 2017 Recommendation Minute 6 - ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT
(PLANNING)

Committee received the report for onward
submission to the Welsh Governmnet by the 31st
October 2017.

Report forwarded to the Welsh Government by the
due deadline

L. Quelch/I.
Llewellyn

Completed

CS
004-17/18

5th October 2017 Recommendation Minute 6 - ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT
(PLANNING)

The Head of Planning to provide members of the
Committee with details of the staffing structure
within the Planning Division, when completed,
including any staff relocations taking place

An e-mail incorporating the requested
information/staff structure was sent to members of
the Scrutiny Committee on the 17th November,
2017

L. Quelch Completed

CS
005-17/18

5th October 2017 Recommendation Minute 8 - DRAFT -  CARMARTHENSHIRE
COUNTY COUNCIL'S ANNUAL REPORT FOR
2016/17

As part of discussion on an increase in sickness
absence levels within the Authoirty the
Committee requested the Policy and Resources
Scrutiny Committee to consider the increase in
staff sickness leveles within the Authority ,
possibly by revisiting the work of its Task and
Finish Group

The Policy and Resources Committee will consider
the Committes recommendation at its meeting on
the 6th December, 2017

Martin Davies Completed

Included on the agenda for
the Policy and Resiurces
Scrutiny Committee on the
6th December, 2017
The Committees response
was circulated to the
Community Scrutiny
Committee meeting on the
30th Janaury 2018

T
udalen 471



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

2 of 8

CS
006-17/18

5th October 2017 Action Minute 8- DRAFT - CARMARTHENSHIRE
COUNTY COUNCIL'S ANNUAL REPORT FOR
2016/17

As part of a discussion on enegy
consumption/generation within the Authority the
Committee requested that it be provided with
details of the energy it purchased and the
proportion of which was green energy

This information is currently being collated and will
be forwarded direct to members of the committee
by e-mail

J. Fearn / K. Davies Completed

E-mail sent to members
22nd November 2017

CS
007-17/18

5th October 2017 Action MINUTE 8 - DRAFT -  CARMARTHENSHIRE
COUNTY COUNCIL'S ANNUAL REPORT FOR
2016/17

A question was asked on the whether it would be
possible for the committee to be provided with
details on the forst years operation of the revised
domestic garden waste collection system to
include resident take up figures and costs

A report on this is agendaed for consideration by
the Enviromental and Public Protection Scrutiny
Committee in January 2018 and will be available
for all members to access on the Council's website

Ainsley Williams Completed

Included on the agenda for
the Environmental and
Public Protection Scrutiny
Committee on the 15th
January 2018

CS
008-17/18

5th October 2017 Action MINUTE 9 2017/18 WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES
PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT
QUARTER 1 - 1ST APRIL TO 30TH JUNE 20-17

Members referred to the recent acquisition by the
council of new mobile libraries vehicles and the
Head of Leisure agreed arrangements would be
made for the committee to view one of the
vehicles

Arrangements are currently being made for the
committee to view one of the vehicles at its October
meeting

The Committee viewed the mobile library at its
meeting held on the 4th October, 2018

Ian Jones / Mark
Jewell

Completed

CS
009-17/18

24th November
2017

Recommendation MINUTE 5 - THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A
COUNCIL OWNED HOUSING COMPANY

The Committee agreed to recommend to the
Executive Board that:
1. the report on the proposed establishment of a
council owned company was adopted
2. a presentation be made to Council on the
Company's Business Plan
 

Submitted to the Executive Board on the 27th
November 2017 where the report was accepted

R. Staines Completed

T
udalen 472



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

3 of 8

CS
010 - 17/18

24th November
2017

Recommendation MINUTE 6 - INTRODUCTION OF A 'CHOICE
BASED LETTINGS' PROCESS FOR COUNCIL
HOUSING IN CARMARTHENSHIRE

The Committee agreed to recommend to the
Executive Board that the Council's process for
letting homes be changed in favour of a 'Choice
Based Lettings' approach

Submitted to the Executive Board on the 27th
November 2017 where the report was accepted

R. Staines Completed

CS
011 - 17/18

24th November
2017

Action MINUTE 8 - REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET
MONITORING REPORT 2017/18

As part of the debate on the budget monitoring
report the Committee requested that it be
provided with reasons for the increased £40k
overspend within the Planning Division

the requested information was forwarded to
members by e-mail on the 9th Janaury, 2018

L. Quelch Completed

CS
012 - 17/18

14th December
2017

Action MINUTE 6 - COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENTAL
DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN

As part of the debate on the Business Plan a
question was raised on whether the Council
had/could produce maps of cycle routes within
the County for Placing within the Tourist
Information Centre and other appropriate venues.
The Director of Regeneration and Policy agreed
toexamine the information currently available on
cylce routes and arraneg for that to be dispayed
on the Council's website, if possible

The Council's Corporate Website and Discover
Carmarthenshire Website have been amended to
include features on cycling

W.S. Walters Completed

CS
013 - 17/18

14th December
2017

Action MINUTE 6 - COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENTAL
DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN

As part of the debate on the Business Plan a
question was raised on the possibility of taxi's
licensed by the Authority linking in with the Health
Authority to take people home from hospital. As
patient transport was a matter for the LHB, the
Head of Housing and Public Protection agreed to
raise the issue with the LHB's County Director

Discussions are being undertaken with the LHB's
new County Director

R. Staines /
Jonathan Morgan

This has not progressed but
will be taken up with the
new Interim County Director
as soon as possible

T
udalen 473



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

4 of 8

CS
014-17/18

14th December
2017

Action MINUTE 6 - COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENTAL
DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN

As part of the debate on the Business Plan the
Director of regeneration and Policy agreed to
provide members with statistical information on
substance misuse

the requested information was forwarded to
members by e-mail on the 15th February, 2018

W.S. Walters Completed

CS
015-17/18

14th December
2017

Recommendation MINUTE 9 - CARMARTHENSHIRE LOCAL
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2006-2021 - REVIEW
REPORT

The Committee agreed to recommend to the
Executive Board and Council:

1. that the review report be accepted and that a
full review of the plan be undertaken
2 that a members seminar be arranged on the
review report

The Report was submitted to Executive Board on
the 18th December, 2017 and Council on the 10th
January 2018 where the report was adopted
In relation to the members seminar, it was agreed
by the Executive Board that informal workshops be
held with the Council's political groups as opposed
to convening a seminar
Arangements have been made for a meeting with
the Plaid Group on the 2nd February.
Arrangements are on-going for meetings with the
Independent and Labour Groups

L. Quelch Completed
1. Referrral to the Executive
Board and Council
completed
2. Arrangements in
progress for the holding of
the workshops

CS
016-17/18

14th December
2017

Recommendation MINUTE 10 - REVISED CARMARTHENSHIRE
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2018-2033 -
DRAFT DELIVERY AGREEMENT AND DRAFT
SITE ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY

The Committee agreed to recommend to the
Executive Board and Council tthat the report be
adopted

The Report was submitted to the Executive Board
on the 18th December, 2017 and Council on the
18th January, 2018 where it was adopted 

L. Quelch Completed

CS
017 - 17/18

14th December
2017

Recommendation Minute 5 - REVENUE BUDGET STRATEGY
CONSULTATION 2018/19 to 2020/21

RESOLVED: that the Charging Digests as set out
in Appendix C of the report be endorsed.

No update required – due process. C. Moore Completed

CS
018-17/18

30th January, 2018 Recommendation Minute 5 - HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
BUDGET AND HOUSING RENT SETTING FOR
2018/19

RESOLVED that the recommendations within the
report be endorsed and forwarded to the
Executive Board for consideration

The report was submitted to the Executive Board
on the 5th February, 2018 where it was adopted for
referral to the Council Budget meeting on the 21st
February

C. Moore Completed

T
udalen 474



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

5 of 8

CS
019 - 17/18

30th January, 2018 Recommendation Minute 6 - THE CARMARTHENSHIRE HOMES
STANDARD PLUS (CHS+) BUSINESS PLAN
2018-21

RESOLVED that the Executive Board approve
the CHS+ Business Plan 2018-21 and its
submission to the Welsh Government

The report was submitted to the Executive Board
on the 5th February, 2018 where it was adopted for
referral to the Council Budget meeting on the 21st
February

J. Morgan Completed

CS
020 - 17/18

30th January, 2018 Recommendation Minute 6 - THE CARMARTHENSHIRE HOMES
STANDARD PLUS (CHS+) BUSINESS PLAN
2018-21

That a report on general fire sfatey, incorporating
the issues raised in relation to the installation of
sprinklers and tilt and turn windows be submitted
to a future meeting of the Committee

Update Fire Risk assessments are in the process of
being completed to all Sheltered Housing Schemes
and three/four storey communal blocks of flats. It's
anticipated a report could be presented to the
Committees September/October meeting.

The report is scheduled for submission to the
Committee meeting in January 2019 

J. Jones Completed - Update report
to be provided to future
meeting

CS
021 - 17/18

30th January, 2018 Recommendation Minute 6 - THE CARMARTHENSHIRE HOMES
STANDARD PLUS (CHS+) BUSINESS PLAN
2018-21

That a report on the Council Policy of allowing
tenants to refuse to have improvement works
undertaken to their properties be submitted to a
future meeting of the Committee

Work on this is ongoing and it's anticipated a
progress report could be submitted to the
Committee's September/October meeting.

The report is scheduled for consideration at the
Committee's 13th December, 2018 meeting as part
of the Community Department's Business Plan

J. Morgan Completed

CS
022 - 17/18

30th January, 2018 Action Minute 6 - THE CARMARTHENSHIRE HOMES
STANDARD PLUS (CHS+) BUSINESS PLAN
2018-21

That officers give consideration on the process
for engaging with local members when
maintenance works were being undertaken to
council properties in their wards

J. Morgan Completed

CS
023 - 17/18

30th January, 2018 Recommendation Minute 9 - FORTHCOMING ITEMS

That a copy of the Universal Credit Action Plan
be submitted to the March 29th Meeting

Due to the delay in the implementation of the
Universal Credit Programme in Carmarthenshire,
an updated report will be presented to the
Committees October meeting prior to'going live' in
December

Following further delays to the U.K. Government's
roll out of Universal Credit, this item has been
deferred pending further clarification on the
Government's proposals

J. Morgan In progress - action plan to
be provided at next Scrutiny

T
udalen 475



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

6 of 8

CS
024 -17/18

16th February,
2018

Action Minute 5 - Local Resilience Forum Business Plan

Members requested that they be provided with
links to emergency planning documents 

copies of the documents were provided to the
Committee by e-mail on the 6th March

R. Elms Completed

CS
025 - 17/18

16th February,
2018

Action Minute 5 - Local Resilience Forum Business Plan

As part of the discussion on Local Resilience, the
Interim Head of Housing suggested members be
provided with information on how the Authority
would respond to a foot and mouth incident and
how that linked with other national agencies

An updated contingency plan is now available and
will be distributed shortly to Community Scrutiny
Members

A copy of the plan was circulated to members on
the 19th June by e-mail

J. Morgan Completed

CS
026 - 17/18

16th February,
2018

Action Minute 6 - Revenue and Capital Budget
Monitoring Report 2017/18

During discussion on the monitoring report an
explanation was sought on the reference in
Appendix H to "Enable - Adaptations to support
Independent living -set up in error"

This related to a typographical error in the repor J. Morgan Completed

CS 027 -
17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 5 - Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration

A request was received that officers explore the
current position of the fire damaged church
opposite the John Francis Estate Agents

The Owners of the property have been contacted
by the Environment Department and advised to
repair/rebuild the property within a period of 12
months. Officers are monitoring the situation

S. Walters Completed

CS
028 - 17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 5 - Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration

Members of the Committee to be provided with a
copy of the video produced in relation to the
Town Centre Redevelopment

A video has been circulated to members as
requested

S. Walters Completed

CS
029 - 17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 5 - Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration

Officers to review the current position on the
council's requirements for bilingual signage ect to
be displayed within any shop premises let as part
of the Llanelli Town regeneration

Officers are reviewing the process and will ensure
bilingual policy is implemented

S. Walters Completed

T
udalen 476



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

7 of 8

CS
030 - 17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 5 - Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration

To provide Councillor A. Davies with details of
the conditions attached for the award of a £5k
grant from the Business Start up Fund to facilitate
job creation

the requested information has been provided to
Councillor Davies

S. Walters Completed

CS
031-17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 5 - Llanelli Town Centre - Regeneration

Officers to prepare similar presentations to a
future meeting on regeneration activity
Ammanford Town and Carmarthen Town

The report was initially scheduled for Committee in
November 2018. The Committee, at its meeting
held on the 11th May agreed the presentations
should be made to a Members Seminar which is to
also include the presentation on Llanelli Town
Centre

S. Walters Completed

CS
032 - 17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 6 - 2017/18 Well-being objectives
Performance Monitoring Report - Quarter 3 - 1st
April to 31st December 2017

Officers to provide Councillor Cundy with details
of Hydro Electric generation within the County

The appropriate information has been conveyed to
Councillor Cundy

K. Davies Completed

CS
033 - 17/18

29th March, 2018 Action Minute 6 - 2017/18 Well-being objectives
Performance Monitoring Report - Quarter 3 - 1st
April to 31st December 2017

Committee Members to be provided with a list of
the initiatives supported under action 12567 -
maximisation of external funding to realise
economic potential

Members have been provided with a list of
initiatives supported under this action

S. Walters Completed

CS
034 - 17/18

29th March, 2018 Recommendation Provision of Affordable Bungalows in
Carmarthenshire

That a scoping document be prepared for
submission to a future meeting on the provision
of affordable bungalows within Carmarthenshire

A scoping document has been prepared for
submission to the Scrutiny Committee in June 2018

J. Morgan Completed

T
udalen 477



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2017-2018

8 of 8

T
udalen 478



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2018-2019

1 of 4

Ref No Meeting Date Recommendation /
Action / Referral Description Progress Update Member / Officer Status

CS 001 -
18/19

11th May, 2018 Action Draft New Corporate Strategy

Members to be provided with statistics detailing
the numbers of welsh speakers and learners
employed by the authority, with specicic attention
if possible to the numbers of front line library
stafff 

The requested information has been provided to
the Committee members

L. Evans Completed

CS002 -
18/19

11th May, 2018 Recommendation Draft New Corporate Strategy Recommende to the Executive Board that the
Strategy be endorsed  - Referred to the Executive
Board on the 4th June, 2018 and Council on the
13th June where the report was accepted

R. James Completed

CS003-
18/19

11th May, 2018 Recommendation Homelessness Strategy Recommended to the Executive Board that the
Strategy be approved - Referred to Executive
Board on the 4th June where the report was
accepted

J. Morgan Completed

CS003-
18/19

11th May, 2018 Recommendation Amendment to the Private Sector Renewal Policy Recommended to the Executive Board that the
amendment to the Policy be approved - Referred to
Executive Board on the 4th June where the report
was accepted

J. Morgan Completed

CS004 -
18/19

11th May, 2018 Action Amendment to the Private Sector Renewal Policy

A report is to be presented to a future meeting of
the Committee on the work undertaken
subsequent to the Committees previous Task
and Finish Group on empty properties

A report is to be presented to a future meeting of
the Scrutiny Committee (possibly in
September/October) in relation to the progress on
empty properties following the Task and Finish
Group's previous work.

The Report was presented to the Committee
meeting held on the 21st September, 2018.

J. Morgan Completed

CS005-
18/19

11th May, 2018 Recommendation Revised Cramarthenshire Local Development
Plan 2018-2033 Draft Delivery Agreement

It was recommended to the Executive Board that
the report be adopted

Referred to Executive Board on the 4th June and
Council on the 13th June where the report was
adopted

I. Llewellyn Completed

CS006-
18/19

11th May, 2018 Recommendation Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance - Wind
and Solar Energy - Carmarthenshire Local
Development Plan

It was recommende that the report be adopted for
consultation

Report was considered by Council on the 13th June
2018 where it was approved for public consultation

I. Llewellyn CompletedT
udalen 479



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2018-2019

2 of 4

CS006-
18/19

11th May, 2018 Recommendation Community Scrutiny Committee Forward Work
Programme 18/19

The Report be adopted subject to:
1. The Task and Finish Group on Empty
Properties not being progressed.

2. The LDP Preferred Strategy Report being
moved form July to the end of 2018.

3. A seminar being arranged for all members on
the the work of the Task Groups set up for
Ammanford and Llanellii and to report on
regeneration within Carmarthen Town

1. The Task and Finish Group on Empty Properties
not being progressed.

2. The LDP Preferred Strategy Report being moved
from July to the end of 2018.

The Strategy is scheduled for consideration at the
23rd November, 2018 meeting

3. A seminar is being arranged for all members on
the work of the Task Groups set up for Ammanford
and Llanellii and to report on regeneration within
Carmarthen Town.

Arragements are being made for the seminar to be
held at the end of 2018/early 2019

K. Thomas

K. Thomas

S. Walters

Completed

Completed

In progress

CS007-
18/19

25th June, 2018 Recommendation Carmarthenshire Arts Strategy:

It was recommended to the Executive Board that
the Strategy be adopted.

The report was considered and approved by the
Executive Board at its meeting held on the 2nd
July, 2018.

J. Davies Completed

CS008-
18/19

25th June, 2018 Action Carmarthenshire Arts Strategy:

Discussions to be undertaken with the Education
Department as the Strategy Progressed in
relation to the following suggested fifth key
objective:

'Identify ambitions, talents and skills through our
schools to further sustain our cultural strategic
priorities'.

Discussions have been held with the Education
Department

J. Davies Ongoing

CS009-
18/19

25th June, 2018 Action Draft Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual
Report for 2017/18

The Education and Children Department be
requested to ensure the re-establishment of the
Anti Bullying Steering Group is undertaken as
soon as possible following publication by the
Welsh Government of new documentation and
policies regarding bullying

The Committee's request has been forwarded to
the Director of Education and Children Services

K. Thomas Completed

T
udalen 480



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2018-2019

3 of 4

CS010 -
18/19

25th June, 2018 Action Draft Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual
Report for 2017/18

Details are to be provided to members of the
Committee on the numbers of people helped to
learn Welsh through the 'Lift Programme' and
who continued to use Welsh

The requested information has been provided H. Morgan Completed

CS011 -
18/19

25th June, 2018 Action Draft Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual
Report for 2017/18

Members of the Committee to be provided with
details of the Beacon Bursary Scheme

The requested information has been provided to
the Committee members by e-mail 

S. Walters Completed

CS 012-
18/19

25th June, 2018 Action Draft Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual
Report for 2017/18

To examine the possibility of installing reflectors
on pillars etc and increasing the size of signs at
the Millenium Coastal Park at North Dock Llanelli
to aid the visually impaired

Reflective tape has been placed on all the bollards,
and the Outdoor Recreation Service is in the
process of installing at least 92 reflectors on the
cycle track from Pembrey Country Park to Bynea to
provide better visibility

No progress has been made on increasing the size
of the signs

I. Jones Completed

In progress

CS 013-
18/19

25th June, 2018 Action Draft Carmarthenshire County Council's Annual
Report for 2017/18

The Committee is to be provided with the
National Survey For Wales' results in relation to
the three bullet points on page 106 of the report
where the results were to be made available later
in the year

The results will be provided to the Committee when
available.

The results were reported to Council in October
2018 and forwarded to Members of the Committee
by e-mail on the 2nd November

I. Jones / S. Sauro Completed

CS014-
18/19

25th June, 2018 Recommendation Draft Local Development Order - Llanelli Town
Centre

the report was recommended to the Executive
Board

Executive Board at its meeting held on the 2nd July
Resolved To recommend the report to Council.

The Report was considered and adopted by
Council on the 11th September 2018

I. Llewellyn

I. Llewellyn

Completed

CS015 -
18/19

25th June, 2018 Recommendation Affordable Bungalows within Carmarthenshire.

The report was adopted and a Task and Finish
Group is to be established to examine the
provision of affordable Bungalows in
Carmarthenshire

The Committee formally appointed its Task and
Finish Group at its meeting held on the 21st
September, 2018

K. Thomas Completed

T
udalen 481



Community Scrutiny Committee Actions 2018-2019

4 of 4

CS016-
18/19

21st September,
2018

Action Community Scrutiny Task & Finish Review
2014/15 Update - Empty Properties in
Carmarthenshire
1.Officers to examine the feasibility of the list of
empty properties being broken down by wards.
2. A letter be sent to members asking them to
provide the department with details of any
properties within their wards not appearing on the
current list

J. Morgan Completed - Information to
be provided to all members
by end of November 2018
at the latest

CS017-
18/19

21st September,
2018

Recommendation Annual Monitoring Report 2017/18 - Adopted
Carmarthenshire Local decelopment Plan
The Report was accepted and recommended to
the Executive Board/Council for adoption prior to
submission to the Welsh Government

The report and its receommendations were
accepted by the Executie Board and Council at
their meetings held on the 24th September and
10th October respectively and was forwarded to the
Welsh Government by the 31st October deadline

L. Quelch/I.
Llewellyn

Completed

CS018-
18/19

4th October, 2018 Action Home Checker Visits to Homes - An e-mail to be
sent to members providing a breakdown of the
home checker visits by ward and who undertook
the visits.
 

Jonathan
Morgan/Les James

CS019-
18/19

4th October, 2018 Recommendation Annual Performance Report Planning - the report
to be forwarded to the Welsh Government by the
31st October, 2018

The report was forwarded to the Welsh
Government by the 31st October deadline

Llinos Quelch Completed

T
udalen 482



COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23rd NOVEMBER 2018

FORTHCOMING ITEMS FOR NEXT MEETING
TO BE HELD ON 13TH DECEMBER 2018

In order to ensure effective Scrutiny, Members need to be clear as to the purpose of 
requesting specific information and the outcome they are hoping to achieve as a 

consequence of examining a report.  Limiting the number of agenda items may help to 
keep meetings focused and easier to manage.

Proposed 
Agenda Item 

Background Reason for report

Revenue 
Budget 
Consultation 
2019/20 – 
2021/22

As part of the Council’s 
consultation procedures on 
the development of its 
2019/20 – 2021/22 budget 
strategy, all scrutiny 
committees are provided with 
the opportunity of considering 
commenting on the Strategy.

To enable the scrutiny committee to 
consider and comment on the budget 
settlement, departmental service 
budgets and efficiency savings 
proposals and to make any 
recommendations for change to the 
Executive Board and Council 

Draft 
Community 
Services 
Departmental 
Business Plan

As part of the Business Plan 
development process the 
Committee is invited to 
consider and comment on the 
elements of the Community 
Services Departmental 
Business Plan 2019/20 – 
2021/22 relevant to its remit 

To afford the Committee the 
opportunity of commenting on and 
making any recommendations for 
change to the Draft Community 
Services Department Business Plan 
for consideration by the Executive 
Board/Council

Chief 
Executive’s 
Departmental 
Business Plan

As part of the Business Plan 
Development process the 
Committee is invited to 
consider and comment on the 
Chief Executive’s 
Departmental Business Plan 
2019/20 – 2021/22 relevant to 
its remit.

To afford the Committee the 
opportunity of commenting on and 
making any recommendations for 
change to the Chief Executive’s 
Department Business Plan

Environment 
Departmental 
Business Plan

As part of the Business Plan 
Development process the 
Committee is invited to 
consider and comment on 
Environment Departmental 
Business Plan 2019/20 – 
2021/22 relevant to its remit.

To afford the Committee the 
opportunity of commenting on and 
making any recommendations for 
change to the Environment 
Department Business Plan

Tudalen 483

Eitem Rhif  9



Universal Credit 
Action Plan

The Committee, at its meeting 
in January 2018 requested a 
report requested a report on 
the Authority’s action plan for 
the roll out of the 
Government’s Universal 
Credit in Carmarthenshire 

The report will afford the Committee 
the opportunity of commenting on the 
Action Plan

Highway 
Design 
Guidance

The Highways Design 
Guidance will set out the 
authority’s expectations for 
the design of developments in 
the County. It is intended to 
provide guidance to 
Developers, Designers and 
other professionals in 
preparing transport 
infrastructure related to 
residential developments in 
Carmarthenshire, and has 
been developed to reflect 
national and a regional policy 
within the local 
Carmarthenshire context. 

The principal aim of this 
document is to encourage 
developers to create layouts 
which have a distinctive 
character in their built 
environment and landscaping, 
whilst applying design 
standards which will achieve a 
safe provision for all users.

Committee is being requested to 
endorse the Design Guidance

Tudalen 484



EXPLANATION FOR NON-SUBMISSION OF SCRUTINY REPORTS

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  COMMUNITY

DATE OF MEETING:  23rd NOVEMBER, 2018

ITEM RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER

EXPLANATION REVISED 
SUBMISSION 

DATE
Affordable 
Homes 
Standard

Rachel Davies, 
Providing More 
Homes Lead

Further work is currently on going 
to ensure that clear standards are 
developed for all house types and 
all tenures.

To be 
confirmed

Tenant 
Vision 
Engagement 
Plan

Les James, 
Engagement & 
Partnership 
Manager

The report has been rescheduled 
to allow Housing Services Advisory 
Panel to consider the final report.

18th January, 
2019

Fire 
Management 
Risk 
Assessment

Jason Jones, 
Property 
Maintenance 
Manager

Additional work was necessary to 
be undertaken as part of the 
Assessment

18th January 
2019

Highways 
Design Guide

Transport 
Strategy and 
Infrastructure 
Manager

The Highway Design guide has 
been subject of extensive work 
which will reach conclusion this 
week. Finalising the Guide has 
been delayed slightly due to the 
recent weather events, and will 
now be ready for the next Scrutiny 
Committee”

13th 
December, 
2018

Tudalen 485

Eitem Rhif  10



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU

Dydd Gwener, 21 Medi 2018

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd S.L. Davies (Cadeirydd)

Y Cynghorwyr: 
S.M. Allen (In place of H.B. Shepardson), C.A. Davies, W.R.A. Davies, H.L. Davies, 
S.L. Davies, S.J.G. Gilasbey, B.W. Jones, D. Jones (In place of S. Matthews), H.I. Jones, 
M.J.A. Lewis (In place of G.B. Thomas), A.S.J. McPherson (In place of D.M. Cundy), 
B.A.L. Roberts and A.Vaughan Owen

Hefyd yn bresennol:
Y Cynghorwyr L.M. Stephens, Dirprwy Arweinydd y Cyngor

Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:
I. Jones, Pennaeth Hamdden
J. Morgan, Pennaeth Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel Dros Dro
J. Willis, Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Tai (Cyngor a Dewisiadau)
G. Ayers, Rheolwr Polisi Corfforaethol a Phartneriaeth
I.R. Llewelyn, Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio
L. Evans, Cydgysylltydd Eiddo Gwag
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Siambr, Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin - 10.00  - 11.15 am

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr D. Cundy, S. 
Matthews, H. Shepardson a G. Thomas.

Cyfeiriodd y Cadeirydd at ddigwyddiad beicio Taith Prydain diweddar, a 
ddechreuodd ym Mharc Pen-bre gyda'r Grand Depart, ac estynnodd ei 
gwerthfawrogiad i bawb a gyfranogodd at sicrhau ei lwyddiant gan gynnwys 
swyddogion y Cyngor, y beicwyr, y gwylwyr a'r Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned. 
 

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL GAN GYNNWYS UNRHYW CHWIP A 
NODWYD MEWN PERTHYNAS AG UNRHYW EITEM AR YR AGENDA

Ni chafwyd dim datganiadau ynghylch chwip waharddedig.

Cafwyd y datganiadau canlynol o fuddiant personol:-

Y Cynghorydd Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant
A Davies 5- Adroddiad Monitro 

Blynyddol 2017/18 - Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol Sir 
Gaerfyrddin a Fabwysiadwyd

Mae wedi cyflwyno cais 
i gynnwys safle yng 
Nghynllun Datblygu 
Lleol Diwygiedig Sir 
Gaerfyrddin 2018-2033. 

Tudalen 487

Eitem Rhif  11.1



A Vaughan-Owen 5- Adroddiad Monitro 
Blynyddol 2017/18 - Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol Sir 
Gaerfyrddin a Fabwysiadwyd

Mae perthynas wedi 
cyflwyno cais i gynnwys 
safle yng Nghynllun 
Datblygu Lleol 
Diwygiedig Sir 
Gaerfyrddin 2018-2033. 

3. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I LAW)

Nid oedd cwestiynau gan y cyhoedd wedi dod i law.

4. Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - CYMUNEDAU ADOLYGIAD GORCHWYL A 
GORFFEN 2014/15 - DIWEDDARIAD - EIDDO GWAG YN SIR GAERFYRDDIN

Yn unol â'r drafodaeth a gafwyd yn ei gyfarfod ar 11 Mai 2018, cafodd y Pwyllgor 
gyflwyniad PowerPoint am y cynnydd a wnaed o ran gweithredu argymhellion ei 
Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen blaenorol yn 2014/15 ynghylch Eiddo Gwag yn Sir 
Gaerfyrddin, a oedd â'r prif nod o gyflawni'r canlynol:-
 Nodi a gwerthuso'r gweithgareddau presennol a wneir gan yr Is-adran Tai a 

Diogelu'r Cyhoedd;
 Nodi gwelliannau posibl a modelau darparu eraill; 
 Llunio argymhellion i'w hystyried gan y Bwrdd Gweithredol.

Rhoddwyd sylw i'r cwestiynau/materion canlynol wrth drafod y cyflwyniad:- 

 Mewn ymateb i gwestiwn am y costau atgyweirio o £49k i un eiddo a nodir 
yn yr adroddiad, amlinellodd y Cydgysylltydd Eiddo Gwag lefel y gwaith a 
wnaed yn yr eiddo dan sylw a dywedodd, er y gall wedi bod yn bosibl i 
unigolyn preifat gomisiynu'r rheiny ar gyfradd is, fod y Cyngor wedi llunio 
fframwaith contractwyr a Rheolau o ran Gweithdrefnau Contractau i'w 
defnyddio/dilyn wrth ddyfarnu contractau ar gyfer gwaith. Nodwyd bod 
Fframwaith Contractwyr y Cyngor wedi bod yn destun proses dendro 
gystadleuol a sicrhawyd bod y costau mor isel â phosibl.

 Mewn ymateb i gwestiwn am yr incwm Adran 106 posibl a ddefnyddir i 
adnewyddu eiddo gwag, dywedodd y Pennaeth Dros Dro Cartrefi a 
Chymunedau Mwy Diogel fod y broses o ddyrannu'r incwm hwnnw yn 
amodol ar gyflwyno achos busnes. Os yw hynny'n llwyddiannus, mae'n 
rhaid defnyddio'r arian yn unol â pholisi'r Cyngor er mwyn prynu tai mewn 
ardaloedd lle mae angen.

 O ran cwestiwn am ddefnyddio'r asiantaeth Gosod Syml, cadarnhawyd ei 
bod wedi'i sefydlu, a'i bod yn cael ei gweithredu gan y Cyngor i gynorthwyo 
darpar denantiaid i gael tenantiaethau. Hefyd, roedd yn hyrwyddo'r ethos o 
helpu pobl i helpu eu hunain drwy eu cyfeirio at asiantaethau gosod eraill. 

 Cyfeiriwyd at yr amserau amrywiol y gallai tai fod yn wag, sy'n amrywio o 
ychydig fisoedd i nifer o flynyddoedd a gofynnwyd a oedd unrhyw 
gymhellion ar gael i'r Cyngor annog perchenogion tai i leihau'r amser 
hwnnw, er enghraifft, drwy'r dreth gyngor.

Dywedodd y Pennaeth Dros Dro Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel, er 
bod y posibilrwydd hwnnw wedi'i drafod, roedd barn y gallai arwain at leihad 
yn refeniw'r dreth gyngor ar gyfer yr awdurdod, yn enwedig yn y tymor byr. 

Tudalen 488



Fodd bynnag, rhoddodd sicrwydd fod trafodaethau'n cael eu cynnal yn 
barhaus er mwyn nodi'r ffyrdd o leihau'r amserau hynny.

 Mewn ymateb i gwestiwn am Fenthyciadau Gwella Cartrefi a'r Cynllun Troi 
Tai'n Gartrefi, cadarnhawyd bod y Cyngor wedi cael grantiau gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru gwerth cyfanswm o £1.9m, dros dri cham, a fydd yn 
galluogi 70 o eiddo i gael eu hadnewyddu. Mae pob benthyciad yn cael ei 
roi yn amodol ar gael ei ad-dalu o fewn cyfnod o 2 flynedd ac mae bron 
£1m wedi'i ad-dalu i'r gronfa hyd yn hyn, sydd wedi'i ailddefnyddio i roi mwy 
o fenthyciadau.

 Fel rhan o'i ymchwiliadau, ymwelodd y Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen ag 
oddeutu 10 eiddo, a chadarnhawyd bod pob un ohonynt heblaw am y 4 y 
manylwyd arnynt yn y cyflwyniad wedi'u hadnewyddu. 

 Cadarnhawyd bod nifer yr eiddo gwag sy'n cael eu defnyddio eto wedi 
cynyddu bob blwyddyn hyd at 184 yn ystod 2017/18, o'i gymharu â 
chyfanswm i 60 yn 2010/11.

 Cyfeiriwyd at y 2,554 o eiddo'r sector preifat yn Sir Gaerfyrddin a oedd wedi 
bod yn wag ers 6 mis neu ragor ac a yw'r rheiny eu rhestru yn ôl wardiau ac 
os nad ydynt, a ellid rhoi'r wybodaeth honno i'r aelodau.

Cadarnhawyd y gallai swyddogion archwilio'r posibilrwydd o ledaenu'r 
wybodaeth honno er nad yw'r rhestr bresennol o eiddo gwag wedi'u 
rhannu'n wardiau. Yn ogystal, gellid anfon llythyr at holl aelodau'r Cyngor yn 
gofyn iddynt roi manylion i'r Adran ynghylch unrhyw eiddo gwag yn eu 
wardiau nad ydynt wedi'u cynnwys ar y rhestr bresennol.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr adroddiad diweddaru ar Grŵp 
Gorchwyl a Gorffen blaenorol y Pwyllgor ynghylch Eiddo Gwag yn Sir 
Gaerfyrddin.

5. ADRODDIAD MONITRO BLYNYDDOL 2017/18 CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL 
MABWYSIEDIG SIR GAERFYRDDIN

Bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried Adroddiad Perfformiad Blynyddol yr Is-adran Gynllunio ar 
gyfer y cyfnod rhwng mis Ebrill 2017 a mis Mawrth 2018. Hwn oedd y trydydd 
adroddiad o'r fath a luniwyd yn unol â gofyniad Tabl y Fframwaith Perfformiad 
Cynllunio, ac yr oedd rhaid ei gyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru erbyn 31 Hydref bob 
blwyddyn i'w werthuso'n unol â'r dangosyddion a'r targedau a bennwyd.

Rhoddwyd sylw i'r cwestiynau/materion canlynol wrth drafod yr adroddiad:-
 Cyfeiriwyd at yr arfer o 'bancio tir' lle gadawyd tir heb ei ddatblygu am nifer 

fawr o flynyddoedd, gan gynyddu ei werth ar gyfer ei berchenogion. 
Gofynnwyd am eglurhad ynghylch a allai'r adolygiad presennol o'r Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol roi sylw i'r arfer hwn.

Dywedodd y Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio y bydd caniatâd cynllunio'n ddilys am 
byth lle bo'r caniatâd hwnnw wedi'i roi a'r gwaith datblygu wedi dechrau. 
Fodd bynnag, lle bo safleoedd wedi'u cynnwys yn y Cynllun Datblygu Lleol 
presennol, ond heb gael eu symud ymlaen, a chafwyd ceisiadau i'w 
cynnwys yn y Cynllun diwygiedig, byddai rhaid i ddatblygwyr ddangos bod 
modd cyflawni eu datblygiad. Ni fyddai mynegi dymuniad i ddatblygu 
bellach yn ddigon. Os nad yw'r datblygwr yn dangos hyn, roedd 
posibilrwydd na fydd tir a gafodd ei gynnwys yn y cynlluniau blaenorol yn 
cael ei gynnwys i'w ddyrannu yn y Cynllun diwygiedig. Hynny yw, nid oedd 

Tudalen 489



safleoedd a ddyrennir yn bresennol yn cael eu hailgynnwys yn awtomatig, 
ac nad oedd sicrwydd o'u cynnwys o ran y CDLl diwygiedig. 

 Cyfeiriwyd at egwyddorion y CDLl diwygiedig o ran hyrwyddo 
cynaliadwyedd a datblygu cynaliadwy drwy hwyluso'r gwaith o greu 
cymunedau ac economïau lleol drwy roi mynediad at wasanaethau a 
chyfleusterau lleol a lleihau'r angen am deithio. Gofynnwyd am eglurhad 
ynghylch sut y byddai'r egwyddorion hynny'n cyd-fynd â chynlluniau 
datblygu eraill y sector cyhoeddus, er enghraifft, Bwrdd Iechyd Hywel Dda.

Cadarnhaodd y Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio ei bod yn bwysig sicrhau bod y 
seilwaith priodol ar waith er mwyn cyflawni'r ethos cynaliadwy fel rhan o 
gynllun yr adolygiad, lle bynnag y bo'n bosibl. Fel rhan o'r broses honno, 
byddai'r Adran yn ymgynghori â'r holl brif bartneriaid megis y Bwrdd Iechyd 
a Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru er mwyn cael adborth ynghylch cynigion y 
cynllun.

 Cyfeiriwyd at yr angen i adfywio economïau gwledig a gofynnwyd a oes 
cwmpas yn y CDLl diwygiedig i ofyn i gwmnïau seilwaith ddefnyddio traciau 
rheilffordd a adawyd i ddarparu cyfleusterau megis cyfathrebu ffeibr optig. 
Gellid defnyddio'r traciau hyn hefyd i gynyddu nifer y llwybrau beicio yn y 
sir.

Dywedodd y Rheolwr Blaen-gynllunio fod defnyddio hen draciau rheilffordd 
wedi'i ystyried yn flaenorol ac y gellid ei ailystyried fel rhan o'r broses 
adolygu, er na allai'r Cyngor roi gorchmynion i ddarparwyr seilwaith wneud 
hynny.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R BWRDD 
GWEITHREDOL/CYNGOR fod y trydydd Adroddiad Monitro Blynyddol ar 
gyfer Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Sir Gaerfyrddin, a'i argymhellion, yn cael ei 
gymeradwyo i'w gyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru.

6. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL CWYNION A CHANMOLIAETH 2017/18

Bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried adroddiad blynyddol y Cyngor ynghylch Cwynion a 
Chanmoliaeth ar gyfer y cyfnod 2017/18 gan dalu sylw penodol i Adrannau 9.4 a 
9.6 a oedd yn berthnasol i'w faes gorchwyl. Nodwyd bod yr adroddiad yn manylu 
ar y canlynol:-

 nifer y cwynion yr ymchwiliwyd ac ymatebwyd iddynt rhwng Ebrill 2017 a 
Mawrth 2018 fesul adran,

 ystadegau o ran negeseuon a gafwyd gan y Tîm Cwynion, ac a 
ailgyfeiriwyd. Roedd y rheiny'n ymwneud ag ymholiadau a cheisiadau am 
gymorth a oedd, ar ôl cael ei gyflwyno, yn cynnig cyfle i geisio datrys 
anawsterau cyn i gŵynion gael eu cyflwyno,

 cwynion ynghylch unrhyw faterion o ran cydraddoldeb neu'r iaith Gymraeg,
 cwynion yr oedd yr Ombwdsmon yn penderfynu arnynt, 
 dadansoddiad o gŵynion a chanmoliaeth fesul adran.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr Adroddiad Blynyddol ynghylch 
Cwynion a Chanmoliaeth ar gyfer 2017/18.

Tudalen 490



7. PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - CYMUNEDAU  GRWP GORCHWYL A GORFFEN 
2018/19

Atgoffwyd y Pwyllgor ei fod wedi penderfynu sefydlu Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen yn 
ei gyfarfod ar 25 Mehefin 2018 er mwyn archwilio'r Ddarpariaeth o Fyngalos 
Fforddiadwy yn Sir Gaerfyrddin ac er mwyn ceisio enwebiadau gan grwpiau 
gwleidyddol y Cyngor i aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu - Cymunedau wasanaethu ar y 
Grŵp hwnnw. Yn unol â'r penderfyniad hwnnw, bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried yr 
enwebiadau canlynol a ddaeth i law:-

3 - Grŵp Plaid Cymru 
Y Cynghorwyr Gareth Thomas, Jeanette Gilasbey a Betsan Jones

2 - Grŵp Llafur
Y Cynghorwyr Deryk Cundy a Sharen Davies

1 - Y Grŵp Annibynnol
Y Cynghorydd Irfon Jones

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn y rhai a enwebwyd uchod a 
phenodi'r aelodau i wasanaethu ar Grŵp Gorchwyl a Gorffen y Pwyllgor 
Craffu - Cymunedau ynghylch Byngalos Fforddiadwy yn Sir Gaerfyrddin.

8. EITEMAU AR GYFER Y DYFODOL

Cafodd y Pwyllgor restr o'r eitemau a fyddai'n cael eu hystyried yn ei gyfarfod 
nesaf ar 4 Hydref 2018.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn rhestr o'r eitemau i'w hystyried 
yn y cyfarfod nesaf o'r Pwyllgor ar 4 Hydref 2018.

9. EGLURHAD AM BEIDIO Â CHYFLWYNO ADRODDIAD CRAFFU

Bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried yr eglurhad a roddwyd dros beidio â chyflwyno 
adroddiad.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr adroddiad nad oedd wedi'i 
gyflwyno.

10. LLOFNODI YN GOFNODAU CYWIR COFNODION Y PWYLLGOR A 
GYNHALIWYD AR 25AIN MEHEFIN, 2018

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor 
ar 25 Mehefin 2018 yn gofnod cywir.

________________________ __________________
CADEIRYDD DYDDIAD

Tudalen 491



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU

Dydd Iau, 4 Hydref 2018

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd S.L. Davies (Cadeirydd)

Y Cynghorwyr: 
D.M. Cundy, C.A. Davies, S.L. Davies, W.T. Evans (In place of H.L. Davies), 
S.J.G. Gilasbey, B.W. Jones, H.I. Jones, S. Matthews, H.B. Shepardson, B.A.L. Roberts, 
G.B. Thomas and A.Vaughan Owen

Hefyd yn bresennol:
Y Cynghorwyr L.D. Evans, Aelod y Bwrdd Gweithredol dros Tai
L.M. Stephens, Dirprwy Arweinydd y Cyngor

Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:
I. Jones, Pennaeth Hamdden
L. Quelch, Y Pennaeth Cynllunio
J. Morgan, Pennaeth Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel Dros Dro
H. Morgan, Rhelowr Datblygu Economaidd
L. James, Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Tai
S. Walters, Rheolwr Datblygu Economaidd
A. Thomas, Gyfrifydd Grwp
R James, Performance Planning & Business Oficer
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Siambr, Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin - Neuadd y Sir - 10.00  - 11.00 am

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB

Cafwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd H. Davies.

Cyfeiriodd y Cadeirydd at y Gwobrau TIC a gynhaliwyd yn ddiweddar (Trawsnewid 
i Wneud Cynnydd) a mynegodd ei llongyfarchiadau i'r staff yn y gwasanaeth 
Llyfrgelloedd ar ennill gwobr am y prosiect  'Stordy Creadigol' yn Llyfrgell 
Rhydaman.

2. DATGAN BUDDIANNAU PERSONOL GAN GYNNWYS UNRHYW CHWIP A 
NODWYD MEWN PERTHYNAS AG UNRHYW EITEM AR YR AGENDA

Ni chafwyd dim datganiadau ynghylch chwip waharddedig.

Cafwyd y datganiad o fuddiant canlynol:

Y 
cynghorydd

Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant

J Gilasbey 6 – Chwarter 1 – Adroddiad 
Monitro Perfformiad 1 Ebrill i 30 
Mehefin 

Ymddiriedolwr 
Amgueddfa 
Ddiwydiannol Cydweli

3. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I LAW)

Tudalen 493

Eitem Rhif  11.2



Nid oedd cwestiynau gan y cyhoedd wedi dod i law.

4. ADRODDIAD PERFFORMIAD CYNLLUNIO BLYNYDDOL

Bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried Adroddiad Perfformiad Blynyddol yr Is-adran Gynllunio ar 
gyfer y cyfnod rhwng mis Ebrill 2017 a mis Mawrth 2018, lluniwyd yr adroddiad yn 
unol â gofyniad Tabl y Fframwaith Perfformiad Cynllunio, ac yr oedd rhaid ei 
gyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru erbyn 31 Hydref bob blwyddyn i'w werthuso'n unol 
â'r dangosyddion a'r targedau a bennwyd. Yn dilyn y gwerthusiad, byddai 
perfformiad pob awdurdod cynllunio lleol yn cael ei osod mewn un o dri band 
perfformiad: Gwella (Coch), Gweddol (Ambr), Da (Gwyrdd) sy'n cael eu hasesu ar 
draws y pum agwedd allweddol ar ddarparu'r gwasanaeth cynllunio fel y nodir:-

 Gwneud cynlluniau;
 Effeithiolrwydd;
 Ansawdd;
 Ymgysylltu;
 Gorfodi.

Rhoddwyd sylw i'r cwestiynau/materion canlynol wrth drafod yr adroddiad:-
 Cyfeiriwyd at y Canllawiau Cynllunio Atodol (CCA) a p'un a oedd gan yr Is-

adran Gynllunio unrhyw gynigion i gyhoeddi canllawiau ychwanegol yn y 
dyfodol agos, er enghraifft mewn perthynas â defnydd cymysg.

Dywedodd y Pennaeth Cynllunio er bod yr Is-adran, dros y blynyddoedd 
diwethaf, wedi cyhoeddi nifer o Ganllawiau Cynllunio Atodol, byddai 
unrhyw ganllawiau yn y dyfodol, yn rhan o broses adolygu'r Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol (CDLl). Os oedd gan yr aelodau unrhyw feysydd yr oeddent 
yn teimlo bod angen eu hystyried o ran cynhyrchu Canllawiau Cynllunio 
Atodol, dylent roi gwybod i'r Adain Blaen-gynllunio a fyddai'n edrych ar yr 
ymarferoldeb o fynd i'r afael â rhain o fewn y CDLl diwygiedig.

 Cyfeiriwyd at dudalen 21 yr adroddiad at gyllideb weithredol yr Is-adran 
Gynllunio yn ystod y cyfnod 2012/13 a 2017/18. Gofynnwyd am eglurhad 
pam mae'r incwm gwirioneddol sy’n cael ei gronni yn aml yn llai na'r incwm 
a gafodd ei gyllidebu, ac, a oedd cyfiawnhad dros archwilio targed y 
gyllideb er mwyn adlewyrchu'r lefel incwm gwirioneddol yn fwy cywir. 

Dywedodd y Pennaeth Cynllunio fod nifer o ffactorau yn effeithio ar lefelau 
incwm, y mwyaf amlwg oedd y niferoedd a'r categorïau o ran ceisiadau 
cynllunio a oedd yn dod i law, er enghraifft ceisiadau cynllunio bach 
domestig a cheisiadau diwydiannol/masnachol mawr a lefel y ffioedd y 
gellid eu codi yn ôl pob categori. 

Hefyd roedd lefel y ffioedd sy’n cael eu codi yn broblem i Awdurdodau Lleol 
yng Nghymru gan nad oedd hawl ganddynt i brosesu ceisiadau cynllunio ar 
sail adfer cost lawn, yn yr un modd ag y mae awdurdodau yn Lloegr yn 
gwneud. Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydnabod y bwlch hwnnw, roedd yn 
disgwyl i awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru gynyddu eu lefelau incwm cyn y 
byddai'n rhoi ystyriaeth i godi ffioedd cynllunio. Roedd yr Awdurdod felly’n 
ystyried cyflwyno Atodlen o ffioedd ar gyfer y gwasanaethau sy’n cael eu 
darparu'n rhad ac am ddim ar hyn o bryd e.e. cyngor cyn cynllunio. Pe bai 
hynny'n cael ei gyflwyno, byddai'r cynnydd o ran incwm hefyd yn helpu i 
leihau'r gwarged, ond ni fyddai'n gwneud yn iawn am y diffyg gwirioneddol. 

Tudalen 494



Fodd bynnag, byddai cyflwyno ychydig o gynlluniau mawr yn helpu i leihau'r 
diffyg hwnnw.

Roedd y drydedd agwedd yn gysylltiedig â chostau'r is-adran gynllunio wrth 
ymgymryd â rôl orfodi'r Awdurdod Cynllunio nad oedd modd ailgodi tâl 
amdano. Fel y cyfryw, ni fyddai'r elfen honno o gylch gwaith yr is-adran, o 
dan y ddeddfwriaeth bresennol, yn gallu dod yn hunangyllidol.

 Dywedodd y Pennaeth Cynllunio mewn ymateb i gwestiwn ar y gostyngiad 
yn nifer y ceisiadau cynllunio a dderbyniwyd yn ystod y cyfnod 2012/13 a 
2017/18 mai'r prif reswm dros hynny oedd yr hinsawdd economaidd. 

Er bod yr adroddiad yn cofnodi gostyngiad, dylid cydnabod bod yr 
awdurdod wedi ymdrin â mathau eraill o geisiadau nad ydynt yn cael eu 
cynnwys yn yr adroddiad monitro blynyddol i Lywodraeth Cymru. Roedd y 
rhain yn cynnwys ceisiadau a gyflwynwyd o dan Hawliau Datblygu a 
Ganiateir a hefyd Hysbysiadau Ymlaen Llaw nad oedd hawl codi tâl 
amdanynt e.e. gosod cyfarpar telathrebu. Roedd ystyriaeth hefyd yn cael ei 
roi yn genedlaethol i ehangu'r ystod o geisiadau sydd yn cael eu hystyried o 
dan yr Hawliau Datblygu a Ganiateir a allai, petaent yn cael eu cyflwyno, 
gael effaith andwyol ar ffigurau ceisiadau cynllunio yn y dyfodol a lefelau 
incwm.

 Cyfeiriwyd at dudalen 22 yr adroddiad a'r risgiau a nodwyd o golli gweithwyr 
medrus o fewn y timau mwynau/gwastraff a'r timau rheoli adeiladu. 
Gofynnwyd am eglurhad a allai hyn effeithio ar ddilyniant y Cynllun 
Datblygu Lleol (CDLl) diwygiedig.

Cadarnhaodd y Pennaeth Cynllunio fod dilyniant y CDLl diwygiedig yn 
cymryd blaenoriaeth dros unrhyw waith arall a wneir gan y Tîm Blaen-
gynllunio. Yn y gorffennol roedd y tîm yn gweithio'n agos gyda rhannau 
eraill yn yr isadran gynllunio, ac adrannau eraill y Cyngor, yn darparu 
cyngor a chymorth ar bethau megis datblygu briffiau cynllunio, ond 
oherwydd bod y CDLl yn flaenoriaeth mae hyn yn ei dro yn effeithio ar 
gwmpas yr isadran i barhau â'r lefel honno o gyfranogiad. O ystyried y 
flaenoriaeth honno, roedd hi'n edrych ar y posibilrwydd o ddod o hyd i gyllid 
ychwanegol i barhau i ddarparu cymorth mewnol lle bynnag y bo'n bosibl yn 
hytrach na phenodi ymgynghorwyr allanol, am gost uwch.
 

CYTUNWYD YN UNFRYDOL fod yr adroddiad yn cael ei dderbyn a'i anfon 
ymlaen i Lywodraeth Cymru erbyn y dyddiad cau sef 31 Hydref.

5. YMWELIADAU GWIRIO CARTREF

Bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried adroddiad ar yr Ymweliadau Gwirio Cartref a gynhaliwyd 
ar stoc tai y Cyngor i sicrhau ei fod yn cynnal y safon a osodwyd o dan y Safon Tai 
Sir Gaerfyrddin a Mwy sy'n galluogi'r awdurdod i:-

 Nodi unrhyw atgyweiriadau y gellir adennill eu costau yr oedd y tenant yn 
gyfrifol amdanynt

 Darparu cyngor cynnal a chadw ataliol
 Nodi unrhyw faterion llesiant a chytuno ar y camau nesaf

Tudalen 495



 Darparu cyngor ar arian os oes angen
 Asesu a oedd y cartrefi yn bodloni anghenion aelwydydd yn y dyfodol
 Adroddiad ar faterion sy'n weddill ac angen eu hatgyweirio
 Nodi unrhyw achosion o dorri tenantiaeth

Nodwyd bod dwy ran i'r broses o ymgymryd â'r ymweliadau Yn gyntaf, mae'n 
cynnwys archwiliad blynyddol sylfaenol gan swyddogion tai, gweithwyr atgyweirio, 
arolygwyr technegol neu gontractwyr gwasanaeth. Yn ail, byddai unrhyw faterion a 
fyddai'n codi o'r archwiliad sylfaenol o ran y denantiaeth a/neu lesiant yn cael eu 
hadrodd yn ôl i'r tîm ymgysylltu a fyddai'n cynnal ymweliad mwy manwl â chartref y 
tenant. Ar gyfer y cyfnod 1 Ionawr i 1 Medi 2018 cyflawnwyd cyfanswm o 7,611 o 
wiriadau sylfaenol i dai'r Cyngor, o blith stoc o 9,000, gyda 322 o dai (5%) yn cael 
eu cyfeirio ar gyfer ymweliad mwy trylwyr gan swyddog tai.

Rhoddwyd sylw i'r cwestiynau/materion canlynol wrth drafod yr adroddiad:- 

 Mewn ymateb i gwestiwn am adborth tenantiaid ar ymweliadau mwy trylwyr, 
roedd y Rheolwr Partneriaeth ac Ymgysylltu wedi atgoffa'r Pwyllgor mai hon 
oedd blwyddyn gyntaf yr Ymweliadau Gwirio Cartref o weithredu. Y gobaith 
oedd wrth i amser fynd heibio, y byddai adborth yn y dyfodol yn darparu 
gwybodaeth werthfawr am farn y tenantiaid am y gwasanaeth tai.

Nodwyd hefyd bod cynigion ar gyfer y dyfodol yn cynnwys yr is-adran yn 
cynnal 'arolwg seren', yn ogystal â'r adborth am yr ymweliadau gwirio 
cartref, gan geisio barn yr holl denantiaid am y gwasanaeth a ddarperir 
ynghyd ag unrhyw feysydd y maent yn teimlo y gellid eu gwella/darparu er 
mwyn sicrhau gwelliannau parhaus i'r gwasanaeth. 

Dywedodd y Pennaeth Dros Dro Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel mai 
un ffactor pwysig sydd wedi deillio o arolygon o'r fath oedd datblygu rhaglen 
cynnal a chadw ataliol i sicrhau bod adnoddau priodol yn eu lle i dargedu 
atgyweiriadau megis nwyddau dŵr glaw i atal problemau rhag codi yn y 
dyfodol. Yn ogystal, wrth i'r arolygon ddatblygu byddai'r awdurdod yn gallu 
casglu rhagor o wybodaeth am farn ei denantiaid. 

 Cyfeiriwyd at y 7,611 o wiriadau sylfaenol a gyflawnwyd a chafwyd cais i 
aelodau'r Pwyllgor gael, drwy e-bost, ddadansoddiad o'r rheini fesul ward 
ac a oedd rhain wedi cael eu cynnal gan y swyddogion tai, contractwyr 
gwasanaethau yn ystod ymweliadau atgyweirio neu mewn ymateb i 
alwadau cymorth i denantiaid ac ati.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr adroddiad Ymweliadau 
Gwirio Cartref

6. ADRODDIAD MONITRO PERFFORMIAD CWARTER 1 - 1AF EBRILL I'R 30AIN 
O FEHEFIN 2018

(SYLWER: Datganodd y Cynghorydd J. Gilasbey fuddiant yn ystod yr eitem hon 
oherwydd ei bod yn Ymddiriedolwr Amgueddfa Ddiwydiannol Cydweli)

Cafodd y Pwyllgor Adroddiad Monitro Perfformiad ar gyfer Chwarter 1 sef rhwng 1 
Ebrill a 30 Mehefin 2018 i'w ystyried a oedd yn rhoi manylion y cynnydd a wnaed 

Tudalen 496



yn erbyn y camau gweithredu a'r mesurau yn y Strategaeth Gorfforaethol Newydd 
2018/19 o ran cyflawni'r Amcanion Llesiant yn ei gylch gwaith.

Rhoddwyd sylw i'r cwestiynau/materion canlynol wrth drafod yr adroddiad:-

 Mewn ymateb i gwestiwn am y canran o aelwydydd a lwyddwyd i'w hatal 
rhag dod yn ddigartref (dangosydd PAM/01), dywedodd y Pennaeth Dros 
Dro Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel mai un o'r rhwystrau mwyaf o ran y 
dangosydd oedd pobl yn cyflwyno'u hunain yn hwyr i'r adran dai a oedd 
mewn perygl gwirioneddol o fod yn ddigartref. Pwysleisiodd mor bwysig 
oedd i bobl oedd ar fin dod yn ddigartref i  gysylltu â'r adran pan fo awgrym 
o hynny er mwyn eu helpu i ddod o hyd i ateb ar gyfer eu hanhawster. 
Roedd yr adran, mewn partneriaeth â'r sector gwirfoddol a'r trydydd sector, 
yn ceisio cynyddu ymwybyddiaeth o'r gwasanaeth y mae'n ei ddarparu a 
hefyd pwysleisio'r angen am ymyrraeth gynnar.

 Gofynnwyd am eglurhad ar gyfer dangosydd PAM/039 a pham yr oedd staff 
asiantaeth yn cael eu penodi i leihau nifer yr eiddo gwag.

Dywedodd y Pennaeth Dros Dro Cartrefi a Chymunedau Mwy Diogel fod 
adnoddau wedi cael eu neilltuo i ymgymryd ag atgyweiriadau i eiddo gwag 
y Cyngor, roedd tua 70 angen gwaith sylweddol. Yr Is-adran Eiddo yn yr 
Awdurdod oedd yn gyfrifol am ddylunio/amserlennu'r gwaith hwn ac er 
mwyn eu cwblhau ar y dyddiad cynharaf posibl roedd wedi bod yn 
angenrheidiol i benodi staff asiantaeth i gynorthwyo gyda'r llwyth gwaith yn 
y tymor byr. Rhagwelwyd y gellid gwneud cynnydd sylweddol dros y 6-12 
mis nesaf i ailgyflwyno'r eiddo hynny i'r stoc tai.

 Nododd y Rheolwr Datblygu Economaidd, mewn ymateb i gwestiwn yn 
ymwneud â Gweithred 13165 a'r Ddogfen Trawsnewidiadau, eu bod yn 
ymwneud â Strategaeth Adfywio'r Cyngor ar gyfer y cyfnod 2015-2030 i 
greu gwaith yn y tair prif ganolfan sef Rhydaman, Caerfyrddin a Llanelli, y 
llain arfordirol, ardaloedd gwledig a Cross Hands. Dywedodd hefyd fod 
adolygiad yn cael ei gynnal ar hyn o bryd i 'safleoedd ymgeisio' ar gyfer 
cyflogaeth i'w cyflwyno i'r adran gynllunio fel rhan o'r adolygiad o Gynllun 
Datblygu Lleol Sir Gaerfyrddin.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr adroddiad. 

7. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB CYFALAF A REFENIW 2018/19

Bu'r Pwyllgor yn ystyried yr adroddiadau Monitro Cyllideb Refeniw a Chyfalaf ar 
gyfer Tai, Adfywio, Cynllunio a Gwasanaethau Hamdden ar gyfer y cyfnod hyd at 
3O Mehefin, 2018. Nodwyd bod y gyllideb refeniw yn rhagweld gorwariant o 
£331k, tanwariant o £246k yn y gyllideb gyfalaf, ac roedd y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai yn 
rhagweld tanwariant o £98k.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL fod yr Adroddiad Monitro Cyllideb Refeniw 
a Chyfalaf yn cael ei dderbyn. 

8. EGLURHAD AM BEIDIO Â CHYFLWYNO ADRODDIAD CRAFFU

Tudalen 497



Ystyriodd y Pwyllgor yr eglurhad a roddwyd dros beidio â chyflwyno adroddiad.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn yr adroddiad nad oedd wedi'i 
gyflwyno.

9. EITEMAU AR GYFER Y DYFODOL

Cafodd y Pwyllgor restr o'r eitemau a fyddai'n cael eu hystyried yn ei gyfarfod 
nesaf ar 23 Tachwedd 2018.

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn y rhestr o'r eitemau i'w hystyried 
yng nghyfarfod nesaf y Pwyllgor ar 23 Tachwedd 2018.

________________________ __________________
CADEIRYDD DYDDIAD

Tudalen 498


	Agenda
	4 CYNLLUN DATBLYGU LLEOL DIWYGIEDIG SIR GAERFYRDDIN 2018-2033 FERSIWN DRAFFT O'R STRATEGAETH A FFEFRIR
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Atodiad 3
	Atodiad 4
	Atodiad 5

	5 STRATEGAETH DDIGARTREFEDD RANBARTHOL
	Adroddiad

	6 ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB CYFALAF A REFENIW 2018/19
	Atodiadau A-C
	Atodiad D
	Atodiad E
	Atodiadau F-I

	7 ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL Y PWYLLGOR CRAFFU CYMUNEDAU 2017/18
	Adroddiad

	8 DIWEDDARIAD GWEITHREDU CRAFFU
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2

	9 EITEMAU AR GYFER Y DYFODOL
	10 EGLURHAD AM BEIDIO Â CHYFLWYNO ADRODDIAD CRAFFU
	11.1 21AIN MEDI 2018
	11.2 4YDD HYDREF 2018

